

DIVORCE POISON

Protecting the Parent-Child Bond from a Vindictive Ex

DR. RICHARD A. WARSHAK



IN MEMORY OF

my father, Henry L. Warshak,
Grandma and Grandpa Ades,
Aunt Danny, Aunt Helen and Uncle Morris, Uncle Nat,
Uncle Rene, Uncle Barney,
cousins Nancy, Nazira, Alan, and Andy,
Grandma and Grandpa Warshak,
Aunt Estelle and Uncle Ralph, Aunt Evelyn and Uncle Arthur,
and C. G. and Allie B. Brock

IN MEMORY OF THE CHILDREN MURDERED IN THE HOLOCAUST, WHOSE CRIES WE MUST NEVER FORGET

and to
Nicole Aaron
Richard Shaun
David Callie

WHOSE PRECIOUS LIVES FILL ME WITH HOPE,
AND WHOSE SMILES BRING ME MORE JOY THAN THEY WILL EVER KNOW

What goes on in your heart? What goes on in your mind? You are tearing me apart, When you treat me so unkind. What goes on in your mind?

—JOHN LENNON, PAUL MCCARTNEY, AND RINGO STARR

Contents

Acknowledgments	11
Introduction: Stealing The Soul	1
1 The Delicate Balance	7
The United Front	10
When Silence Is Not Golden	13
 How to Distinguish Between Helpful and Harmful Criticism 	15
2 Bad-Mouthing, Bashing, and Brainwashing	24
Bad-mouthing	24
Bashing	28
Brainwashing	30
Parental Alienation Syndrome	31
Children Who Resist Divorce Poison	34
3 Alienated Children	39
The Hate Campaign	40
 Trivial Explanations for the Hatred 	40
• False Abuse Accusations	45
 Polarizing Parents: Saints and Sinners 	51
Parroting Adults	52
Declaration of Independence	52
Hatred by Association	53
Alienation Without Divorce Poison	61

Justified Alienation	61
Child-Driven Alienation	63
Understanding the Roots of Alienation	66
• Is It Alienation or Not?	69
False Accusations of Parental Alienation	81
4 Malignant Motives	84
Poor Boundaries	85
Revenge	88
Narcissism	90
• Guilt	94
• Insecurity	94
Seeking Validation	95
Holding On with Hate	96
• Paranoia	99
Reenactments	102
Hostility Toward the Children	104
Custody Ligitation	106
Preventing Alienation During Custody Litigation	114
Remarriage	117
5 The Alienating Environment	129
Isolation	129
• Relocation	132
Kidnapping	139
• Stripping	143
• Fear	144
6 The Corruption Of Reality	147

• The Name Game	147
• Repetition	154
Selective Attention	155
Judging Behavior Out of Context	160
Exaggeration	166
• Lies	167
Revisionist History	169
The Total Change Theory	172
Suggestions and Innuendos	173
• Exploitation	177
• Projection	178
Rationalization	181
Holier Than Thou	184
With God on Our Side	186
• "The Truth"	190
Overindulgence	191
• Encroachment	193
Cloak and Dagger	198
Cognitive Dissonance	199
• Conspiracy	200
Tamper-Resistant Packaging	201
7 Poison Control	204
• Empathy	205
• The Power of Indirect Communication	206
• Fly on the Wall	208
• Two Steps Removed	209

• Using Third Parties	210
• Strike While the Iron Is Cold	211
Creating Bridges	212
Healing Experiences	215
Memorializing the Positive	217
• The Way We Were	219
• Sowing Seeds in the Psyche	221
• Vacations	222
• Divide and Conquer: The Value of Separating Siblings	223
Contagion Control: Helping Children Stay Neutral	225
• With God on Our Side—Revisited	226
• Agree to Disagree	228
• No One's Perfect	230
• Think for Yourself	230
• Brainwashing 101	232
• Films and Television	235
• Become a Better Parent	237
• Avoid Common Errors	239
Damage Control	243
• Ann Landers's Reconciliation Day	245
Getting Professional Help	247
When to Call the Therapist	247
How Therapy Can Help	248
• How You Can Help Your Therapist	252
• Selecting Therapists	254
• Conditions of Treatment	258

Child Custody Evaluations	268
Phasing In Versus Moving In	273
• Moving Out of One Home Without Moving into the Other	275
Hiring an Attorney	277
9 Letting Go	280
When to Let Go	281
• How to Let Go	282
 Staying in Touch after Letting Go 	285
New Bridges	286
Alienated Children as Adults	287
Coping with the Loss	289
Hope for the Future	290
Resources	293
Index	299
About the Author	
Praise	
Other Books by Dr. Richard A. Warshak	
Cover	

Copyright

About the Publisher

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I was lucky to be born into a very large extended family. This good fortune fuels my passion about actively helping children remain connected to their parents and other relatives rather than passively allowing them to lose these ties.

I am grateful to the families who have shared with me their painful experiences. They have taught me much about how parent-child conflicts develop and about how to protect children from their parents' battles. Some of their stories are told in these pages with details changed to preserve anonymity.

Every field has its pioneers who make the initial contributions that form the foundation for subsequent work. I have learned much from the work of Dr. Richard A. Gardner, Dr. Stanley S. Clawar, and Dr. Brynne V. Rivlin who first brought the problem of alienated children to the attention of the legal and mental health professions.

Special thanks go to Dr. John A. Zervopoulos, who took time from his busy schedule to read the entire manuscript and offer excellent suggestions for improvement. My understanding of the problems of alienated children has been enriched by discussions with him and with Dr. Mark R. Otis, Dr. Donald R. Lammers, and Dr. Anna Beth Benningfield.

My brother, Alan Warshak, earns my gratitude for educating me about Judaism's prohibitions against bad-mouthing and securing for me, on short notice, a very hard to find videotape.

Susan Ginsburg encouraged me to write the book and then connected me with Simon Lipskar, whose wise guidance helped shape the book proposal so that it would be welcomed into a good home. He then

found just the right home with Judith Regan, whose enthusiasm for the book is deeply appreciated. Tia Maggini made valuable suggestions that improved the structure of the book and made it more reader-friendly.

Working with Cassie Jones was a pleasure. She set a high standard for the book, never allowing my wish to be finished overcome her gentle but firm judgment that there was still more to do. Her eye for details was matched by a keen attention to the flow of the manuscript. If the book grabs and holds the reader's attention, she deserves the credit.

I have lived and breathed this book for more years than I care to acknowledge, and my wife, Sandra, has lived and breathed it with me. She has done so with grace, warmth, and love. Her empathy for the pain that leads to divorce poison and the anguish that results from it, and her conviction that this was a book that should be written, gave me the inspiration to take on the project. Her unflagging enthusiasm gave me the fuel to persist to the end. Her professional insights, based on her own work with alienated children and their parents, have enriched the book. I thank her for all this, and for enriching my life beyond my wildest dreams.

INTRODUCTION

STEALING THE SOUL

Your ex-spouse is bad-mouthing you to the children, often or constantly portraying you in a negative light, perhaps even trying to turn the children against you. What should you do? If you handle the situation ineffectively, your relationship with your children could suffer. You could lose their respect. You could lose their affection. Or, in severe cases, you could lose contact with them altogether.

The conventional advice is to do nothing. Psychologists caution parents to avoid criticizing the other parent in front of the children. They fear that such criticism could be misinterpreted to mean "fighting fire with fire" and result in greater injury to the children. After years of consulting on cases where parents had heeded advice to be passive and had no success, I am convinced that the standard approaching is wrong. It does not work. Often, it makes things worse. As relationship with their children progressively deteriorate, parents usually try desperately to reason with them. Such efforts inevitably meet with failure and leave parents feeling helpless and hopeless.

This book explains why the common approaches are impotent, why doing nothing will accomplish nothing, and why relying primarily on reasoning is an unreasonable approach to the problem. It offers a blue-print for an effective response grounded in a solid understanding of the techniques and dynamics of parents who poison their children's relationships with loved ones.

After reading this book you will be able to distinguish different types

of criticism, ranging from occasional mild bad-mouthing to severe and systematic brainwashing. You will know why and how parents manipulate their children. You will know how to detect subtle psychological maneuvers in various guises. You will learn how these practices—even those that seem innocuous—damage children. And you will discover powerful strategies to preserve or rebuild loving relationships with your children.

Divorce does not always damage children. But when children are caught in the crossfire of their parents' hostility, it usually does. It hurts just to stand on the sidelines and watch parents trade shots. It hurts even more when parents enlist children as allies in the battle. And it hurts the most when one parent engages in a systematic campaign to turn the children against the other parent.

When I began my studies on divorce, more than twenty-five years ago, psychologists were most concerned about the damage to children when a parent, usually the father, walked out of their lives. We had discovered that a father's abandonment made it much more likely that his children would suffer psychological problems. We also found that children generally did better after divorce when both parents continued to participate in child-rearing. I wrote about these discoveries, and their implications for parents and for public policy, in my book *The Custody Revolution*.

In that book I mentioned, very briefly, my concern for children whose parents coach and brainwash them during a custody dispute. That one sentence, though, touched a nerve in parents and grandparents around the world. They called and wrote, desperate for solutions to the problem, and their desperation became the inspiration for this book.

The problem they face is the exact opposite of what I have written so much about. In these families children do not crave more time with an absent parent. In these families parents do not reject their children. Instead, children reject their parents. I heard repeatedly about children who express contempt for or fear of a parent who had always been devoted to them. About children who lambaste their parents in a most unchildlike manner. About children who will have nothing to do with the parent, who refuse even to talk on the phone with the parent.

In most cases the rejection is not a reaction to gross mistreatment by the parent. That would be understandable, and this book shows how to distinguish such children from those whose rejection of a parent is unreasonable. The focus here is on those children whose rejection of one parent results primarily from the other parent's influence. One parent may berate the other parent directly in front of the children, or allow them to overhear put-downs. In some cases the children are exposed to a relentless barrage of harsh criticisms of their other parent. They may be actively encouraged to join in the put-downs. Some unfortunate children are subjected to a deliberate and intensive effort on the part of one parent to alienate them from the other parent. These children are, in a word, brainwashed. What is washed out of their brains is any awareness of positive, loving feelings for a parent. These children disown the need and desire for contact with the parent. All that remains is a catalog of complaints that is supposed to justify the dramatic change in attitude about a parent who, in the past, had been a source of love and comfort.

There are degrees of alienation. In the worst cases it is so complete that the relationship is totally severed. After years of commitment—years of emotional and financial support, years of loving and worrying—parents find themselves reviled or ignored by their children. They are unwelcome at graduation ceremonies. They are excluded from weddings. They have no contact with their grandchildren.

In most families, though, the estrangement is only partial. The badmouthing does not sever ties between parents and children, but it does taint the quality of their relationship. It creates unnecessary tension for children and more conflict in their relationship with both parents. The tension and conflict may result in children who are more withdrawn and reluctant to discuss their thoughts and feelings, or children who have less respect for their parents' authority. Though these children may be less affectionate and more reserved, they are still able to find some enjoyment in the relationship. This is especially true when they are given enough time to relax their guard and experience the parent as more positive than they have been led to believe.

Parents are not the only targets of bad-mouthing, bashing, and brainwashing—what I have come to call *divorce poison*. Grandparents, and sometimes an entire extended family, receive the same treatment. This problem cuts across gender lines. Women and men in their roles as parents, stepparents, aunts, uncles, and grandparents are all vulnerable. And, in all cases, the children suffer.

We hear a lot about manipulation by leaders of religious cults. Bad-

mouthing and brainwashing by divorced parents, however, have claimed far more victims than the headline-grabbing mass suicides. Several million people are affected, and more are added to the roster every day. Yet, until now, the problem has received little attention. Most books for divorced parents admonish them not to place children in the middle of their conflicts. But they provide little guidance on when it is appropriate to criticize a parent to a child and when it is destructive. None discuss the systematic process of psychological manipulation and how to help children resist and reverse its influence. Search the index of every parent guidance book, as I did one day in a bookstore, and you will find only one with entries on brainwashing or alienation. This is not meant as a critique of these books. It merely illustrates that we are at a very early stage in recognizing and learning how to cope with parental manipulation. In fact, parents who consult mental health professionals most often receive advice that, though well-intentioned, is not only inadequate and ineffective but shortchanges the children and may even intensify the alienation.

This book does not claim to have all the answers, or even most of them. It does offer insights that my wife and I have gained in our psychology practices as we struggled to help children caught in the crossfire of their parents' battles. I expect future research to discover even more effective strategies for rescuing children from divorce poison. Consider this a work in progress. I hope it will provide a lifeboat for families in which a child's relationship with a formerly loved adult is in danger of drowning. My aim is to help parents, grandparents, and other relatives better understand bad-mouthing, bashing, and brainwashing and to share with them practical advice that has helped other families in similar circumstances. You have the best chance of success if you follow this advice under the guidance of a competent therapist who understands the problems of alienated children.

Some parents whose behavior undermines their children's affection for the other parent are only dimly aware of their intentions. Other parents may be struggling with temptations in this direction. By exposing the true motives behind such behavior, and the damage it causes, I hope my work will dissuade these parents from acting on their destructive impulses.

Millions of adults, when they were children, suffered some degree of estrangement from loved ones in the aftermath of their parents' divorce. This book will help them make sense of what was done to them. It will halp them head must want relationships

help them heal ruptured relationships.

Increased recognition of parental manipulation has brought with it an increase in false accusations of brainwashing. Innocent parents are losing custody of their children after being accused of fomenting alienation. This book shows how to defend oneself effectively against such accusations. Judges, lawyers, and mental health professionals who are involved with families in which there have been accusations of alienation and brainwashing, whether true or false, will find suggestions for safeguarding the welfare of children from divorced homes.

Divorce Poison was written primarily on behalf of children. The failure of their parents' marriage is a chilling lesson that we cannot always count on love. At such a vulnerable time in their lives, children especially need and deserve as much love as they can get. Those who close off avenues of love and support detour children from their pursuit of emotional security. When they manipulate children into erecting the barriers themselves, when they enlist them as agents in their own deprivation, they violate their children's trust in a most cruel manner. It is a form of kidnapping; stealing the soul.

I wrote this book to help lost souls find their way back to the hearts that await them. I wish them a successful journey.

CHAPTER 1

THE DELICATE BALANCE

Let us raise a standard to which the wise and honest can repair.

GEORGE WASHINGTON

Fred slammed down the phone after his ex threatened to take him to court if he did not pay his child support on time. He turned to five-year-old Marty and said, "We can't go fishing this weekend. I have to work because your selfish mom is spending too much money."

Fred regretted his words almost as soon as they left his lips. The divorce was hard enough on the boy; hearing such criticisms of his mother only added to his stress. The hurt look on Marty's face confirmed that Fred had, in that moment, failed his son. The father resolved to do better in the future. The divorce was not Fred's idea and he was still bitter about it. Every now and then he would burden his son with some barb directed at the boy's mother, often blaming her for "leaving us." Each time he did this he was sorry afterward. But he never spoke with Marty about the harsh words. Marty's mom, who knew Fred spoke ill of her, never said anything to Marty about it. The little boy was left on his own to deal with the bad-mouthing.

Meryl hated Doug, the father of her twin eight-year-old boys, and took every opportunity to let them know it. Doug refused to marry her after she became pregnant. Ever since then she wished he would just disappear

from her life. But he didn't. He was actively involved with his boys and

he paid his child support regularly.

Meryl's anger did not dissipate over time. She constantly maligned Doug in front of his sons. When Doug was a few minutes late to pick up the children, Meryl told them he was irresponsible. She belittled the gifts he bought. She told the boys their dad was a loser because he was a high school band teacher and could not afford to take them on expensive vacations. When Doug had to lead the band at Friday-night football games, he asked his sister to pick up the boys and bring them to the stadium. Even though the boys enjoyed the games and liked watching their father at work, Meryl complained. She told them that it was too bad they didn't have a father who could pay more attention to them. She even went back to court to ask the judge to eliminate the Fridaynight contacts if Doug would not personally pick up his children. (She was unsuccessful.) When the boys told their mother that their dad was proud about winning the all-state band competition, she told them that he bragged too much. When Doug did nice things for the children that she could not think of how to criticize, she dismissed these by saying, "He's just trying to make himself look good."

When Meryl became engaged to be married, Doug hoped that this would help her get past her anger and stop bashing him. Instead, she became worse. She started pressuring her sons to call her fiancé Dad. At the same time she began referring to Doug by first name when talking to the boys. "Doug's on the phone," she would say. "Do you want to speak to him or should I tell him you're too busy?" "Doug's probably going to be late again." "Don't tell Doug where Dad and I are

going on our honeymoon.

Meryl returned to court, this time hoping to reduce the boys' time with Doug so that they could spend more time with "their own family," by which Meryl meant herself, her fiancé, and his son from a previous marriage. Despite the twins' strong attachment to their father, she did not want them to regard him as part of their family. Hoping to please their mother, the boys began telling her that they really didn't have such a good time with Doug. She exploited this by telling them about the fun things that she and her fiancé and his son would be doing while the boys were with Doug.

Doug worried when the boys began calling him Doug instead of Dad and asking to return home earlier than scheduled. He was not sure how to respond. His attorney advised him not to say anything that could be construed as criticizing Meryl because it might make him look bad in

court. So Doug said nothing. The boys were given no help in coping with their mother's bashing of their father.

Richie and his new wife, Janice, were determined to move out of state with Richie's twelve-year-old daughter, Meadow, but first they had to win custody away from Giselle. Richie had always denigrated Giselle in front of their daughter, but now he intensified his campaign of hatred. He hoped that Meadow would share his hatred of her mother and ask to live with him.

One day Richie asked Meadow if she remembered the time her mother beat her with a belt. Meadow didn't remember. This was no surprise because the event never occurred. Richie brought up the event-that-never-was several times during the next few weeks. It was beginning to seem real to Meadow, although she wasn't sure if she actually remembered it or if she just remembered her father's account of it. Richie began casually referring to Giselle's violent temper. Although Meadow had never before thought of her mom in those terms, the more her dad and Janice talked about it, the more it seemed it must be true.

When Meadow complained that her mom wouldn't let her watch television until she completed her homework, Richie sympathized with her and told her that Giselle treated her too much like a kid. He continued to undermine Meadow's respect for her mother by referring to Giselle either as "the boss" or by her first name. At the same time, he and Janice indulged Meadow with material possessions and privileges. The contrast with Giselle's treatment made her seem excessively strict and depriving.

Richie's maneuvers had their intended effect. One day when Meadow was being particularly disrespectful, her mom lost her patience and yelled at her. Meadow ran to the bathroom, locked the door, and said in a panicked voice, "Don't beat me!" Giselle was flabbergasted.

"What would make you think I would do a thing like that?" Giselle asked.

Meadow answered, "I know how you get when you're mad. I'll tell Dad if you touch me."

Giselle said, "I think your dad and Janice have brainwashed you." Meadow was offended. "No they haven't," she said. "I can think for myself. I'm not a kid anymore."

Later that evening Meadow called her dad and told him, "Giselle almost hit me, but I got away." He offered to come to pick her up right

away. She said she would be all right for one more day. For the rest of the night and the next day she avoided her mother.

In subsequent weeks Meadow complained to her mom about all the rules in her home. Janice didn't enforce such rules. Janice treated Meadow with respect. Things got to a point where Giselle was reluctant to set reasonable limits because it made her look like a bad parent in her daughter's eyes. She knew that Meadow's preferences could play a key role in the custody decision. In fact, when Meadow had not been sufficiently critical of her mother during an interview with the court-appointed custody evaluator, Richie and Janice reprimanded Meadow. They told her that if she didn't do her part to help them win custody, and tell the psychologist what a bad mother Giselle was, it would be her fault if she had to stay with Giselle and not be able to move with them.

By this time Richie and Janice had talked so much about the benefits of the proposed move (e.g., they would buy a house with a swimming pool) that Meadow was convinced that she would be much happier if she could go with them. She was so focused on the benefits that she failed to think much about the impact of leaving her friends, school, dance instructor, and close relatives. Meadow was thinking exactly as her dad and stepmom wanted her to think, yet she insisted that her negative thoughts and feelings about her mother were her own and not influenced by anyone.

Bad-mouthing, bashing, and brainwashing. All are ways that parents who live apart from each other hurt their children just as surely as if they laced their milk with a poison intended to jeopardize their emotional health. These three families have one more thing in common: No one came to the children's rescue. No one helped them cope with the toxic criticism. Each maligned parent thought it was best to say nothing. Having witnessed the damage caused by their ex's destructive criticism, they each assumed that the right thing to do was to avoid any criticism of their own. They were wrong.

THE UNITED FRONT

"We try to present a united front to our children," one mother told me. "When we reprimand the children, he backs me up and I back him up.

Even when we disagree about how to handle the children, we don't let them know."

"What about when you and your husband have conflicts about other matters?" I asked. "Do you ever argue in front of the children?"

"Never. That's our private business. The children never learn about it."

The "united front" approach is the traditional gold standard of good parenting. Experts agree that one of the best ways to help your children survive your divorce is to keep them out of the line of fire. If more parents lived up to this standard, there would be less need for this book. But it is equally true that too many parents slavishly follow this tradition, and avoid criticizing their ex, even when their children could profit from hearing valid criticisms expressed in a constructive manner.

How do we know when to criticize and when to keep silent? The key is in understanding how each approach can help or hurt children.

Maintaining a united front usually results in more secure and betterbehaved children. We all know that children don't like to witness their parents arguing or saying bad things about each other. I have never met a child who enjoyed the spectacle. It seems paradoxical that children are quick to complain about the way their parents treat them, yet they take offense when other people say bad things about their parents.

Can you recall how, when you were a child, the worst insults your playmates could deliver were put-downs of your parents? In my day we called it "ranking out" a kid's parents. Stephen King referred to this as breaking "the cardinal rule for kids." In *The Body* (the story on which the film *Stand By Me* was based), King explained, "You could say anything about another kid, you could rank him to the dogs and back, but you didn't say a word ever about his mom and dad.... If a kid ranked out your mom and dad, you had to feed him some knuckles."

Children put their parents on a pedestal, and then vigorously resist efforts to topple the pedestal prematurely. When peers attack your parent, it is a simple matter of protecting the parent's honor. When the attack comes from the other parent, though, the situation becomes complicated. If a child sides with her critical father, her image of her mother suffers. If she opposes the father, her image of him suffers. Even if she tries to stay out of the conflict she will feel guilty for failing to defend her mother.

Eight-year-old Adrian was so troubled by her father's put-downs of her mother that she tuned out reality. When he went into angry tirades about all her mother's faults, she numbed herself to her feelings. She pretended that what she heard with her ears did not register in her brain. This strategy provided temporary relief. But there was a cost. In the long run, the more she shrank her awareness of reality, the less equipped she was to cope with it.

When a child no longer needs to keep her parents on a pedestal, she will begin to see them more realistically. But this process takes time. And it should be the child who sets the timetable, not an angry parent.

Adrian's father was so intent on bad-mouthing his ex-wife that nothing would deter him from his destructive goal. But some parents in his position will restrain themselves when they have a clearer understanding of the damage they are inflicting. If you think your ex is open to such examination, share this book with him or her.

Tearing down a child's positive image of a parent is one big risk of dropping the united front. Another risk is that it sets an example that your children may emulate. Belinda consulted me with a problem shared by many single mothers. Her twelve-year-old son, Chad, was becoming increasingly disrespectful to her. He felt no need to comply with her simplest requests. She asked him if he finished his homework, and he told her to shut up. She told him that he couldn't go outside after dinner, and he said he didn't have to listen to a crazy lady. "Crazy lady" was the term his father used freely around Chad. The more Chad identified with his father's put-downs of Belinda, the freer Chad felt to defy her authority.

Belinda needed her ex-husband to join forces with her to control their son. Instead, Chad's father aligned himself with his son against Belinda. This is what psychologists call a weak parental coalition, and it is a poor environment in which to raise children. The healthiest families are those in which the parents exercise authority together. Though they respect their children's feelings, the parents operate with clear lines drawn between the generations. The parents are a joint force to be reckoned with, they are co-leaders. As a result, their children cannot divide and conquer, and their parents do not encourage that type of manipulation.

Of course, even in the best marriages and most amicable divorces, conflict and anger are inevitable. It isn't so much the presence of conflict

that harms children. It is the way parents deal with their conflicts. Shielding children from hostile and bitter confrontations is certainly desirable. But allowing children to observe how their parents accommodate differences and resolve disputes in a nonviolent and nonadversarial manner can be helpful, instructive, and reassuring.

What hurts children the most is when parents place children in the middle of their battles. In some cases children witness their parents' violent disputes. Or their parents encourage them to take sides, deliver angry messages, or spy on the other parent. Taken to extremes, such practices may be part of a systematic effort to turn children against the other parent. Even in less extreme cases, this type of behavior will harm children. Protecting your children from such harm is one justification for dropping the united front, despite the risks we have discussed.

WHEN SILENCE IS NOT GOLDEN

Many well-intentioned parents steadfastly adhere to a united front at all costs. This is a big mistake. At times children need to hear constructive criticisms of their other parent. I am not advocating open season on your ex. Before criticizing, you must be convinced that it is primarily for your children's welfare, and not primarily for your own satisfaction, and that the disclosure primarily helps your children rather than hurts them.

There are two circumstances in which it is a mark of good parenting to drop the united-front approach. The first is when you are the target of malignant criticism.

After months of arguing, Denise asked her husband, Evan, to move out of the house, and he did. Whenever he phoned to speak with his sons, Denise took the call and launched into a tirade about what a bad husband and father he was. What bothered Evan the most is that he could hear the boys in the background and knew they overheard their mother. When his sons came to his apartment, they told him that Mommy said he abandoned his family and didn't care about them anymore. They also said that she told them he was lazy and stupid. Evan simply ignored these comments. He was determined not to stoop to her level. He would take the high road. Besides, they were disputing custody, and Evan's attorney warned him that if the children heard him say any-

thing critical of their mother, this could reflect poorly on him during the custody trial.

Using some of the techniques exposed in chapter 6, "The Corruption of Reality," Denise succeeded in manipulating the children so that they began to protest spending time with their dad. They said they wanted to see him when they were ready, and that he should stop forcing them to spend time with him. The phrase *forced visitation* became a familiar refrain. By the time the case reached court, the boys were well on their way to being totally estranged from their father.

By failing to take a more active approach, Evan deprived his children of an effective defense against their mother's brainwashing. The boys and their father were not the only ones to suffer. In what Dr. Richard Gardner calls the "spread of animosity," the boys began to denigrate all of Evan's family. Doting grandparents and favorite uncles were now regarded as unwelcome intruders.

Experts regard the attempt to poison a child's relationship with a loved one as a form of emotional abuse. As with other forms of abuse, our first priority must be to protect children from further damage. This is not a time for silence. Exactly what we should do depends on the motives and means behind the destructive criticism, which we discuss in chapters 4—6.

Even when a parent has not bad-mouthed us, we may need to discuss his faults with our children. Frank was an angry, depressed man who would periodically lash out at his daughter with harsh disapproval for normal childlike behavior. When Gail forgot to hang her coat in the closet, Frank yelled at her and called her a slob. Gail was too young to understand that her father's outbursts were a symptom of emotional disturbance. Instead, Gail came to think of herself as a bad child. Gail's mother said nothing. She subscribed to the idea that you should never say anything bad about the other parent. By withholding her opinion of Frank's behavior, she compounded Gail's suffering.

All parents sometimes behave in irrational ways that are confusing and troubling to their children. If we say nothing about this irrational behavior, we give our children no help in understanding it. We leave them on their own to cope. And when our children lack an accurate understanding of a parent's troubling behavior, they may blame themselves for it as Gail did. Helping children in Gail's position is the second circumstance that justifies dropping the united front.

HOW TO DISTINGUISH BETWEEN HELPFUL AND HARMFUL CRITICISM

Contrary to the "do nothing" approach, I believe it *may be appropriate*, at times, for one parent to acknowledge the other parent's shortcomings and help the children make sense of the behavior and place it in proper perspective. Note the key phrase *may be appropriate*. Whether or not it is appropriate depends on a very careful and sensitive assessment of the situation. If we are not careful, we may cause as much damage as the parent we are criticizing. The need to respond effectively to denigration is never a license for unbridled retaliation.

First and foremost we must maintain a steadfast commitment to shield our children from unnecessary stress and destructive communications. Some parents never make this commitment. Others lose it somewhere in the tangle of the disappointment and anger of a failed marriage. They allow their impulse to indulge personal wrath to take priority over concern for their children. So, for example, they run down their ex in front of the children, with total disregard for the children's need to maintain a positive image of that parent. They may try to justify their destructive behavior by hiding behind superficial rationalizations. Some common excuses: "I'm just telling him the truth about his mother," or "She needs to know what her father is really like."

Before discussing with your children, or even mentioning, alleged flaws of their other parent, you should consider your motives. And you should weigh the potential benefits and risks to your children. If this sounds like too much work, if you do not have the patience to think critically about such matters, if you just want to get on with the business of telling the children how bad the other parent is, then your motives are not good. Rather than acting like a responsible parent you are indulging your whims. Most likely your children will be harmed rather than helped by your revelations.

Some parents do not distinguish between their own desires and the needs of their children. Essentially such parents operate under the credo that "What I want must be what my children want." Other parents are so intent on poisoning their children's relationship with the ex that the idea of censoring their disdain for the other parent would never occur to them. They want their children to share their hatred. I will have

more to say about all of these behaviors in chapter 4, "Malignant Motives."

Even parents with good intentions are often unsure about when they should criticize and when they should remain silent. Separated and divorced spouses struggle with heavy doses of anger, fear, uncertainty, and hurt, along with the very human temptation to express such feelings in destructive and irrational ways. Resisting this temptation is a genuine challenge. Occasionally parents succumb.

Most children can withstand their parents' isolated mistakes and lapses of good judgment. Repeated mistakes, though, can be damaging, especially when they become a familiar pattern of behavior. The following test gives parents a tool to help them judge whether their criticisms are likely to help or hurt their children.

A TEST

When faced with the impulse to present a parent or grandparent in a negative light, do some serious soul-searching. The following five questions will help you cut through self-deception, expose irrational motives that could be fueling your behavior, and focus attention on your children's genuine welfare. Of course it is best to review the questions before exposing your children to criticisms of their loved ones. The more you do so, the more you will avoid destructive communications. But lapses in judgment are inevitable. Every breakup has such moments. This test can serve as a reminder to be careful about what you say. When you do slip up, reviewing these questions can help strengthen your resolve to do better in the future. If you believe that you are the target of bad-mouthing, these questions will help you clarify what is wrong with your ex's behavior.

The test sets a high standard by which parents can evaluate their past and future behavior. The closer parents come to meeting the standard, the more they will shield their children from the harmful effects of acrimony.

1. What is my real reason for revealing this information to the children?

You may think of more than one reason. But if any one of these does not concern their best interests, think again about whether the children will truly benefit from what you plan to say. If you

decide to tell them, you will need to make sure that you do so in a manner that does not serve motives other than their best interest. Review the malignant motives discussed in chapter 4. Make sure that your criticisms do not serve one of these purposes.

2. Are my children being harmed by the behavior I am about to criticize? Or are they being harmed by not having the information I am about to reveal?

You may have a legitimate grievance about your ex-spouse, but there is no reason to share this with the children if they are not hurt by the behavior in question. For example, a man wanted to tell his children, who were raised Catholic, that their mother had an abortion years earlier. He insisted that they had a right to know the truth. But when asked how his children were harmed by withholding this information, he drew a blank.

3. How will it help the children to hear what I am about to tell them? Even if the children are being harmed by their other parent's behavior, before discussing it with them you should be convinced that your revelations will actually benefit the children. A woman believed that her ex-husband had been stingy in the divorce settlement. She knew that more money would enable her to provide better for her children. But she decided not to complain to the children about their father because she could not think of how it would help them to hear her opinion that their father was a cheapskate. There was nothing the children could do about the situation. Her revelations would only place the children in the middle of an adult conflict and perhaps diminish their respect for their father.

4. Do the possible benefits of revealing this to the children outweigh the possible risks?

In many situations there is reason to believe that the revelations might benefit the children, but at the same time might create problems for them. An honest discussion of the other parent's flaws might help the children have more realistic expectations. But it might also poke holes in their idealization of the parent before they are emotionally prepared to give this up. Or it might lead to greater conflict in the parent-child relationship. If, after weighing the benefits and risks, you decide to share your criticisms with the children, you will want to do so in a manner that maximizes the benefits while minimizing the harm. The next question will help you accomplish this goal.

5. If I were still happily married to my spouse, and I wanted to protect our children's relationship with him or her, how would I handle the situation?

This question helps raise your consciousness so that the content and style of your communications with your children avoids the influence of irrational motives. It challenges you to think of the most constructive course to take. If, when happily married, you would not want your children to have the information you are about to give, why do you think they need to know it now? And if, when happily married, you would find a way to discuss it that minimized harm to their relationship with the other parent, an approach that did not undermine their general respect and regard for that parent, that same discretion is called for after divorce.

Remember, it is easy to fool ourselves into thinking that bad-mouthing is justified. Because of the potential damage to our children, we should be convinced that what we say, and how we say it, meets the test of the five questions.

What if we are unsure about whether to include a particular observation or opinion in our conversations with the children? Here is a simple rule to follow: When in doubt, leave it out.

Test Applications

To illustrate the use of this test, let us look at two typical scenarios that often prompt divorced parents to criticize their ex-spouses to their children: (1) reacting to a parent who is chronically late and (2) explaining the reasons for the divorce.

A father is always late to pick up his children. This often disrupts his

ex-wife's schedule. After repeated instances of such inconvenience, she may want to berate him in front of the children by saying such things as "You can't count on your father" or "He's so irresponsible" or "Your father cares more about his girlfriend than he does about you."

When this mother asks herself question 1 of our test, *What is my real reason for revealing this information to the children*? she realizes that she has mixed motives. On the one hand, she feels bad for the children and angry at the man who disappoints them. On the other hand, she is angry that he is inconsiderate of her needs. She concludes that her concern for the children is genuine, but that if she decides to talk with them about their father's lateness, she will need to be cautious not to allow her anger at him to influence the way she handles the situation.

Next she asks, *Are my children being harmed by the behavior I am about to criticize*? Yes, they are being harmed. They are constantly disappointed when he does not come to get them on time and they are anxious that he will fail to show up. Not only are they disappointed and anxious, but they may assume that their father is late because they are not important enough to him. This could hurt their self-esteem.

The next question is *How will it help the children to hear what I am about to tell them*? It could help them to have a different mind-set while waiting for their father so that they can avoid excessive disappointment and worry. If the issue is discussed openly, their mother could help them find a healthy way to cope with his lateness. It could also help them place their father's behavior in perspective so that they do not regard it as an index of their worth to him.

Question 4 is *Do the possible benefits of revealing this to the children out-weigh the possible risks*? The risks are the discomfort they could feel when their mother criticizes their father. Their mother's criticisms could cut deeper than their father's lateness. Nevertheless, if she chooses her words with discretion, she can help the children while minimizing the likelihood of stressing them even further. It is important to keep in mind your child's age when you decide what to say and how to say it. For instance, some children may be too young or immature to benefit from such a discussion.

The question that helps her the most is question 5: If I were still happily married to my husband, and I wanted to protect our children's relationship with him, how would I handle the situation? This forces her to think about the best way to discuss the issue with her children. She realizes that she

actually handled the same issue during the marriage in a different manner. And she can think of no reason not to handle it in a similar fashion now. While she was married, her husband's lateness was a chronic irritant to her. But the children always showed much more tolerance of this trait. By the way, this is true in general: Children are more able and willing to tolerate faults in their parents than spouses are with each other.

Armed with this perspective the mother realizes that it will not help the children to hear her berate their father as irresponsible or inconsiderate. And it could undermine their respect for him. Instead, she tells them, "You may have noticed that Dad is usually late to pick you up. I know he loves spending time with you, but Dad has always been late for things, even things that are very important to him. A lot of people have a problem being on time. I wish Dad did not have this problem, but it does not have to be a big deal. Instead of just waiting by the door for him each time, find something to do that will keep you occupied and take your mind off the time. That way you won't have to worry so much. You know he always shows up and then you have a great time together." It would not have been wrong if she also encouraged the children to tell their father how they felt about his lateness.

None of the above discussion is meant to justify the father's lateness or to minimize the inconsiderateness of his behavior. His ex-wife had good reason to resent his irresponsible handling of his time with the children. His behavior hurt the children. It caused her to be late for her own appointments. Time is a precious commodity, especially for a single parent.

This mother deserves our respect because she handled the situation in a constructive manner. She carefully balanced her children's need to respect and admire their father with their need for assistance in coping with his lateness. She did not allow her resentment to dictate her behavior. The result is that she remained focused on what was most important to her—her children's welfare.

It is a more difficult challenge for parents to explain to their children reasons for the divorce. Children will ask why, and they need and deserve an explanation that takes into account their intellectual and emotional maturity. In some situations, the reasons for the divorce will necessarily include facts that will lead the children to hold one parent more responsible than

the other. As I write this chapter I am consulting on one such case. The mother became pregnant in the course of an extramarital affair and decided to leave her husband and three sons to move to another city and marry her lover. Naturally, the children know what their mother has done. And they are liable to blame the divorce on her behavior. But even in this situation, the information can be conveyed to the children in a manner that does not encourage them to reject their mother. Without condoning the mother's behavior, the father can explain to his sons that he was not able to make their mother happy enough to stay in the marriage.

If we feel wronged, or do not want the divorce, we may want to tell the children that the divorce is all the other parent's fault. Question 1's search for motives will usually reveal that our wish to blame the divorce entirely on the other parent has less to do with our children's needs than our own.

At least three motives drive our desire to assign blame. First, we want to deflect blame from ourselves. We want to avoid accepting responsibility for the failure of our marriage. We do not want our children to be angry with us and we do not want to feel guilty for hurting them. Second, we want our children's sympathy and alliance. And third, we want to punish our spouse. By making the other parent the bad guy, we manipulate the children to be angry with, perhaps even turn against, the other parent.

The message that our spouse is to blame for the divorce, therefore, carries three hidden requests: "Don't be mad at me. Pity me. Join me in being angry at your other parent." None of these serves our children.

Perhaps even more to the point, many people are wrong in blaming the failure of their marriage entirely on their ex-spouse. Though the initial decision to divorce might not have been their own, in the majority of cases both spouses contributed to the marital difficulties.

An honest answer to question 1, therefore, puts us on notice that we may be about to indulge our destructive urges under the guise of helping our children. Question 2 also produces no justification for telling the children that their other parent is fully responsible for the divorce: How can we say that they will be harmed by not hearing this? And, in response to question 3, it is difficult to think of any clear benefit they would gain by hearing our opinion that the other parent is totally at fault. (This does not mean that we should deprive children of an explanation for the divorce.) Our response to question 4, concerning the benefits and risks of the proposed revelations, forces us to acknowledge that placing blame

gives our children no particular advantage in coping with the divorce, and it creates a clear risk. The children may share our anger. And this will add unnecessary strain to their relationship with their other parent, thereby impeding their adjustment to the divorce.

Question 5 helps us identify the type of explanation that would best suit the needs of our children and protect their relationship with both parents. There are various possible explanations, depending on the circumstances of the marital conflict. But most helpful accounts of the divorce will avoid laying exclusive blame on one parent. The children will learn that their parents have decided to end their marriage. They may hear that the parents do not get along, or make each other unhappy. They may even learn of extramarital affairs. But they will be reassured that the divorce is not their fault. And they will not be asked to take sides in the conflict. They will not have to view either parent as "the bad guy."

Understanding our true motives, the goal of question 1, is the key to successfully navigating the delicate balance between helpful and harmful criticism. But it is easy to fool ourselves. We can shrink our awareness of malevolent intentions by hiding them behind noblesounding rationalizations. Alice Miller has shown how parents heap even the worst abuses on their children while telling them, "This is for your own good."

To get beyond such rationalizations, it will be helpful to review the malignant motives discussed in chapter 4. Ask yourself whether any of these could be influencing your decision to portray your ex or a grandparent in a negative light. It may help to discuss your intentions with a friend whom you can trust to be objective. Be honest. Instead of quickly dismissing the likelihood of ulterior motives, stretch your awareness to detect even the hint of their presence. These efforts will pay off. The more we are in touch with our true feelings, the more control we have over their expression. When we surrender this control, we are more likely to act destructively and sabotage our children's relationships with loved ones.

Divorce is one of life's most painful passages. It is painful for the spouse who wants it, painful for the spouse who feels rejected, and painful for the children.

We can understand and empathize with the spouse who feels

wronged and wants revenge, or the spouse who is overwhelmed with anxiety at the thought of losing the children, or the spouse who prefers to forget that the marriage ever was. But using the children to get revenge, to cope with anxiety, to erase the past, is unacceptable. Parents must hold themselves to a higher standard. They must have the courage to face what they are doing to their children. They must honor their mission to safe-guard their children's welfare, even when the darkest feelings beckon them to dim their awareness of their betrayal of their children. Divorce poison must be left in the bottle. Children deserve no less.

CHAPTER 2

BAD-MOUTHING, BASHING, AND BRAINWASHING

I can see that your head Has been twisted and fed By worthless foam from the mouth.

—BOB DYLAN, "TO RAMONA"

Divorce poison comes in different concentrations. In mild form it consists of occasional blaming and bad-mouthing. In its more potent form it constitutes full-fledged brainwashing. Each requires a different anti-dote. An effective response to bad-mouthing will be ineffective in the face of brainwashing.

BAD-MOUTHING

The period immediately before and after the marital separation is usually the most volatile time in the divorce process. It is the time children are most likely to witness each parent laying blame on the other. You or your spouse may be so tempted to demean each other that you find it difficult

to restrain yourself around the children. At times you may speak directly to them. More often, though, your children will overhear hostile communications not intended for them.

Ellen felt so betrayed by her husband's affair that she felt compelled to tell everyone what a louse he was. For a period of about two weeks she bad-mouthed him, often within earshot of her preschool son. Then one day, while her son was playing with his action figures, Ellen overheard him call the bad guy "a worthless piece of trash." This was the exact phrase Ellen repeatedly used to describe his father. In that instant she realized how her bad-mouthing was affecting her son, and Ellen resolved to be more careful about what she said when he was around.

Preoccupied with their own distress, recently separated parents find their anger and anguish pressing for expression to sympathetic listeners—friends, relatives, and attorneys. Like Ellen, they sometimes overlook the fact that their children are also listening. If "little pitchers have big ears," never are their ears so big as during a family crisis. At these times, children's attention is inevitably drawn to adult conversations. They want both to hear and not to hear. They want to learn the details of their parents' struggles. So they collect bits of information like pieces of a puzzle, trying to assemble a clear picture of the turmoil surrounding them. But they don't like what they hear, and often attempt to bury it in the recesses of their minds.

A spouse or ex-spouse who is occasionally bad-mouthing you or your relatives but was previously very protective of the children's feelings may need someone to provide the type of jolt Ellen received when she overheard her son parroting her hostility. Of course, we can't expect your ex to be receptive to your advice. But perhaps you can enlist the support of someone he or she trusts: a relative, friend, member of the clergy, or therapist. This person should confront both parents with their obligation to protect the children from their conflicts. Sometimes, all that bad-mouthing parents need is to have their attention drawn to their destructive behavior. If they fail to recognize the harm in badmouthing, they should think about the fact that children identify with both parents. This means that children experience bad-mouthing of a parent as a personal attack. It is a put-down of that aspect of themselves that identifies with the maligned parent. This is one reason divorce poison diminishes your child's self-esteem. Bad-mouth your ex and you simultaneously bad-mouth your child.

If you are the target of occasional bad-mouthing, don't ignore it, but don't overreact. Comments such as "Mom ruined the family" may be an

expression of pain by an ex who was emotionally unprepared for the divorce. When these sentiments resonate with your children's natural reactions to the divorce, it may seem as if your ex is deliberately drawing the children into an alliance against you. This is certainly one possibility, but you shouldn't assume that this is your ex's intention, or that the bad-mouthing will result in such an alliance.

Even if your children repeat something bad that your ex has said about you, don't assume that they are turning against you. Children often repeat such comments because they are troubling. Your children

may be seeking help from you.

When you know your children have heard your ex bad-mouthing you, ask them how they feel about what they heard. Let them know that you understand how disturbing it was for them to hear such unkind words. Showing such empathy helps children face and express their feelings rather than deny and repress them. It gives them the sense that their pain can be understood and resolved rather than stored up to cause havoc in the future. If what they heard about you is true, even if it would have been better for them not to know, you have no choice but to acknowledge the facts. Let them know you are sorry they had to hear it. If they repeat things about you that are untrue, simply explain that their other parent is mistaken and clarify the reality. Explain that the harsh words were said in anger. Help them understand by calling attention to the many times in the past when they were angry and said something they didn't truly mean. Reassure them that things will probably get better in the future as everyone gets used to the divorce.

Most likely this will be sufficient if you are still in the early stages of your separation, if the bad-mouthing is occasional rather than frequent, and if the children maintain close to their usual level of affection and respect for you (some increase in anger and misbehavior is expected in the immediate aftermath of the separation). You can help them most by continuing to support their relationship with your ex while providing

as much affection, attention, and understanding as you can.

Above all, don't retaliate. The obligation to help children cope with badmouthing is not a license to bad-mouth in return. Such behavior would merely multiply your children's distress. In fact, your best chance of reducing bad-mouthing may be to consistently acknowledge the specific things that your ex does for the children and express your appreciation. It is more difficult to bad-mouth someone who frequently says nice things about you.

If you become aware that you have been guilty of bad-mouthing, first acknowledge to your children that you made a mistake and then apologize. As with your ex's bad-mouthing, show empathy for the discomfort your remarks caused (e.g., "I'll bet that made you feel real bad when I said those mean things about Mommy.") and explain that the harsh words were said in anger.

Make it very clear that it would please you most if they did not let *your* anger interfere with their love and affection for the other parent. Tell them that they deserve to have two parents and two sets of extended families that they can love, and you want them to feel very free in showing that love. In fact, you *expect* them to show love and respect.

By labeling occasional bad-mouthing as "mild" I do not mean that children are unaffected by it. Unwelcome words always leave their mark. I will have more to say about this later in the book. But for now I would like my readers to observe the discomfort many children of divorce feel when in the presence of both parents. Bad-mouthing kills spontaneous displays of affection as children inhibit their behavior toward one parent for fear of disappointing the other, or appearing disloyal. They develop the guilty sense that they must keep their love for the maligned parent a closely guarded secret. This is what parents do to children when they fail to give them unconditional permission to love both of their parents.

Bad-mouthing can leave a more severe and lasting impression when the criticism is particularly harsh, the child is very young, and the parent makes no attempt to offset the impact of the ill-chosen words. One year after divorce, a rejected father told his four-year-old daughter that Mommy's boyfriend, Ira, was "sent by the devil." A year later the father had become resigned to the presence of Ira in his daughter's life, but he had never said anything to her about the "devil" comment. No apology. No retraction. No explanation. When her mother and Ira announced their engagement, the girl's first reaction was: "Daddy said Ira was sent by the devil." She was still clearly troubled by this. A single mean-spirited remark, made to a child at a very impressionable age, more than one year earlier, was enough to introduce an unwarranted wariness toward her future stepfather. This example, though, is the exception to the rule. In general, infrequent bad-mouthing, while never good for children, does not create severe harm.

BASHING

Unfortunately, many parents go beyond occasional blaming and badmouthing. In these families, virtually everything the children hear one parent say about the other is a harsh, snide, or sarcastic put-down. When destructive criticism reaches this level, when it is particularly vicious and predominant, bad-mouthing is too mild a term to accurately describe the behavior. Instead, I call it "bashing."

If we think of infrequent bad-mouthing as occasional potshots in an otherwise demilitarized zone, bashing is an artillery barrage in an ongoing war. Neither situation is suitable for children, but the risk of injury is obviously much greater with bashing. When verbal attacks reach the level of bashing, they leave a trail of emotional carnage.

A few children find a way to withstand the onslaught. How do they cope? It has a lot to do with the conclusions these children draw about their parents' irrational behavior. How we think about a situation makes a big difference in how it affects us. The same is true for children.

Take the case of two brothers whose alcoholic father beats them regularly. Both boys become accustomed to their father's outbursts; they regard them as unwelcome, fearful, yet inevitable events in their lives. The first brother, despite his anger and protests, believes, at some level of consciousness, that his father is acting appropriately. He concludes that he is a bad boy, worthy of his father's harsh treatment. The thought that his father is actually irrational and out of control is just too frightening to entertain. The boy prefers to accept the blame for his father's behavior, rather than face the unsettling reality that he is living with a parent whose behavior makes no sense.

The second brother understands that his father's punishments are not warranted. Most important, he believes that the punishments are a reflection of his father's disturbance rather than an index of his own worth. This boy concludes that his situation is terribly unfortunate and he tries to keep out of his father's way as much as possible. And he vows to treat his own children better when he becomes a father. The two brothers draw different conclusions as a result of exercising different levels of awareness and courage in facing harsh realities.

Similar considerations apply to children exposed to bashing. All children dislike the behavior and wish it would stop. Many try not to think about the bashing. Usually they develop troubling conflicts in their feelings

about their parents and about themselves. But a few children seem unaffected. They remain in touch with the reality of their parent's behavior. If asked, they will tell you that the behavior is disturbed and wrong. They usually discuss the bashing in a matter-of-fact tone. They dislike it but accept the fact that they are powerless to change it. They take it in stride.

Curiously, they maintain a positive regard for *both* parents. They recognize that the bashing parent has a major problem when it comes to the target, but they dismiss it as a mental aberration in an otherwise sane parent whom they continue to love. Older children may occasionally defend the target of the bashing. But most learn that life is easier if they keep their expressions of affection for the target out of earshot of the bashing parent. All the while, they maintain an undiminished love for the target of the bashing.

Unfortunately, these children are in the minority. I believe that most children are unable to cope in this manner without adult assistance. Most are unable to perform the mental gymnastics that allow them to retain love for both parents while escaping substantial compromises in their psychological development. Even those who appear to be coping well are not necessarily free from suffering and harm caused by exposure to bashing.

If your children understand that the bashing is unjustified, help them understand that this is an adult problem. It is not their job to correct the parent doing the bashing or to defend the target of the bashing. Let them know that you will understand their reluctance to show affection for you in the presence of their other parent. Assure them that you will always know they love you, even when they do not show it.

Teach the children how to accept the reality of the bashing rather than pretend it does not exist. The healthiest stance is to adopt a matter-of-fact attitude. The bashing exists. It is irrational. It is unpleasant. And they can't do anything about it.

Compare the bashing episodes to thunderstorms. We do not like being exposed to rain, thunder, and lightning, but we do not deny their unpleasant reality. If we pretended the storm did not exist we would do nothing to protect ourselves. Instead we accept the fact of the storm's existence and its inevitability. We also accept that we are powerless to control the storm. We ease our fear through better understanding of the phenomena. And we protect ourselves by taking cover, or removing ourselves from the storm's path.

In the same manner children can tell themselves, "Uh-oh, Dad's at it

again. Let's get out of his way and find something else to do until the storm blows over."

If you are the target of bashing, you must respond in a knowledgeable and effective manner. If you fail to do so, you may be allowing an even more harmful process to take root.

BRAINWASHING

Bashing becomes more destructive when it continues unchecked, it is repetitive, and the children are programmed, through a variety of techniques, to join in the vilification of a parent, grandparent, or other relative. At this point it becomes brainwashing.

You might think that brainwashing is too strong a term to apply to your own family's situation. But if your children are turning against you with the support and encouragement of their other parent—if they are withdrawing or expressing fear or hatred that is unjustified by anything you have done—the term *brainwashing* aptly describes what is happening to them. As we will see, the conditions that foster children's estrangement, and the techniques that parents use to poison their children's relationships, have much in common with the type of mind control that we usually think of in regard to brainwashed prisoners of war and members of cults. Parents who are the target of brainwashing can easily describe the changes in their children's responses to them. It is as if the children have become different people.

Every brainwashed child once expressed love and affection for the target of brainwashing; once felt safe with, looked forward to seeing, even craved attention from the target. Every such child had a history of gratifying memories that bound the child to the target. All of that is gone—disconnected from the child's thoughts, feelings, and behavior. In its place is a child who spouts only fear and hatred for the formerly loved adult; a child who recalls few of the good times, and defensively dismisses those that are recalled with some version of "I was just pretending to enjoy myself with you."

The story of how this egregious transformation takes place is told later in the book. In chapters 5 and 6 we see how bad-mouthing and bashing, in concert with certain critical conditions and tactics, if not understood and stopped, will likely result in relationships that are at best tainted, and

at worst totally lost. We describe these damaged relationships as alienated.

But here we must proceed with caution. For not everything that looks like alienation is alienation. And alienation is not always the result of bad-mouthing, bashing, and brainwashing. If you have accused your ex of fostering alienation in your children, or you have been accused of this yourself, these distinctions become crucial to your case.

PARENTAL ALIENATION SYNDROME

Tina was shocked and angry when her ex-husband filed a motion to deprive her of custody of their son, Vince. Wesley accused Tina of brainwashing Vince. He claimed that, as a result of Tina's mistreatment, the boy suffered from a disturbance known as parental alienation syndrome. After Tina spoke with her attorney, she was worried. Her attorney told her that the judge might transfer custody to Wesley if a mental health expert diagnosed Vince as exhibiting this syndrome.

Tina had unwillingly become caught up in a storm of controversy that has been brewing for several years among divorce lawyers and therapists. At the center of the storm is a distinguished and creative child psychiatrist by the name of Richard A. Gardner, M.D.

In 1971, Dr. Gardner wrote *The Boys and Girls Book About Divorce*, the first book on divorce written for children. Its honest and engaging style, and its practical solutions to the most common dilemmas that children of divorce face, made it an instant hit among critics, parents, and children. It was featured in *Time* magazine and *The New York Times Sunday Magazine*, is now in its twenty-eighth printing, has been translated into six languages, and is considered a classic in its field. Dr. Gardner has since published forty-two more books for parents, children, and therapists, and his therapeutic techniques and games have become standard tools for child psychotherapists.

After all this acclaim, how did this respected doctor become a controversial figure? In the 1980s Dr. Gardner began seeing more cases of severe divorce poisoning that arose during child custody disputes. In some of these families, the children joined forces with one parent to denigrate the other parent. As Dr. Gardner worked with these families, he noticed certain similarities among children who rejected a parent. Many, for example, expressed hatred not just toward a parent but toward the parent's entire

family. Most would give trivial or absurd explanations for why they now hated people they formerly loved. "Mom embarrassed me at Little League practice," said one child, "when she sprayed us with stuff that kills bugs."

Because these children shared a common pattern of behaviors that was related to their rejection of a parent, Dr. Gardner introduced a term to describe their disturbance. He called it parental alienation syndrome—PAS for short. Dr. Gardner's detailed account of the origin, course, and manifestations of the phenomenon, along with his guidelines for intervention by courts and therapists, has captured the attention of the mental health and legal professions. Even Gardner's critics acknowledge that his formulation of PAS has brought a great deal of attention to the problem of alienated children. The term has made it easier for therapists throughout the world to communicate about the disturbance and to propose strategies to help PAS children and their families.

Some therapists, however, object to the label PAS. Indeed, some mental health professionals oppose the use of any diagnostic terms for family disturbances. They agree that parents sometimes poison their children's affections for the other parent. They agree that many of these children previously enjoyed a healthy loving relationship with the parent they now reject. They even agree on the behaviors that characterize alienated children. But they do not believe that this disturbance warrants a separate label or the term "syndrome." And they fear that the term will be misused in court. More than other newly proposed diagnoses, PAS has provoked great controversy. Readers interested in a detailed analysis of this controversy will find more information on my website: www.warshak.com.

When Dr. Gardner first wrote about PAS, he saw more mothers than fathers who were programming their children against the other parent. This became one source of controversy. Critics attacked the doctor as being against mothers. These attacks continue, despite the fact that Dr. Gardner has often testified on behalf of women, and despite his position that changes in divorce practices have now resulted in as many fathers as mothers who foster PAS.

Some critics believe that PAS unfairly holds one parent responsible for a problem that has many facets. As we will see in the next chapter, some children become alienated as a result of several factors, with no one element predominating over the others. A therapist who understands PAS would not use the term to describe this type of alienation. When a child's alienation is independent of divorce poison—when it would have

occurred without the influence of the favored parent—this is not a valid case of PAS. Other critics fear that men whose own behavior has pushed away their children will shirk responsibility for the problems and instead blame their wives. These women must then defend themselves against false allegations of promulgating PAS. If the court holds the mother responsible for the children's poor relationship with their father, she could lose custody, just as Tina feared. PAS experts, including Dr. Gardner, apply the term only to children who reject a parent without justification and under the influence of the other parent. But therapists with a poor understanding of PAS may recommend placing children in the custody of a parent whom they have good reason to reject.

More than one hundred articles have been published by professionals who, like Dr. Gardner, see PAS in their practices. The scientific community, though, still awaits the extent of research that will determine whether the problem should be labeled a "syndrome" and whether it will take its place in the official manual of diagnoses. Until then, experts will continue to disagree about the use of this term. Many parents, though, find it reassuring to learn that therapists are aware of the problem and working to develop effective treatments. A recent E-mail from a mother expressed this attitude: "I didn't even know there was an official name for what was happening until this had gone on for two years. It must have taken ten lawyers before I found one who told me what was going on. Plus, I was blindsided by my divorce and could not believe Dad would stoop so low, especially since he's an educator. I was just way behind from the get-go." Another mother wrote: "It has been such an eye-opener to read about this. I had felt so alone for so long. I knew what was going on but had no way to prove it. I just now have learned about PAS."

One of the advantages of a term like *PAS* is that it is brief and much less cumbersome than the phrase "children who are irrationally alienated as a result of divorce poison" or "alienated children who previously had a good relationship with a rejected parent." For this reason, if you occasionally see the term in this book, please understand that it refers only to children whose alienation is clearly and primarily the result of divorce poison.

I share others' concerns about the misuse of the term *PAS* and take this up next. Misdiagnosis is not unique to *PAS*. All mental health disturbances can be and often are mistakenly dignosed. The solution is not to abandon diagnoses; it is to better educate the people who use them. In

chapter 3, "Alienated Children," I discuss in greater detail how to identify irrational alienation accurately and how to recognize when it is misdiagnosed. But I do not want us to get too preoccupied with the label. Even PAS critics agree that divorce poison often damages parent-child relationships. Regardless of what we call it, the disturbance exists and it is serious.

CHILDREN WHO RESIST DIVORCE POISON

Some children are easily drawn into what Dr. Janet Johnston and Dr. Linda Campbell call "unholy alliances" with a parent. Other children resist pressure to join in their parents' battles and instead maintain a steadfast refusal to take sides. Can you predict if your child will be immune to attempts to poison her relationship with you? Not with 100 percent certainty. But certain factors do increase the odds in your favor.

The formula for predicting success in resisting alienation has four key components:

- 1. The environment and manner in which the bad-mouthing, bashing, and brainwashing takes place
- 2. Your prior relationship with your child
- 3. Specific characteristics of your child
- 4. Your response to divorce poison

1. The Habitat of Alienation

Of the four protective factors, this is most central. Divorce poison is easiest to neutralize when three conditions are met:

- The child remains in sufficient physical contact with the target
- The child maintains a psychological connection with the target
- The child is not excessively afraid of the alienating parent

These conditions make it easier for a child to resist becoming alienated, and make it easier to help a child overcome alienation that has already occurred. When these conditions are absent, divorce poison has a much greater chance of taking root and crowding out loving memories. Chapter 5, "The Alienating Environment," explains exactly how physical

isolation, psychological dependence, and fear lay the groundwork for brainwashing, and how you can protect your children.

2. Prealienation Relationship

It would be only fair if a long history of a tender relationship with a loving, involved, understanding parent insulated your child from divorce poison. Unfortunately, it does not work this way. A child may be willing to denigrate the parent whose love is easily granted, in exchange for conditional acceptance from a parent who was previously uninvolved or harshly punitive and rejecting. A child who fears a parent may become that parent's willing ally in order to avoid the parent's wrath. A child who felt neglected by a parent may welcome that parent's newfound interest and generosity rather than recognize or acknowledge that the parent is attempting to buy his child's allegiance through overindulgence. A child may feel obliged to show loyalty to an emotionally fragile parent, even when that means participating in a war against the other parent. These are just some of the reasons why placing children in the middle of their parents' battles can demolish even the best parent-child relationships.

Parent-child relationships are particularly vulnerable when children are first informed of the impending separation, or when one parent actually leaves the home. If your spouse manipulates the children to blame you for the divorce, or to believe you have abandoned them, affection can dissolve overnight as their distress and hurt feelings are channeled into hatred. The risk becomes multiplied if, for any reason, you have no communication or contact with the children after you leave the home. This keeps you from reassuring the children of your love and helping them understand that they do not have to choose between their parents.

By now it should be clear that a close relationship with your child offers no guarantee against alienation. Nevertheless, it may improve the odds in your favor. It stands to reason that it will be easier to turn a child against a parent who has been relatively uninvolved than against one who has been extremely involved. It will be easier to turn a child against a parent who usually disregards her children's feelings than one who is usually empathic. Children are less likely to resist efforts to turn them against a parent with whom they are already angry or distant. And there are some children whose love and trust in a parent runs so deep that it renders divorce poison impotent. For these reasons, notwithstanding the observa-

tions made above, I regard a history of a warm, positive, mutually affectionate parent-child relationship as a protective factor against alienation.

3. Children Predisposed to Alienation

Certain characteristics in children may make alienation less likely. In general, the better the child's psychological development, the better able she will be to maintain affectionate relationships with both parents. It is easier to make a child afraid of the target when the child is fearful by nature.

A child who has confidence in her own judgment, who is used to thinking critically and independently, will resist attempts at manipulation. She will remain aware of her own experiences. When one parent bad-mouths the other, she will trust her own perceptions rather than automatically absorb the alienating parent's view.

Nine-year-old Karen told her therapist, "My mom is so mad at Dad. She's always telling me how bad he is and that she's sorry I have him for a father. I know she wants me to be mad at him too. But he's really a nice dad. I have fun with him. He taught me how to ride a bike. He coaches my soccer team. All my friends like him too. I don't know why Mom hates Dad so much, but that's her problem. When she starts going on about how bad he is, I just ignore her. Sometimes I go to my room or go outside and play. It usually doesn't last long. I wish she would stop, because it's really embarrassing. But she's not gonna get me to say he's a bad daddy. I know better."

Karen's attitude reveals an exceptionally high level of self-esteem, a hallmark of a psychologically healthy child. In *The Art of Living Consciously*, Dr. Nathaniel Branden, a leading authority on self-esteem, advises, "Parents who love their children with wisdom and not merely with feelings encourage independent, critical thinking. They teach them that the unexamined idea is not worth holding." This type of parenting not only inoculates children against divorce poison, it helps them resist any attempt to bypass their rational faculty, whether from a peer encouraging drug use or a politician spouting propaganda. Karen's parents treated her in this manner prior to the separation. It is one reason Karen could display such a healthy response when her mom bad-mouthed her dad. Like many otherwise benevolent and sensible people, though, Karen's mother sometimes lost her perspective, showed poor judgment,

and abandoned good parenting practices under the pressure of the anxiety, hurt, and anger triggered by divorce.

Children who are overly dependent or too close to a parent will be more susceptible to that parent's negative attitudes about the other parent. I once worked with a boy who was so dependent on his mother that at the age of ten he was still calling her into the bathroom to wipe him after he defecated. Even during the marriage, this boy and his mother often teamed up against the father. When the father finally had enough of his unrewarding marriage and called it quits, the boy refused all contact with his father. His mother saw nothing wrong with this, and instead labeled the father's attempts to see his son as "harassment."

By discussing traits in children that protect or predispose them to alienation, I do not mean to imply that we should hold children fully responsible for their alienation. Though it is important to learn how we can guide children to resist divorce poison, we must not lose sight of the fact that the children are victims.

Some experts believe that younger children are more resistant to alienation than older children because they cannot be relied upon to sustain a consistently negative stance toward the target. Once they leave the orbit of the programming parent, they "forget" that they are supposed to be afraid of or angry with the target parent. Although this may be true of some children, as a general rule this has not been my experience. In fact, research confirms the commonsense notion that younger children are generally more malleable than older children. It is easier, for example, for a parent to implant false memories of abuse in younger children. Once these take hold, the child may be quite resistant to any overtures from the alleged abuser. On the other hand, research by Dr. Judith Wallerstein and Dr. Joan Kelly found that children between the ages of nine and twelve years are most likely to join forces with one parent against the other. This is clearly an area in which more research is needed before drawing any firm conclusions. Perhaps readers of this book will assist by letting me know of their own experiences.

4. The Burden of the Rejected Parent

When children begin to show signs of succumbing to divorce poison, the target parent's reactions may play a crucial role in determining the ulti-

mate outcome. Parents who practice the advice given earlier in this chapter will improve their children's chances of resisting alienation. They must exercise self-restraint and show empathy for the children's feelings despite their obnoxious and belligerent behavior. But they must also do everything possible to maintain contact with the children. To increase the chances of reversing alienation, follow these seven rules, which are described in greater detail in chapter 7, "Poison Control":

- Don't lose your temper, act too aggressive, or harshly criticize your children.
- 2. Don't counterreject your children by telling them that if they don't want to see you, you don't want to see them.
- 3. Don't passively allow the children and your ex to dictate the terms of your contact with them. Don't wait patiently until the children feel "the time is right" for them to see you. Alienated parents learn too late that the time is never right.
- 4. Don't spend your time with the children trying to talk them out of their negative attitudes. Engage in conflict-free, pleasurable interaction instead.
- 5. Don't dismiss the children's feelings or tell them that they're not really angry or afraid of you. Although this may be true, the children will merely feel that you don't understand them.
- 6. Don't accuse the children of merely repeating what the other parent has told them. Again, although this may be true, the children will vehemently deny it and feel attacked by you.
- 7. Don't bad-mouth your ex.

It is important to keep in mind that target parents generally have had no prior experience dealing with this degree of disrespect and rejection from their children. In some ways, the difficulties alienated children present are similar, though more intense and unexpected, than the difficulties teenagers present when they begin to devalue their parents. It is the rare parent who grasps the process of alienation early enough to avoid all the mistakes listed above. Most target parents benefit from specific coaching on how to respond effectively to divorce poison.

CHAPTER 3

ALIENATED CHILDREN

How sharper than a serpent's tooth it is to have a thankless child.
—WILLIAM SHAKESPEARE, King Lear

At age eleven, Jeremy was as close to his father as a boy can be. He told his sixth-grade teacher that he was going to attend his father's college, enlist in the navy, and then work for the State Department, just as his dad had done. Within two months of his parents' separation, Jeremy insisted that he hated his father and never wanted to see him again. His hatred spread like a virus to encompass everyone associated with his father. He didn't want to play with his cousins, and he rejected the grandmother who had been his favorite person in the world.

Divorce poison works fast—so fast that it catches target parents off guard, leaving them confused about exactly what is happening and bewildered about why it is happening. Learning about pathological alienation and the typical behaviors of alienated children helped Jeremy's father and his relatives understand exactly what they were up against. It was reassuring to know that others had similar experiences, and that the problem has been recognized and described by mental health professionals.

Experts disagree about how to label and treat this disturbance. Despite their differences, though, most experts agree that alienated children share certain traits and behaviors first identified by Dr. Richard

Gardner. Whether you are the target of attempts to poison the children's affection, or have been accused of making such attempts, it is essential that you become familiar with these characteristics.

THE HATE CAMPAIGN

This goes far beyond the usual type and amount of criticisms and complaints that children heap upon their parents. You will see a degree of contempt and cruelty reserved for one's worst enemies. The children treat the target parent as unworthy of even the smallest amount of regard and respect. Their obnoxious behavior commonly prompts others to remark that the children are acting like spoiled brats. One child poured soup over his father's head in a restaurant. Another child punished her mother by always ordering the most expensive item on a menu and then not eating any of it. Some of these children threaten to kill the parent. Formerly compliant children now scream profanities at the parent, confident that this will please their other parent, who will champion the children's "right to express themselves." In less extreme cases, children merely shun the target parents; they fail to greet them, avoid conversation and eye contact, and leave without saying goodbye. These can be easily recognized as signs of alienation because they represent abrupt departures from the child's usual behavior.

Normally, children who treat a parent with gross disrespect understand that they are violating acceptable manners and rules; they feel guilty for their transgressions. By contrast, alienated children engage in all sorts of sadistically cruel behaviors toward a parent without expressing the slightest bit of guilt. The children act as if they are entitled to receive material benefits from the target parent while treating the same parent with malice, disregarding his or her feelings, and exhibiting no gratitude for past or current contributions to their welfare. It is as if the parent has been relegated to a status of subhuman scapegoat and thereby fair game for any mistreatment. One study described these children as "pitiless in their condemnation."

TRIVIAL EXPLANATIONS FOR THE HATRED

Ask these children why they hate their parents and most cite common minor grievances that couldn't possibly account for the extreme turnabout

in their feelings. "She's always telling me to brush my teeth," a little girl whined. "That's why I don't want to be with Mom." Alienating parents usually accept such complaints, though absurd, as reasonable explanations for why the child would not want to associate with the other parent.

"This letter is to inform you that I am not going to see you anymore. I don't love you anymore," a twelve-year-old girl wrote to her mother,

with her father's support.

What did this mother do to lose her precious daughter's love? What horrible abuse did she visit on her child? The letter continued, "You don't respect me. You treat me like a baby. You don't care about how I think or how I feel."

Sound familiar? It will to every parent of a preteeen or teenager, or to anyone who remembers how she felt during those years. If such feelings were grounds for terminating parent-child relationships, all

children in junior high school would be living on their own.

Unfortunately, therapists who are inexperienced in this area may accept the child's reasoning. In the case of our twelve-year-old letter writer, the court's social worker wrote a report that referred to this child as a "young adult" and castigated the mother for not treating her as such. The social worker recommended that the mother get counseling to learn how to deal with teenagers. What is frightening is that such reports wield great power over custody decisions in our courts. I do not know this social worker, but, given her overidentification with the child, I would not be surprised if she had some unresolved issues from her own adolescence. The result of her report was the complete cessation of the mother-daughter relationship. Seven years later this bereaved mother sought my help in reuniting with her estranged daughter.

To justify their wish to stop seeing a parent, children often recite a litany of that parent's past mistakes, errors in judgment, and minor personality weaknesses. They magnify the rejected parent's negative traits and behavior, and treat the parent as though he or she lacks any redeeming virtues. In an intact family, normal parents would consider it preposterous if their children wanted to disown a parent for such frivolous reasons. Prior to the onset of divorce poison, most alienated children showed respect and affection for both parents, regardless of the parents' alleged faults. Certainly, prior to the marital separation, no court would terminate parental rights based on the type of insignificant allegations lodged by alienated children. And no therapist would recommend that a parent give

up her relationship with the children because of her children's complaints. Despite normal parent-child conflicts, children continue to sleep in their parents' home, have meals with parents, talk to parents, vacation with them, and so on. When children become alienated in the aftermath of their parents' separation, their explanations for the sudden and complete hatred or fear of the parent rarely make sense in light of their past history of treating that same parent with love and affection.

One of the most common excuses children give for rejecting a parent is that the parent refuses to accept the rupture of the relationship and continues to press for contact with the children. A father received the following letter from his thirteen-year-old daughter, "I do not wish to visit you at all this summer. The more you demand and force me, the stronger I will resist you. Every time you force me to go with you, I lose more respect for you. So now I wish to end my relationship, or what is left of my relationship with you."

A mother learned that her ex-husband and his new wife were planning to relocate to another part of the country with her daughter. When this mother sought legal help to prevent the move, the girl held this against her and refused any contact with her. Of course, these parents would not have to force contact if their children were not resisting it in the first place. But the children's circular reasoning casts the parents' refusals to accept alienation as the cause of, and excuse for, the alienation. Some children claim that they intend to renew contact with the alienated parent "when the time is right." From parents' bitter experiences I have learned that very often the time is never "right." Though some children try to reconcile after years of alienation, many do not. Either way, nothing can replace the lost years.

TAKE ACTION

Exercise self-restraint
Alienated children repay years of a parent's love, compassion, and hard work with the most unbelievably rude and obnoxious behavior. In the face of such abuse, it is natural to want to retaliate, to lash out physically or verbally against the children or the parent fomenting the behavior. DON'T. Why?

- Harsh punishment and angry exchanges will escalate hostility rather than relieve it.
- Remember that your children are being manipulated to serve as vehicles to express their other parent's hostility. Don't punish them for the sins of the alienating parent.
- The children are primed to see you in a bad light and are looking for excuses to justify their rejection of you. Don't help them.
- Your punitive reactions and loss of temper will play directly into the hands of the alienating parent. Even one lapse of judgment can be raised repeatedly in court and exaggerated to create the impression that it is typical of how you mistreat your children. Your behavior will then be mistaken as the cause of alienation rather than an isolated, desperate reaction to it.

Maintain contact

When children repeatedly complain about being forced to see the alienated parent, many parents make the crucial mistake of telling them, in effect, "If you are so unhappy being here with me, stop coming. Return when you have a more positive attitude." Usually occurring in the early stages of alienation, this approach grows out of frustration and anger as well as an inadequate understanding of the potency of divorce poison. If your goal is to improve your relationship with your children, ceasing contact will not bring you any closer. Why?

- Maintaining contact is crucial for reversing alienation. We take this up in greater detail in chapter 5.
- Even when they seem to have no use for you, the children have a long history of depending on you for love and care. Surprisingly, if you counterreject them, on some level they will feel hurt and abandoned, and will channel their pain into more anger and alienation.
- Years later, children remember the perceived abandonment and blame the alienated parent for the ruptured

relationship: "You said you didn't want to see us anymore."

- The absence of contact can be distorted in court to argue that you caused the alienation by your rejection of the children.
- As long as the children are dependent on the alienating parent, they may not be able on their own to resist divorce poison. When you lose contact with them, you lose the opportunity to help them escape or withstand the noxious environment. In too many families, when children are allowed to determine when to contact the alienated parent, they never see or talk to that parent again.

Develop a thick skin

To survive a campaign of hatred, you must learn to withstand high levels of verbal aggression and provocative behavior. If you allow yourself to feel crushed by the children's rejection, it will be very difficult for you to demonstrate the self-restraint and commitment necessary to see the problem through to a successful resolution. As in most interpersonal conflicts, you would be wise to remember that cooler heads prevail. Cultivate the habit of reminding yourself that the children who inflict pain on you are themselves victims. Like brainwashed soldiers and brainwashed cult members, your children's hostility is not fully their own. In a very real sense, they are not in their right mind.

Avoid getting drawn into a debate about the reasons for the hatred

It is tempting to dispute the rationalizations the children give for their newfound hatred. Resist this temptation and instead concentrate on having pleasant experiences with the children. *Why*?

 It is a debate you cannot win. The children believe their reasons are sound and will resent the implication that they are being absurd.

FALSE ABUSE ACCUSATIONS

Children who are irrationally alienated usually give trivial—even ridiculous—excuses for rejecting a parent. A small percentage of children, though, give reasons that are anything but trivial. These children launch what are known in family law circles as "the nuclear weapons" of custody litigation: accusations of physical or sexual abuse.

These accusations are so extremely powerful that they usually result in an immediate court-ordered ban on all normal contact between the accused and his or her children. When the children are true victims of abuse, the court's actions protect them from further harm. But when the children have been manipulated to make false reports of abuse, the ban on contact intensifies alienation, sometimes striking the death blow to the relationship.

Some people insist that children never make false reports of abuse. They are wrong. False reports do occur. They range from innocent misunderstandings to deliberate attempts to alienate children, sometimes in order to win custody.

A young child mentions that her father touched her "privates." Her mother becomes concerned enough to make a report to the proper authorities. An investigation reveals that the girl had just participated in a program at preschool intended to help children protect themselves against sexual abuse. The warnings of the instructor were still on the child's mind when her father bathed her that night and the result was the child's alarming report to her mother. When false accusations stem from such misunderstandings, the accusing parents do not want to believe that their children have been abused. They express relief upon learning that the abuse did not take place, and they willingly reestablish contact between the exonerated accused and the children. In these cases, the children generally do not become alienated.

The situation is entirely different when false accusations are made by children who are alienated as a result of divorce poison. In such cases the children generally have some of the other characteristics discussed in this chapter. Sometimes, but not always, the details of the abuse accusation stretch credulity. Even after investigations establish the innocence of the target parent, the children and the favored parent may cling to the charges of abuse.

Some children are aware that they are giving a false report. Either on their own, or with a parent's coaching, they have decided to lie. Other

alienated children magnify an isolated act of physical restraint or discipline into an accusation of physical abuse. And still others, through repeated and suggestive questioning, are manipulated not only to make false allegations of physical or sexual abuse but to actually believe they have been victims of abuse. In other words, they are not consciously lying. They believe their false stories.

The Genesis of a False Accusation

An award-winning book published by the American Psychological Association shows just how easily children can be manipulated to give false accounts that bad things have happened to them. In *Jeopardy in the Courtroom*, Cornell University professor Dr. Stephen Ceci and his colleague Dr. Maggie Bruck describe studies that reveal the type of conversations with children that can lead to false allegations.

In one study children were simply asked to repeatedly think about whether different events had ever happened to them, such as getting their finger caught in a mousetrap and going to the hospital to get the trap off. After ten sessions, more than half the children told false stories about fictitious events in their lives. In fact, their stories were so elaborately embellished with details that experts could not detect which events were real and which were not. Even more remarkable, after the researchers told the children that the events never really happened, many of the children continued to insist that they remembered the fictitious events occurring. ABC news correspondent John Stossel interviewed some of these children for the show 20/20. One four-year-old-boy had already been told by his parents that the whole mousetrap story was just in his imagination and that nothing like this had ever happened. Yet when Stossel asked the boy if he ever got his finger caught in a mousetrap, with his parents there beside him, this child said he remembered the event and then gave a detailed account. Stossel reminded him that his parents already said that it never happened, but the boy protested, "It really did happen. I remember it!"

In another study, a stranger named "Sam Stone" visited a preschool classroom. He said hello, walked around the room for two minutes, then said good-bye and left. That was it. He touched nothing. During the next ten weeks, the children were interviewed four times and asked to describe Sam Stone's visit. One month following the fourth interview, another

adult interviewed the children, this time asking about two events which did not occur, "Did Sam Stone do anything to a book or a teddy bear?"

The investigators learned that they could produce false reports of Sam Stone's behavior both by bad-mouthing Sam Stone and by asking the children leading, suggestive questions. The bad-mouthing took the form of telling stories to the children, prior to Sam Stone's visit, about Sam Stone's clumsiness. For example:

You'll never guess who visited me last night. [pause] That's right. Sam Stone! And guess what he did this time? He asked to borrow my Barbie and when he was carrying her down the stairs, he tripped and fell and broke her arm. That Sam Stone is always getting into accidents and breaking things!

The day after Sam Stone's visit, the children were shown a soiled teddy bear that had not even been in the room during Sam's visit. They were asked if they knew how the teddy bear had been soiled. An example of a suggestive question was the following: "Remember that time Sam Stone visited your classroom and spilled chocolate on that white teddy bear? Did he do it on purpose or was it an accident?"

By the time of the final interview, an astounding 72 percent of the youngest preschoolers falsely incriminated Sam Stone. Like the children in the mousetrap study, they embellished their stories with fabricated details, such as reporting that they saw Sam Stone on his way to the store to buy chocolate ice cream. Once again, the children fooled the

experts.

The investigators showed videotaped interviews of the children to specialists who interview children for purposes of criminal investigations and who treat children suspected of having been abused. These experts were confident in their judgments about which events really occurred and which were made up. But the experts were wrong. In fact, the very children they rated as most accurate were the children who were least accurate. Substitute Mommy or Daddy for Sam Stone and you begin to see how children can be manipulated to give convincing, yet false, negative reports about a parent.

False beliefs about abuse hurt children beyond the damage done by the alienation. A child who believes that she has been sexually abused by a relative can develop problems similar to those of a child who has actually suffered abuse. The child comes to distrust her caretakers in the same way she would if actually abused. Her view of sexuality is

corrupted at an

early age, and this may lead to problems in sexual adjustment as an adult. Her ability to trust in close relationships is impaired. This may interfere with her relationships throughout her life.

Exploiting Abuse to Produce Alienation

Some cases are complicated because they involve both abuse and divorce poison. In these cases, a child has been abused in a parent's home. But the alienation that follows results more from the influence of the other parent than the abuse incident. Consider the following.

A divorced mother's date deliberately exposed himself to her young daughter. When the father learned of this incident, his first reaction was not concern for his daughter but outrage at his ex-wife. He saw this as an opportunity to exact revenge on his ex for leaving him. Even though she had no more contact with the perpetrator, the father took her to court to try to restrict her access to their child. He argued that his daughter was now afraid to see her mother. To support this position, he tried to convince the girl that her mother's house was unsafe and that her mother was unable to protect her from bad things. Rather than help his child move past the unfortunate episode, he exploited the episode. He repeatedly brought it up, acted as though she was irreparably damaged by the isolated incident, and did all that he could to keep it fresh in her mind.

By the time the court evaluator interviewed the child, she was certainly alienated from her mother. But the father's negative behavior played a much larger role in the alienation than the interaction with her mother's date. The mother had the good fortune to be assigned a custody evaluator who looked beyond the father's explanation and recognized that the child's rejection of her mother was not reasonable or normal. Because the abusive incident was not typical of the environment provided by this mother, the evaluator recommended no change in custody. Another evaluator might well have assumed that the child's alienation was justified and that the child's reluctance to be in her mother's home deserved respect and accommodation. In such a case, the professional might have recommended extremely restricted contact between mother and daughter to take place in an artificial, court-supervised setting. The complicated nature of so many of these cases dictates the need for specialized expert examinations of all children who report abuse.

In some cases, although children have no direct experience with abuse, they have witnessed physical altercations between their parents. As tensions heat up in a deteriorating marriage, isolated acts of domestic violence, unfortunately, are all too common. These frighten children. If they perceive one parent as the aggressor, their sympathies will naturally lie with the other parent.

Let us suppose that a husband and wife's argument escalates to the point of mutual shoving, grabbing, and pushing. Each receives minor bruises. The wife calls the police, who come to the home and ask the husband to leave for the night. The children have had ringside seats to the entire shameful spectacle.

It is now up to the mother to talk to the children about the incident. She can express her regret that they had to see their parents acting in this manner. She can remind them that this is not typical of how their parents behave. She can reassure them that they will be seeing their father very soon, that the hostility is between the parents and does not involve the children, and that both parents love them very much.

Or the mother can exploit the incident in a bid to gain the children's alliance with her and against their father. She can send the message that, because she is so angry with their father, they should be too. She can exaggerate the severity of the aggression. She can speak about their father as a violent man from whom they all need protection. She can make the children afraid to see him again.

Even without the mother's programming, the children's reunion with their father is apt to begin awkwardly. If he handles the moment with sensitivity to their feelings, before long their relationship is back to normal. But if the children are out of contact with their father for a prolonged period of time, they are more likely to adopt their mother's viewpoint. Their last contact with their father will leave a disproportionate imprint on their thoughts and feelings about him. Love and comfort built up over years of living together will be erased by an isolated incident that lasted a few minutes. In such a case, the children will cite the episode of domestic violence as the reason for their hatred and fear of their father. A careful investigation, though, will reveal the mother's role in fostering the alienation. As we will see later in this chapter, the situation is very different when domestic violence has been chronic. In such families children may develop an aversion to a violent parent that is reasonable and would not qualify as pathological alienation.

Responding to Children's Reports of Abuse

I must emphasize that reports of child abuse need to be taken seriously. Adults abuse children at an alarming rate and our society has historically been reluctant to acknowledge the problem. Some of this abuse undoubtedly occurs in families with high levels of parental animosity. It would be a serious mistake, then, to automatically dismiss reports of abuse merely because they emerge during acrimonious divorce disputes.

This point merits emphasis. We should not assume that all children in divorced families who allege abuse and reject the alleged abuser are acting under the influence of divorce poison. Children who actually are treated cruelly or witness a parent's repeated and excessive violence or out-of-control behavior have good reasons to avoid contact with the perpetrator. This should never be confused with alienation resulting from divorce poison. In one case, the responsibility for alienation lies with alienated parents whose own behavior has pushed away their children. In the other case children's alienation is aided and abetted by the favored parent. In both cases, the guilty parties may shirk responsibility for their children's alienation and blame the other parent. But no therapist who truly understands the type of alienation being discussed in these pages would mistake the two situations.

TAKE ACTION

When a child makes a claim of abuse, as soon as possible seek a professional evaluation of the child, the alleged perpetrator, and the person to whom the child reported the incident. The more time that elapses between the original report and the professional examination, and particularly the more times a child has talked with an adult about the incident, the more likely that the accuracy of the child's report will be suspect. Including all parties to the allegation allows the evaluator to investigate more of the factors that will help determine whether or not the child's report is likely to be accurate. The evaluator should have experience with abused children and with irrationally alienated children. It is best if the initial evaluation is videotaped, with the camera capturing both the interviewer and the child. A videotaped evaluation will allow other experts who may subsequently become involved to reach opinions about

the accuracy of the child's report without subjecting the child to a series of examinations. The videotape will also reveal the extent to which an examiner has used or avoided suggestive and coercive interview techniques that could taint a child's ultimate credibility and testimony. (Parents should not conduct their own taped interviews of their children.)

POLARIZING PARENTS: SAINTS AND SINNERS

"I don't want you to have any part in my life because everything in my life has been good except when you have forced me to go with you," a ten-year-old boy told his father.

Ordinarily children have mixed feelings about their parents. They like certain things; they don't like others. Even children who have suffered abuse from a parent can think of positive things to say about the abuser and have some good memories of better times spent with that parent.

When a child has been poisoned against a parent, that parent is all bad in the child's mind. By contrast, the other parent is all good. In any conflict between the favored parent and the target parent, the children automatically take the side of the favored parent. These situations bear a striking resemblance to the behavior of a racial bigot who is primed to believe anything negative about members of the hated race. Alienated children uncritically accept every allegation the favored parent makes against the other parent, even when there is obvious contradictory evidence. One mother told me that her ex moved their daughter to another country in order to keep the mother from seeing her child. After years of being brainwashed, the girl actually accused the mother of moving away.

TAKE ACTION

Expose the children to people who treat you with positive regard. When you are with your children, spend time with others who treat you with respect and affection. Especially try to surround yourself with other children, such as nieces and nephews, who demonstrate their love. Observing other people valuing you will help offset the exclusively negative image held by your children. Also, it

will be more difficult for the children to maintain their rudeness in an environment that regards such behavior as aberrant. As a result of wanting to fit in, the children may begin to treat you better. In turn, positive behavior can awaken positive attitudes.

PARROTING ADULTS

Not only do the children endorse every complaint made by the favored parent, they incorporate the parent's words into their own descriptions and catalog of complaints. This is most obvious when the language goes far beyond the child's normal vocabulary and understanding, or expresses attitudes that are decidedly unchildlike. When asked why she did not want to see her father, one five-year-old explained, "He buys me too many toys. He's just trying to spoil me." A six-year-old boy complained about his mother, "She keeps violating my privacy."

DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE

Even when using adult language, alienated children never recognize that their hatred is the result of manipulation. They resent any suggestion that their opinions are influenced by the other parent. In this respect they are like adolescents who emphasize their independence while wearing exactly the same clothes as all their friends. "No one told me what to say" is a popular refrain.

Older children appreciate that a parent's bad-mouthing could meet with disapproval from outside observers, such as a therapist or judge. Although these children do not believe their negative attitudes have been influenced by the favored parent, they nonetheless seek to protect that parent from criticism by denying that the parent has ever bad-mouthed the other parent. The children insist that their hatred and rejection is their autonomous response to the alienated parent's mistreatment.

I consulted in a Canadian case in which a psychologist asked a boy what his dad thought of his mom. The boy replied, "I have no idea. I never asked him." He was lying. Numerous taped phone calls caught the father bashing the mother in the most explicit and crude language and coaching his son to make false allegations against the mother. Moreover,

the boy was well aware that his father was seeking to prevent the mother from ever seeing her son again.

Once the children are successfully poisoned, the offending parent may, in fact, tone down the bad-mouthing, confident that the goal has been accomplished. When the children object to seeing their other parent, the favored parent can then pay lip service to the importance of the children's relationship with the rejected parent. They claim either that they are helpless to change their children's negative attitudes or that they believe they must "respect" their children's choices.

Naive court-appointed evaluators who examine the children at this later stage of alienation mistakenly conclude that the children's rejection of a parent is indeed independent of the other parent's behavior or wishes. One therapist concluded that the children's rejection of their father was not influenced by the mother because, during an interview, the children expressed their hatred for their father without looking to their mother for cues.

TAKE ACTION

Resist the temptation to argue with your children about the origin of their criticisms of you even when they use exactly the same words your ex does. If you attribute their attitudes to your ex, whether or not they realize what they are doing (and many times they do not), they will feel dismissed. You will only incur further resentment. Instead, briefly acknowledge their complaints and then try to change the mood with a fun activity. Before the children can acknowledge that they have been influenced by their other parent they will need to understand the general concept of mental persuasion. Chapter 7, "Poison Control," describes a strategy you can use, preferably with the guidance of a therapist, to lay this groundwork.

HATRED BY ASSOCIATION

"I don't understand. What do you mean, 'He doesn't want to see his grandma ever again'?" The elderly woman was understandably bewil-

dered. Her relationship with her eldest grandson had always been marked by mutual love, affection, and enjoyment, spared the ambivalence that characterizes children's relationships with parents. Now he wanted to have nothing to do with her, and she could not think of a single thing that she had done to warrant excommunication. What this grandmother thought must surely be a temporary aberration became an estrangement made permanent by her death a few years later.

Divorce poison delivers a cruel blow to the extended family. In what Dr. Richard Gardner calls the "spread of animosity," children regard as enemies not only the hated parent but everyone associated with that parent, including grandparents, aunts, uncles, cousins, and friends. As a result, children lose contact with one-half of their family and their heritage.

One of the key benefits to children of an extended family, especially grandparents, is that these people usually love and are loved with much less ambivalence than parents. They don't have to place as many restrictions on children and are usually delighted to see them. The result is that children normally have a reservoir of love for healthy grandparents that is undiluted by the frustrations that parents and children visit daily upon each other. Parents do well to support this unambivalent love, especially embattled divorced parents, because the grandparentgrandchild relationship may be the only one in which children experience themselves as a source of joy. I wrote about this in *The Custody* Revolution and feel strongly about it. My convictions are undoubtedly shaped by my own experiences growing up. Both my parents gave me the strong sense that my grandparents were to be accorded only love and respect. If my parents had criticisms of my grandparents, I never heard them. I checked with my older brother and his memory matches mine. Despite slight and infrequent frustration with my grandparents' minor and quite reasonable restrictions (no ball playing in the house; keep the noise level down), I never recall feeling anything other than love and affection for them. They were solid presences in my life—adored, respected, and venerated.

When divorce poison enters the equation, children face their grandparents with hatred or at least with a great deal of conflict about showing their love. Even when the result is not the complete loss of contact, the relationships are tainted with discomfort, hesitation, inhibition, and the loss of the specialness that comes with relatively unconditional positive regard.

The spread of animosity extends even to pets! I recall watching a videotape of a child who was described by her mother and her teachers as

a sweet girl who loved animals. When the father's little dog sought her attention, this "sweet" child could not summon up even the slightest affection for this cute dog. The dog made repeated efforts to snuggle, and the girl rebuffed the dog, and even pushed the dog away. The dog clearly did not understand such irrational behavior, and continued repeatedly to seek affection. Like members of an alienated extended family, the dog must have wondered (if dogs can wonder) what he did to deserve such contempt. This video was a poignant testament to the extent to which everything associated with the target parent becomes tainted in the child's mind.

The spread of hatred is one of the best ways to distinguish between children who are the victims of divorce poison and those whose alienation is a response to mistreatment by the hated parent. Children who are severely abused by their fathers, for example, generally welcome the loving involvement of their father's relatives. Victims of divorce poison, though, act as if every relative of the hated parent has behaved in an equally offensive manner deserving of swift and total abandonment. In this respect the children are following the lead of the favored parent.

Some parents and professionals resist the notion that one parent can be primarily responsible for a child's alienation. They believe that both parents must play a significant role. I think the spread of hatred is the clearest indication that a child's alienation can be, and often is, independent of the behavior of the people being rejected. Very often the child goes from loving to shunning a relative without having had any contact with the relative in the intervening period. No one could attribute such alienation to the behavior of the relative.

One woman told me that shortly following her brother's separation from his wife, her nephew stopped speaking to her. The last thing he said to her was that his mother told him and his siblings that when they saw their aunt and uncle they no longer needed to kiss them or say hello because "they are strangers to you." As far as his mother was concerned they did not exist. His mother took the separation from his father as a reason to essentially declare war on the father's entire extended family, despite the close ties that existed between her children and their aunts, uncles, and cousins.

In a surprising number of families, divorce results in the total rupture of relations between an ex-spouse and the former in-laws. At first, the children shun the extended family in order to show loyalty to the favored

parent. Over time, the children come to believe that the rejected family

is truly deserving of contempt.

A boy in rural Kansas was raised by his paternal grandmother from the age of two to twelve, even though his parents were married for five of these years and lived next door. Four years after the divorce, when the boy's mother learned that her ex had a girlfriend, she began badmouthing the man and his entire family. She told her former motherin-law that she wanted to have nothing to do with her anymore. The next time the boy visited his grandmother, he walked in the house without greeting her, kept his head down, avoided eye contact, and went straight to his room, where he stayed for several hours.

How do children justify rejecting their grandparents? In some cases they offer no reasons. The alienating parent decides to break relations with his former in-laws and the children merely follow suit. Often, though, children do give a reason for their negative opinion of their grandparents. They usually recall an episode in which the grandparents defended the alienated parent against the children's criticisms. After

that, the grandparents were enemies.

Alienated children succumb to a type of tribal warfare. They categorize every relative as either ally or enemy. No one can be neutral. Failing to take a stand against the alienated parent is equivalent to siding with

that parent against the other parent and the children.

In the typical scenario, the alienated parent has confided in her family that the children have been denigrating her. But not having seen it themselves, the family is ill prepared for the harshness of the children's negative attitudes and the dramatic change in their behavior. When the relatives witness it firsthand, they are appalled. They respond as they would to any other instance of the children acting rudely and disrespectfully. They try to reason with the children and they reprimand them. When the children give trivial reasons for their newly acquired attitudes, the relatives dismiss these as ridiculous. If the children claim that they have been abused, they are called liars. In turn, the children feel misunderstood and they resent the implication that they are distorting reality.

The children respond by rejecting the relatives. Before they know what has happened, the relatives have lost the children's affection. In many cases that is the last time they ever see or speak to the children. Alienation often strikes with vicious speed and little advance warning.

One little girl said she didn't like Grandma anymore because

Grandma yelled at her for being mean to Mommy. The girl called her mother a retard and butthole and said that she didn't have to do anything her mother asked. Prior to the alienation this girl would have acted contrite after a reprimand from her grandmother for such obnoxious misbehavior. But the rules are different for alienated children. They have learned that they can get away with disrespectful behavior when it is encouraged and sanctioned by the other parent. When this girl told her father how Grandma reacted to her criticisms of Mommy, the father said Grandma didn't love them anymore and he would try to protect her from having to go to see her "mean" grandparents ever again.

This grandmother reacted naturally, but ineffectively, to her grand-daughter's rude behavior. Many relatives of alienated parents make the same mistake. They fail to recognize that the alienated children and their favored parent are sitting in judgment of them. Relatives who defend the target are guilty of siding with the enemy. This places relatives in a difficult bind: To maintain a relationship with the children they are asked to agree that the target parent is not worthy of love and respect. But there is a way to escape this bind.

Strike While the Iron Is Cold

The first step calls for restraint. When the child is rude and hateful to the parent, you can say that you are sorry to see this. But don't try to "talk sense" into the children. Don't criticize them. Don't punish them for their obnoxious behavior toward the rejected parent. These types of well-intentioned reactions only serve to convince the children that you do not understand their position. They will conclude that your loyalty to the rejected parent blinds you to the gross mistreatment they are convinced this parent has inflicted on them.

Following a course of restraint is difficult for two reasons. First, the children may not accept your position of neutrality. They may insist on your explicit allegiance. Second, it is natural to feel a strong urge to defend the maligned parent. If you give in to this urge, however, the children will reject you and you will have lost the opportunity to influence them in a positive direction.

Restraint does not mean passivity. While avoiding confrontations about the alienation, you need to inoculate the children against the

spread of animosity. Try to postpone any conversations about the alienation until you and the child are engaged in an enjoyable activity. Child psychiatrist Dr. Fred Pine calls this approach "striking while the iron is cold." Children are more receptive to our communications when they are in a good mood. At the right time, comment on how much fun you have together. Reminisce about past good times. Ask the child what her favorite time was with you in the past. Then ask her to tell you what made that time so much fun. Give your understanding of what she is saying and ask if you are correct: "So you enjoyed planting the flowers with me because I let you get your hands in the dirt and we laughed a lot." The purpose here is not merely to reinforce the good memories. It is to get the child to acknowledge the good times and give enough details so that it will later be more difficult for her to rewrite the history of the relationship and discount the fun she had in the past. Often, when confronted with the evidence of a better past relationship with the target, children give excuses such as "I was just pretending to have a good time" or "I only smiled in the picture because you made me" or "I only liked the trip to Disney World because Daddy [if Mom is the alienated parent] was there."

Once you have emphasized the good relationship you enjoy, let the child know that you are aware that she no longer likes her mom or wants to be around her, and add that you hope she doesn't stop loving you. If this is brought up before the hatred has spread, she will most likely protest that this could never happen.

The next step is to tell her that sometimes when parents are angry with each other they try to get their kids to take sides. Then tell her something like the following: "I'm afraid that because Dad is so angry with Mom right now, and you are so angry with Mom, that Dad may try to get you to be angry with me. What will you do if Daddy tries to

get you to stop loving me?"

The basic idea is to help the child anticipate the pressure that might be brought to bear on her to renounce you, and then give her some tools to cope with the pressure. Preventing alienation is easier than reversing it. As with most of the advice in this book, it is preferable first to seek guidance from a therapist who understands these problems. In many cases, the helpful messages will be better received and more effective if they come from a therapist whom the child trusts.

The best coping tools depend on the specific circumstances. The child might simply observe to herself that the father is trying to manipu-

late her and remind herself that she can continue to love you. Or, if she is able to assert herself with her father without fear of his retaliation, she can defend her love for you and ask him to please stop trying to get her to dislike you. In general, it is best if children learn to tell their parents that they do not want to be placed in the middle of their battles. Dr. Gardner's classic book, *The Boys and Girls Book About Divorce*, might be helpful for children six years of age and older. The book advises children to think for themselves when it comes to their parents' criticisms about each other. One important caveat: Some children will experience the instruction to assert themselves in this manner as an additional and oppressive burden. This is another reason to enlist the aid of a therapist who might be able to work with the parents to help them understand their child's feelings and needs.

Create a Demilitarized Zone

If a child's alienation from a parent is severe, as a relative you must do everything possible to maintain some degree of affection with the child. A cordial relationship with the child gives you more leverage to help reverse the alienation. What this means is that you may have to bite your tongue when the children bad-mouth your relative until you can formulate a comprehensive plan along the lines suggested in chapter 7, "Poison Control."

Using this approach, you agree with the child that, because she feels so strongly about the alienated parent, you won't discuss that parent while the child is with you. You must avoid any hint of criticism of the favored parent. Such criticism will make it impossible for an alienated child to behave affectionately with you without feeling disloyal toward the criticized parent and fearing reprisals for "consorting with the enemy." Instead, concentrate on creating positive experiences with the child.

This does not mean that you will never try to actively reverse the alienation. It means that you are letting the child know that your home is a safe haven outside the battle zone. In your home the child is free to put aside the hostilities and simply enjoy your company. This allows you to maintain a positive connection with them that positions you to help reverse the alienation. Later in this book you will learn many subtle ways to chip away at this problem.

IS YOUR CHILD IRRATIONALLY ALIENATED?

Most professionals recognize that some children reject a parent for no good reason. Although professionals disagree about what to call this problem, they agree on the characteristics to look for in children suffering from this disturbance. If your child has several of the symptoms listed below (there is no exact cut-off), it is likely that she should be evaluated for pathological alienation. If her behavior does not conform to this list, then she is not exhibiting signs of irrational alienation.

- A campaign of hatred with no gratitude for the target parent's contributions
- No guilt for treating the parent with malice and disregarding the parent's feelings
- Trivial explanations for the hatred (or false allegations of abuse)
- Polarized views of parents: Instead of the ambivalence that characterizes normal human relationships, the children describe the alienated parent only in negative terms, can think of nothing good to say about that parent, and may have few, if any, positive memories of the parent. By contrast, in many cases the children regard the other parent as perfect.
- In any conflict between the favored parent and the target parent, the children automatically take the side of the favored parent, sometimes without hearing the target's response, and sometimes in the face of obvious contradictory evidence.
- Parroting adult language: The children's expressions echo those
 of the alienating parent and are often clearly beyond the children's normal vocabulary and understanding.
- Declaration of independence: The children profess that their rejection of the target parent is their own decision and that the other parent has exercised no influence or contribution to the alienation.
- Hatred by association: The child denigrates and rejects relatives, friends, even pets associated with the target parent, despite a previous history of gratifying relations.

ALIENATION WITHOUT DIVORCE POISON

Before proceeding further, we must be clear that divorce poison is not the only cause of alienation. Children can reject one parent when the other parent has done little or nothing to foster alienation. In some cases the alienation is justified. In other cases the alienation reflects a child's exaggerated response to a difficult situation.

One cannot conclude, merely by knowing that a child is alienated from a parent, that brainwashing has occurred.

JUSTIFIED ALIENATION

Ever since Ira moved out of his house in a Chicago suburb, his two teenage daughters have refused to spend time with him. Ira blamed this on his wife, and hired a lawyer to defend his parental rights. The lawyer asked if I would help convince the court to force the girls to see their father.

After investigating the situation I told the lawyer that my testimony would not favor his client's position. I had learned that Ira suffered from a serious psychiatric disturbance. For years he had intimidated and behaved sadistically toward his wife and children. After Ira left, his wife hired an attorney, filed for divorce, and began to assert herself. The girls realized that they now had a chance to protect themselves from further abuse.

This was a case in which the children's alienation was clearly warranted by their father's behavior. They had good reasons for resenting and fearing him. In fact, Ira had become more volatile since the separation, due in part to the stress of living alone and the divorce litigation. I thought that Ira would need to make major changes before his daughters would reasonably want to renew their relationship.

Like many abusive parents, Ira was unable or unwilling to acknow-ledge his responsibility for the problems in his relationship with his children. Instead he accused his wife of poisoning the children against him. Although in some cases it is difficult to determine each parent's contribution to alienation, it was clear to me that Ira's daughters were not victims of divorce poison. First, there was clear evidence of Ira's abuse. Second, there was no evidence that Ira's wife did anything to undermine the girls'

affection for their father. And third, the girls lacked most of the characteristics of children who have been manipulated to turn against a parent. They did not talk about their parents in black-and-white terms. In fact, they were quite angry with their mother for being so passive and submissive over the years and not protecting them better. Also, their rejection of their father did not extend to his relatives. The presence or absence of the spread of animosity is often the best way to discriminate between children who are suffering from divorce poison and those who are responding to genuine abuse. Victims of abuse generally maintain contact with the abuser's extended family, unless the relatives defend the abuser. In this case, Ira's parents had sympathy for their grandchildren and daughter-in-law and the girls maintained cordial contact with them.

Ira's relationship with his daughters was the sort of parent-child relationship that usually becomes alienated even in the absence of divorce. As adults, children of such abusive parents learn to avoid their parents or see them only under strictly limited circumstances.

Even when a parent does not physically or sexually abuse the children, alienation can occur if the children witness domestic violence, frightening displays of rage, or the aftermath of violence. Severe emotional abuse, neglect, abandonment, or very poor treatment by a chronically angry, rigidly punitive, intimidating, extremely self-centered, or substance-abusing parent can also result in alienation. In such cases, the children may not be ready to cast aside their resentment merely because the parent has decided to come back into their lives or treat them better.

The fact that children have good reasons for rejecting a parent does not rule out the possibility that the favored parent also contributes to the alienation. Talk to child protection workers and you will learn that most abused children never give up their quest for acceptance and love from the abuser. I have seen this in my own work with many abused children. Some of these children suffered acts of unspeakable cruelty that no person should have to endure. Many had to be taken from their homes to protect them from further harm. In the early stages of my career I was puzzled that so many of these children wanted to return to the homes in which they were so severely mistreated. In fact, child protection agencies are reluctant to remove a child permanently from an abusive home if they believe a chance exists to improve family functioning while ensuring the child's safety. The loss of a parent, even an abusive one, is not taken lightly. When divorce poison enters the equation, though, the favored parent may welcome the child's total repudiation of the other parent. He or she never entertains the possibility of repairing the relationship and sparing the child the loss of the parent.

TAKE ACTION

The presence or absence of the spread of animosity is often the best way to discriminate between children who are suffering from divorce poison and those who are responding to genuine abuse. Abused children generally welcome love and affection from all sources, including relatives of the abuser who have caused them no harm.

CHILD-DRIVEN ALIENATION

Up to this point we have discussed alienation that results from the destructive behavior of parents: either the favored parent or the rejected parent. Some cases of alienation have less to do with the behavior of parents than with mistakes children make themselves. *Rejecting a parent may be a child's misguided way of coping with difficult feelings*.

Consider the case of a woman who endured years of suffering in an unhappy, conflict-ridden marriage. Following her divorce she fell in love with a man who lived in another state. He was unable to relocate his work and he did not want to move away from his two young children, so, when they married, the woman moved in with him. In what was the most difficult decision of her life, she agreed that her two teenage children could remain with their father so that they would not have to make all the adjustments required by a move: changing schools, giving up friends, living apart from extended family, joining new athletic leagues, finding new music teachers, and so on. She made arrangements to see the children during all school holidays, three-day weekends, and most of the summer.

Her son, Jeff, was not happy with this arrangement. He didn't want to move, but he was hurt and angry that his mother did. He felt rejected by her and complained that she put her own needs and those of her new husband ahead of those of her family. Why, he asked, was it more important that her husband live near his children than it was for her to live near hers? Of course, he had a point.

It became a serious problem, though, when Jeff's anger and disappointment in his mother snowballed into complete rejection. He refused to see her. He refused her phone calls. He deleted her E-mail. He ignored her on Mother's Day. He said he no longer would have anything to do with her.

Jeff's father tried to reason with his son. He talked about the close relationship the boy and his mother shared prior to her decision to move. He explained that in two years, when Jeff went off to college, he would be separated from his mother regardless of where she lived. The father reminded Jeff of the many things his mother did to show her love over the years. Jeff's dad supported the mother's right to find happiness and encouraged his children to have sympathy for her decision. Nevertheless, Jeff held stubbornly to his position that his mother's actions were inexcusable and that she no longer deserved his love and affection. He was adamant about having no more contact with her.

Given the history of their relationship, Jeff's sweeping condemnation and repudiation of his mother was unreasonable and was not shared by his sibling. Whether or not she did the right thing in moving away, she clearly did not deserve the degree of scorn and rejection coming from her son. And the father certainly was not contributing to the alienation. This is an example of what I call "child-driven alienation." It was not justified by the behavior of the rejected parent, and it was not promoted by the behavior of the favored parent.

There were no villains in this drama, only a child struggling with difficult feelings and seeking to assuage his disappointment by closing his heart.

In Jeff's case, further exploration of his feelings revealed that it was not so much his mother's move that was at the root of his complaints. Had his mother been offered a great job opportunity in another state, he might well have given his blessings to the move. Jeff was most upset about her remarriage. Like most children, he harbored a secret hope that his parents would reconcile. The remarriage dashed this hope. Psychotherapy helped Jeff form a more balanced view of his mother's behavior, and recover his love for her.

Parents' reactions can help alleviate or aggravate instances of child-driven alienation. Favored parents can do their best to counter their children's irrational attitudes. Or, if they are gratified by the children's anger at the other parent, they can passively accept their children's position and do nothing to improve the situation. Or they can welcome, approve, and reinforce their children's negative attitudes, thereby entrenching the alienation. In such a case the children may have their own reasons for

being angry with a parent, but without the contributions of the favored parent, the anger would dissipate over time and not result in the total rupture of the relationship. In an intact family children get angry with their parents without rejecting them entirely. After a divorce, though, one parent may sanction the children's disowning the other parent. This may temporarily gratify the favored parent, but in the long run he or she must demonize the ex to justify the alienation or else face the fact that he has visited a terrible deprivation upon their children.

Target parents, too, can have an impact on child-driven alienation. The more they follow the seven rules discussed, the more likely rejected parents will recover their children's affection. The more they react with rigid, counterrejecting, insensitive behavior, the more likely their children's negative attitudes will harden and become permanent.

Exclusively child-driven alienation—those in which neither parent contributes significantly to the problem—is the least frequent path to parental alienation. In my experience, when it occurs, the most common triggers are a parent's relocation, remarriage, extramarital affair, or religious conversion of the parent or child.

Most instances of exclusive child-driven alienation involve older children. Younger children are more susceptible to their parents' influence. But teens often assume that their parents are stupid dolts whose opinion is worth less than that of a perfect stranger. Like Jeff, they will defend their mistaken beliefs rigidly and self-righteously while stonewalling their parents' attempts at persuasion. Also, children who are themselves adults at the time of their parents' divorce sometimes take sides in the dispute and refuse to have any further contact with the parent they blame for the divorce.

TAKE ACTION

If your alienated teen is unreceptive to parental input, ask a person whom your child respects to intervene. This can be a favorite relative, teacher, religious leader, coach, scoutmaster, the parent of one of your child's close friends, or even the friend himself. Teens often are more willing to entertain ideas that come from people other than their parents.

UNDERSTANDING THE ROOTS OF ALIENATION

When a child is severely alienated, we must identify the roots of the problem if we are to have the best chance of helping the child. This lets us know where to concentrate our efforts.

In many cases it is easy to determine when a child's alienation is primarily the result of the favored parent's influence, when it is a reasonable response to the alienated parent's mistreatment of the child, and when it is driven mainly by the child's own motives. In other cases, though, understanding the roots of alienation is complicated because there's a mixture of causes with no one clear primary element. Of course, this does not stop parents locked in a vicious custody dispute from blaming each other for their child's troubles. Frequently each parent accuses the other of brainwashing. It can be difficult to sort out each parent's contribution. Sometimes both parents are engaged in a battle for their child's mind and soul. Each is guilty of brainwashing in an effort to win the child's allegiance. But often one parent is more actively engaged in brainwashing. What looks like the other parent's brainwashing may be a frustrated reaction to alienation or a desperate or crude attempt to resist or reverse it.

Relief from alienation requires an understanding of all the contributing factors. The child may have her own motives, the rejected parent may be responding in a rigid manner that reinforces the negative attitudes, and the favored parent may be actively or passively supporting the rupture of the parent-child relationship. In addition to the actions of the parents and child, sometimes the circumstances of the marriage and divorce play a key role.

Problematic parent-child relationships during the marriage can pave the way for alienation when the marriage fails. The mother and child, for example, may have always had an overly close relationship that excluded the father. During the marriage the mother subtly undermined the father's authority or openly disparaged him. Following the separation, the father had trouble eliciting the child's respect.

In one family, sixteen-year-old Janet had been distant from her father for five years prior to the marital separation. Her dad, Gerald, was somewhat introverted, not very sociable, and not very warm. Gerald rarely told his daughter he loved her, but he did show his love in non-verbal ways. When his daughter was younger, they played together. He took the family on several enjoyable vacations. He worked long hours and went without

many material things so that he could support Janet in private school and extracurricular activities that were really beyond his means. But he failed to attend many of these activities. When he was laid off from his job, Gerald was so depressed that he withdrew even more and became short-tempered with his wife and child. He began to feel like an outsider in his own family. In truth, his wife and daughter did act as though he were superfluous. This family pattern actually went back several generations in the mother's family. She grew up in a home with her mother, aunt, and grandmother, but no father. When she left Gerald, she and Janet moved into a house with her mother, sister, and grandmother. Her family had little use for men, and now Janet was being raised in the same tradition.

The seeds for Janet's alienation from her father were sown in their distant relationship, for which Gerald certainly had to take some responsibility. With daily contact, and her mom's limited support, Janet had been able to sustain a relationship with her dad. But the relationship was too weak to withstand the strain of her parents' divorce. With her father's absence and the mother's complete lack of support, Janet became increasingly alienated.

When her dad insisted on some minimal contact, Janet said she was scared of him, although she admitted that he had never physically hurt her or even threatened to hurt her. She told a judge that she was unnerved by his presence at school games where she was a cheerleader. Although Janet thought her stance was reasonable, it was really quite irrational. Here was a man who had dedicated himself to her welfare all of her life, and she claimed to feel safer in the presence of strangers than with her own father.

Dr. Gardner's organ-transplant principle comes to mind, because it underscores the unique and indispensable role that each parent occupies in the child's life. Dr. Gardner points out that if a child needed a kidney transplant, the target parent would be one of the very few people on earth who would volunteer to give up one of his kidneys. It makes no sense to banish from your life one of the two people among the billions on earth who has this level of commitment to your welfare. Gerald may not have been father-of-the-year material, but he was Janet's only father. In any reasonable accounting of his role in her life, the assets certainly outweighed the liabilities. Janet's alienation from her father was not justified by his behavior, yet it was not solely the result of her mother's manipula-

tions. Each member of the family, and the divorce itself, played a significant role in creating the problem.

In another family, a teenager succumbed to her father's influence, denigrated her mother, refused to see her, and testified against her in court. Although the mother had been much more involved in raising her daughter, there was a significant factor that accounted for the girl's willingness to side with her father against her mother. When this girl was five years old, her father had abandoned the family. The girl did not see him again for three years. This episode left her with a fragile sense of her importance to her father. When he demanded allegiance from her in a war against her mother, she viewed this as an opportunity to solidify their bond. Though her father was certainly guilty of dispensing divorce poison, we should not overlook the girl's own psychological makeup as a central contributing factor to her alienation. The search for the roots of alienation is not a quest to place blame but to find effective solutions to this tragic problem.

When parents or judges ask therapists to treat alienated children, the therapist's understanding of the roots of the problem will guide the treatment. Is the alienation justified or unjustified? Is it primarily the result of divorce poison, mistreatment by the target parent, or the child's own mistaken decisions?

In cases of child-driven alienation, it would be insufficient to work exclusively with the favored parent, because that parent is not the source of the problem. The primary work has to be with the child. On the other hand, with children who are frightened to be with a parent because of the parent's violent behavior, it makes little sense to try to help the children overcome their fears without first helping the parent develop better self-control and providing a setting in which the parent-child contacts can take place safely. When a parent tries to poison his child against the other parent and the child succumbs by becoming severely alienated, it makes little sense to work exclusively with the child without removing her from the noxious environment. This requires legal assistance, which is discussed in chapter 8, "Getting Professional Help." Even the most skilled therapist will have a slim chance of reversing the alienation by meeting exclusively with the child for one forty-five-minute session a week, and then returning the child to the brainwashing parent.

TAKE ACTION

Don't overlook your own possible contributions to your child's alienation. If you are working with a therapist who has sufficient understanding and experience in working with alienated children, pay careful attention if the therapist tries to explain how you have contributed to the alienation. If your behavior has legitimately turned off your children, it won't help merely to blame your ex and deny your culpability; this will only complicate the problem. Instead, learn what you can do personally to help your children recover their affection, respect, and trust. Chapter 7 gives more specific advice along these lines.

IS IT ALIENATION OR NOT?

Before searching for the roots of alienation, it is necessary to determine whether the child is truly alienated. A child's hostility, reluctance to spend time with a parent, or even refusal to see the parent does not always mean that alienation is present. We must be careful not to confuse situations that superficially resemble alienation with the real thing. Some parents make this mistake innocently. Others knowingly raise false aliegations of alienation to support their bid for custody. Parents, therapists, and judges who misidentify alienation will aggravate rather than relieve a child's distress.

To avoid this error, keep in mind that alienated children relate to one parent, but not the other, in a *consistently* negative manner. As we will see in the following sections, a child is not severely alienated when the hostility and apparent rejection

- is temporary and short-lived rather than chronic (not to be confused with intermittent alienation that returns when in the presence of the favored parent)
- is occasional rather than frequent
- occurs only in certain situations
- coexists with expressions of genuine love and affection
- is directed at both parents

Normal Reactions to Divorce

Divorcing parents worry about how their breakup will affect their relationship with their children. Their worry might lead them to be oversensitive to any negative behavior on the children's part.

Occasional hostility from children is normal, and parents should expect more of it in the early weeks following the breakup. This is a time when children most need their parents' attention, patience, sensitivity, compassion, and reassurance. And it is a time when parents, preoccupied with their own distress, are least able to call upon these qualities. Many children express their sadness and uncertainty by becoming more defiant and belligerent. Unless their difficult behavior becomes chronic, and is directed at only one parent, it probably does not represent true alienation. It would be a mistake to assume that temporary and occasional displays of hostility mean that the children are being subjected to divorce poison, just as it would be a mistake to assume that they are reacting to mistreatment by a parent. The more likely explanation is that the difficult behavior represents a reaction to the divorce itself.

It takes children time to get used to the idea of seeing their parents in two different homes. Kyle was a clever ten-year-old boy. After his parents announced their intention to divorce, and his father moved out of the house, Kyle refused to meet with his father for lunch unless his mother was present. This was his way of registering his objection to the divorce: He would not cooperate with the transitions between parents necessitated by the divorce. He also hoped that he could engineer a reconciliation, like the girls did in his favorite film, *The Parent Trap*. Because his parents did not go along with his plan, Kyle's manipulations were short-lived and in no way resembled the chronic hatred expressed by alienated children.

How tolerant should parents be of their children's refusal to cooperate with scheduled times of contact? As in most dilemmas of parenting, there is no absolute and universal prescription. It is best to avoid the extremes of being overly harsh and punitive or overly lax and passive. Ask yourself whether your child is staying in touch with you in other ways and whether the general tone of your relationship has remained positive or is growing more negative. Is your child receptive to a suggestion to make up the time or to meet for dinner? Parents of teenagers should be aware that their children may have outgrown the parenting plan that was established when they were younger. Teenagers normally choose to

spend more time with peers and less time with both parents. Don't mistake this natural process, which affects both parents, for the type of rejection exhibited by alienated children.

As a general rule, absent clear signs of divorce poison, I recommend that parents regard a child's first two consecutive refusals of contact as temporary reactions (unless contacts are scheduled very infrequently, such as when a parent lives in another state). Beyond this, parents should take active steps to understand the basis for the child's refusal and to ensure contact. The principle is the same as if your child refused to attend school. You would insist on attendance while trying to get to the root of the problem.

Parents should be even more lenient regarding phone contact. Children differ in their enjoyment of phone conversations, and the same child will react differently from one call to the next. If the call comes at a time when she is involved in an enjoyable activity, she may not want to stop what she is doing to come to the phone. Accept this normal behavior. Don't let your feelings be hurt. And don't leap to the conclusion that your child is alienated. With computer-literate children, try communicating through E-mail and instant messaging. Incidentally, I regard computer communication as one of the greatest boons to relationships between divorced parents and their children, especially when the parent lives far away.

TAKE ACTION

If your child occasionally refuses a scheduled contact, avoid over-reacting or underreacting. Don't rigidly insist on each contact regardless of extenuating circumstances. Express your disappointment in a mild tone, and let her know that you are looking forward to the next time. Unless you live far away from your child and contacts are relatively rare, allow two consecutive refusals before taking more active steps to understand the problem and to ensure contact. Don't assume, without other evidence, that she is becoming alienated. But don't naively overlook this possibility either. Refusing a scheduled contact may be your child's way of asserting some control as a means of managing the initial anxiety triggered by your separation. If you fail to show some flexibility, your child may become more anxious and

become even more uncomfortable about the contacts. When refusal of contact becomes more frequent, though, it is clear that your child needs help to resolve the difficulty. Ignoring repeated refusals of contact will establish a pattern that can harden into alienation if not understood and corrected.

Separation Anxiety

Lois was seventeen months old when her parents separated. She got along very well with each parent when she was in their care. But when it was time to leave one home for the other, she screamed and clung to the parent she was leaving. Fortunately, her parents knew that children between fifteen and twenty-four months of age are often anxious about separations, and they regarded Lois's vehement protests as normal. Neither parent accused the other of fostering alienation.

Mindy, fifteen months old, cried and hid behind her mother's legs when her father came to the door to take her for the day. Mindy's mother thought it would be traumatic to insist on the exchange when the girl was so frightened. This was not a case of divorce poison. The mother would have done the same if her daughter refused to attend day care. We wouldn't even say Mindy was alienated from her father, because her protests were specific to the exchanges. When her mother was present, Mindy loved playing with her father. In this case, all it took to resolve the problem was some brief education for the parents about normal child development.

In some families, a mother who has no difficulty leaving her protesting child with the baby-sitter allows her anger at her ex to create a blind spot when it comes to fostering the child's contact with the father. When these situations are mishandled, they can result in alienation, manifested in the child's chronic anxiety around the absent parent. I have worked with families in which the young child's normal separation protests resulted in the cessation of contact with the father. Because the child was given no opportunity to become secure with the father, the relationship was compromised even when the child outgrew the toddler years.

Parents, experts, and even cultures disagree about how best to help children with separation anxiety. Some advocate a quick parting, and point out that the child's protest is short-lived. Others advocate a gradual approach, giving the child time to get used to the separation. Using this

approach, parents may enact an elaborate routine around separations with frequent hugs and kisses. Other parents adopt a strategy somewhere between these two extremes.

For a funny depiction of the gradual approach, watch Steve Martin in the movie, *A Simple Twist of Fate*. His daughter was anxious about attending kindergarten. To relieve her anxiety, the character played by Martin sat directly behind the girl the entire first day of school, and throughout the week he gradually moved further and further back until she no longer required his presence. The gradual approach is more the custom in cultures such as Japan that show greater tolerance for a young child's dependence on a parent.

TAKE ACTION

Prepare young children for transitions to the other parent with only a little advance notice, using a relaxed and matter-of-fact tone, much as you would announce a pending trip to the store. Use the same tone to let them know when they will return. Young children are very sensitive to a parent's moods. If a parent conveys anxiety about an upcoming separation, either by tone of voice or by too many reassurances, the child will "absorb" the parent's anxiety and have more difficulty with the separation. If the children's distress at the time of the exchange worries you, ask the other parent to call fifteen minutes later (or use a third party if direct communication between parents is a problem) to let you know whether they have calmed down.

Another situation in which separation anxiety might be mistaken for alienation is when a child protests contact with a parent who is unfamiliar, as in the case of a divorced father returning from an overseas military or work assignment. The mother may have done everything possible to promote the child's bond to the absent parent. The child may even be excited at the prospect of seeing his father. Nevertheless, when it comes time to separate from the mother, the boy is scared. If the parents are sensitive to the child's anxiety and allow the relationship to develop gradually, he will become more secure with the father. If, however, the parents are impatient for the child to be with the father, or the father assumes that

the mother has programmed the son against him, he will react in ways that complicate the situation and may provoke the child's alienation.

Similar considerations apply to a young child who is afraid to spend the night with his father because he has never slept away from home. Rather than accept the child's rejection of overnights or ignore the child's feelings, the parents should work to help the child feel comfortable in his father's new home. Without this assistance, the resistance to overnights may become more entrenched. When children act on their fears, the fear usually grows stronger. Although not initially an alienation problem, if handled incorrectly by either parent, this situation could develop into a more pervasive rejection of the father.

Difficult, Troubled, and Shy Children

Some children, by temperament, have more difficulty adjusting to stress, new situations, or transitions. They may show this difficulty with defiant, oppositional, or withdrawn behavior when having to switch from one activity to another at home or in school. When this problem occurs during exchanges between parents' homes, it is important not to mistake this for alienation. The negative behavior is temporary, the child is able to show affection for the parent once he or she adjusts to the transition, and the same negative behavior occurs with both parents.

Children who are depressed may withdraw from both parents or act irritable with both. If divorced parents don't communicate with each other about their experiences with their children, they may falsely conclude that the negative behavior occurs only in their home, and that their children are becoming alienated.

Children prone to explosive outbursts, such as those suffering from a bipolar disorder, may say mean and hateful things and act aggressively in the midst of an emotional meltdown. At these times they are acting irrationally and do not discriminate the object of their attacks. They are just as likely to treat the other parent or a sibling in the same manner. This should not be confused with alienation.

Nine-year-old Nolan came to his father's home with a chip on his shoulder. He refused all the father's suggestions for enjoyable activities. When his favorite television show was preempted by a news bulletin, Nolan went into a rage. He broke his Game Boy and cussed at his father, telling him

he hated him and never wanted to see him again. Had he been unaware of Nolan's bipolar disorder, this father might have worried that his son was being alienated. Instead, Nolan's dad was certain that his ex was not dispensing divorce poison. He knew she needed and looked forward to a break from caring for this difficult child. She certainly wouldn't do anything to make Nolan reluctant to be with his father. She did have a better feel for managing her son in a way that reduced the frequency of meltdowns. For this reason, Nolan was more comfortable with her and less eager to leave her home. But he was not alienated from his father. Nolan wanted to see his father and, when he was calm, usually enjoyed being with his dad.

Avoiding the War Zone

Some parents fight with each other every chance they get. Exchanges of the children take place in a climate of great tension, ranging from smoldering but obvious resentment to screaming, cursing, shoving, and outright violence. In such cases, at least one parent has no hesitancy about exposing the children to the awful hostilities.

To protect themselves from tension, fear, and embarrassment, children in explosive families sometimes tell one parent that they no longer want to see the other parent. The rejected parent, aware that the children receive a steady diet of divorce poison, assumes that the children's withdrawal from contact means they are alienated. This may not be true. Many of these children continue to feel love for the rejected parent. But they feel a desperate need to get out of the crossfire, and they don't know how else to do it except to cut ties with one of the warring factions.

Aware of the damage caused by exposure to high conflict, some therapists believe it is best to spare children such exposure, even when this means losing contact with a parent and often that parent's entire extended family. I think they are mistaken. Of course, parents' battles can devastate a child's sense of security and well-being; that's why I wrote this book. But so can the loss of a parent. As the child gets older, he will become better able to protect himself from his parents' animosity. He may never recover, though, from the rupture of the parent-child relationship and the loss of the extended family. So I advise maintaining the relationship while doing everything possible to shield the child from the shrapnel of his parents' attacks.

TAKE ACTION

To protect children from exposure to destructive tension, transfers should be arranged so that both parents are not present at the same time. This is best accomplished by having one parent drop off the children at school in the morning and the other parent pick them up at the end of the day. Another option, particularly for younger children who do not attend school, is to leave the children with a relative or friend and have the other parent pick them up ten minutes after the first parent has left. Your community may also have a special facility that monitors child exchanges for a small fee. Ask your local family court services for a referral.

Thy Parent's Keeper

Occasionally a depressed or emotionally unstable parent depends on her child to take care of her. The child becomes worried about leaving this parent alone. When it is time to be with the other parent, the child protests. This is not a case of alienation: The child still loves the other parent, and actually thrives in that parent's care. But the child's fear of something bad happening to the emotionally distraught parent keeps her by that parent's side.

One mother was so bereft when her husband left her that she remained in bed for days and neglected most of her responsibilities. She told her eight-year-old daughter that she didn't know how she could live without her during the extended weekend the girl was scheduled to spend with her father. As a result, the girl told her father that she didn't want to see him that weekend. This mother was despondent and not deliberately manipulating her daughter. But some parents do express a desperate need for the children in order to discourage them from spending time with their other parent.

TAKE ACTION

If you are depressed, get the adult help and companionship you need. Spare your child the role of caretaker. Most children cannot care for a parent's emotional needs without sacrificing their own healthy development.

Situation-Specific Reactions

Owen, sixteen years old, was not emotionally prepared for his father's remarriage shortly after the divorce was final. The boy felt very uncomfortable in his stepmother's presence and decided to avoid her. As a result, he refused to spend the night in his father's apartment. Though this was a problem, and probably was influenced by his mother's contempt for the new wife, it was not alienation. Owen regularly met with his dad in restaurants and played tennis with him, but he insisted that his stepmother not be included. Although this was a problem that needed to be solved rather than catered to forever, it was not alienation.

TAKE ACTION

A child's discomfort around a new stepparent may be eased by spending a vacation together away from home. Sharing new experiences in novel surroundings, apart from normal routines, can help jump-start the stepparent-child bond.

Fourteen-year-old Philip asked to move out of his mother's home. He said he would spend time with her during the day, but wanted to sleep at his father's house. The boy was unable to articulate the reasons for his decision, which made the mother think her ex-husband had poisoned the boy against her. Philip was not a victim of divorce poison, though, and he would not be described as alienated from his mother. He still loved her and wanted to see her. But he was bothered by his mother's numerous boyfriends spending the night with her. He wanted to remove himself from the situation, though he was not fully aware of what made him uncomfortable.

The examples of Owen and Philip illustrate "situation-specific" reactions: resistance to seeing a parent under particular circumstances without being alienated from that parent.

Sharing a Wavelength

When parents are embroiled in a custody dispute, or compete for a child's affections, they may become concerned that their child's closer

connection to the other parent signals alienation. Many times this concern is unwarranted. Even in intact families, children will often feel closer to, or more comfortable with, one parent than the other. And the parent they feel closest to may be different at various points in the child's life.

A child's greater compatibility with one parent has several possible roots. The parent and child may share similar biological rhythms, activity levels, interests, or temperament. The child may identify with the parent of the same sex. Children who exhibit this kind of preference are distinguished from alienated children because they continue to express positive regard for both parents and seek contact with both. Being less preferred is a far cry from being hated.

TAKE ACTION

If your child seems to occupy the same wavelength as your ex, don't confuse this with alienation. As long as your child loves you and spends time with you, this is not something to worry about. Concentrate on the positive aspects of your relationship rather than compete with the other parent. Parent-child compatibilities are normal and may shift in time. Accepting your child's natural inclinations will strengthen your bond. Protesting these inclinations will introduce unnecessary tension in the relationship.

Parent-Child Partnerships

At times a child's closeness to one parent goes beyond the "same wavelength" phenomenon described above. Fifteen-year-old Rolanda's father divorced his wife in order to marry his secretary, with whom he had been having a long-standing affair. The girl was hurt and angered by her father's actions. She sympathized with her mother's position as the spurned woman and felt that her mother deserved and needed her loyal support. She expressed a strong preference to live with her mother and took her mother's side in financial disputes with her father. Nevertheless, Rolanda was not alienated from her father. She continued to express love

and positive regard for him. After the divorce was final, over time Rolanda showed increasing interest in spending time with her father and his new wife, although she continued to feel closer to her mother. Noted divorce authorities Dr. Joan Kelly and Dr. Janet Johnston label this type of mother-daughter partnership an "alignment."

Sam was a preschool boy who would be described as aligned with his father. He divided his time evenly between both parents' homes, although he clearly preferred being with his dad. Sam's father exercised a quiet yet firm authority over his son. The father was able to give Sam more latitude in his play, confident that he could assert control when necessary and that the boy would comply with the limits. This allowed Sam a feeling of greater freedom combined with the security of his father's control. Father and son shared a close bond, expressed with frequent hugs and verbal affection.

By contrast, Sam's mother was made anxious by her son's high activity level. She resorted to ineffectual yelling and set limits that were too frequent and too rigid for her young son. To complicate matters, Sam looked very much like his father, and they shared the same facial expressions and mannerisms. This resemblance became an obstacle to the mother's affection. In a subtle way she rejected Sam whenever his demeanor evoked memories of her hated ex-husband. As a result, much of their time together was marred by mutually frustrating interchanges.

When Sam was with his father and it came time to return to his mother, he would get visibly upset. Either he protested vigorously, clinging to his dad while sobbing and screaming, or he became melancholy and rested his head limply on his dad's shoulder. This was not just a manifestation of normal separation anxiety, because, without fail, Sam eagerly left his mother to be with his father.

Sam's mother accused her ex-husband of alienating the boy. She suspected that, prior to the exchanges, the father involved Sam in exciting activities and then abruptly ended them by telling Sam that he had to go be with his mother. In reality, the father hated seeing his son so upset and did everything possible to prepare Sam to have a good time with his mother. Sam clearly preferred his father's care and was, in this sense, aligned with his dad. But he was not alienated from his mom. He certainly loved her and felt a bond with her, and once the difficult exchanges were accomplished, he eagerly sought her attention.

TAKE ACTION

If transitions between parents are very difficult, arrange to do something out of the home for a while, such as having dinner or running an errand, before returning home with your child. An out-of-home activity can serve as a buffer and dilute the emotional impact of transferring from one residence to the other.

The line between extreme alignment and mild alienation is very thin. In Rolanda's case, the mother's handling of the situation was a key factor that protected Rolanda from becoming alienated. Rolanda's mother let her know that, although she did not condone the father's affair, there had been problems in the marriage for many years, and the divorce was probably the best thing in the long run. In Sam's case, the father continued to support his son's love for his mother, and made sure the boy spoke to his mother every day.

Other parents exploit their child's allegiance by actively promoting a completely negative view of the other parent or passively condoning the child's rejection of the parent without doing anything to promote or encourage a healthier adjustment. The children in these families are particularly vulnerable to becoming alienated.

TAKE ACTION

If your child displays hostile or rejecting attitudes toward you, don't assume the child is alienated and don't assume she has been poisoned against you. Take an honest look at your own behavior and circumstances that may have contributed to the alienation. Ask the other parent for assistance in improving the situation. If he willingly cooperates, there is a good chance that the child is not alienated. If the other parent refuses to help, there is a good chance that he feels gratified by the children's rejection of you and is contributing to alienation—if not actively, then passively, by condoning the children's negative behavior toward you.

The conditions discussed above can be distinguished from alienation. But they can also be the forerunners of alienation if handled improperly. Rejected parents must follow the seven rules presented. Favored parents must keep their child's welfare uppermost in their minds as they work to support their children's healthy relationships with both parents.

Whether a child is alienated and, if so, whether divorce poison has contributed to the alienation, are central and controversial issues for courts, therapists, and parents who must decide how to respond to the problem.

FALSE ACCUSATIONS OF PARENTAL ALIENATION

In chapter 2 we met Tina, whose husband, Wesley, accused her of brainwashing their son, Vince. Tina's case really had nothing to do with pathological alienation. In the first place, Vince did not reject his father. He wanted a better relationship with him. Wesley was so possessive of his time with Vince that he would not allow the boy to attend any friend's birthday party that occurred during their regularly scheduled weekends together. Wesley felt that, since they saw so little of each other, Vince should want to spend all his time alone with his father. As a result, Vince did not look forward to weekends with his father. But he was not alienated. And his mother did not brainwash him.

When the court-appointed psychologist examined the family, he concluded that Vince had none of the symptoms of pathological alienation. He recommended that Wesley consult with a therapist who could help him better understand his son's needs and use their time together to build a stronger relationship.

Parents who make accusations of irrational alienation need to be sure that they are reading the situation accurately. If they mistakenly blame their children's difficult behavior on the other parent, they may lose the opportunity to make changes in themselves that could improve their relationship with their children. Indeed, their denial of responsibility may push the children further away.

Parents who are falsely accused of brainwashing, like Tina, need information about alienated children to defend themselves. Tina's attor-

ney needed to show the judge that Vince's behavior was not symptomatic of a child who has been poisoned against his father. All parents involved in litigation where alienation is alleged must insist that their attorneys be familiar with the issue and able to cope with relevant testimony in court. To ignore this information is to risk losing custody.

MISDIAGNOSIS OF PATHOLOGICALLY ALIENATED CHILDREN

If you have been falsely accused of alienating your child, check the following list of situations that may result in misdiagnosis of the problem. If any of these fit your family, bring them to the attention of your attorney and any mental health professionals involved in your case.

- Your child occasionally criticizes your ex but does not engage in a campaign of denigration and does not refuse to spend time with the other parent.
- Your child is antagonistic to both you and your ex.
- You occasionally criticize your ex but do not engage in a severe campaign of denigration. Some experts fail to distinguish adequately between mild occasional bad-mouthing and systematic efforts to turn children against loved ones.
- Although you may be guilty of trying to turn your child against
 the other parent, your child does not participate in the denigration and does not exhibit the other symptoms of irrational alienation described in chapter 3. According to Dr. Gardner, "The
 diagnosis of PAS is not made on the basis of the programmer's
 efforts but the degree of 'success' in each child."
- Your child's alienation is a realistic and appropriate response to severe maltreatment at the hands of the other parent.

- You have neither overtly nor covertly contributed to, influenced, or supported your child's alienation at any point in time and have made considerable efforts to foster a healthy relationship between your ex and your child.
- Your child exhibits only temporary or occasional resistance or reluctance to be with the other parent or make the transition between parental homes.
- Your child refuses to spend time with the other parent only in certain circumstances, such as in the presence of the parent's new partner.

So now we know the effects of divorce poison on children. But how do children get this way? How, why, and when is the poison administered? We take up these questions next, starting with the most difficult: "How could parents do this to their own offspring?"

CHAPTER 4

MALIGNANT MOTIVES

The Court has no doubt that the cause of the blind, brainwashed, bigoted belligerence of the children toward the father grew from the soil nurtured, watered and tilled by the mother. The Court is thoroughly convinced that the mother breached every duty she owed as the custodial parent to the noncustodial parent of instilling love, respect and feeling in the children for their father. Worse, she slowly dripped poison into the minds of these children, maybe even beyond the power of this Court to find the antidote.

—FLORIDA JUDGE RICHARD YALE FEDER

From the time of your baby's birth, even during the pregnancy, you dedicated yourself to ensuring your child's safety and well-being. You provided food, clothing, pediatric visits, diapers, car seats, vegetables and vitamins, lullabies and bedtime stories. You willingly contributed your time, energy, and money to the care of your child. Your former spouse probably did the same.

So how could a loving parent deliberately poison his own child's affections? The anger and disappointment that accompany divorce may explain occasional bad-mouthing. But to understand more malignant behavior, bashing and brainwashing, we need to look further. How could loving parents do something that so obviously violates their children's trust, which so clearly damages their emotional well-being? What kinds

of people do this to their children? Why do they do it? And how can we respond effectively?

POOR BOUNDARIES

As we search for the motives behind divorce poison, we should keep one thing in mind. A motive explains only the *impulse* to tamper with children's affections. But an impulse is not an action. Parents often inhibit behavior toward their children rather than succumb to impulse. For example, we don't spank every time we feel like doing so. Most divorcing parents go through a period when they feel chronic impulses to bad-mouth their ex-spouse, but they often suppress these when their children are present.

What is it that allows some loving parents to suspend their role as their children's protector—to renege on their basic parental responsibility—rather than inhibit their behavior as they do other behavior they regard as destructive to their children? In many cases the answer is simple: They do not regard it as destructive to their children. Many parents who bad-mouth are so preoccupied with hurting their exspouses that they choose not to think about the impact on their children. Other parents appear incapable of recognizing that their own thoughts and feelings and their children's needs may not be identical. Such parents will often refer to themselves and the children as a single unit. At the onset of the separation one mother told her husband, "We don't want to see you. We don't need you. Why don't you just stay out of our lives?" When this woman thought of her family, she drew no distinction between her feelings and those of her children.

The blurring of parent-child boundaries allows parents to pursue, with single-minded determination, their goal of demeaning the ex, even when this means embarrassing the children; even when this means confusing them, depriving them, or scaring them.

I remember one particularly cruel example. An accountant who had successfully alienated his children from their mother became enraged when his wife refused to postpone a custody hearing for which he felt unprepared. While driving his children to a court-appointed therapy session, he vilified their mother, as he had done many times before. This time, though, he told them that their mother's refusal to postpone the

hearing would cause his cancer cells to spread all over his body and kill him. The father actually did have cancer, but his oncologist testified that the father's condition had a cure rate of over 90 percent. Furthermore, the idea that the man was currently facing death was totally fabricated and without any medical basis. The father knew this. But his children did not.

This man's rage at his wife, his wish to have the children align with him against her, and his unwillingness to modulate his outbursts led him to behave sadistically toward his own children. He made them think that he was near death's door and that it was their own mother who was pushing him through it. To make the scenario even worse, he tied his impending death to the struggle over custody. The children knew that they were the subject of the legal battle, so it was no surprise that they felt some degree of responsibility themselves for his "impending death." Unfortunately, after many years these children still have not recovered their love for their mother.

In their determination to undermine the relationship between the children and the target, parents act as though nothing is more important to their children than the parent's own concerns. An example occurred in a telephone conversation between a mother and her son. I use the word *conversation* loosely because it was mainly a one-sided diatribe in which the boy struggled unsuccessfully to be heard. This mother expected her boy to be her "comrade in arms" in a custody battle. She told him that Daddy suffered from a mental illness and could become violent at any moment (this was not true). She told him that she knew he was scared of his father, even though the boy showed no such inclination. She ordered him to tell everyone he saw that he was afraid of his father. She also told him to call 911 and tell them to send out the police because he was afraid. And then when the police arrive, she said, tell them that you are afraid of your father and that you need to live with your mother.

Throughout the call the boy kept trying to change the subject rather than agree that his father was a horrible person. He tried to tell his mother about a project he was working on for school and about fun things that were occurring in his father's home. The mother ignored his comments. She pursued her agenda until her son finally gave up. The rest of the conversation consisted of the mother repeating her warnings about the father and the son repeating "Yes, Mom" in a flat, monotone voice. When she was convinced of her success, the mother hung up. Her son did, in fact, call 911 and repeat verbatim what he had been coached to say. After many years this boy still refuses to speak to his father.

By treating her son as an accomplice in the custody dispute—a peer—and demanding his support, this woman was obliterating the usual psychological boundary that exists between adults and children. Kids should be able to look to their parents for support and guidance, not the other way around. When they are required to devote themselves to their parents' emotional needs, they must prematurely surrender a part of childhood.

TAKE ACTION

If parent-child boundaries are blurred or in danger of becoming blurred, begin a dialogue with your child about similarities and differences between people. First, talk about relatively neutral topics, such as similarities and differences in appearance and in preferences for food, color, music, TV shows, and so on. How is your child like, but also different from, his two parents? Enlist your child's interest in the conversation by challenging him to think of three ways in which he is like his mother and his father, and three ways in which he is different from them.

Next, move the discussion into the area of feelings. Parents and children don't always feel the same. Begin with feelings other than anger. How is your child like and different in the things that make him happy? Scared? For example, your son loves cartoons; you love romantic movies. He may be afraid of the dark, but you aren't. You may be afraid of snakes, while he enjoys handling them. Again, challenge him to think of his own examples.

Once the principle of different feelings has been taught, use an example that involves anger: Your boy may be furious with his sister and say he hates her, but you continue to love both. Examples like this can be used to show your child that he does not have to share the hatred of the alienating parent. "Because Daddy is very angry with Mommy, he wants you to be angry with me too. But you don't have to be. You don't have to feel everything the same as Daddy. You can have your own independent feelings."

Helping children insulate themselves from a parent's malignant influence is important. But it is usually not enough. To stop divorce poison, we must identify the specific motives, feelings, personality traits, and situations that drive the perpetrator. Different motives call for different responses. A strategy that ends bad-mouthing in one parent may intensify it in another.

REVENGE

Parents who bad-mouth and bash are angry people. Some may feel rejected. Some may feel betrayed. Some may believe they have been treated unfairly. Many want to get even. One way to retaliate is to deprive the ex of the children's love.

A man whose wife initiates the divorce tells her, "If you want to leave me for another man, our children are going to know what kind of woman you are. Leave me and you can say good-bye to your children." Since the court will not generally agree that this is a good reason for children to lose their mother, his next step is to undermine the children's regard for her so that they will not want to see her.

When divorce poison is driven by revenge, the most effective antidote is to eliminate the provocation. Ask yourself, "Why is he or she so

angry? Is there anything I can do about it?"

Sam knew exactly why his ex-wife was bad-mouthing him to their children. When Trish decided to leave him after twenty years of marriage, he punished her by being dishonest during the divorce negotiations. He hid much of their financial assets from her. As a result, Trish received a very unfair settlement, and they both knew it. She retaliated by running him down in front of the children, telling them that he was a liar and a cheat. As his children suffered from the bad-mouthing, and his own initial anger about the divorce subsided with time, Sam did something very unusual. He instructed his lawyer to revise the original divorce settlement. This move surprised Trish. Though she didn't thank Sam (she was getting what she should have had all along), she did feel less angry and restrained her bad-mouthing. It was the beginning of a more trusting coparenting relationship. Everyone benefited.

In most cases the anger behind divorce poison is a response to real or perceived offenses that cannot be undone. All you may be able to do is reduce the rage. A common example is marital infidelity. If you were unfaithful in your marriage, and your ex-spouse is retaliating by turning the children against you, you cannot eliminate the provocation. But you can acknowledge your wrongdoing. You can apologize for the pain you have caused. You can express regret, and ask that the children not be made to pay for your sins. By conveying that the rage is understandable and a valid response to betrayal, you may accelerate the process of healing.

You should also consider joint therapy. It offers a safe, neutral environment in which to express rage and disappointment. And it provides a forum for civil communication. A bad-mouthing parent, blinded by his anger, is more likely to accept advice when it comes from an impartial mental health professional (or a pastor or rabbi) than from the target

of his anger.

Some couples who agree to get therapy have so much animosity and distrust that they cannot agree on a therapist. If you find yourself in this situation, don't give up. Ask your attorneys to consult with each other and select a therapist they both respect. Or one party can make a list of three recommended therapists and the other selects one from the list. It is in everyone's interest that the therapist be experienced, competent, and unbiased. Consult chapter 8, "Getting Professional Help," for more tips on choosing a therapist and getting the most out of your therapy sessions.

TAKE ACTION

When divorce poison is driven by revenge, the most effective antidote is to eliminate the provocation. Ask yourself, Why is he or she so angry? Is there anything I can do about it?

- Eliminate the provocation, if possible.
- Reduce the rage by taking responsibility for your part in provoking it.
- Send a "peace offering" letter, apologizing for the hurt you have caused and asking that the children not be punished for your mistakes.
- Get joint therapy.

NARCISSISM

Bad-mouthing parents act superior. But many actually feel inferior as parents. They put down the other parent in order to convince themselves, the children, and the world that they are the better parent and more deserving of love.

Such parents fail to appreciate that the bad-mouthing and bashing they use to bolster their image as parents accomplishes the exact opposite. It demonstrates, for all to see, a severe parental deficiency: the willingness to sacrifice their children's needs in order to feed their own weak egos.

In *The Custody Revolution* I described how excessive narcissism leads some parents to fight for custody. Readers let me know that it also leads to divorce poison. How can you tell when narcissism is behind efforts to turn your children against you? Look for some of the following traits:

- an overly inflated view of the person's own importance (not to be confused with genuine positive self-regard—a narcissistic man is "a legend in his own mind")
- a tendency to exaggerate accomplishments
- an excessive need for admiration
- a noticeable lack of empathy (He does not put himself in other's shoes.)
- excessive envy
- a constant belief that others envy him
- an imperious, condescending manner
- a sense of entitlement that pervades interpersonal relationships

I consulted on a case in New York City in which a man clearly fit the above profile. Vincent was well known in his community as a father who sought positions of authority in nearly every extracurricular activity that involved children. He was the scout leader, the soccer and baseball head coach, the Sunday school teacher, the safety chairman of the Homeowners Association, and so on. He did everything possible to build his résumé as a parent.

Initially Vincent impressed his neighbors. Then one by one they became disillusioned with him. They described him as someone who acted as if he were entitled to their favors. He took advantage of them. They also

said Vincent always drew attention to himself. He would tell anyone who was willing to listen about how much prestige and influence he had in the community, about how much he did for his son, about how pious he was.

After his divorce Vincent married a woman with custody of her daughter. He quickly became embroiled in two separate custody disputes. First, he tried to erase his stepdaughter's father from the girl's life. Second, he tried to diminish the role of his son's mother in the boy's life. In both cases he seemed on a mission to persuade the children (and the courts) to accept him and his wife as their only legitimate parents. And in both cases the judge ruled against Vincent and expressed concern about his inability to recognize the damage he was causing.

Excessive narcissism is not restricted to men. Wanda continuously ran down her husband in front of their two boys, with little regard for the children's feelings. She craved attention from other men and dreamed of a better life, and finally she decided she deserved more. She told her husband that she was leaving and agreed that the boys

would alternate weeks with each parent.

While the children were on a trip with their church youth group, Wanda moved into an apartment in another school district, closer to the friends with whom she liked to party. She took with her nearly all of the children's clothes (except old clothes that no longer fit) and most of the furniture. Her apartment was too small to accommodate everything, so Wanda rented a storage unit. In an incredible display of disregard for her family, she also took the refrigerator, which her mother had given them, and moved it into storage since her apartment was already equipped with one. Wanda told her husband that the children would have to stay with him the first week because she needed time to get settled. So the children returned from their vacation to an empty house.

The teenage son was furious with his mother. He had no clean clothes to wear to school and none of his familiar possessions. When he came to her apartment the next week, he discovered that his "bedroom" was the den, with no privacy. He saw that the refrigerator, which she took, was not there. And he had to wake up earlier than usual in order to take the city bus to his school, which was three blocks from his father's house. The boy complained and asked to spend more nights in his father's home. Wanda responded by accusing her husband of brainwashing. She failed to appreciate that her self-centered behavior angered her son. The boy's younger brother was also upset by the move, but he

tried

to please both parents by keeping his complaints to himself.

Parents who make false accusations of parental alienation often have narcissistic traits. Their self-centered behavior antagonizes their children, but such parents blame the resulting problems on the other parent. Narcissists rarely take responsibility for the havoc they create in their relationships.

TAKE ACTION

To protect against false charges of divorce poison made by a narcissistic ex, keep a list of your ex-spouse's behavior that creates problems in his or her relationship with the children. Include behaviors such as repeated broken promises, bad-mouthing you to the children, and ignoring the children's legitimate needs.

Continue to support your children's love and respect for your ex. Help them appreciate his or her positive qualities in addition to empathizing with their dislike of the narcissistic behavior. If you are accused of alienating the children, it is important to demonstrate that: (1) although the children have a strong preference for you, they have a balanced view of their other parent and are not alienated, (2) their difficulties with the other parent are a direct and realistic reaction to the treatment they have received from that parent, and (3) rather than exploit their complaints to turn the children against your ex, you have done the opposite by encouraging the continuation of the relationship. In most cases, even when a parent has significant psychological problems, children are better off maintaining ties in some form. In the long run your children will be grateful that you helped them achieve this.

Some narcissistic parents successfully manipulate their children to side with them against the other parent. Children may join in a campaign of denigration in order to curry favor with the parent whose capacity for genuine reciprocal attachment is more limited. The children sense the shallow emotional investment of the self-absorbed parent, and do what they can to preserve their tenuous tie to this parent. Particularly when narcissism is combined with aggression, children may fearfully endorse

the parent's campaign of hatred rather than risk becoming targets themselves. I will have more to say about this in the next chapter.

Paradoxically, self-absorbed people can be charismatic and charming to others when their needs for adulation are gratified. Some of the rich and famous fall into this category. They may successfully seduce children's allegiance through an aura of excitement and special treatment and the trappings of success that surround them.

Then there are the unlucky children who have two highly narcissistic parents. Such parents blithely fight each other and accuse each other of divorce poison, all the while being oblivious to or complacent about the impact of their battles on their children.

Narcissistic parents like Vincent and Wanda generally make poor candidates for therapy or mediation. Because they are deficient in understanding other's feelings, they do not understand the necessity of compromise or how their behavior affects their children. Although you should try therapy as a first option, unfortunately it often takes the threat of legal sanctions, such as losing custody, to make an impact on such parents.

Because narcissists use divorce poison to compensate for feeling inferior as parents, anything you can do to support their egos in a reasonable manner may lessen their need to put you down. For example, encourage them to make unique contributions to their children's lives, contributions they can brag about. This might be participating in scouts or assisting with special school projects. Narcissists are exquisitely sensitive to appearances. It can be helpful for them to retain the legal title of joint custodian even if the children spend relatively little time in their care and the other parent retains the authority to make most decisions. If, instead, the court strips them of this title, the resulting loss of face could exacerbate the brainwashing.

TAKE ACTION

To respond to narcissism:

- Bolster their self-respect by providing opportunities for narcissists to contribute meaningfully to their children's lives.
- Attempt counseling.
- If divorce poison continues, consider legal action.

GUILT

All parents regret some things they did or did not do for their children. Some divorced parents have so little tolerance for guilt that they try to deflect attention from their own failings by focusing on how much worse the other parent is. A man who spent too little time with his children, for example, decides to make up for this by rescuing them from a mother whom he now regards as the incarnation of everything rotten in a parent.

Guilt can also lead a parent to make a false accusation of brainwashing. I once received a call from a woman whose ex-husband had abandoned their daughter for seven years. After the failure of his second marriage, he decided to renew contact with his child. He expected that she would be thrilled to be reunited with her father. The reality was markedly different. His daughter was reluctant to spend time with him. To her he was a stranger. She resisted going on visits with him and she was reserved in his presence. Rather than accept responsibility for causing the situation and proceed in a more reasonable manner to gradually build a relationship with his child, this father accused the girl's mother of fostering the child's estrangement. His solution was to seek immediate full custody. Fortunately, he was unsuccessful.

TAKE ACTION

Therapy is often effective when guilt is the main motive behind bad-mouthing or false accusations of brainwashing. The guilty parent must be helped to appreciate that the best way to atone for past misdeeds is to focus on the child's current needs. Bad-mouthing, bashing, and brainwashing only compound the child's problems, and will in turn increase the perpetrator's guilt.

INSECURITY

Some parents doubt their ability to maintain their children's love and affection. They regard the other parent as a competitor for the children's love and are afraid that they will eventually lose the competition. To cope with their insecurity they try to drive a wedge between the children and

the other parent. Their hope is that this will cement the children's relationship with them.

From the time of the divorce Frances rejected every request made by her ex-husband to spend more time with his young son. In the face of growing hostilities, Frances's father called a meeting to try to make peace. At the meeting Frances revealed that she left her little boy with a baby-sitter nearly every Saturday and Sunday, in addition to the fulltime day care she used during the week. Her father gently suggested that she could allow the boy's father and grandparents to care for the child some of these times. Frances was infuriated. Half screaming and half crying, she asked, "Why should I allow that? I don't want my boy to become more bonded to his dad than to me." At a deeper level Frances knew that her ex-husband had more warmth and affection to give a child and that her son probably would feel closer to his father in the long run. What she did not realize was that children have enough room in their hearts to love both parents, despite the limitations of each. You will find this type of insecurity in many instances of bad-mouthing and bashing.

TAKE ACTION

Reassure your ex of his or her importance to your children. Refrain from behavior that can appear to be a competition for the children's favor. If the children enjoy a special activity with their other parent, don't duplicate the activity in your home. Let them have unique pleasures with each parent.

SEEKING VALIDATION

Some parents denigrate ex-spouses merely because it feels good. They seek an outlet for their anger by expressing it to other people, and they hope that their audience will agree with their assessments. The audience is anyone who will listen: coworkers, relatives, friends, and at times, but not always, the children. Even when the children are not the intended audience, they will be hurt if their parents make no special effort to censor their comments when the children are within earshot.

When alienation occurs in these cases it may be an unintended con-

sequence of the children's overhearing repeated put-downs of their other parent. But often it is no accident that the children have been exposed to the criticisms. The parent (whether consciously or not) wants the children to share the same negative opinion of the target.

TAKE ACTION

If the children overhear bad comments about you, don't assume that your ex is deliberately poisoning them. Tell the bad-mouthing parent that you thought he or she would want to know what the children have heard and repeated. Say this in a noncritical tone. If your ex will be unreceptive to anything you have to say, ask someone else in the family to bring up the subject. Parents sometimes need reminders to take care in what they say around their children. This is particularly true in the early stages of separation, when anger and distress are at a peak. Parents who have inadvertently allowed the children to overhear destructive criticisms of their other parent may be willing to alter their behavior with feedback about it if they do not feel attacked for their mistakes.

HOLDING ON WITH HATE

When a recently divorced man goes on his first date and spends most of the time complaining about his ex-wife, his date knows that this man is not yet emotionally ready for a new relationship. He is preoccupied with thoughts and feelings about his marriage and divorce. And this reveals that he is still—in some way—connected to his ex.

This is not surprising. Two people meet, fall in love, marry, conceive and raise children together, vacation together, and share life's joys and tragedies, ups and downs. Through years of shared experiences they form strong emotional ties. When the marriage fails, a judge's signature on a divorce decree may sever their legal tie. But we should not expect their emotional connection to evaporate immediately or completely.

In time most people put the marriage and divorce behind them. They gradually withdraw their emotional investment in the former spouse.

They form new relationships. They think about their ex-spouse less often and with less intense emotion. They find better things to do with their time than obsess about the faults of their former partner. And they neither seek nor want extensive contact.

Some people, though, are unwilling to let go, and they are not necessarily the rejected spouses. It is surprising and ironic that often the ones who initiated the divorce have more difficulty accepting the end of the relationship. They become determined to maintain a passionate relationship any way they can. When they are unable to arouse romantic passion, they will settle for rage. Like children starved for attention who misbehave to get it, they prefer highly charged negative involvement to none at all.

A relentless, virulent campaign of denigration guarantees ongoing contact. The goal is not to end the children's relationship with the other parent, it is to remain entangled with the ex. As long as they attack and accuse, they can look forward to some response. It is as if they are saying "I refuse to give you up. If I cannot have your love, I'll hold on with hate. I will keep you involved whether you like it or not. We will continue to dominate each other's thoughts. We will continue to stir strong feelings in each other."

These parents act as if their main goal in life is to make their ex miserable. Often they succeed. They may be so successful that they drive the alienated parent away: The target parent gives up trying to foster a relationship with the children. But the denigrating parent does not stop pursuing a relationship with the target. He or she merely finds another way to assure contact. A favorite forum is the courtroom.

Litigation provides ample opportunities to provoke hostile engagement. Most of these actually occur before trial, in the form of *discovery*, *interrogatories*, and *depositions*. These legal tactics give bashing and brainwashing parents a front-row center seat from which to observe intimate details of their ex-spouse's life.

Requests for discovery are formal demands that require a person involved in a lawsuit to turn over to the other side specified documents. These can include highly personal material such as diaries and bank statements. *Interrogatories* are pretrial questions put by one side to the other which, by law, require written responses. The requests can be quite intrusive. These often include, for example, questions about the frequency of sexual intercourse with a boyfriend. *Depositions* are pretrial examinations of a witness conducted by an attorney with no judge pres-

ent. The witness is sworn to tell the truth, just as in a courtroom, and a court reporter records the proceedings. Although the opposing attorney can raise objections, because no judge is present to rule on the objections, the witness may be asked irrelevant, provocative, and intrusive questions. In a Connecticut deposition I recently attended as a trial consultant, a man was asked about his masturbation practices. Despite his embarrassment (of the eight people in the room, three were women), he answered the question. If the case goes to trial, and the judge sustains the objection, the answer will not be part of the official testimony. But by this point the damage is often done.

One survivor of brutal litigation felt as if she had been run through "a psychological meat grinder." Most people feel the same. They experience it as a vicious crisis which dominates their life for months, sometimes years. But the crisis is welcome to ex-spouses who refuse to let go. It allows the relationship with the ex-spouse to take center stage. One man harassed his ex-wife by filing repeated suits to modify custody. Even when the judge ordered a two-year moratorium on any such suits, the man violated the court ruling within six months. He simply could not resist embroiling his ex in the turmoil of a lawsuit.

Friends and relatives of such parents eventually withdraw their support and admonish them, in effect, to get a life. This is precisely what may help the situation. When I suspect that the wish to hold on is behind a campaign of hate, I will usually tell alienated parents that their best hope for relief is for their former spouse to find a new love. Only then will they be willing to close the book on their marriage.

IS YOUR EX-SPOUSE HOLDING ON WITH HATE?

The distinguishing feature of an ex who holds on is the high frequency of contact with you. By contrast, the brainwashing parent who truly wants to end the relationship minimizes contact; all his actions are consistent with the goal of erasing you from his life and the lives of your children.

If you think you are the target of bashing and brainwashing by an ex who refuses to let go, look for the following behaviors:

- Constantly pumps neighbors and friends for information about you and your activities
- Frequently initiates contact with you: This may take the form of stalking, calling often, leaving long voice-mail messages, or threatening lawsuits.
- Tries to draw you into arguments that rehash old marital grievances
- Is preoccupied with expressing hatred for you even when you are not around
- Constantly shows up at places where you are sure to be
- Makes no attempt to inhibit hostile exchanges in public; provokes embarrassing scenes at children's school and athletic events
- Seems to take pleasure in the hostile encounters: for example, when talking about the turmoil he creates, is unable to suppress a gleeful smile
- Though denouncing you as evil and worthless, periodically raises the possibility of reconciliation. Or, gives you the distinct impression that he wants to reconcile.

PARANOIA

People who suffer from paranoia have a pervasive tendency to categorize others as either "for" them or "against" them. Any life stress heightens this tendency. When going through divorce, parents with this trait worry about the allegiance of relatives, friends, and even their own children. No one they know can be neutral. Those who are not unconditionally with them are against them. As a result, their children feel pressured into joining in a campaign of denigration against the other parent.

Paranoid people are exquisitely sensitive to slights. It takes very little to arouse their suspicions. One father panicked and thought that his phone contact with his daughter was being permanently cut off simply because one scheduled call was missed. As it turned out, his daughter did try to call, but his line was busy and she went to sleep early. If the children are belligerent, whiny, or disobedient, such parents leap to the con-

clusion that the children are becoming alienated, and they blame the other parent. Of course all children act this way at times. Children are especially likely to be negativistic and oppositional when they have been exposed to marital turmoil. Such considerations will be overlooked by paranoid parents. They will generally dismiss the most probable and benign explanations for behavior in favor of far-fetched and malevolent interpretations. To defend against imagined alienation, these parents may engage in preemptive strikes: They try to turn the children against the parent they falsely accuse of brainwashing.

Shortly after his ex-wife remarried, Gene became increasingly worried that she might try to reduce his time with their four-year-old son. The more he worried about it, the more he convinced himself that she was in fact planning a lawsuit against him. His anxiety heightened when his son spoke positively about his new stepfather. Gene channeled his anxiety into what eventually became a brainwashing campaign. He began to inspect his son for bruises upon every return from the mother's home. The boy got the message that his father did not think the mother's home was safe for a child. Everyday childhood bumps and scrapes became evidence, in Gene's mind, of abuse. The boy tried to explain the innocuous source of the injuries, like falling off a bike or tripping over a shoelace. But Gene dismissed the explanations as cover-ups, excuses made by a child who was too scared to reveal that his stepfather hurt him. In fact, the more the child defended his stepfather, the more Gene became convinced that the boy was afraid of the man. Over time, much of the boy's behavior became signs to Gene of abuse. When the boy had a couple of nightmares, rather than accept these as normal for children this age, Gene assumed that these were traumatic symptoms.

Gene made numerous complaints to child welfare. Each complaint was dutifully investigated. The outcome was always the same. There was no rational basis to suspect abuse in the mother's home. Eventually, Gene's alienating behavior became too much for his ex to ignore and she did just what he originally feared. She filed a lawsuit to modify their custody agreement in order to protect her son from his father's paranoid behavior.

As Gene's case illustrates, when paranoid people act on their suspicions, they often bring about the very situation they feared in the first place. It is crucial that courts realize that the parent who first raises an accusation of divorce poison may well be the perpetrator rather than the

victim. Otherwise the court might deprive the healthier parent of custody. In this manner, the paranoid parent's efforts are sometimes successful.

More often than not, however, their efforts backfire. They confuse and scare the children and ultimately alienate them. When this occurs the parents almost never recognize their own contributions to the problem. Instead they feel vindicated in their initial paranoid beliefs. They tell themselves, and anyone who will listen, "I knew they were against me all the time."

Paranoid parents gravitate to the courts to seek justice. So you may have no choice but to use legal remedies to respond to their destructive behavior. This is unfortunate. Courtroom battles are inevitably embarrassing and frustrating. They exacerbate rather than relieve a paranoid person's concerns about persecution. Some therapists have reported success when courts have ordered paranoid parents to participate in treatment with groups of families.

TAKE ACTION

If paranoia is fueling divorce poison, you must exercise great care in how you treat the perpetrator. Paranoid people become more anxious when they sense that important information is being withheld, or when things are uncertain. Their anxiety leads to indignation and rage. Like scared dogs, paranoid people can become dangerous when they feel threatened. The less uncertainty they face, the less they will fill in the gaps of their knowledge with suspicions and distortions.

- Try to keep a paranoid ex informed of relevant matters.
- Communicate clearly in a calm and respectful tone of voice. Avoid any appearance of concealing things.
- Give the paranoid parent time to think about any proposals before expecting a response.
- Set clear and reasonable limits and then stick to them.
- As much as possible, follow through on your agreements and act in a predictable manner.

REENACTMENTS

A few years ago I made a discovery. In reviewing the backgrounds of parents who foster alienation, I noticed that a very high percentage had a poor or absent relationship with at least one of their own parents. I think there is a connection.

Sigmund Freud wrote about our "compulsion to repeat" past unpleasant experiences and modern psychological research has confirmed this tendency. Sometimes the replay occurs in our minds, as in the case of "flashbacks" or dreams, and sometimes in reality, as in the case of child abuse victims who inflict similar abuse on their own children.

The psychological purpose of reenactment is not clear. One theory suggests that a sense of mastery is gained by inflicting the trauma on someone else so that the formerly helpless victim becomes the powerful perpetrator. This may explain why some parents mistreat their children in the same way the parents were mistreated in childhood, and why some divorced parents who have suffered the absence of a parent will try to inflict the same deprivation on their children rather than protect them from a similar fate. If we recognize when this dynamic lies behind brainwashing, we can use this information to help persuade a parent to stop the destructive behavior.

One woman in San Francisco had not talked to her own father for the nine years prior to his death. She had been programmed to believe that he was a criminal unworthy of her love. Somehow she managed to marry a man whose moral character was above reproach. He was an involved, devoted father, with a patient, good-hearted, optimistic nature. One afternoon this woman came home after having had a few drinks with lunch. She became volatile and enraged over an imagined slight on his part. Despite her sons' presence in the house, she began screaming vile epithets at her husband and clawing at his face. Then she bashed him over the head with a metal garbage can, which left a nine-inch dent (in the can, not his head). After she ripped his shirt and began choking him, he tried to restrain her by grabbing her upper arms. When she still would not stop, he called the police. They came and calmed things down.

A few days later the husband was shocked to be served with papers indicating that his wife had filed criminal charges against him. She told her sons (and everyone else who would listen) that their father was a violent man. She started calling herself a battered wife, and made it her mission to have her husband declared a felon and thrown in jail. Unlike most truly battered women, she showed no fear of her husband. Quite the opposite: She repeatedly harassed him with taunting and threatening phone calls. None of the domestic violence experts she consulted (all women) agreed that she was a battered woman. Instead they thought that *she* had trouble controlling her own violent impulses. The woman went from one therapist to another until she finally found one, selected by her lawyer, who responded to her persuasive presentation, believed her tales of victimhood, and was willing to testify on her behalf.

The mother filed for divorce and tried to keep the father from having any access to his sons. When the court did not agree, she began programming the boys to fear their father. She told them that she hoped they did not grow up to be like their father because he was evil. She tried to get the boys to regard him as a criminal and reject him, just as she rejected her own father. The court warned her that if she continued her attempts at brainwashing she would lose custody. But the impulse to recreate in her children the alienation she suffered toward her own father was strong and she continued to give in to it. Eventually she lost custody.

It is well known that some children who are abused by their parents grow up to be abusing parents themselves. Custody evaluators see a related phenomenon. Divorced parents who were victims of child abuse, eager to protect their own children from such a fate, and angry and distrustful toward their ex-spouse, may be too quick to conclude that the ex has abused the children. Normal childhood events, such as nightmares, minor bruises, touching the crotch, all become the basis for suspicions of abuse. Parents on the lookout for abuse dismiss the more probable benign explanations for such events. When these parents convince themselves that their ex has abused the children, they have less incentive to inhibit bad-mouthing and bashing because they believe their children should hate their other parent. The added danger is that, through repeated questioning, the children may eventually develop false beliefs that they have been abused. As discussed in chapter 3, such false beliefs create serious psychological problems in addition to the alienation from the alleged abuser.

TAKE ACTION

If your ex seems to be reenacting a childhood deprivation or trauma, ask one of his or her close relatives, such as a sibling, to speak with your ex about the situation. They should help your ex recall the unpleasant feelings associated with the deprivation, and encourage him or her to spare the children a similar fate. People who reenact earlier traumas may not be fully aware of what drives their behavior. They will be more receptive to hearing this type of analysis from a trusted relative than from the target of their divorce poison. It is likely that your ex will be angry if he or she learns that you spoke to the relatives. This is a risk you will need to consider before taking this action.

HOSTILITY TOWARD THE CHILDREN

Parents with weak psychological boundaries are not fully aware of the damage they are doing to their children. If they were, presumably they would stop acting so destructively. But some brainwashing parents actually harbor substantial hostility toward their children. In some cases they are jealous of the attention the children receive from the ex. To cover up such feelings, they point to their exaggerated efforts to "protect" the children from the other parent as evidence of how much they love the children. Under the guise of protection, these parents induce unnecessary anxiety while attempting to drive a wedge between the children and the target parent. Loving parents promote their children's emotional security. Cruel and emotionally abusive parents intensify their children's fears and insecurities.

I participated in one case in which a mother with custody protested the father's desire to spend longer weekends with his daughter, even though the four-year-old pleaded for more time with her father. The mother claimed that spending an extra night would be more than the child could handle. And she found two psychologists to support her claim. (Incidentally, it is a sad commentary on the state of forensic psychology that parents can usually locate a mental health "expert" who is willing to offer, in testimony under oath, biased opinions or opinions with no scientific foundation. Chapter 8, "Getting Professional Help,"

provides guidelines for evaluating those from whom you seek help.)

My review of the case revealed that this woman had a harsh and rigid approach to child-rearing. She admitting to using spanking as a regular form of discipline and seemed to take pride in this. Although the father was available to care for his daughter every afternoon and wanted very much to do so, the mother insisted on leaving the child in a ten-hour day care program five days per week. On weekends she usually left her daughter with baby-sitters while she went out to bars. And her psychological test profile showed several signs of an immature and self-centered personality with severe limitations in being able to empathize with her daughter's feelings. My conclusion: Although she presented herself as obsessively concerned with protecting her daughter, odds were that this woman had far less love for her child than she pretended.

Subsequent events confirmed my impressions. The judge decided that the girl could benefit from having more time with her father and expanded her weekend time to begin Thursday at noon and extend to Monday morning. The judge also awarded the father thirty days of contact in the summer. On my advice the father offered a plan in which the thirty days would not be taken consecutively. I thought one whole month was too long for a four-year-old child to be away from either parent. Remember, the mother originally complained that just three consecutive weekend days were too much for her daughter to be apart from her. If her complaint about three days was sincere (however misguided), she should have jumped at the chance to reduce thirty days to several shorter periods. Instead, she revealed her true colors when she rejected the father's offer and insisted that the entire thirty days be taken consecutively.

TAKE ACTION

When your ex tries to undermine your child's sense of security with you, invite the child to judge for himself whether the other parent's fears are justified. For example, if the allegation is made that you do not allow the child to call his father when he is with you, point out how this allegation conflicts with the numerous times in which such calls were facilitated. Help your child understand that the other parent sometimes has fears and worries that

are exaggerated, and that the child does not have to share these worries. When divorce poison masks a lot of hostility toward the children, you will have a better chance of being effective if you concentrate on helping the children rationally evaluate the alienating parent's overprotective behavior. This should be done in a gentle manner, with sensitivity to your child's anxiety. Consider having a third party implement this suggestion. This may help the children avoid the sense that they are being asked to take sides.

Usually several factors combine to bring about bashing and brain-washing. Two situations, though, are the most likely to provoke a parent into malicious criticism: custody disputes and remarriage. These bring out the worst in parents. I estimate that more than half of all cases of parental brainwashing occur in the context of a custody battle. And an ex-spouse's remarriage may reignite the high degree of rage and hostility that can lead to divorce poison. Often the two situations combine. Remarriage, with its accompanying changes, triggers a renewed battle over where the children will live.

Let us examine how custody disputes and remarriage place your family at higher risk for divorce poison, and what you can do to protect yourself and your children.

CUSTODY LITIGATION

When Jennifer told Karl that she wanted a divorce, he was infuriated. She added insult to injury when she said she was moving to another state and taking the kids with her. Karl was beside himself with rage. He retained an attorney known for his brutal, "take no prisoners" tactics and immediately sued for sole custody. While the suit was pending, Karl took every opportunity to tell the children what a bad, selfish mother they had. He told them secrets that she had confided to him during the early stage of their marriage, such as her confession of a brief lesbian encounter in college. Blinded by his anger, Karl was committed to destroying Jennifer's reputation with her own children. Jennifer countered with some mild bad-mouthing of her own.

Custody litigation is a hostile process. Hostility generates the dispute

in the first place. And the dispute itself—the stress, frustration, and legal maneuvering—breeds additional hostility. One way to express all this hostility is to destroy the other parent's relationship with the children. So if you are involved in a custody dispute, and your children are being exposed to bad-mouthing, bashing and brainwashing may come next.

Divorce poison in a custody battle, however, has a more specific purpose than the mere expression of hostility. Karl's bashing of Jennifer began as a diffuse outlet for his rage. But as the litigation heated up, he began a more systematic and focused campaign to turn the children against their mother. He began brainwashing them. Now he was not merely punishing Jennifer. He was trying to gain a strategic advantage in court. Like many parents, Karl believed that he could win the custody battle if he could successfully manipulate his children's affections. In some cases this works.

Creating False Impressions

If your children turn against you, the burden is on you to prove your innocence. You will need to present evidence of your previous good relationship with the children. And you will need to show that you have done nothing to warrant their rejection. This will be difficult if you are unlucky enough to encounter a certain type of judge or mental health professional appointed by the judge to make custody recommendations. Such professionals understand that parents influence children's affections. But they fail to realize how completely a child can be manipulated to turn against a good parent. They believe that "where there's smoke, there's fire." They assume that if your child hates or fears you, you must have done something to deserve it. And you will lose custody.

You have a better chance of defending yourself with a judge who believes that children can be brainwashed. But even then, many times the manipulations are so subtle that they go undetected. If the judge mistakenly believes that your child's alienation is reality based and not the result of programming, she will deprive you of custody. To hold on to your children, you will need to expose your ex's motives and manipulations. Review the malignant motives discussed earlier and the material in the next two chapters, which explain exactly how irrational alienation is promulgated.

Alienated parents must not only prove that their children have been manipulated, they must convince the judge that the manipulation caused

the alienation. Judges are often unclear about exactly what caused the alienation. All parents occasionally act in irrational ways that frighten and anger children. This is particularly true around the time of the breakup, when parents are most stressed. A parent intent on poisoning his children's affections will use such behavior as the foundation for an alienation campaign. A few incidents, which were not at all typical of a parent's usual behavior, are cited as justification for the children's rejection of a formerly loved parent.

I was called in to one case by a distraught mother. Her son had convinced the court-appointed counselor that he should have no more than brief contacts with his mother. The boy complained that his mother expected him to spend too much time with her and not enough with his friends. He also accused her of losing her temper and spanking him. He said he was afraid to be alone with her. And when it came time to

be with her, he did act frightened.

The mother admitted to the counselor that she had spanked her son on three separate occasions. She also said that she probably restricted his freedom more than most mothers and that she could stand to improve in this regard. Nevertheless, she maintained that her son's current attitude was not a realistic response to her parenting: It was the result of his father's programming.

The counselor agreed that the father was actively trying to turn the boy against his mother. Nevertheless, he concluded that the mother was equally responsible for her son's alienation. For this reason he recommended that the boy's wish to avoid his mother be honored by the court. Although the phrase is overused, I thought this clearly was a

case of "blaming the victim."

I also thought this counselor's conclusion showed poor common sense. He failed to appreciate that every parent has faults. We all do or say things to our children that we regret. There will usually be some elements of truth to an alienated child's complaints about the target's behavior. Without systematic programming, however, this behavior would never result in the child's alienation from the parent. And it would never justify depriving a mother of access to her child.

This counselor did not fully comprehend the power of mental coercion, so he found it hard to believe that the boy's alienation lacked any firm basis in reality. His sympathies rested with the scared child. His first priority was to shield the boy from what appeared to be a frighten-

ing situation—spending time with his own mother!

What should you do if you are in a custody dispute and are blamed for your child's estrangement from you? Two things: You must expose the nature of the programming, a topic we take up in chapters 5 and 6; and you must present evidence of the good relationship you enjoyed with your child prior to the bashing and brainwashing.

TAKE ACTION

To show that you have previously enjoyed a good relationship with your children, provide the court-appointed evaluator with objective evidence. Bring in videotapes, photographs, gifts, and greeting cards that demonstrate your children's affection toward you. Give the evaluator a list of names and phone numbers of adults who have observed you and your children together. Make sure the list includes people who would not be expected to be biased in your favor. Your mother may give you a glowing endorsement as a parent, but the court is not likely to view her as an impartial reporter. The list should include teachers, coaches, and parents who have seen you at extracurricular activities. Ask the evaluator to contact these people. Why? The evaluator will hear vastly conflicting accounts of reality. If your children are alienated, their fears and complaints may appear very convincing. You will have a better chance of proving that their negative attitudes are a response to divorce poison if you can provide the evaluator and the court with evidence that your past involvement with the children was generally positive.

One father had his former mother-in-law describe the close relationship that used to exist between him and his son. This was most convincing because, if anything, the court would have expected her to be biased in favor of her own daughter. One mother, whose children claimed that she was never any fun to be with, brought in videotapes of her and the children playing happily together throughout their earlier years. This showed the court-appointed evaluator that her children's complaints were the product of recent attitude changes and were not characteristic of their relationship.

Before you convince a judge to force your child to face the object of his

fear—you—the judge will need to be convinced that the fear is not a realistic response to any mistreatment on your part. Your attorney's job, with your help, will be to educate the court about the specific means by which your child has been turned against you. Sometimes a child's fear is so great, and the child so emphatic, that clear evidence of brainwashing is not enough to erase a measure of doubt about the target's parenting abilities. Particularly when allegations are raised of gross mistreatment or abuse, the judge may decide it is better to err on the side of caution and restrict the child's contact with the estranged parent. The problem with this approach is that it further entrenches alienation. In the interests of protecting the child from harm, the court inadvertently joins in emotional abuse by depriving the child of a loving relationship with the target.

You can lose custody of your children if the judge fails to recognize that their denigration and discomfort with you are signs of bashing and brainwashing. This can occur for three reasons:

- 1. The judge may not believe that children can be programmed to turn against a parent.
- 2. The signs of manipulation may be subtle and elude detection.
- 3. In spite of detecting manipulation, the judge may hold your behavior accountable for your children's rejection.

The Child Preference Factor

We have discussed how divorce poison can cost you custody if the judge believes that your behavior is responsible for your children's rejection. In some cases, however, a manipulative parent can gain the upper hand in custody litigation merely by convincing the child to express a preference to live with him or her. A majority of states allow the judge to give weight to your child's preference, depending on the age of the child. In Texas, for example, a child ten years of age or older may designate the custodial parent. The child's choice is not followed automatically; it is subject to the judge's approval. But

the law was enacted because the legislature wanted judges to give strong consideration to the wishes of children who had reached their tenth birthday.

When a child's custody preference is decisive, parents have a strong incentive to mold that preference. Some will resort to brainwashing to accomplish this goal. If the child can be coerced into choosing one parent over the other, it could spare a parent the necessity of a costly custody trial. Moreover, since courts generally prefer to keep siblings together, the parent who persuades the oldest child to take sides may win custody of all the children.

Here is the general scenario. The parent engages in a campaign to turn the child against the other parent. Once the child has been successfully programmed, the parent takes the child to an attorney. After hearing the child's litany of complaints against the target, the attorney draws up an affidavit, which the child signs. The child may then sheepishly avoid telling the nonpreferred parent about the trip to the lawyer's office or about the affidavit. That parent may first learn about the affidavit only upon being served with legal papers.

TAKE ACTION

If you have reason to believe that your ex is bad-mouthing you to the children, and he or she threatens to pressure the children to express a custody preference, you must take steps to protect yourself. Find out what the laws are in your state regarding children's custody preferences. Ask a family lawyer or a legal aid society. You may also locate this information on the Internet. If your children are old enough to sign an affidavit of preference, you will need to prepare them for the possibility that their other parent will ask them to do so. Tell the children that you know they love both their parents and that they do not have to take sides in the dispute. If anyone asks them to do so, they can simply say that they don't want to be put in the middle. If you wait until your children have expressed a preference, it may be too late to reverse the damage. The very act of publicly declaring their allegiance to one parent can further entrench their alienation from the other.

Lynn did a good job of helping her sons prepare for the possibility that their father might ask them to sign an affidavit of preference. She explained, "Dad wants you to live with him during the school week. I want you to live with me. If we don't agree on a solution, then we will go to court and ask a judge to decide what is best. But the decision is made by grown-ups. You don't have to choose. I know you love me and you love Dad. That's why I'm not going to ask you to decide and I hope Dad won't either. Children don't like having to choose which parent to live with."

"I know Dad has been saying bad things about me," Lynn added. "And, just in case he asks you to sign something saying you want to live with him, I'm letting you know that you don't have to do that if you don't want to. Just tell Dad that you love both of us and you don't want to get in the middle of this. Tell him to work it out with me or with a judge, but to leave you out of it. Do you think you can do that?"

I cannot emphasize enough the importance of taking action as soon as you suspect that your child might be pressured to express a preference to live apart from you. If you wait until your child makes this decision, it could be too late. Many parents are shocked to learn that their child's preference influenced the outcome of the custody battle even when the court agreed that the preference was solely the result of programming. This occurred in a Missouri case. An eleven-year-old girl, Marsha, said she no longer wanted to see her father. Despite years of a good relationship, she claimed that she hated him. Her mother supported her and refused the father any access to his daughter. She also filed a motion in court to take away the father's right to see Marsha.

When the judge ordered the mother to let Marsha spend time with her father, Marsha and her mother responded by telling authorities that the father sexually abused his daughter. The accusation was determined to be completely unfounded and the judge again ordered the mother to facilitate Marsha's contact with her father. Also, because Marsha was exposed to so much turmoil, the judge appointed an attorney to act on Marsha's behalf in the litigation. This attorney is known as a G.A.L.,

which stands for *guardian* ad litem.

The G.A.L. has the authority to initiate investigations, and in this case she did so. She learned that Marsha's negative attitude toward her father was entirely the result of her mother's insistent programming, combined with Marsha's wish to be her mother's ally. The father was relieved. He expected that this nightmare would soon be over.

At the next court hearing, the G.A.L. told the judge that she was con-

vinced that Marsha would be perfectly safe with her father. But her next statement devastated the father. Because of the intensity of Marsha's fears, the G.A.L. did not think the court should "force the issue." Instead, she recommended that Marsha be required to see her father only under strict supervision and for brief periods of time. Thus Marsha's preference determined the outcome of this custody dispute, even though the G.A.L. and the judge both knew that this preference reflected nothing more than her mother's indoctrination. What the court needed to know is that sometimes forcing the issue is a child's only hope for normalizing relations with the target parent. Chapter 8, "Getting Professional Help," explains how courts can take a more active role in helping children like Marsha.

Wearing Down the Opposition

Marsha's father eventually gave up. He could no longer afford the toll this ordeal was taking on his physical and emotional health or on his pocket-book. Too many custody cases end up this way. Manipulation is successful not because the court is convinced that the target is a bad parent, and not because the court automatically accepts an older child's custodial preference. The manipulation is successful in helping a parent win custody merely by wearing down the opposition.

Parents who are the target of an effective campaign of bashing and brainwashing often feel powerless to reverse the process. Their initial attempts to reason with their children fail. They don't know how else to defend themselves. They see their resources dwindling. Rather than continue the battle, they decide that it is best for them and their children to accept the inevitable, cut their losses, and avoid the ordeal of a trial.

This may mean giving up hope of seeing the children, at least for a while. The estrangement, though, is not always permanent. Particularly when the chief aim of the parent doing the brainwashing is to win custody, the target's resignation may have a paradoxical effect. Once the threat of losing custody is eliminated, the brainwashing parent may reduce the intensity of the programming. The children may be allowed to resurrect positive feelings for the parent they were taught to hate.

No one can tell you when you have reached your limit, or when to call it quits. If this is what you decide, nothing will erase the heartache of losing your child. But I suggest you read chapter 9, "Letting Go," carefully

for tips on how to announce your decision to the children, how to cope with the loss, and how to prepare for a future reconciliation.

Hoisted with Their Own Petards

Parents who try to poison their children's affections in order to win custody expect the courts to sympathize with their position. Some of these parents are relatively unaware that they are guilty of fostering alienation. Others know exactly what they are doing and are counting on the court's naïveté about such matters. They think they can pull the wool over the judge's eyes.

In the past, this may have been a safe assumption. But I hope books such as this will turn the tide. As mental health professionals and family courts become more familiar with the phenomena of bad-mouthing, bashing, and brainwashing, and their harmful impact on children, parents who engage in such practices should beware: You run a greater chance of losing custody.

First, experts and judges will discount children's attitudes and preferences when these are understood as the result of programming. So no advantage will be gained. But there will be a further disadvantage incurred by parents engaged in destructive criticism. They are apt to be judged more negatively because they are jeopardizing their child's emotional welfare. Courts do not look kindly on parents who try to deprive their children of a loving relationship with the other parent. So what is intended to bolster a case for custody will not only fail to help, it will backfire. Rather than accept a child's alienation as proof of the target's deficiency, the court will view the alienation as evidence of the manipulative parent's inadequacy.

But a wise parent does not rely on faith in the court's ability to detect manipulation. You must help the court. You must learn all you can about how your children are being programmed. You must convey this information to any mental health professionals involved in your case. And your attorney must convey this information effectively to the judge.

PREVENTING ALIENATION DURING CUSTODY LITIGATION

There are several things you can do to reduce the incidence of bashing and brainwashing in a custody battle. The most important would be to

remove the incentive: Use every means to avoid custody litigation in the first place. When the custody outcome is not hanging in the balance, parents have less need to sway their children's affections, and thus you face less risk of divorce poison.

First, examine your reasons for seeking custody. If they are inadequate, you may be able to prevent or reverse an alienation campaign by dropping the threat to seek custody. Custody should not be a means to punish your spouse, avoid child support, alleviate guilt, or prove your worth to the world. I discuss these and other wrong reasons for seeking custody in greater detail in *The Custody Revolution*.

If you and your spouse have a genuine disagreement about what custody arrangement would be best for your children, before taking it to court, take it to a custody consultant for an independent opinion. A custody consultant is a mental health professional with expertise in child development and custody matters. When I serve in this capacity, I help parents understand their children's needs and the extent to which different custody plans meet these needs. Once both parents grasp the relevant issues, the optimal custody arrangement may become selfevident. Or I may think of a reasonable alternative that did not occur to either parent. I also try to impress upon parents how their custody dispute, and related efforts to poison the children's affections, will hurt the children. With such professional input, many parents are able to reduce their hostility, drop their adversarial stance, and reach an agreement. Also, the consultant's findings and recommendations can play a role in mediating or negotiating a solution that minimizes either parent's feelings of having lost the battle.

If your spouse refuses to seek custody consultation, or the effort fails, try other means to limit and reduce the hostility of your divorce. If you have wronged your spouse, recognize the damage you have caused, take responsibility for it and offer a genuine apology, and make amends when possible. If you have been unfair about the financial settlement, for example, reconsider your stance. Anything you can do to reduce

anger lessens the motive for bad-mouthing.

If you must dispute custody, retain attorneys who are committed to amicable resolutions. Some lawyers subscribe to a model of practice known as "collaborative family law." These lawyers pledge to do everything possible to reach a settlement without going to court. In fact, they agree beforehand to withdraw from the case if their efforts are unsuccess-

ful. They believe that when both attorneys make this agreement, a structure is created from the outset that encourages more constructive and creative negotiations. See the Resources section at the end of the book for more information about the collaborative law option.

Some lawyers who do not work formally in the collaborative law model nevertheless are known for their practice of encouraging and supporting efforts to settle out of court and reduce animosity. Try to find a lawyer with this reputation. When negotiations between such attorneys are unsuccessful, they will recommend mediation. Other lawyers oppose mediation. Particularly avoid attorneys who have reputations for "demolishing the opposition." Such attorneys may win you some battles, but their tactics invite retaliation, which means a greater risk of bad-mouthing. One prominent New York attorney told his clients that the way to win custody battles is to outspend the opposition. His cases were known for the huge expenses generated by a maddening flood of paperwork and multiple court hearings that eventually drove the opposition into submission. This left his clients facing a postdivorce atmosphere riddled with hostility.

TAKE ACTION

To prevent alienation in custody disputes:

- Consider dropping the threat to sue for custody. Don't seek custody for the wrong reasons.
- Take responsibility for your contributions to your spouse's anger and do what you can to reduce hostility.
- Seek an independent opinion from a custody consultant.
- Choose an attorney with a reputation for amicable resolutions out of court.
- Avoid attorneys who generate unnecessary conflict and hostility.

REMARRIAGE

After custody litigation, you are most at risk for bad-mouthing, bashing, and brainwashing when either you or your ex-spouse remarries. Even former spouses who got along reasonably well face new tension in their relationship when one of them finds love again.

Jealousy

People are often surprised at the intensity of their reaction to the news that an ex-spouse plans to remarry. They may not have expected to be affected by such an event. But instead they find themselves reexperiencing much of the hurt and anger that accompanied the divorce. Those who are least aware of lingering feelings for their ex, or least in touch with fantasies of reconciliation, are most susceptible to destructive reactions. They have the most difficulty coping with the jealousy and blow to their pride triggered by the remarriage. Rather than acknowledge the true source of feelings that they regard as unwanted or inappropriate, they hide behind a variety of defenses.

A common maneuver is to deny being personally bothered by the remarriage while expressing great concern about its impact on the children. Psychoanalyst Wilhelm Reich called this a "pretended" motive. Upon learning of his ex-wife's engagement a man said, "I don't care what you want to do with your life. But the children are very upset about it." At the time he said this, the children were showing no signs of distress.

Another rationalization is to claim that one is not upset by the idea of remarriage itself, but by the specific character of the stepparent, or the new partner's manner of relating to the children. Divorce poison comes into play when your ex channels unwanted and unpleasant feelings triggered by your remarriage into unwarranted denigration of you and your new partner.

TAKE ACTION

To respond to an ex who is jealous of your remarriage:

Reaffirm the connection that will always exist between the two
of you as a result of having children together.

- Emphasize that your remarriage does not diminish the importance of cooperation in raising the children.
- Acknowledge that the remarriage is an adjustment for everyone; the children deserve both parents' support in coping with this transition, just as they would expect with other transitions in their lives, such as a change of schools.
- Ask your ex to put himself in your place and imagine how he
 or she would like you to handle it with the children if he or she
 announced plans to remarry.

Jealousy on the part of the parent who learns of his ex's plans to remarry is not the only motive for divorce poison in this situation. Destructive criticism is just as likely, maybe more likely, to come from the remarried spouse and the new partner. In my work with remarried families I have identified three key factors that often trigger attempts to alienate children: (1) the wish to erase the ex from the child's life in order to "make room" for the stepparent; (2) competitive feelings between the ex-spouse and stepparent; and (3) the new couple's attempt to unite around a common enemy.

I Wish He Would Just Disappear

Parents who remarry often believe that they now have the perfect family setting in which to raise their children. But one thing mars this image: the former spouse. Many remarried couples harbor the fantasy, "If only the ex would disappear from the scene..." One way to fulfill this fantasy is by driving a wedge between the children and the other parent.

A parent is most likely to regard the other parent as dispensable when the child was very young at the time of the divorce, or the parents were never married, and the new marriage occurs soon after. In these cases, each parent has had little opportunity to observe the child around the other parent. A mother may believe, in the abstract, that children deserve to know their real father. But she has not seen, with her own eyes, how her child benefits from spending time with the man. Certainly a one-year-old child cannot tell her how much he looks forward to seeing his dad.

Without a history of family interaction involving mother, father, and child, it is harder for the mother to appreciate the father's role in the child's life. When she remarries, she would rather such family history be centered around her and her current husband. The father is seen as an interloper. His involvement complicates the picture. Essentially, the mother would like to pretend that her relationship with the child's father never happened. When he won't bow out gracefully, he is seen as thwarting her second chance for a happy family. As one remarried woman told her ex-husband, "My daughter has a mother and a father in her home. She doesn't need you." (Brainwashing parents tend to refer to the children as "mine" rather than "ours.") The wish to erase the ex is more likely to come from a remarried mother than father. Perhaps this is because it was not too long ago that society assumed that children should be cared for by their mothers after divorce and have only occasional contact with Dad. Despite years of research documenting a father's importance to his children, and changing custody laws that reflect this understanding, many people continue to regard fathers as marginally significant parents.

Some people believe that the less time the child has been with the father, the less is lost if the stepfather replaces the father. To a certain extent this is correct. Generally speaking, younger children find it easier to develop a relationship with a stepparent that approximates a parent-child bond, and to benefit from that relationship. However, there is no reason why children should have to choose. They are capable of

having strong ties both to their father and stepfather.

Even when her child is so young that the stepfather could adequately replace the father, a mother still has reasons to promote the father's involvement. When the child is older, he or she may want to know the father. Many children suffer intense feelings of rejection when a divorced parent has not remained involved. In *The Custody Revolution* I discuss the impact of the absent parent on boys and girls. I show how children who have lost contact with a parent following divorce are more likely to have problems with interpersonal relationships and lower self-esteem. The children's problems may, in turn, diminish the quality of their relationship with the remarried parent and the stepparent.

It is worth considering, too, what would happen if the mother's second marriage failed (not an unlikely event since second marriages have a higher divorce rate than first marriages). In most such cases children lose all contact with their former stepfather even when he has

been a central

figure in their development. Maintaining a close tie to the father is good insurance against such a loss. Much less likely, but also possible, is the death or incapacitation of the mother. In these cases, custody is usually transferred to the father. A good strong relationship with their father can help children through such hard times. A history of alienation from the father would compound the tragedy.

TAKE ACTION

To respond to a mother who wants you out of your child's life:

- Reassure the mother that your involvement will not interfere
 with her new husband's forming a close relationship with the
 children. In fact, you intend to actively promote the children's
 love and respect of their stepfather.
- Point out that as the biological (or adoptive) and legal father, your commitment is a lifelong one. Few stepfathers could offer the same assurance.
- Help the mother understand what she would be destroying if she succeeded in alienating the child from you. Describe your life with the child: your routines, play, mutual expressions of affection, serious talks, and your dreams for your child's future.
- If your child is still an infant, allow the mother to observe you with the baby several times to help her become comfortable with the idea that you can provide good care.
- Set a firm limit. Insist that you will never abandon your child. That is not an option. You do not want your child ever to question whether or not he was loved by his father.

Competition

The stepparent often instigates, or at least actively supports, destructive criticism of the other parent. Competitive feelings toward one's predecessor in love, sex, and marriage are natural. In mild form such feelings do

not become a problem. They may, in fact, benefit the children by motivating a stepparent to do the very best job possible in raising the stepchildren. The children then gain an additional adult who protects and advances their interests.

When competitive feelings are very strong, the stepparent may resent having to share the children's affection with their other parent. He or she may have low self-esteem and be excessively competitive in most situations. Or the stepparent may feel especially deficient as a parent and feel a need to prove superiority over the other parent. The two leading authorities on stepfamilies, Dr. Emily Visher and Dr. John Visher, described how a man who feels that he failed as a father in his first marriage may regard the second marriage as a chance to compensate for his earlier shortcomings. The sense of failure may be particularly acute if the stepfather has not maintained regular and meaningful involvement with his biological children. Some stepparents deal with this sense of failure by trying to replace the other parent in the children's heart. They do so through bad-mouthing, bashing, and brainwashing.

Some stepfathers act as if they are rescuing their new family from the father. Particularly when this is the first marriage for the stepfather, he will usually have different expectations about how a family should

work and may be excessively critical of his predecessor.

Competitive feelings are likely to occur when stepparents have no children of their own and, for reasons of choice or infertility, do not expect to have their own children. This situation is seen with stepmothers as well as stepfathers.

Nelda and Ophelia were best friends. Then Nelda had an affair with Ophelia's husband and married him soon after his divorce. Nelda had no children from her previous marriage, was unable to become pregnant, and did not want to adopt any children. Ophelia's daughter was Nelda's one chance to be a mother.

Feeling intense rivalry with her now "ex-best friend," Nelda pressured her husband to move to a new town four hours away by car with no airport nearby. At the same time, through a variety of tactics (discussed in chapter 6, "The Corruption of Reality"), including overindulgence, extravagant promises, and excessive bad-mouthing of the mother, along with the father's cooperation, Nelda manipulated her stepdaughter to ask to move with them. Ophelia initially resisted. But her daughter insisted that she really wanted to move and was angry that her mother was making it

difficult. Against her better judgment, and without legal counsel,

Ophelia caved in to pressure and agreed to the move.

Shortly before Christmas vacation, Ophelia received a letter from her daughter. The girl wrote that she did not want to be forced to see her mother during the Christmas vacation. Her dad and Nelda had scheduled a trip to Disneyland, and she would have to miss it if she spent the vacation with her mother. The vocabulary and sentence structure of the letter made it clear that, although it was in her daughter's handwriting, it was composed by adults. A note from Nelda accompanied the letter. In her note, Nelda self-righteously exhorted Ophelia to place her daughter's interest before her own. Nelda pleaded with Ophelia to allow them to establish themselves as a family before pressing for contact with her daughter. Ophelia took what she thought was the high road, and allowed her daughter to go on the trip to Disneyland instead of seeing her.

When Ophelia was next scheduled to see her daughter, on the girl's birthday, she received another letter. In this letter, her daughter expressed her resentment of what was now being called "forced visitation" and added that, instead of seeing her mother, she wanted to spend her birthday with her family. Nelda and her husband had succeeded in twisting this girl's mind so that she no longer thought of her own mother as part of her family! When I first became acquainted with Ophelia, she had been waiting two years and had still not seen her daughter.

Ophelia's error, as I have emphasized repeatedly, was to wait too long before taking action. Passivity is common among parents who are the target of divorce poison, but it is costly. For reasons that will become clearer in the next chapter, it is crucial to maintain contact with your children when they are expressed to divorce poison.

children when they are exposed to divorce poison.

TAKE ACTION

To deal with a competitive stepparent:

 When you learn of new things that your children have done with their stepparent, or new places where they have gone, let some of these activities be ones that you do not share with the children. The more stepparents feel they have a special place in the lives of the children, the less they feel the need to compete with you.

- Express your appreciation for the stepparent's contributions to your children's welfare and your hope that you can mutually support each other's role with the children.
- If problems persist, suggest that all three parents consult a therapist to help them work together better. In sessions with the remarried couple, the therapist can address some of the underlying factors that fuel the excessive competition.

Competition works both ways. After the remarriage, your ex can support the children's relationship with their stepparent. Or he or she may try to drive a wedge between the children and your new spouse. Ex-spouses who are still single may fear that the children will prefer the two-parent household because it more closely approximates the intact family that was lost with the divorce. Driven by such fear, your ex may attempt to compete by undermining the children's sense of love and security in the remarried household.

Often the ex fears that the children will come to love their stepparent more. This fear is exacerbated if the children begin using terms similar to Mom or Dad when referring to their stepparent. Because younger children are more apt to seek and accept a quasi parent-child relationship with the stepparent, they are particularly at risk for exposure to bashing and brainwashing of the stepparent by your ex. Also, they are more likely to be influenced by your ex's negative programming, because young children are generally more suggestible. Recall the little girl whose father told her that her stepfather was sent by the devil. Even if she did not fully believe this, she did begin to feel uneasy in her stepfather's presence.

Older children may feel more initial reserve and resentment toward a stepparent. Instead of helping the children adjust to the transition, competitive ex-spouses sometimes welcome their children's nascent negative feelings about the stepparent and use these transitional feelings as a foundation for a campaign of alienation. When confronted about their manipulations, such parents will usually reply with some variant of "I can't help the way my child feels about her stepparent, but I'm not going to stop her from expressing her true feelings."

One mother with whom I worked demonstrated how parents can put

their children's interests above their competitive feelings. Patty worked hard to resist strong impulses to disparage her daughter Rachel's stepmother. Through a combination of inadequate legal representation, convincing lies told by her ex-husband, and a bad court verdict, Patty's involvement with Rachel was drastically curtailed. When her ex-husband remarried a week after the divorce became final, he delegated most of the responsibility for raising Rachel to his new wife. Patty naturally resented the fact that another woman was raising the child that she had carried in her womb for nine months and taken care of for five years. Her resentment acted as a filter when it came to evaluating the stepmother's parenting skills. Criticisms came easily; positive thoughts about her rival took decided effort. When Rachel complained to her mother about the stepmother's treatment, Patty felt some secret pleasure—which she kept secret. Though her rivalrous feelings were gratified, she knew that the stepmother was doing a lot for Rachel. And she knew it would not benefit Rachel to develop a bad relationship with her stepmother. So Patty listened to Rachel's complaints but did not respond eagerly. As far as the girl was concerned, bad-mouthing her stepmother was not the way to her mother's heart. Patty set an inspiring example of a woman whose love for her child outweighed strong impulses to engage in destructive criticism.

TAKE ACTION

If your ex is trying to undermine the children's relationship with their stepparent:

- Reassure your ex of the deep attachment that the children feel for him or her, based on the many experiences that formed the foundation of their relationship.
- Ask mutual acquaintances who have themselves navigated the challenges of remarriage to share their experiences with your ex, particularly how the children maintained their strong love for their parents while still getting along well with the stepparent.
- Help the children use different terms of endearment for their stepparent and your ex. Don't threaten your ex's status as the children's "daddy" or "mommy."

The Common Enemy

Remarried families are fragile. Children do not choose their stepparents. And adults do not marry in order to acquire stepchildren. The children merely go along with the deal. It takes time for the new family to get used to each other. It takes time to feel like a family. It is even more of a challenge when each adult brings children from a prior marriage. Small wonder that these types of "blended" families suffer a high rate of divorce.

One way to strengthen family cohesiveness is to unite around a common goal. Unfortunately, bad-mouthing and bashing you may become that goal. It may be the glue that holds the new family together, that gives them the sense of being on the same team.

Even more significant, while everyone is trashing you, they are avoiding all the negative feelings that would inevitably arise among them. As their anger gets channeled into criticisms of the other parent, they distract themselves from problems within their newly constituted family. The underlying motive is to deny the presence of conflict in the new relationship. This protects the couple from the anxiety generated by the prospect of another divorce. In some families, the new partner joins in a campaign of hate as a means of ingratiating himself or herself to the spouse. The basic message is, "Your battles are my battles." Particularly in the early stages of remarriage, the new spouse may find it difficult to take a different position with respect to the ex's character and the type of treatment he or she deserves.

Hal and his second wife, Annette, spent much of their time trashing Hal's first wife, Melinda. The more they did so, the closer they felt. Annette's children joined the chorus of denigration. Hal's son, Josh, couldn't resist participating. At first he felt disloyal to his mother, but he wanted to be accepted by the family, and complaining about his mother seemed to be the price of admission.

Josh had another motive. In a contest between his father and mother, Josh sensed that his father had more power. Although he was not consciously aware of it, Josh feared that the family's criticism could turn on him if he defended his mother. Like most people, Josh wanted to side with the winner. He wasn't in a position to stem the tide of denunciation. So he chose to affiliate with it. Psychologists refer to this strategy as "identifying with the aggressor." It is more popularly known as, "If you can't beat 'em, join 'em."

Uniting against a common enemy has one fatal weakness. When the enemy is vanquished, conflicts usually arise among the former allies. This is what happened in this family. Melinda finally gave up her efforts to counter the trashing and moved to another state. The family had virtually no contact with her. They lost their common enemy. Soon after, conflicts in their own family relationships began to surface. These had been present all along, but they were able to avoid them by making Melinda the target of all their hostility.

Josh's behavior is a good example of a point Dr. Gardner has emphasized in his work on parental alienation syndrome. When a child succumbs to divorce poison, the alienation results from a combination of the parental brainwashing and the child's own contributions. A child in a situation like Josh may join in the campaign of hatred for several reasons. The child may be capitulating to group pressure in order to be accepted within the new family. The child may also be attempting to reduce loyalty conflicts or his discomfort with the remarriage.

TAKE ACTION

Emphasize to your children that it takes courage to withstand group pressure. Let them know that it is healthier to maintain love and respect for all their parents, rather than participate in a campaign of hatred.

A child who feels caught between two homes may feel that the solution to the conflict is to declare a clear allegiance to one household. This motive can result in alienation from either parent. A child who is anxious or angry about the remarriage may channel these feelings into unwarranted hatred of the remarried parent and stepparent. Or the child's alienation may express the disappointment of reconciliation wishes that have been dashed by the remarriage. Regardless of the child's underlying motivation, if the favored parent welcomes the child's allegiance and fails to actively promote the child's affection for the other parent, the child may cling to this maladaptive solution.

CHECKLIST OF MALIGNANT MOTIVES

Just as a proper diagnosis must precede the treatment of an illness, correctly determining motives is the first step in coping with bashing and brainwashing. If you have been the target of vilification, you should be able to identify the perpetrator's motives from the following list. If none of the circumstances, feelings, and personality traits below apply to your situation, then you are probably dealing with something other than bashing and brainwashing. Also, if you have been falsely accused of brainwashing, proving the absence of these motives should improve your chances of establishing your innocence.

- Poor boundaries—failure to recognize the distinction between the parent's thoughts and feelings and the children's needs
- Desire for revenge
- Narcissism—the drive to magnify one's own importance while diminishing the value of the other parent
- Guilt—the attempt to deflect attention from one's own failings as a parent by denigrating the other parent
- Insecurity—the fear that the children will prefer the other parent
- Desire to vent anger about the ex-spouse and have feelings validated by friends without taking steps to protect children from exposure to criticisms of the other parent
- Unwillingness to accept the end of the marital relationship
- Paranoia—unwarranted belief that the other parent is fostering alienation
- History of a poor or absent relationship with at least one parent

- Hostility toward the children—exaggerated efforts to protect the children cover deep-seated antagonism
 Involvement in custody litigation
 Remarriage of one or both ex-spouses

When a prosecutor tries to establish a defendant's guilt, she must show that the accused had the motive and the means to commit the crime. We have finished uncovering the various motives behind the crimes we call bad-mouthing, bashing, and brainwashing. Next we expose the means by which parents manipulate their children's psyches.

CHAPTER 5

THE ALIENATING ENVIRONMENT

Even when your ex-spouse is not consciously trying to turn the children against you, certain conditions, when paired with bad-mouthing and bashing, heighten the risk of this occurring. These are the same conditions that foster indoctrination in cults: isolation, psychological dependence, and fear. These factors may not be essential. But in most cases of unjustified alienation, at least one of these factors is present. They are the soil and nutrients that increase the probability that poisoned messages will take root and crowd out loving memories. In order to maintain or reestablish loving contact with your children, you must protect them from this environment.

Let us take a closer look at how these conditions lay the groundwork for manipulating children's affections. Then, in chapter 6, we will examine the strategies and tactics used by parents within this habitat to twist their children's minds. Chapters 7 and 8 expand on the advice introduced here.

ISOLATION

A precondition of all brainwashing is some degree of isolation of the subject from other sources of support. Sometimes the isolation is complete.

For example, before Patty Hearst's formal indoctrination into the Symbionese Liberation Army, she was kept in a locked closet for several days. She was deprived of contact with any person, including her captors. This disoriented her. It made her more malleable. It made her more receptive to her captors' view of reality. Some religious cults require members to undergo a "disconnecting" process of enforced separation from friends and relatives.

How does this apply to parents intent on poisoning their children's relationship with a target parent? *Isolation makes children more vulnerable to divorce poison*. It does so for two reasons. First, isolation breeds dependence. Second, it prevents exposure to competing views of reality. Isolation removes the child from the influence of people who would counteract the effects of bad-mouthing and bashing.

One common means of achieving isolation is to keep the target from seeing the children. When the parent arrives to pick up the children for a scheduled period of possession, no one is home. Or a parent schedules the children for activities that coincide exactly with the time they are supposed to be with the target. One father scheduled elaborate vacations every time his daughters were to spend extended time with their mother. When the mother objected, the girls became angry with her because she was interfering with their chance to go skiing or to Disney World.

Manipulative parents will also try to restrict children's communication with the other parent and the other parent's relatives. A father who is poisoning his children against their mother, for example, cannot risk allowing them to talk to their maternal grandmother. During such a conversation the children would be apt to repeat the negative messages programmed by the father. Their grandmother would then surely contradict these messages. She would remind the children of how much their mother loved them and provide evidence to support her position.

Alienating parents usually screen telephone calls and let the answering machine take all calls placed by the target. Of course, these calls are never returned. In many cases the children are not even informed of the calls. This can be very effective in promoting alienation. A sixteen-year-old girl told me that her main reason for wanting no contact with her father was that he made no effort to talk with her for a ten-month period following the separation. Although she refused to see him throughout this time, she expected to hear from him. When he did not call, she assumed that he was not genuinely interested in a relationship. This was

exactly what her mother had programmed her to believe. The father, on the other hand, told me that he made numerous attempts to reach his daughter by phone and that his ex had intercepted each of these calls.

Any attempt by the target parent to have contact with the children is generally thwarted. Letters are concealed from the children or returned unopened. Information is withheld about children's illnesses, academic problems and achievements, and important school and extracurricular activities. Basically, the children never learn of the other parent's interest and love. This sets them up to feel rejected by the target and makes them more dependent on the parent doing the bad-mouthing and bashing. As birthdays and holidays pass with no cards or gifts, the children feel unwanted and angry toward the parent who has disappointed them.

As with most psychological problems, alienation is most likely to be alleviated if you do something about it right away. Some therapists routinely advise parents to wait patiently until the child is ready to see them; in most cases this is bad advice. Except in rare circumstances, you should not permit your children to be totally isolated from you. You must act decisively. This does not mean using physical force or creating frightening confrontations. If peaceful means do not work, including therapy, it is time to consult a family law attorney experienced in representing parents in similar situations. When your ex is intent on keeping the children from you, it may take a court order to reunite with your children. As one psychologist, Dr. Mary Lund, put it, "Court orders for continued contact are the cornerstone for treatment" in these cases.

The importance of taking an active stance in the face of isolation tactics has been noted in several studies. In his study of ninety-nine alienated children, Dr. Gardner found that every case in which the court decreased the child's time with the programming parent, resulted in a reduction or elimination of the alienation. By contrast, when the court did not reduce the child's time with the programming, parent, nine out of ten children remained alienated.

The largest study of brainwashed children was published by the American Bar Association. A husband-and-wife research team, Dr. Stanley Clawar and Dr. Brynne Rivlin, found that increasing the child's contact with the alienated parent was the most effective way to reverse alienation. Here is what they reported: "Of the approximately four hundred cases we have seen where the courts have increased the contact with the target parent (and in half of these, over the objection of the children),

there has been positive change in 90 percent of the relationships between the child and the target parent, including the elimination or reduction of many social-psychological, educational, and physical problems that the child presented prior to the modification."

In chapter 7, "Poison Control," you will learn many tactics to counteract divorce poison. But most of these strategies require contact with your children. Some severe cases of alienation may call for another approach. In some families, children reject the parent with whom they spend the most time. In most families, though, the solution to alienation caused by divorce poison begins with renewing contact between the children and the rejected parent.

TAKE ACTION

When your ex is isolating your children, or the children are consistently refusing to see you, be firm about maintaining regular contact and communication with the children; if your efforts to have contact are unsuccessful, propose therapy for the family with a professional who is experienced in helping alienated children; if your ex or the children refuse to participate in therapy, your last resort is to take legal action. See chapter 8 for tips on how to proceed.

RELOCATION

A more extreme tactic is to move with the children to another city, state, or country. Living far apart from your child is bound to strain your tie to each other, even if your ex earnestly supports the relationship. If your ex wants to thwart the relationship, geographical distance will make this much easier to accomplish. When your child moves, you may be saying your final good-byes. Remember Ophelia, whose plight we learned about in the previous chapter? Her daughter moved away with her father and stepmother, Ophelia's former best friend. Following the move, the girl kept making excuses to avoid being with her mother.

With divorce poison at work, absence does not make the heart grow fonder, it makes alienation grow more profound.

Your ex can keep your child apart from you even when you live in close proximity, but relocation magnifies the power to obstruct contact. A parent can simply fail to take the child to the airport, or arrive late and miss the flight, or not have the children at home when the other parent arrives from out of town.

Relocation is not always part of an alienation scheme. The urge to move may be triggered by remarriage, valuable educational and occupational opportunities, the wish to be closer to extended family, or an attempt to get away from a violent, intrusive, or overly controlling exspouse. But in many cases the move is clearly designed to separate the children from their other parent. Even when a compelling reason is given, it may not be genuine. The new job that is touted as a justification for moving may be secondary to the parent's true intent of diluting the strength of the child's relationship with the long-distant parent.

TAKE ACTION

If your ex lacks strong roots in your geographical area (most family, friends, or job opportunities are elsewhere) or has expressed a strong desire to move away, you must act before the divorce is final. Ask your attorney to set in place whatever safeguards are possible to prevent your children from being moved away from you. This may mean a geographical restriction on how far either parent could move with the children, or at least the requirement that you be given ample notice before such a move can take place, so that you can take steps to prevent it. You may have to be a joint custodian in order to reduce the risk of relocation. It is usually easier to prevent a move than to reverse it once the children are already situated in a new home and school.

Some moves are not specifically orchestrated to rupture the child's relationship with the other parent. These parents really do prefer to live somewhere else. But their reasons are not compelling. They do not welcome separating the child from the other parent, but they also are not particularly bothered by it. Essentially, these moving parents fail to appreciate the value of their children's relationship with the other parent.

Thus, when they want to move, they see no drawback to doing so. They don't program their children to hate the other parent, but their words and deeds program the children to regard regular contact with that parent as expendable.

Phyllis dreamed for years of living in Paris. She was so eager to fulfill her ambition that she dismissed all reservations expressed by Peter, her nine-year-old son. While Phyllis rhapsodized about France's fabulous cultural opportunities, Peter despaired at the thought of leaving his father, relatives, friends, school, baseball team, and neighborhood. Contemplating the *Mona Lisa* was a poor substitute for his weekly dinners with his grandmother. His father, who coached the baseball team, would be unable to attend games in Paris, if they even had Little League.

Phyllis denied that she was trying to alienate Peter from his dad. She thought that he should still love and admire his father. But she also wanted to convince him that his father's presence was not an important value when compared to something as exciting as living abroad. Not

surprisingly, the father did not agree.

In court Phyllis testified, honestly, that she was not trying to disrupt Peter's relationship with his father. Her goal was not to keep them apart. The proposed separation was merely a by-product of her wish to pursue her own happiness and fulfillment. And that, her lawyer argued, was enough reason to place five thousand miles between father and son.

Because a happy mother makes for a happy child.

The judge might have rejected such an obvious rationalization were it not for the testimony of a psychologist. This expert witness, brought in by the mother's lawyer, claimed that research studies proved that a mother's happiness was more important to a child's emotional well-being than such factors as the type of contact he had with his father, the stability of his living arrangements, and the familiarity of his environment. If Phyllis's desire to move to France were frustrated, the expert testified, she might become depressed and this would create more problems for Peter. Although the studies he cited did exist, a careful reading of them would not support the conclusions he reached. Unfortunately, the judge was not made aware of the errors in the psychologist's interpretation of the research. In the end the judge allowed Phyllis to move with Peter out of the country. I never learned what happened to Peter's relationship with his father after the move.

Some courts allow a custodial parent to move a child out of the

country even if the court determines that the move conflicts with the child's best interests. Instead of the traditional focus on the child's needs, judges in these courts believe the proper test should focus on the custodial parent's motives. When the court is not convinced that the motives are vindictive, the parent is allowed to move the child away from the noncustodial parent. If Phyllis's case had been heard in one of these courts, she would have prevailed without having to argue that the move was good for Peter.

Relocation means that, at least when school is in session, you will not be an active participant in raising your children. You will be absent from the rhythm and flow of daily routines, negotiations, and accommodations that provide a sense of living together, as opposed to "just visiting." You will miss sharing meals with your children, helping with homework, quizzing them on spelling words, signing report cards, driving them to soccer games, working on science fair projects, reminding them to do chores, enforcing rules, reading them bedtime stories. You will not kiss them good night.

Even if you see your child during the school year, you will try to squeeze two months of living into a three-day weekend. Your child will be entertained. You might have a good time, but it will be mutually frustrating, and it will be heart-wrenching, at the end, to say good-bye, knowing that at least another month will pass before you see each other

again.

As one father told me, "The little pleasures of friendship and affection with a child pop up at any time—they don't follow a schedule. Sarah talks about her delights, her worries, her dreams when they cross her mind—when she's in the middle of playing, or doing chores, or having breakfast—and if a father isn't there, involved in this, he doesn't really

know what's going on."

The loss of yearlong contact with your child certainly changes the complexion of the relationship. If you have the misfortune to face this loss in your child's early years, the damage is more fundamental. Child development experts agree that frequent, face-to-face contacts with your infant are the building blocks of a healthy relationship. When it comes to being a parent, there is no substitute for on-the-job training. It helps you learn how to recognize and respond sensitively to your baby's moods and rhythms. And it helps your baby learn to associate your presence with comfort and pleasure.

In previous work I have emphasized the importance of allowing

infants and toddlers to spend overnights with each parent after divorce. Bedtime rituals, lullabies, stories, snuggling, nighttime comforting, and morning routines all serve to bond parent and child to each other. These experiences form the bedrock of a lifelong relationship. This was brought home by a Stanford University study. The researchers found that divorced parents who cared for infants during the night were much less likely to drop out of their children's lives. I am pleased to report that the consensus of divorce experts is now shifting in the direction of appreciating the unique value of such regular centage.

preciating the unique value of such regular contact.

Young children who move away from a parent lose the opportunity to experience the day-to-day contact that experts regard as the sine qua non of a solidly grounded parent-child relationship. A parent who truly supports the child's relationship with the long-distance parent can help bridge the gap. Women whose husbands are away in the military do this routinely. They talk about Daddy constantly. "When Daddy gets home, he'll take you to the park. That's the doll that Daddy gave you. Let's watch the videotape of Daddy reading you a bedtime story. Here's a picture of Daddy riding you on his shoulders." In this manner they help their children maintain a positive connection to the absent parent. Without such efforts, you have little hope of occupying the space in your child's mind reserved for a parent.

As a virtual stranger to your baby, you will not be able to make up for lost time by spending long periods of time together. A prolonged separation from your ex will stress your infant and make it less likely that your child will associate time with you as a pleasurable experience. Until your child is older, if you don't have regular contact, you may

get to see each other only when you travel to your ex's city.

When children are older, living in separate cities creates other complications. Even if your ex accepts your involvement with the children, the logistics of maintaining a long-distance relationship can be formidable. The task calls for much creativity and flexibility. Check the Resources section for books that offer valuable advice for parents in this situation.

If you travel to your children's hometown and stay at a hotel, you will be better able to fit into the fabric of their lives—attend soccer games, drive them to and from recreational and social activities, attend school events, and visit with teachers. But the experience is a mixed blessing. As you observe the children in their home territory, you will become painfully aware of how much you are missing by living apart from them.

As Miriam Galper Cohen describes in her excellent guide, *Long-Distance Parenting*, "Being in a child's home surroundings gives you a very different experience of your own child. It can be a very sad, touching time for a long-distance parent, yet rewarding in its own way." The drawback is that the children will not be part of your everyday life. If you remarry, the children will miss opportunities to form close relationships with your spouse and their stepsiblings and half-siblings.

TAKE ACTION

When you travel to see your children, bring the certified legal documents that spell out your rights to access. You may need to show these to legal authorities if your ex denies you contact.

If the children travel to your home, contacts will generally be limited to school vacation periods. The children will be out of their usual element. As they become more involved with local friends, they may resent having to travel far from their neighborhood. They may regard trips to your home as unwelcome intrusions in their social and recreational activities. They miss out on athletic events, parties, and other opportunities for socializing and strengthening friendships. Relocation creates a conflict for children between seeing the absent parent and maintaining normal peer activities, a conflict that is usually avoided when the parent lives in close proximity. Vindictive ex-spouses exploit this conflict by reminding the children of how much they are missing when they travel away from home. With older children, it is sometimes difficult to determine how much of their resistance to spending time with a parent is driven by divorce poison and how much is due to the children's genuine preferences.

When the children do make the trip to your home, your relationship will take on a different tone. You won't be involved in their daily life and routines. You won't be supervising homework and chores, setting and enforcing limits, arranging and supervising interactions with peers, and dealing with conflicts. As one divorce study put it, you won't be a "full-service" parent.

Your lack of attendance at school activities may take a toll on your children's school performance. A large U.S. Department of Education study found that the children in grades one through twelve who get

mostly As, enjoy school, and participate in extracurricular events are more likely to have fathers who attended typical school events, such as parent-teacher conferences and concerts. In addition to these benefits, children in grades six through twelve with school-involved fathers were less likely to be suspended, get expelled, or repeat a grade.

Even without such consequences, relocation usually results in a decline in the depth and richness of parent-child relationships. We symbolize this decline by labeling the contacts children have with their nonresidential parent after divorce as "visits," a term that connotes that a person is set apart, in some fundamental way, from others at the same location. A visitor is a guest in the home. The term reflects the reality that, for many children, divorce transforms their relationship with one parent into something less than a normal parent-child relationship. As the children become guests, the visited parent becomes a host who entertains. So many divorced fathers fall into this pattern that the phrase "Disneyland dad" is commonly used to describe the altered relationship.

Whether or not your ex intends it, moving your children far away from you communicates a powerful message. It tells the children that their relationship with you ranks lower than their relationship with the parent who moves. If the intent is to turn the children against you, living far apart brings your ex closer to the goal. It moves you to the periphery of your children's existence. And it isolates the children from benevolent contact with you that could interfere with brainwashing. Remember, with divorce poison at work, absence does not make the heart grow fonder, it makes alienation grow more profound.

TAKE ACTION

If you are powerless to prevent a relocation, and you think your ex will try to obstruct contact with your children, try to get court orders that ensure open lines of communication between you and the children. The local parent may be required to maintain a separate phone line for the children to receive your calls, or maintain (perhaps at your expense) a computer with Internet access for E-mail and video phone calls.

KIDNAPPING

The ultimate exclusionary maneuver is to hide the child from the other parent. More than 350,000 of our nation's children are living with a parent who has abducted them. The National Center for Missing and Exploited Children receives over three million visitors per day at their website (see Resources section).

Brainwashing almost always accompanies kidnapping. As the mother desperately searches for her son, the boy is told that the reason Mom doesn't call is that she no longer cares about him. Sometimes the abducting parent tells the child that they are going on a vacation. The vacation just keeps getting extended. In one headline-grabbing case, a mother located her two daughters eighteen years after their father abducted them. The girls had been told that their mother was dead. When they were finally found, the by then adult children refused to have anything to do with their mother.

TAKE ACTION

Recovering kidnapped children is not for amateurs. The moment of recovery must be handled with care and skill, as must the reunification process. If your ex is concealing your children from you, contact the National Center for Missing and Exploited Children (see Resources section for this and other contacts). There is reason to be optimistic: The agency recovers ninety-three out of one hundred missing children.

Often an abducted child is programmed to believe that her father is dangerous and that she and her mother must hide from him for their own safety. Some parents in this category genuinely believe that their children risk physical or sexual abuse at the hands of the other parent. If they are unsuccessful in convincing the court of the danger, they decide to take the law into their own hands, kidnap their children, and go underground. One study found that mothers were more likely to abduct their children after the court had issued a custody ruling, whereas fathers were more likely to steal children in the absence of a custody order.

Unfortunately, groups exist that encourage, sanction, and facilitate such drastic practices. They help manufacture new identities and provide places to hide. Usually the parents are so focused on their own view of reality that they fail to see how much they are damaging their children. As I discussed in *The Custody Revolution*, it invariably results in trauma. Even when parents have a legitimate concern about their children's welfare, kidnapping is such a terror-filled ordeal that parents must search for a less drastic solution.

I receive many calls from distraught parents, both mothers and fathers, whose children are obviously the victims of very poor custody decisions. No matter how bad off the children were—in one case both children were expressing serious suicidal thoughts—it was never advisable for the parent to abduct the children. That would have merely added to the children's burdens. Fortunately, the parent was able to work through the legal system to make the necessary changes.

If you think your ex might try to steal your children, you must take preventive measures. But first determine whether your fears are realistic. In research sponsored by the U.S. Department of Justice, Dr. Janet Johnston and Dr. Linda Girdner have identified a list of factors associated with a high risk for abduction. Do any of these describe your ex?

- Has hidden your child in the past
- Has made one or more serious threats to abduct your child
- Had a brief, unmarried relationship with you
- Comes from a different country
- · Has no strong emotional or financial ties to your community
- Has recently converted all assets to cash or borrowed large sums
- Has the financial resources to remain in hiding
- Is convinced that you have abused your child
- Is afraid of you because of past violent episodes
- Distrusts and feels victimized by the legal system
- Suffers from psychotic delusions of persecution coupled with a history of violence, substance abuse, or severe mental illness

- Feels betrayed and is preoccupied with getting even
- Is obsessed with the need to reconcile
- Is extremely self-centered, with a strong contempt for authority and the law
- Has relatives and friends who will give physical, emotional, and moral support for an abduction
- Can rely on your children not to reveal the abduction, either because they
 are too young to tell anyone or are sufficiently brainwashed to collude in
 the abduction

If none of these factors describe your ex, a kidnapping is unlikely. The presence of one or more factors heightens the risk, but certainly does not mean that an abduction is inevitable. Nevertheless, it makes sense to take precautions.

If you have good reasons for believing there is a high risk of abduction, you will want the court to issue very clear orders that specify exactly when each parent has authority over the child, and include firm penalties for violation of the orders, such as fines and jail time. It will be important to keep a certified copy of the orders with you at all times. Provide copies to school, day care, and medical personnel, and have one available for baby-sitters. If your ex refuses to return the child, the court orders need to be on hand and easy for law enforcement authorities to interpret.

The child's contact with your ex may need to take place under supervised, tightly restricted conditions when there have been prior abductions or other violations of court orders, or when the consequences of abduction are likely to be most severe, as with an ex who suffers from a serious mental disorder or has a history of violence or substance abuse, or who is a virtual stranger to the child because of lack of prior contact. If the contacts are unsupervised, your ex may be required to report in periodically, or wear the type of electronic transmitter used in cases of house arrest. If consistent with the court order, give teachers, day care attendants, and baby-sitters instructions not to release your child or your child's school records to your ex. Also, you may want the court to order your ex to post a large bond that would be released to you in the event of a kidnapping.

You may also want your attorney to write a letter explaining the criminal penalties for aiding and abetting a felony. You could send this letter to anyone who might support your ex in hiding your child.

If your ex genuinely believes that you are a danger to your child, or that you have abused your child, cooperating with a full investigation of the allegations may be your best hope of allaying such concerns and reducing the likelihood that your ex would think that kidnapping is the only recourse.

If there is a strong risk of your child being removed to another country, special travel restrictions and controls need to be in place. These might include some of the following:

- Getting court orders that require your certified written consent or permission
 of the court before your child can be taken out of state
- Giving copies of the orders to agencies issuing passports and birth certificates, along with a request that they notify you if your ex applies for such documents
- Having the Office of Passport Services of the U.S. Department of State block your child's passport from being issued, or let you know if a passport has already been issued (see Resources section for contact information)
- Flagging your child's passport with a restriction on any travel that does not have certified written authorization from you or the court
- Placing the passports of your child and your ex with a neutral party
- Having your ex post a large bond prior to traveling with your child
- Requiring a foreign ex to get written assurances of passport control from his
 or her embassy before granting unsupervised visitation
- Monitoring airline schedules to your ex's country of origin to allow interception prior to departure from the U.S. or during a scheduled stopover in a country that is a party to the Hague Convention (see Resources)
- Retaining an attorney in your ex's country of origin to petition the foreign court to issue orders that parallel the provisions of the U.S. court orders

STRIPPING

Isolation achieves physical separation. But brainwashing also requires breaking symbolic and emotional connections. This is accomplished through a process that cult scholars call "stripping." People in cultlike religious sects, for example, are often required to dress and wear their hair in a manner that clearly sets them apart from society. (Think of the Moonies.) Books, music, and art that provide exposure to the wider culture are banned.

Parents intent on alienating their children from their ex-partner also engage in a stripping process. They do so by purging their home of any reminders of the other parent. They remove all photographs of the absent parent. Some even go as far as cutting their ex-spouse out of family photos. They avoid mentioning the other parent at times when this would be natural. And they discourage their children from speaking positively about the other parent. This is usually done in a subtle manner. A child begins talking about his father, and the mother withdraws her attention or changes the subject. Before long the child understands, "Mom doesn't want to know that I am thinking about Dad."

When I am evaluating a parent suspected of brainwashing, say a father, I ask, "What do the children tell you about their mother?" If he answers, "They never talk about her," this alerts me to the possibility that such talk is discouraged. It could be that their mother has instructed the children not to talk about what goes on in her home. But if the father believes that the children just aren't interested in talking about what they do with their mother, I become suspicious.

Parents generally want to know about their children's activities. They ask, "What did you do at school, at camp, at the birthday party, at your friend's house?" No part of the children's lives is beyond inquiry. If the one exception is the time they spend with their mother, children quickly learn that their father does not want to hear about it.

When a father genuinely respects the importance of his children's relationship with their mother, he expresses interest in what they do with her. By his attitude he lets his children know that talk about Mom is welcome around him. They are not made to feel that they have to park their thoughts about her at the door before entering Dad's home.

TAKE ACTION

Set a good example for your children by leaving photographs of your ex on display and showing an interest in their life with their other parent. If your ex has stripped the home of reminders of you, give the children a photograph of you and your ex together to take home with them. If your ex destroys the picture, give the children a small picture that they can keep in their possession. It is easier for children to appreciate the irrationality of stripping when they see the other parent acting differently. By taking the high road you let your children know that you accept them as they are without requiring them to conceal their positive feelings for the other parent.

Sometimes the stripping process is quite literal. One mother met her little boy on the doorstep whenever he returned from his father. Each time she went through the same ritual. She took off all of his clothes. Then she placed them in a green plastic garbage sack, which she left on the front porch. When there were leftovers from the lunch his father packed, these too would go in the sack with the clothes. By the time the father received the bag several days later, the food was rotten and the clothes stank. Through this ritual, her son learned that anything associated with his father was unwelcome in his mother's house.

FEAR

This mother's behavior was so extreme that it frightened her son. This, in turn, made him more receptive to her distortions about his father. Fear is usually a precondition to brainwashing. Like isolation, *fear increases psychological dependence on the bad-mouthing and bashing parent*.

When a child observes his mother vent her anger in an irrational, uncontrolled manner, his main concern is to avoid becoming her next target. With the hope that she follows the dictum "The enemy of my enemy is my friend," he will turn on his father as the price he has to pay to stay in her good graces. Not to do so is to risk having her wrath fall on him.

Jill picked up her son from preschool one afternoon. She was still

fuming about an incident that had occurred earlier in the day with the boy's paternal grandmother. Jill had demanded that her ex-mother-in-law give her household objects to which Jill was clearly not entitled. The mother-in-law, who had already been extremely generous with her time and money on behalf of her grandchildren, refused to comply with Jill's latest demands. On the way home from the preschool Jill called her ex-mother-in-law on her car phone. With her little boy sitting beside her, she began ranting. She called his grandmother a "greedy cunt" and screamed into the phone, "I hope you die a lonely old woman." After the tirade Jill turned to her son and said, "Grandma is a mean old witch. Right?"

How was he to respond? He correctly perceived that his mother was out of control. He had just witnessed her verbal assault on a grown-up who refused to see things her way. Although he adored his grandma, he certainly was not going to contradict his mother while she was in this state. His safest option was to join in his mother's hatred.

Jill lacked the maturity or the commitment to her children's welfare to consider what effect her tantrums were having on them. Although she did not see the connection, most people would have no trouble understanding why, shortly after this incident, her son began misbehaving and having tantrums of his own. Or why her daughter faced a dilemma when completing a routine school assignment. She was given a sentence completion exercise in which one of the sentence stems was, "The person I most admire is..." She automatically began to complete the sentence with, "Grandma." But then she changed her mind and wrote "Mom and Dad" over the "Gra—." One can imagine the mental gymnastics she went through responding to this one simple task. She could not afford to alienate her mother by revealing positive feelings for the hated ex-mother-in-law. But she also did not want to show a preference for her mother over her father. Her response was the safest she could think of at the moment. This is just one example of how parents' attempts to alienate children's affection for others permeate the children's lives.

A five-year-old girl faced the same dilemma. She figured out a unique solution to the conflict between her wish to be loyal to her mother and her love for her grandmother, whom she knew her mother hated. She told her grandmother "I hate you," and then added that whatever she said was the opposite of the truth. With this clever device, the girl could simultaneously gratify the need to align with her mother and express her love to her grandmother.

TAKE ACTION

Consider encouraging the children to ask their other parent to stop bad-mouthing you in front of them. This is best done when the other parent is calm and in a good mood. If your children tend to be overly anxious and fearful, you might not want to do this. If your ex is liable to punish the children for even this mild act of self-assertion, let the children know that you understand and accept why they want to remain silent in the face of their parent's anger toward you. Some bad-mouthing parents will inhibit destructive criticism when they hear directly from their children about how uncomfortable this makes them. Expressing feelings forthrightly will also enhance your children's self-esteem.

If your children are physically isolated from you and psychologically dependent on a vindictive ex, the chances of preventing or reversing alienation are slim. Any plan to counteract the bashing and brainwashing must place a priority on physically reuniting the children with the estranged parent. This must be done in a thoughtful manner, carefully safeguarding the children's welfare. But as long as the children are exclusively dependent on the parent doing the bad-mouthing and bashing, there is little hope that they will be able to resist the mental manipulation maneuvers that we are now ready to examine.

CHAPTER 6

THE CORRUPTION OF REALITY

You've got to be taught to hate and fear.

—OSCAR HAMMERSTEIN II, SOUTH PACIFIC

Isolation, psychological dependence, and fear set the stage on which psychological manipulation occurs. Within this setting, parents use specific strategies and techniques to warp the child's mind against a loved one. Understanding these maneuvers is the key to designing an effective response to bad-mouthing, bashing, and brainwashing. This chapter exposes the most common ploys used to coerce children into rejecting parents and grandparents.

THE NAME GAME

Parents will frequently manipulate names in a particular manner in order to disrupt children's identification with the target. I have seen three different tactics used. What all three have in common is that, when successful, they change the way children relate to the target.

Pejorative Labeling

Cult leaders understand the power of language. They refer to the wider culture in pejorative terms, such as "infidels," and thus reinforce the sense of "us" versus "them." Racial hatred is propagated by the same method. Epithets are spoken in a derisive tone and context, conveying the message that "those people" are bad, inferior, to be avoided. Use a racial slur enough times and children will soon follow the example. The offensive word becomes part of their vocabulary. And without thinking, they absorb the hatred tied to the label. This is how we convert innocent children into racists. It is also how we turn them against formerly loved parents and their families.

Vindictive parents begin this process by letting the children overhear them refer to the target parent or grandparent only in derogatory terms. A parent may, for example, refer to the former mother-in-law, the children's grandmother, as a "witch." Next, the children are manipulated into using the term themselves. The parent shows approval when the children follow the example. This will result in more frequent use of the term because children strive for their parents' acceptance. Over time the derision will come to seem natural and justified. When children hear their grandmother referred to disrespectfully, and are encouraged to do the same, or are not discouraged from speaking disrespectfully themselves, they will lose respect for her. Contemptuousness replaces love. After associating Granny with the label "witch," their minds are tricked into thinking that somewhere along the line they decided for themselves that their grandmother was bad. The children lose sight of the origin of the derogation. They forget that it was not based on a realistic assessment of Granny but was merely their mother's expression of her own irrational anger.

For about a year Jill, whom we met in the last chapter, was successful in undermining the strength of her children's love for their grandmother. They became more reserved and less affectionate around Granny. They never actually believed she was a witch. They just thought she was greedy, difficult, and someone to be avoided.

In some cases, though, children are convinced that a formerly loved relative has become the incarnation of evil. This occurred in an American family living in the Middle East. A fanatically religious father successfully brainwashed his four children into sharing his belief that their mother was the devil. This was how the father rationalized his brutal battering of

his wife. For this disturbed man it was literally the defense of "the devil made me do it." After his wife finally fled from him, he refused to permit her any contact with the children. (Unfortunately, that country's law was on his side in this matter.) Without her presence to counteract their father's views, the children succumbed to the brainwashing and regarded their mother as the devil. After monumental efforts the mother succeeded in reuniting with three of her children. Over time they relinquished their belief that she was the devil, but a legacy of distrust lasted a good portion of their childhood.

TAKE ACTION

If you are the victim of pejorative labeling, let the children know right away that you disapprove of such behavior. Help them understand the name-calling, and remind them that they have always been taught to be polite to others and that this certainly applies to their parents and other relatives. One mother told her children, "Daddy is very angry with me and that is why he is calling me names. But you know, deep down in your heart, that it is wrong to call people names, even when you're angry with them. We can't stop Daddy from doing this, but I want you to be clear in your mind that when he does this, he is making a big mistake. Remember that Daddy and I always taught you not to call people names and to respect your elders." The children know that the alienating parent's behavior is wrong. By addressing name-calling directly, you validate the children's judgment, help them cope with it, and neutralize its destructive potential. Instead of being brainwashed by pejorative labels, the children will dismiss name-calling as an attempt to manipulate their feelings.

On a First-Name Basis

Using pejorative terms is an obvious, heavy-handed way to undermine children's respect for a parent. Many divorced parents find a more subtle way to accomplish the same result. When talking to their children they

simply refer to the other parent by his or her first name. Instead of telling the children, "Your mother is on the phone," a father says, "Gloria wants to talk to you." Or "Is *Amy* coming to your basketball game?"

At first when parents use this ploy children are puzzled. In most families, children are encouraged to use some variation of "Mommy" and "Daddy." They go through a brief period in early childhood when they become aware that others address their parents by first name and they experiment by doing so themselves, usually in a playful manner. But they quickly revert to the familiar terms reserved for parents. (I recognize that in some families children routinely refer to their parents by first name. I believe this represents a misguided attempt at egalitarianism, but obviously the following discussion does not apply to such families.)

The way we address people reflects something about the type of relationship we have with them, or at least would like to have. She is Susie to her cousins, Susan to her employees, and Ms. Rosenberg to the telephone solicitor.

So what is accomplished when a father begins referring to the mother by her first name when talking to their children? First, this practice suggests to the children that, in Dad's mind, their mother no longer has the status of a parent. The relationship has changed in some significant manner. In essence the message is "Since my relationship with Mom has changed, so must yours." This is directly opposite to what mental health experts usually advise: Divorcing parents are told to emphasize to the children that divorce is between the grown-ups and not between parent and child.

Second, the father is also encouraging a change in the children's relationship with him. He is attempting to obscure the normal psychological boundaries between a parent and child. He talks to them about their mother the way he would talk to an adult friend. The implication is that they are his peers when it comes to discussing his ex-wife. Though his children might enjoy such camaraderie and the implied elevation of their status, they pay a heavy price for this promotion.

Third, addressing Mom by her first name implies that she no longer commands the respect implicit in the title "Mommy." With this loss of respect comes a loss of authority. Somehow it is easier to talk back to Amy than to Mom. Again, though some children are eager to sign on with the new "first name" policy, they lose a lot by doing so.

Some parents are not as subtle in their attempts to manipulate the

children into discarding the label "Mom" or "Dad." Rather than merely encourage the practice, they insist on it. These parents are usually remarried. They require the children to refer to their other parent by first name because they want the more familiar title, Mom or Dad, to be reserved for the stepparent. One little girl said that her mother would not serve her dinner unless she called her stepfather Daddy and referred to her father by his first name. A boy told his mother that when he forgot to call his stepmother Mom, she simply ignored him. His father confirmed that this was the family policy. He thought this was reasonable because, he said, it was awkward for his new wife's son to call her Mom while his own son did not do the same. While this explanation has a certain surface plausibility, millions of remarried fathers face the same issue and are able to find a solution that does not require children to repudiate their relationship with their mother.

TAKE ACTION

If your children begin addressing you by your first name, put a stop to it immediately. If you tolerate an occasional use of your first name by children who are subjected to divorce poison, the practice will become habitual. Tell them that you expect to be called Mom or Dad just as they have always done and just as every other boy and girl they know does with their parents. Reminding them about what is normal among their friends will help them appreciate the inappropriateness of calling you by your first name. Also, it may help motivate them to comply, because most children want to fit in with their peers. If your ex persists in undermining your status in this manner, try to involve your ex in joint therapy, either voluntarily or by order of the court.

Child Aliases

If it is puzzling to children to begin calling a parent by another name, imagine their confusion when they are required to begin calling themselves by a different name. This happens surprisingly often in cases of parental alienation.

Kidnapping parents often create aliases for their children in order to elude capture. But even when they are not hiding, some divorced parents change children's names. In most of these cases, the mother wants the children to share her last name. If she is remarried, she wants them to take the name of their stepfather; if she is not remarried, she wants them to use her maiden name.

In all the cases I have seen, the mother has never explained to the children that she is changing their name or why she is doing so. She merely begins using the name she prefers in all situations. Doctors' receptionists are told to cross out the old name and substitute the new one. School registrations are made in the new name. Older children may learn of the change on the first day of school when the teacher calls the roll for the first time or confronts the child with the discrepancy between the name as the child wrote it and the way it appears on the teacher's records.

Parents who engage in this practice are usually oblivious to the impact on the children. Their main intent is to eradicate traces of their own former connection to the ex-spouse. The name change also expresses a depreciation of the child's tie to the other parent. These parents fail to consider the children's feelings about being different from all their friends who do share their father's last name.

Child aliases also extend to first names. Fathers as well as mothers play this version of the name game. I have seen fathers who resented the association of a child's first name with the mother or her family. In one case the mother was a graduate of St. Anne's Academy, an exclusive prep school. The girls at St. Anne's were affectionately known as "Annies." Because the father and mother first met each other at the annual "Annie" ball, when they had their first child they named her Annie. Three years later, when the marriage was over, and the father wanted nothing to do with his ex-wife, he stopped referring to his daughter as Annie and instead began using her middle name. Although under oath the father denied doing so, the mother's attorney introduced pictures the little girl had drawn, on which the father wrote only her middle and last names. Even more conclusive were the copies of the father's income tax returns, where he omitted his child's legal first name.

I know of a few families in which young children suffer the confusion of having each parent refer to them with a different name. When these children leave one home and return to the other, it takes them a while to get used to the alternate name. Some parents are so caught up in their battle with their ex that they lose patience when their children fail to respond to the preferred name.

TAKE ACTION

If you object to your child using a different name, register your objections as soon as possible. Your attorney may need to write letters to your child's school and doctors explaining the necessity of using the correct legal name. The longer an alias is used, the more likely a court is to allow it to continue. Since it is not usually a child's idea to use a different name, it is best for the adults to handle the dispute without pressuring the child to take sides in the dispute. In most cases, the conflict over the child's name is more destructive than any particular outcome of the conflict. The real issue is not the name but what it symbolizes to each parent. To spare your child distress, consider a compromise, such as allowing your child to use two last names.

Stephanie, an alienated Canadian teen, expressed her hatred for her father by severing all ties with him. She and her mother stripped the home of any reminders of the father. She changed her last name to her mother's maiden name. When her mother told her that the name Stephanie was originally her father's preference, she invented a new first name. She began calling herself Rainbow.

The girl's therapist, who zealously championed her patient's right to disown her father, supported this charade. She congratulated the girl for asserting her independence. She used the new first and last names in her official notes and reports. And, at the depth of offensive thoughtlessness, she insulted the father by using Stephanie's alias in correspondence with him, knowing full well that the name change was designed to repudiate him. This is an example of how bystanders can contribute to alienation, even therapists, if they undertake treatment with an inadequate understanding of divorce poison.

In Stephanie's case, as her therapy continued, her hold on reality slipped. She began to suffer from hallucinations directly related to her irrational alienation, and she eventually required psychiatric hospitalization. In the end, Stephanie's alienation not only cost her mentally and emotionally, it cost her financially: When it was clear that his daughter would have nothing to do with him, her wealthy grieving father wrote the girl out of his will.

REPETITION

Jill's children did not start calling their grandmother a witch the very first time their mother used this put-down. But when they heard the word used many times, it began to seem natural.

Repetition of desired messages is common to all forms of indoctrination. The more we hear an idea or a word, the more familiar it becomes. When children have heard their grandmother referred to as a witch for several months, it is a shorter mental leap to begin thinking of her as basically bad and undesirable. We come to assume that there must be some truth behind an idea, merely because it is repeated so often. This is a common tactic of politicians and propagandists. In fact, parental brainwashing can be thought of as propaganda in the home.

Repetition also helps embed messages in memory. This is the principle behind rote drill. Repeat the multiplication tables enough times and they become second nature. If a false impression—an unjustified denigration of a parent or grandparent—is repeated enough times, it too can become second nature. And ultimately it becomes indistinguishable from beliefs based in reality.

Recall the research discussed in chapter 3 in which Cornell University researchers demonstrated how easy it is to implant false memories in young children. What they found is that repetition is a key element in convincing children that they have experienced bad events that never actually occurred. If children can be led to believe that a parent has grossly mistreated them, alienation of affection is a predictable outcome.

TAKE ACTION

If your ex repeats false negative messages about you, take action before the negative messages take root. Help your children protect themselves against brainwashing by explicitly identifying

how repetition works to create false perceptions. Repetition is a potent manipulation tactic. If your children are alerted to its use, they will be better able to resist its influence. A father told his son, "Sometimes when children hear the same bad thing about a parent over and over, they make the mistake of thinking that the bad thing is true, even though they knew from the start that it wasn't true. I know Mommy keeps saying that I'm mean and that I don't care about you, but just because she says it a lot doesn't make it true. Don't you be fooled."

SELECTIVE ATTENTION

At first glance it seems a formidable task to transform a child's love for a parent into hatred and derision. After all, what greater love is there than the love between child and parent? What is it that allows such a drastic transformation to occur? In a word: ambivalence. Parents intent on fostering alienation of affection rely on their children's ambivalence as their most powerful ally.

All child-parent relationships are fraught with ambivalence, mixed feelings, conflict. Even the most nurturing and gratifying parents frequently disappoint their children. Consider how often we tell children that they may not have what they want or do what they want. In the eyes of our children we comfort and satisfy, but we also frustrate, deprive, and at times frighten.

Parents who promote alienation capitalize on this ambivalence. It makes their job easier. Rather than topple an idealized parent off a pedestal, they merely need to highlight the cracks in the pedestal—cracks formed by the accumulation of past disappointments. They take every opportunity to focus their child's attention on traits and behaviors of the other parent that the child dislikes. Little if anything positive is ever said about the target. Eventually negative perceptions, feelings, and memories crowd out the positive. The child reacts to the target parent as if he or she is all, or mainly, bad. Without favorable memories and perceptions to balance the ledger, the child succumbs to alienation. The parent who formerly was ambivalently loved is now hated.

Selective attention is a potent image-shaping tool. If a child attends only to things that make a parent look bad, eventually negative perceptions, feelings, and memories will crowd out the positive.

The movie *Hook* provides a good example of this process. The evil pirate Captain Hook reminds the little boy that his father missed his most important baseball game because he was working at the office. Hook taps into all the child's resentments and disillusionments to persuade the boy that his father doesn't truly love him.

Psychologists call this technique "selective attention." It is the stockin-trade of skilled magicians, salesmen, politicians, and lawyers. The magician directs our attention to his left hand while he reaches in his pocket with his right hand. We see only what he wants us to see. The salesman extols the virtues of his product while overlooking its drawbacks. The politician focuses the spotlight on the opposing candidate's worst mistakes, hoping that these low points will define the opponent's image in the public eye.

As a participant in custody trials I have held a ringside seat watching attorneys practice the art of selective attention. They introduce only the facts that support their client's position. They don't pursue the "whole truth" but only that portion of the truth which will further their case. When I am being cross-examined, the lawyer wants to control my testimony so that I say only things that support the position the lawyer is arguing. To do so, she or he attempts to restrict my answers to yes or no. If I try to explain myself or elaborate an answer, the lawyer interrupts: "Objection, the witness is being nonresponsive." In fact, trial lawyers are taught to refrain from asking any question whose answer they cannot anticipate. The reason for this practice is to avoid the possibility that testimony will be elicited that directs the court's attention to facts that the attorney would prefer that the court overlook.

Selective attention is a potent image-shaping tool. It helps racists maintain their bigotry. They listen to the evening news, for example, and selectively attend to crimes committed by members of the hated race. They pay no attention to announcements that do not support their preconceived opinions. Significant accomplishments by members of the hated race go unnoticed, as do crimes committed by people of the same

race as the racist. The result is a self-perpetuating prejudice that filters out information that might correct distortions.

Indeed, selective attention is a gatekeeper that allows only material that conforms to the program to enter consciousness. If the program is "Don't love your other parent," everything that makes that parent look bad is welcomed; everything that opposes the program is rejected.

TAKE ACTION

Teach your children about how selective attention is used to manipulate thoughts.

- Begin with familiar situations that are far removed from divorce poison. Television commercials for toys suit this purpose. Point out how the commercial presents the toy in the best possible light. It uses special effects and additional props to make the toy appear more elaborate than it is, while the fine print at the bottom of the screen discloses that the toy's movements are simulated. Or the announcer discloses in rapid-fire speech that assembly is required, or batteries are not included. You might tell the children about a time when you bought something that subsequently disappointed you because you failed to pay attention to the drawbacks. Make a game of challenging the children to find examples of selective attention in advertisements.
- Next show how selective attention can be used to devalue a person. Again, use examples that are familiar to your children, such as sports: If we judged a baseball player only by his errors, we would have a distorted picture of his abilities.
- After laying the previous groundwork, relate selective attention personally to your children. Ask them how they would feel if their teacher judged their ability based only on their lowest test grade. Remind them of

a time when they did something bad, mean, or cruel. Explain that if you judged them only on the basis of those behaviors, you would have a negative view of them that ignored all their good points. My oldest grandson, Aaron, was ready to label himself "clumsy" after he broke two glasses in two days. I reminded him of all the years he did not break things in our home when, as an infant and toddler, more accidents would have been expected. He actually had a great record—only two broken glasses in three years. If he attended only to the recent mishaps, he would develop a warped view of himself. The underlying message is "No one is perfect," a good principle for all children to learn.

- Finally, relate the child's understanding of selective attention to your ex's bad-mouthing and bashing. Explain your concern that if they only hear about and think about your bad points and mistakes, they will forget all the good things about you.
- It is important to use good timing in following these steps. It is
 usually best to spread out this process over several conversations
 rather than do it all at once. Try to strike a balance between this
 type of conversation and interaction with your children that is
 enjoyable and gratifying.

Along with the focus on negative qualities is the total absence of attention to the target's positive attributes. Every time his child mentions something Mommy has done for her that exhibits good and loving parenting, a father changes the subject. A woman who was trying to alienate her children from their paternal grandparents had to downplay their significant contributions to the children's welfare. When she did not actively disparage their efforts, she simply ignored them. For example, the grandparents took the initiative to inculcate a love of music in the children. They rented and bought musical instruments, located good

teachers, and scheduled, paid for, and transported the children to and from their lessons. Not only did the mother fail to express any appreciation for all of this, she never asked the children about their lessons, and never even discussed the fact that they were learning how to play music. When the children played in school concerts, the mother deprived the grandparents of the joy of seeing the fruits of their efforts by neglecting to inform them about the events. Through such omissions she hoped that her children's feelings about their grandparents would fail to reflect their numerous acts of kindness and caring. Fortunately, using some of the strategies discussed in this book, the grandparents were able to help the children understand and resist the divorce poison. In the end the children were more perceptive than their mother anticipated, and her efforts backfired.

Some parents will use selective attention in a subtle way that makes it harder for children to realize what is happening. Instead of saying negative things about the other parent, they merely ask questions that are calculated to draw attention to the other parent's lapses. While braiding her daughter's hair, a mother asked, "Does Daddy do this for you?" This and similar questions repeatedly drew the girl's attention to all the things her father did not do for her. After a while she came to believe that Daddy did not care about her as much as Mommy. Of course, her mother never asked what her father did do for her or with her. Another example is the father who knew his ex-wife was struggling financially. While doling out allowance to his children this father asked, in an innocent tone, "Do you get allowance from Mom too?"

Such comparisons are constantly being made by bad-mouthing and bashing parents. It is the flip side of selective attention. The target parent is seen through a negative lens, while the children's attention is directed to only positive aspects of the bad-mouthing parent. During interviews these children embrace a polarized view of their parents: they find it difficult to think of anything bad to say about one parent, and have equal difficulty saying anything good about the other. Lack of ambivalence is a hallmark of alienation. I often wonder how parents engaged in bashing explain the fact that they fell in love with, married, and had children with people who are so utterly lacking in any redeeming qualities. They seem unaware of the common observation that the mates we choose reveal much about our own personalities and emotional needs.

TAKE ACTION

If your children view your ex as all good and you as all bad, try to help them understand that ambivalence in relationships is normal. Explain that everyone has good and bad points, and that parents and children don't stop loving each other just because they are not perfectly good all the time. Gently remind them of some of the negative things their other parent has done and explain that these do not wipe out all the good that parent has done. Don't let your anger keep you from thinking of your ex's good points; in most cases the alienating parent has done many things over the years on behalf of the children. If your children grasp the concepts that no one is perfect and that it is okay to have mixed feelings about people you love, they will be less apt to view you in an entirely negative light.

Incidentally, mental health experts, even those appointed by the courts, are not immune to selective attention. When a custody evaluator writes a report, lawyers look to see if the criticisms of each parent are balanced by a discussion of each parent's assets. A report that fails to say anything good about a parent (other than that they love their children) is strongly suspected of being biased. Very often when I am asked to give a second opinion on a custody evaluation I detect more subtle signs of selective attention. For example, the examiner may cite only the psychological test results that support his or her conclusions and ignore test results that are incompatible with the conclusions.

JUDGING BEHAVIOR OUT OF CONTEXT

We can thank Sigmund Freud for helping us appreciate that things are not always as they seem. This is especially true when we judge someone's behavior without knowing the full context in which the behavior occurred. It is easy to draw wrong conclusions. A brainwashing parent takes advantage of this to persuade the children that their other parent has acted without regard for their welfare.

A common maneuver is to put an ex on the spot by asking for money

or other favors in front of the children. The parent looks bad if he or she turns down the request. The children are told, "Sorry, I can't buy you that because Daddy wouldn't give me the money" or "We can't go to the circus because Mommy won't let you stay an extra day." If the children appreciated the full context of the request, they would understand why it was refused. The mother may be getting a sizable child support check to cover expenses. The father may have told the children he would take them to the circus on a day he knew would interfere with the mother's plans. But, taken out of context, a parent's behavior can appear unnecessarily neglectful or depriving.

Judy and Kent agreed that they would move their family to allow Kent to pursue his education and then relocate again to allow Judy to continue her graduate education. When Judy's turn came she moved to the new city first to begin her studies and locate a home for the family. The understanding was that the rest of the family would soon join her. During this time Kent engaged in a series of behaviors that convinced Judy that their marriage had to end. When she filed for di-

vorce, he filed for sole custody of their three children.

While the suit was pending, Kent began a campaign to alienate the children. He programmed the children to believe that their mother had abandoned them and that her education was more important to her than her children. He did this by discussing Judy's behavior without giving the context or the reasons for her actions. First the setup: "Didn't Mommy move away?" And "She didn't take you with her, did she?" The children agreed. Then the dropping of context: "That means that Mommy cares more about going to school than she does about us. I'm sorry for you kids, but your Mom just moved away on her own and abandoned her family." Without more information the children were unable to provide an alternative to their father's explanation.

By the time Judy heard these accusations and tried to defend herself, the children were not receptive. It was too late. They had already been successfully programmed. They blamed her for the divorce and their anger fueled their alienation. Their refusal to consider her point of view was in part their way of punishing her for the divorce. As Dr. Gardner observed, children's motivations often contribute to the alienation.

After a while, Kent came to believe his own misrepresentations. Like many in his position, he was surprised when his elaborate stories, which worked on his vulnerable children, failed to impress the judge. After real-

izing that he could not prevail in court, Kent offered to settle the custody dispute. The two younger children ended up spending enough time with their mother that she was able to use some of the ideas presented in the next chapter to reverse their alienation. Unfortunately, her older son was so identified with his father and his alienation was so entrenched that he has yet to recover affectionate feelings for his mother.

One fairly common scenario of context-dropping does often mislead courts and professional evaluators. In this situation the target parent, standing by helplessly as the breach with the children widens, and feeling powerless to stop the process, loses his or her temper in a moment of utter frustration. The target may yell at the children, or curse the other parent in front of the children, or act in some other frightening and uncharacteristic manner. The brainwashing parent then claims that this incident is representative of the target's usual behavior and accounts for the children's alienation. He or she ignores the fact that the alienation preceded the incident and contributed to, rather than resulted from, the target's behavior.

When dealing with physical brutality directed against children, sexual abuse, or repeated acts of domestic violence, legal and mental health professionals are clear that the perpetrator owns primary responsibility for the problem. The spouse may need to learn to be more assertive and protect the children, but we would not hold the spouse equally responsible for the abuse. Similarly, we should not be too quick to blame the rejected parent for his or her ineffective reactions to divorce poison. And we should certainly not confuse these *responses* to alienation with the initial *causes* of the disturbance. This type of confusion, unfortunately, is common among legal and mental health professionals.

Johanna's nine-year-old son and eleven-year-old daughter began acting belligerently and saying they didn't want to be forced to see her. The children's father enlisted their allegiance by taking a lax attitude toward homework and chores and sympathizing with their complaints about Johanna's more structured, authoritative approach. This devoted mother now found herself the target of malicious accusations. As her relationship with her children deteriorated, Johanna became depressed. She sought advice from a therapist who did not understand parentchild alienation. The therapist assumed from the outset that there must be a rational basis for the children's rejection. He prescribed a parenting skills class. Johanna's ex-husband poured salt on the wound by asking the court to suspend her contact with her children pending the results of a family

evaluation. He also wanted Johanna to pay child support for the children she was not allowed to see.

By the time Johanna had her first interview with the court-appointed social worker, she was desperate and distraught. Her patience taxed beyond its limit, Johanna came across as angry, hysterical, and unstable. She reviled her ex-husband and the judicial system that threatened to deprive her of her children. She did not make a good impression on the evaluator. Failing to put herself in Johanna's shoes, the social worker thought, "No wonder these children don't want to be with her." The final report recommended that Johanna seek treatment to improve her parenting skills before the court allow her to spend time with the children.

Johanna's experience is all too common. To protect yourself from a similar fate you must learn all that you can about the behavior of alienated children and about how you can best respond to it.

TAKE ACTION

Target parents must exercise self-restraint. When you know that your ex wants to make you look bad, don't make it easier. Expect no mercy when you are the target of a hate campaign. When you give in to anger and frustration, your behavior will be taken out of context, and will provide ammunition for a campaign of hatred. Your ex will put a spotlight on your mistakes, claim that this is typical of your behavior, and cite this as the reason for your children's alienation. Your ex's contributions to alienation may then be overlooked or minimized.

To help avoid losing your temper in response to your child's rejection, remind yourself that this would be playing into the hands of your ex. Instead, channel your anger into devising an effective response to brainwashing. If you must blow off steam, find a friend to listen, not your ex or your children. Remember, no parent ever softened a child's heart by treating her harshly.

Sometimes a parent deliberately provokes a scene in order to produce evidence that can be used during custody litigation. The stage is set ahead of time with witnesses on hand and a video camera in place. Dan was a victim of such a plot. His ex-wife, Marsha, moved across the country primarily to limit Dan's contact with their two sons, ages eight and ten. The court granted Dan access to his children, making him responsible for scheduling and paying for flights and Marsha re-

sponsible for getting the boys to the airport and on the plane.

Twice Dan arranged flights and scheduled days off from work in anticipation of spending time with his sons. And both times Marsha sabotaged his plans by failing to take the boys to the airport. Rather than inform him ahead of time, she let Dan drive to the airport and wait expectantly at the gate, only to be crestfallen as the last passenger exited, with no sign of the boys. Dan worked for a company that required employees to schedule vacation time in advance with no last-minute changes allowed. So both times Dan used up vacation days without being able to spend the time with his sons. He also had to pay fees to the airlines to change the tickets.

When he called Marsha to rearrange the trip, she told him that in her opinion the boys were too young to fly unaccompanied by an adult and that if he wanted to see them he would have to come get them himself. Dan weighed his options. He could file a motion for contempt of the court orders. But this would cost a lot of money and take a lot of time. In the meantime he would not see his children. And there was no guarantee that he would prevail in court. Instead he decided that it would be easier and less expensive to comply with Marsha's demand. With his money tight, and confident that the boys would make their flights now that he was escorting them, he purchased nonrefundable, nonexchangeable tickets.

He took off from work and traveled across the country. When he arrived at Marsha's house she came to the door and said, "I'm sorry. The boys are not feeling well and can't travel. You'll have to visit them some other time." Then she slammed the door in his face.

Dan was outraged. He pounded on the front door demanding to see his sons. In the process a small glass pane in the door cracked. Marsha began screaming, which could be heard from outside the house by way of a side window she conveniently left open.

Earlier in the day Marsha told an unsuspecting neighbor that her violent ex-husband had threatened to snatch the children that afternoon. She asked her neighbor to please be alert to any disturbances and call 911 if necessary. The neighbor did so. The police arrived and filed charges against Dan.

Marsha used this episode to convince her children that their father had become dangerous. She also used it as ammunition in a court battle to further restrict Dan's parental rights. Dan thought the court would sympathize with his side of the story. What he did not know was that Marsha had someone videotape the incident. The tape showed a fist-clenched Dan banging on the door and yelling, "I want my children. You can't keep them from me!" Even Dan had to admit that he looked scary.

You may have watched trials on television and heard an attorney object to a picture being entered into evidence on the grounds that it is "prejudicial." Now you know why. The concern is that a picture does not present the full context of the event it depicts; thus it may stir up strong emotions that interfere with a more objective appraisal of the defendant.

The neighbor appeared in court on Marsha's behalf. Knowing nothing about Dan other than the scene she had witnessed, she testified honestly that she would never leave her own children alone with a man like Dan.

Marsha also brought into the courtroom not a photograph of a cracked glass pane but a plastic bowl filled with broken pieces of glass, which she claimed resulted from Dan punching his fist through the glass. Thank God, she testified, the flying pieces of glass missed her children's eyes.

Dan's attempt to defend himself backfired because it made him appear to be minimizing his outburst. He explained that he was normally a patient and gentle man with no history of violence. The incident was a singular and momentary lapse of good judgment in response to overwhelming provocation. And the glass pane cracked accidentally from the vibrations caused by the banging on the door; he was not so out of control that he would have punched the glass.

Nevertheless, the tape, the neighbor's eyewitness testimony, the pieces of shattered glass, Marsha's testimony, and the criminal charges all combined to make a powerful case against Dan. The judge feared for the children's welfare and preferred to err on the side of safety. In a ruling that played right into Marsha's hands, he ordered that Dan could only see his sons under strict supervision. The supervisor's presence was a constant message to the boys that the judge agreed with Mom that Dad was too dangerous to be entrusted with their care. Unfortunately, I don't know the long-term outcome of this case. When I last spoke with Dan he despaired of ever repairing his relationship with his sons.

Often a target parent reacts to a campaign of vilification by indulging the children. Wanting to avoid their rejection, he tries to make their time with him as rewarding as possible. He will relax the usual limits, perhaps giving in to a child's demand to watch an R-rated movie, stay up too late, or engage in a marginally dangerous activity. The other parent then cites the excessive permissiveness as proof of poor parenting ability. I have seen many cases in which mental health professionals failed to recognize the bind in which the target parent finds himself. When the target's context is taken into account, often his indulgent behavior appears more understandable and less pathological.

Before rushing to the judgment that a rejected parent's behavior is directly responsible for the children's estrangement, we should place it in the following context. Making mistakes as a parent or grandparent (absent a pattern of gross negligence or abuse) does not normally result in children's hatred and does not mean we are unworthy of their love or companionship. If all parents who ever lost their tempers or overindulged their children were to be judged as unfit parents, every child

would become a ward of the state.

EXAGGERATION

Selective attention and context dropping both involve focusing on certain aspects of reality while excluding others. Many times parents will actually depart from reality by exaggerating the target's behavior. A shove becomes a violent attack. A parent who is three days late on a child support payment is a "deadbeat." A father whose work schedule does not allow him to coach his son's teams is labeled "uninvolved" despite all the other activities he shares with the boy. A mother who occasionally dates is said to be preoccupied with men.

When combined with repetition and selective attention, this strategy can be difficult to counter. Repetition increases the likelihood that the exaggerations will be accepted as true accounts. Selective attention keeps the child from recognizing positive traits that would modify the impression created through exaggeration. Because there is a kernel of truth, it is often difficult for the target to defend herself. Both parents may have experimented with marijuana. But on this basis the target is labeled a drug addict. If the exaggeration is repeated enough times, it becomes incorporated into the child's view of the target. The child has heard so often that his mother is a drug addict, that he assumes it is true. It is used

by the brainwasher regularly and casually, as in, "Well, you know, she was probably stoned again and that's why she was late to get you." The brainwasher speaks of it as fact, and eventually the child comes to share this distortion.

TAKE ACTION

If you are the victim of a hate campaign, expect your past deficiencies as a parent to be taken out of context, attended to selectively, and exaggerated. Though these past errors do not justify your children's total rejection, the sensible response is to do everything possible to improve your skills as a parent. For example, you may have been relatively uninvolved, or frequently delegated responsibility for your children's care to baby-sitters, or treated your children with little interest or patience. Correct these deficiencies. When the children are finally reunited with you, let them experience you not as you were before, but better. Why? The more your behavior differs from what the children have been programmed to expect, the easier it will be for them to recognize that they have judged you wrongly. Also, by using unfair and harsh criticism as a stimulus to self-improvement, you remove yourself from the passive victim role and are less likely to feel despondent. Your self-respect and your confidence as a parent will grow and you will find that any such improvements will make you more effective in your other relationships.

LIES

Selective attention, context dropping, and exaggeration are generally sufficient to smear a target parent or grandparent. When more is needed, the next step is a further departure from reality: outright lying. Sometimes the lies are gross distortions of actual events. Other times they are manufactured totally out of thin air. Though such behavior is common among psychotic parents who have lost touch with reality, it also occurs among less disturbed people.

Louise and Gary were recently separated. They met in a restaurant to

begin negotiations on the terms of their divorce. Louise announced her intention to move with their nine-year-old son, Jeffrey, to another city. Gary objected. Jeffrey was enrolled in a superior elementary school. He had lived in the same neighborhood all his life and had many friends within a few blocks of his house. He participated in several team sports. Living in another city would drastically reduce Gary's contact with his son. And Gary's parents were available to baby-sit every day after school while both parents worked. Ever since he was born, Jeffrey spent at least one night a week with his grandparents, and he enjoyed these contacts. In fact, he was at their house while his parents were meeting.

Louise countered that she would either enroll Jeffrey in a day care center before and after school, or leave him home alone. Gary said he could not accept that arrangement. Louise had not expected any resistance from Gary; she was furious that he intended to thwart her plans. She stormed out of the restaurant, sped over to her in-laws', and when she was let in the door yelled, "Come on, Jeffrey. We're out of here!" His grandfather asked if Jeffrey could finish his dinner. Louise said she didn't want him spending another second in the house. Jeffrey burst into tears. He was scared and quickly gathered his things. His grandfather helped him into his jacket and then gave the boy a hug and kiss. Louise jerked Jeffrey out of his grandfather's arms and charged out of the house.

Later the grandparents were shocked to hear Louise's account of the incident. According to her, the grandfather had forcibly detained Jeffrey and was not going to let him leave the house. She repeated her version of the incident so many times on the return home that she actually had Jeffrey believing that this is what happened. The episode was then used as the kernel of a campaign to program Jeffrey to believe that his grandparents were volatile and could not be trusted. Though Jeffrey had always experienced them as more patient than either of his parents, he also learned that the way to please his mother and ward off her anger was to tell her that he didn't want to see his grandparents anymore.

One father distorted an actual event when he successfully convinced his children that their mother kidnapped them. In reality she had been granted temporary custody and took the children on a vacation. At the time the children loved their vacation at the seashore. But afterward their father programmed them to regard the experience as a frightening ordeal in which they were kept incommunicado from him. Periodically he rein-forced the program with reminders such as, "Remember the

time when

Mommy kidnapped you and you didn't know if you would ever see me again?" The children not only "remembered," they embellished the incident with their own details. This is a dramatic example of how a parent can alter children's perceptions and memories.

When parents cannot find enough incidents that lend themselves to distortion, they are not deterred. They simply make things up. Dr. Gardner wrote about a mother who answered the father's telephone call while her son was nearby. She greeted the father's innocuous statements with a long, stony silence, after which she said, "That's your opinion. In my opinion he's a very fine boy." In this manner she created the impression that the father was attacking the boy's character and that she was defending her son. These types of maneuvers can be so effective that the child believes that he actually heard the offensive conversation. If so, the innocent parent's subsequent denials fall on deaf ears.

TAKE ACTION

Lies should be challenged as soon as possible because the repetition of lies creates false memories in children that are difficult to erase. When your children have been told lies about you, invite them to think for themselves. Are the allegations consistent with what they know about how you behave? It may be best to have another trusted person correct the distortions rather than attempt to do it yourself. The children are apt to dismiss your denials. Another person may have more success in convincing the children that they are mistaken.

REVISIONIST HISTORY

Who controls the past controls the future.

—GEORGE ORWELL

Communist rulers in the Soviet Union were masters at propaganda. When it came time to convince the populace that a formerly revered leader was really a scoundrel, they knew the job required more than

implanting false beliefs about the target. Their corruption of reality had to reach back in time. They had to erase benevolent memories of the person—memories that conflicted with the new party line. They had to silence potential critics who would object: "How could this person [Stalin, for example] be so bad when for years we were told that he was great and worthy of adulation?"

So they simply rewrote history. One strategy was to say, in effect, "Our previous judgment was mistaken." The other tactic was an outright denial that the leader was ever held in high esteem. Textbooks were revised to conform to the new doctrine. Institutions and places named in the person's honor were renamed. Portraits were removed from public areas. Heads were airbrushed out of official group photographs.

Editing the past to deflate a person's reputation is also common in certain intellectual movements and in divorced families. In 1968 the famous novelist-philosopher Ayn Rand broke off all relations with her closest associate, psychologist Nathaniel Branden. Before the break Rand praised Branden as brilliant, heroic, intellectually creative, a genius. She dedicated her magnum opus, *Atlas Shrugged*, to him, and in a statement at the end of the novel called Branden her intellectual heir. Many of Rand's followers developed a cultlike worship of Rand and Branden. So when Branden fell from grace, the past had to be rewritten to conform with Rand's new position.

She and her close disciples began claiming that Branden was a hack. His contributions were unoriginal. He merely passed off Rand's ideas as his own. (At the time Branden was completing his pathbreaking work, *The Psychology of Self-Esteem*; the book is currently in its thirty-fifth printing, still selling briskly after three decades, and Branden has since written more than twenty books that present his innovative psychological theories and therapeutic techniques.) Rand removed Branden's name from the dedication of all subsequent printings of her novel. And in a move reminiscent of the missing heads in the Soviet photographs, her followers erased Branden's voice from taped lectures and dubbed in others reading the words originally spoken by him.

Brainwashing parents follow the same principle: They revise history to obliterate positive memories of the target. A father tells his children that their mother was always more interested in her work than in them, even though she only began working outside the home after the divorce. A mother transforms a past vacation planned and enjoyed by both parents

into the time that "Daddy insisted we leave you for a week." The target's former involvement with the children is minimized or denied; photographic evidence to the contrary is destroyed or hidden. A husband wrote numerous notes to his wife during their marriage that praised her patience and attention to the children; he seized and destroyed these notes in the midst of a custody battle in which he claimed that she neglected her children. The basic message is that nothing about the target is any good, or ever has been.

It is not unusual for spouses to devalue each other as they go through a divorce. It is easier to tolerate the breakup when you focus on negative aspects of the relationship that you will be escaping, rather than positive aspects that you will be losing. Parents intent on divorce poison, though, carry this process to an extreme, and they encourage or manipulate their children to do the same. According to Dr. Stanley Clawar and Dr. Brynne Rivlin, "It is fairly easy to confuse children into doubting their own perception of reality due to the high regard and awesome power most parents hold in their children's eyes."

When I interview child victims of divorce poison, they usually give me a revised history of their relationship with the rejected parent. Children who were close to a parent now insist that they never enjoyed being with that parent. When I ask about photographs and videotapes of family holidays and vacations that show them being very loving toward the alienated parent, they dismiss these with a variety of excuses. The most popular excuses are: "I was just pretending to have a good time," "She made me act like that, but I didn't really feel it," "I was only happy because [the favored parent] was there," "What do you expect, everybody is happy on a vacation, but it doesn't mean I enjoyed being with her," or "The times in those videos were the only times I ever enjoyed being with her. All the rest of my life was miserable."

Alienated children similarly dismiss the significance of cards and gifts they gave the target parent in the past. Often they insist that their other parent made them give the card and write on it, "To the best daddy in the world. I love you very much." One boy claimed that the only reason he gave his mother a gift on Mother's Day was that the entire class made something and he didn't want to be different from his classmates. This did not explain why he signed the accompanying handmade card, "Love and kisses."

In one of the worst cases of divorce poison I have seen, a girl named

Mindy claimed to have total amnesia for a music box that her mother had used to wake her up every morning of her life. The mother brought the music box to a meeting with her alienated daughter. "Remember this?" asked the mother. She wound it up and lifted the lid to release the tune, "You Are the Sunshine of My Life." The mother choked back tears evoked by memories of better times, but Mindy sat stone-faced. "Sure," she said, "I've heard that song. But I've never seen that music box before." Her mother was astounded. How could her daughter not remember the morning ritual that had been a fixture in their lives for eight years? Mindy could have been lying. Or she could have blocked out these memories in the service of maintaining her cold rejection of her mom.

Mindy's mother expected to correct her daughter's misperception of their past relationship by presenting clear evidence to the contrary. She did not count on the tenacity of a brainwashed child's corrupted view of reality. In a clash between reality and an alienating parent's distortions, the distortions usually win out, unless groundwork has been carefully laid. One cannot reason with an alienated child until the child's mind is open to reason.

TAKE ACTION

Don't squander valuable opportunities by naively assuming that brainwashing will be reversed by the simple presentation of reality. When you have strong evidence that a child's view of the past is distorted, withhold the evidence until there is a good chance that your child will be open to considering it, rather than reject it out of hand. It is best to use a therapist's assistance with this process. With correct timing, the evidence can be a potent antidote to divorce poison. With poor timing, you will encounter the brick-wall resistance of a mind closed to reality and reason, and you will have wasted an important weapon in the battle against alienation.

THE TOTAL CHANGE THEORY

Sometimes a child's past relationship to the target parent was so positive, so filled with gratification and memorable moments, that any attempt to

obliterate the good memories would be futile. In that case, what is revised is not the past assessment but the current one.

A woman adamantly refuses to encourage her daughter to maintain ties with her dad. This mother admits to the therapist that her ex used to be a very kind and loving father. But, she claims, since the divorce he has totally changed. He is no longer the same man. His change is so complete that he no longer has anything positive to contribute to his daughter's life.

Alienating parents often support this maneuver by emphasizing their ex's superficial changes, the type that are common in the recently divorced. The ex-husband begins to wear his hair longer. He changes his wardrobe, listens to different music, drives a sports car. He compensates for the loss of his marriage by trying to recapture a sense of his youth and of his opportunities for a new beginning. Nevertheless, his commitment to his children remains intact, and his underlying character is unchanged.

As with most forms of divorce poison, children are most susceptible when they have no meaningful contact with the target and thus little chance to test the reality of what they have been taught.

TAKE ACTION

If your ex is complaining to your children that you have changed, tell the children:

- Changes are a fact of life.
- The important thing is that your love for them is unchanged.
- Despite any changes, your commitment to their welfare will never change.
- They too have changed over the years and you have certainly not rejected them.

SUGGESTIONS AND INNUENDOS

Parents can communicate negative messages about the target without telling a single lie, even without lodging a single criticism. Consider the following very common scenario. The children are at their father's home, watching cartoons or playing, and their mother calls and asks to speak with them.

In one home the father says, "Mommy is on the phone. Come and talk to her. Who wants to go first?" If the children respond, "Not now. We're busy," he says, "I know you're busy, but now it's time to talk to Mom. Let's go." The father essentially handles the call the way he would have before the divorce. His attitude conveys his belief that talking to Mom is a priority and is nonnegotiable. The underlying message is that their mother deserves their respect.

In another home the father announces, in a disdainful tone, "Your mother is on the phone. Do you want to speak with her?" His attitude suggests that he does not welcome her call and they don't have to either. The underlying message, communicated solely by implication but not lost on the children, is that their mother is not worthy of respect. They sense that it would be perfectly fine with Dad if they snubbed Mom. In fact, even though he has not explicitly said so, he would probably be pleased with them if they did reject their mother's call.

Often the most potent divorce poison takes this form. It relies on suggestion, innuendo, and implication. It is more difficult to expose because it is sneakier and more subtle than outright lies and misrepres-

entations.

A mother phoned her children while they were with their paternal grandparents. Her daughter enthusiastically described a variation of tag that she and her brother invented and were playing. The mother's only response was to express concern: "I hope you're not getting hurt." This conveyed the impression that the grandparents could not be trusted to prevent the children from playing a dangerous game. The other hidden message was that the mother was not interested in hearing that her daughter was having a good time with her grandparents. When her son got on the phone, also sharing his excitement about the game, his mother asked, "Are you having fun or is it kind of silly?" Her inflection made clear what answer she wanted to hear. Although her son had been having a great time, he muted his expression of enjoyment and instead said, "It's okay."

This boy was very troubled by his mother's negative attitude about his dad and his dad's family. He tried to cope by pleasing her. He would rather tell his mom what she wanted to hear than forthrightly state his own opinion. But in the process of doing so, his own feelings changed.

His mother's small dose of divorce poison, administered in her brief suggestion that he was not having fun with his grandparents, achieved its purpose. Following the phone call, the boy had mixed feelings about what had been a very gratifying activity.

An example of the power of suggestion to alter a child's view of reality occurred in my own home while I was writing this book. My grandsons were spending the night and the youngest boy, Shaun, talked us into ordering pizzas from a certain heavily advertised franchise rather than from our favorite local pizzeria. The pizza arrived burnt on top, with a crust that was too soft, and with too little of a bland sauce that had lived in a can too long.

My wife and I could not restrain our disappointment with the product. As we openly expressed our opinion, hoping to instill better taste in a nine-year-old, we unwittingly programmed Shaun to dislike the pizza. He went from loving it to passing up seconds. All he could say, in his defense, was that this franchise outlet did a worse job than the one in his neighborhood. His father later verified that the pizza we had was perfectly consistent with what they usually get and with what his son loves. We had inadvertently changed our grandson's normal taste preference merely by repetitively expressing our very negative opinion of the food.

One of the most common complaints of divorced parents is shabby treatment during the transfer of the children. A mother arrives a few minutes early to pick up her son. It is raining outside. She rings the doorbell, but there is no response. The boy has his coat on and is ready to leave. He watches his mother from the window. But his stepmother makes him stay in the house until the very last second. After repeated experiences like this the mother learns that she will be kept waiting, regardless of the weather, until the exact time that her official period of possession begins.

What is the effect on children of witnessing such treatment? The boy in the above example received two messages through his stepmother's behavior. First, his mother's wish to be with him is seen as an unwelcome nuisance. She is excluded as long as possible, as though spending time with her has no value. Second, she is not worthy of being treated with compassion or common decency. She is given less consideration than a door-to-door salesman.

Children will usually feel very uncomfortable when a parent is treated so disrespectfully. This is especially true when the mistreatment is at the hands of someone else they love. To relieve themselves of loyalty conflicts, they may join in devaluing the parent. By convincing themselves that the parent deserves poor treatment, they avoid conscious feelings of guilt.

Younger children are most susceptible to suggestion. Treat them as though you expect them to be scared of the target, and they will respond with fear. Shortly after the marital separation a mother tells her daughter: "Daddy is coming to take you for a visit, but you don't have to be afraid." Prior to this the girl had no reason to fear being with her father. She generally was excited to see him. But now her mother has introduced the idea of fear as an expected response to her father. A small seed of insecurity has been planted. When the father arrives, the programming continues. In front of the girl the mother says, "She seems to be a little uneasy about going with you." The mother then turns to the child and says, "Now remember. I told you there is nothing to be afraid of. Don't be scared." With this repetition the seed has taken root. The girl is reluctant to leave her mother's side. The mother feels triumphant. The father feels bewildered.

Suggestions can be just as powerful when conveyed without words. Behavior and gestures do the job. A father and his new wife constantly roll their eyes and smirk when the children speak about their activities with their mother. The disapproval is obvious. Over time, the children either adopt the same critical attitude toward their mother or learn to avoid speaking about her in their father's home.

Infants and toddlers can learn to fear someone merely by seeing how their parents act in the person's presence. When a mother begins to cry and cling tightly to her daughter as the paternal grandmother reaches out to take the child for a visit, she "infects" her daughter with her anxiety. Predictably, the little girl will respond with her own tears and clinging behavior.

Older children are generally less suggestible but not immune. A father cautions his twelve-year-old daughter, "Don't get too close to your stepfather in the swimming pool." After a few such warnings it is difficult for the girl not to look at her stepfather in a different light. A fleeting physical contact becomes a possible cause for concern. The girl has succumbed to her father's suggestion that the stepfather could be a sexual predator.

TAKE ACTION

Identify the unstated implications of suggestions and innuendos, and clarify reality, to help neutralize the harmful impact of this form of divorce poison. For example, "Mommy worries that you won't have a good time with me, but we know that we have a good time together, don't we?" Or "I've seen how Daddy frowns when you tell him what we did together. That must make you very uncomfortable. I guess he disapproves of almost everything that goes on here. Even when we were married, your daddy and I had different ideas about how to do things. In fact, that's one of the reasons we got a divorce. But you know in your heart that there is absolutely nothing wrong with how we live in this house." As with most discussions of divorce poison, it is best to choose a time when you and the children are relating well. With younger children, simply identify the underlying message conveyed by the suggestion and clarify reality. Suggestions and innuendos lose their potency when they are openly confronted.

EXPLOITATION

It is bad enough when a parent acts as though the other parent's participation in the child's life is unwelcome. Even worse is when a parent suggests to the child that it is permissible, even desirable, to exploit the other parent.

It is very common for parents to support their children's rejection of the other parent while encouraging the children to ask for money and favors from the hated parent. The children are taught to feel entitled to money and services from the parent they otherwise shun.

At times the sense of entitlement stretches credulity. A teenager expected her father to buy her a new car even though she admitted that she would never allow him even to sit in the car with her. A college student expected his father to send extra money to cover additional expenses, but the father was not welcome at the graduation exercises. A high school senior demanded that his mother select, pay for, and deliver to him a corsage for his prom date. This mother was unwelcome at her

son's basketball games and was excluded from every other aspect of her son's life. She was not even to have the pleasure of getting a photograph of her son and his date in their prom clothes. Perhaps the height of audacity was a young lady's expectation that her father would contribute substantially to her wedding expenses, even though she refused to invite him or any of his family to the wedding.

For the child, exploitation is another expression of alienation. For the parent who encourages or sanctions this behavior, it is a form of divorce poison, another means of corrupting the child's view of the formerly loved target. By not expressing disapproval of the exploitation, the alienating parent contributes to the notion that the target parent is so worthy of contempt that the usual rules of civility and decency do not

apply.

This tactic is especially pernicious. The sense of entitlement corrupts not only a child's relationship with a parent but the child's character. Alienating parents teach their children to suspend the usual rules of morality when dealing with the target. What these parents may not appreciate is that a child can become accustomed to treating others as objects to be used. Exploitation can become a permanent mode of dealing with people and handicap the child's ability to form and maintain emotionally gratifying relationships. When this occurs, the alienating parent is guilty of contributing not only to the loss of love but to the perversion of the child's soul.

PROJECTION

When a person makes several accusations about another person that have no basis in reality, very often the accusations turn out to be self-descriptive. This was true of Louise, who accused her father-in-law of being volatile when she herself was prone to fits of rage.

The practice of falsely attributing to others one's own unacknow-ledged feelings, impulses, or thoughts is known as "projection." It happens so much in custody disputes that I often advise parents to begin keeping a list of possible projections. It is uncanny how often a parent will be guilty of the very things he or she accuses the ex-spouse of doing.

Sometimes projections provide clues to behaviors and intentions that the parent attempts to conceal. I remember one woman who told me that her ex-husband repeatedly accused her of tape-recording their phone conversations. I advised her that it was a good bet that he was taping. This proved to be true. As I discussed in chapter 4, very often the first parent to raise an accusation of brainwashing is the one who has already begun such a campaign.

To detect the possibility of projection, follow this procedure. First you must be sure that you are not guilty of whatever is being attributed to you. Then ask yourself: Why would he be saying that? Where did that idea come from? Since it isn't true for me, perhaps it is on his mind because it is something he thought, felt, or did, or is contemplating doing. Is there any evidence for this?

Not every false accusation is the result of projection. It is only one possible explanation. But when projection is present, you need to know about it. It alerts you to potential and actual destructive behavior on the part of your accuser. It helps you explain the situation to your children when appropriate. And it is essential in defending against allegations in court.

PROJECTION: NOT I, YOU!

Following are some examples of the use of projection in custody litigation. In each case, the person attributes his or her own thoughts, feelings, or behavior to another.

- A man attributes his ex-wife's effort to gain more time with the children as retribution for the divorce that he initiated. In reality she is happily remarried and grateful to be free of her first husband. He, on the other hand, has gone through a series of unsuccessful relationships and regrets the divorce. His envy of her newfound happiness fuels his refusal of her request. He projects his unhappy preoccupation with the divorce and his ulterior motives in the dispute onto his ex-spouse.
- A man wants joint custody of his daughter. His ex-wife accuses him of merely trying to avoid child support payments. In reality the father has no intention of reducing his support even if his girl spends more time in his home and his expenses increase. But the mother

has sued for more child support, despite currently receiving more money than she actually spends on her daughter. *She projects her preoccupation with finances onto her ex-spouse.*

- A girl in the custody of her father asks to live with her mother. She is uncomfortable with her father's ongoing criticisms of her mother and the parade of girlfriends who spend the night with Dad. The father is unable to recognize or admit that his daughter's preference is a result of his behavior. Instead he attributes her request to "the grass is greener" phenomenon. In reality his behavior is constantly motivated by the expectation that the key to happiness lies elsewhere. It is what resulted in his divorce and in his inability to settle down with one woman. He projects his belief that "the grass is greener" onto his daughter.
- In her previous marriage a mother relinquished custody of her three boys to their father. When she is going through her second divorce, her husband tells their daughter that her mother abandoned her other children. In truth she reached her previous decision after agonizing over it. She stayed in close touch with her boys and had a good relationship with them. However, her current husband did threaten to move to Ireland and never see their daught ab ughter again. He is projecting his thought about abandonment onto his wife.
- A woman accuses her husband of being cruel. In reality she has falsely accused him of child sexual abuse, thereby subjecting their son to numerous unnecessary examinations and smearing the father's reputation. She disrupted his family reunion by sending the police to investigate a frivolous complaint that the children were being mistreated. She spread a rumor throughout the community that her husband was violent toward her and the children. And she called his employer in an effort to get him fired. She projects her cruel behavior onto her spouse.

People are usually unaware that they are projecting. Projections are not only self-descriptive, they are self-deceptive. In fact, psychologists regard projection as a defense that people use to protect themselves from facing their own unpleasant thoughts or feelings.

The woman in the last example who accused her husband of being cruel was not just trying to win a custody battle. She actually convinced herself that her husband was a monster. This corruption of reality was the price she paid to avoid the disturbing truth that the cruelty she sensed was her own. Because of its protective function, confronting the woman with her projection was futile. When the court-appointed psychologist suggested that she was trying to brainwash her children, she was indignant. She was convinced that she was a victim of a terrible injustice. In her mind all she was doing was trying to protect her children from their cruel father.

RATIONALIZATION

While working on this chapter I came upon a news item that illustrated, in another context, a form of reality corruption favored by bad-mouthing and bashing parents. In an entire Alabama school system of 2,600 students, the only Jewish high school student complained of ongoing harassment. Some examples he cited were the assistant principal ordering him to write an essay on "Why Jesus loves me," and a teacher ordering him to remove a Star of David lapel pin. The superintendent confirmed the allegations but explained that the teacher thought the Jewish Star was a gang symbol.

This sort of excuse is known as a rationalization. It is a lie that is intended to seem plausible. In this case the school superintendent apparently thought it sounded reasonable enough to repeat to the national media.

Men who beat and intimidate their wives rationalize their disgraceful behavior. A man testified that he did not verbally abuse his wife. During his cross-examination he admitted that he frequently called her a whore, a liar, a slut, a horrible mother, and worse epithets, usually modified with curse words. When asked how he reconciled such behavior with his prior testimony that he did not verbally abuse her, he said that his insulting and name-calling was not abusive because it was true. The judge was not convinced by such twisted logic.

A woman told her husband that if he didn't agree to all her demands in the divorce, she would call his employer and get him fired. During her deposition, she denied making such threats. On further questioning she admitted that she "may have alluded to getting him fired," but she did not regard this as a threat. Quibbling about the exact meaning of words is a common form of rationalization used even by presidents of the United States.

When confronted with evidence of wrongdoing, a popular rationalization is to dismiss the behavior as a joke. The woman who ignored her stepson unless he addressed her as Mom told the court that she was only kidding. The judge dismissed this rationalization because the behavior occurred over a long period of time and was consistent with other versions of the name game played by this woman: She referred to the boy's mother by her first name in conversation with him and she required her own son to call his stepfather Dad.

Parents dispensing divorce poison use rationalizations in two ways. Most frequently they rationalize in order to defend their behavior, as did the Alabama schoolteacher. They attempt to convince themselves and others that they are doing nothing wrong. The rationalization is a cover-up to hide their real motives. Second, rationalizations can be used

to make the target's behavior look bad.

A noncustodial mother complained that despite repeated requests she was never shown anything her six-year-old daughter brought home from school, including report cards. The father and stepmother responded that they were not deliberately withholding the material. They were merely respecting the girl's own choice. If the girl wanted her mother to see her schoolwork, she would have taken it with her when she saw her mother every other weekend.

This explanation sounded reasonable to them. But of course it was a rationalization to justify their lack of support for the girl's relationship with her mother. We don't ordinarily expect a six-year-old to be responsible for keeping track of her school papers. And we don't ordinarily assume that if the child neglected to pack her schoolwork then she did not want her mom to see it. Finally, we would not leave such a decision to the child. Everything else that went with her on weekends spent with her mother was packed by her stepmother. If the father and stepmother wanted the mother to see the schoolwork, it would have happened.

This couple used the rationalization about the girl's failure to show

her mother her work not only to excuse their own behavior. They also cited it as evidence that the girl must not feel close to her mom.

Like many rationalizations, this one was easy to expose, especially because it was part of a wider campaign to exclude the mother from her daughter's life. This couple also played the name game by requiring the girl to call her stepmother Mommy and her mother by her first name.

The "respect for the child's choice" shown by this couple is another popular rationalization used by most parents in the latter stages of brainwashing. Once a child has been successfully alienated from the target, the programming parent sits back and disavows any role in the conflict. When the child protests seeing her mother, the father says, "That is her choice." As an enlightened parent he "respects her autonomy"; he fails to facilitate the contact.

But curiously his permissiveness seems to operate only in this sphere. He sends his daughter to school even when she feels like staying home. He would never allow her to avoid a checkup because she was afraid of the doctor. And before the divorce, when she protested going somewhere with her mother, he insisted she do as she was told. But now, after months of programming, when his daughter resists spending a weekend with her mother, her choice is elevated to the status of a sacred precept not, under any circumstance, to be violated.

Parents who use the "I respect my child's autonomy" defense pour salt on the wound by blaming the target for the child's alienation. This is always some variant of "My child does not want to see you because you mistreat her." The perpetrator never acknowledges responsibility for masterminding the schism between the child and the target.

Norma testified that, despite her best efforts, she was unable to overcome her five-year-old daughter Megan's refusal to go to her father's home. She claimed that Megan was afraid of her father and her paternal grandparents. Norma blamed this on the father's yelling and not keeping all his promises to Megan and the grandparents' ignoring and teasing her. The court-appointed psychiatrist found no evidence to suggest that Megan feared her father, but did conclude that she avoided her father because of subtle pressure from her mother, combined with a wish to please her mother and avoid her anger. Like many alienated children, Megan insisted that it was her own choice to avoid her father and that her mother had nothing to do with it. In fact, her mother wanted her to see her dad. The following conversation exposed the flimsy rationalization:

Doctor: What does Mommy do when you don't want to take your

bath?

Megan: She makes me.

Doctor: What does Mommy do when you don't want to go to bed?

Megan: She makes me.

Doctor: What does Mommy do when you don't want to see your

Daddy?

Megan: She says I don't have to if I don't want to and Daddy

should respect my feelings.

During cross-examination, the lawyer accused Norma of actively inducing the alienation. She was indignant. Here she had been doing everything possible to persuade Megan to visit her scary father, and instead of being commended for her valiant efforts she was portrayed as the villain. Norma failed to consider that she was asking the judge to give her custody of a child whom she admitted she was unable to control. If the judge were to believe her testimony, he could conclude that Norma was a weak parent who lacked appropriate authority over a five-year-old girl.

TAKE ACTION

To show your children how their rejection of you fulfills the desires of their other parent, despite your ex's rationalizations, initiate a conversation similar to the one that took place between the psychiatrist and Megan. Most children know that if one parent really wanted them to see the other parent, they would insist on it and back it up with the threat of punishment. Exposing this rationalization provides a relatively strong demonstration of how a parent can indirectly influence a child, and it paves the way for other efforts to reverse alienation.

HOLIER THAN THOU

Indignance, such as Norma's, is common among brainwashers. In her case it was a reaction to being accused of brainwashing. Beyond its defensive use, self-righteousness helps foster indoctrination. By combining moral

outrage with certainty of conviction, the aim is to ward off careful scrutiny of the programmer's reality distortions. The strident tone is the argument.

Trial attorneys favor this tactic. In deliberations before the judge, who is not likely to be taken in by such maneuvers, lawyers show emotional restraint while advocating their position. But let the jury enter the courtroom, and the emoting begins. Haughty, reproachful, disdainful, lawyers attempt to bypass the jurors' critical faculties. They want the jury to believe, in effect, "The lawyer feels so strongly about his position: It must be justified."

Jurors may not always be swayed by such tactics, especially since they get it from both sides. But children are much more suggestible. The tone of their parent's voice carries weight, even more that the words being spoken. And the self-righteous tone of a bad-mouthing parent communicates that the target deserves contempt.

The particulars of the condemnation are limitless. A man accuses his ex-spouse of neglecting her children because she cares passionately about her career and relies on baby-sitters too much. A wife accuses her husband of being a lousy father because he lets them do things she views as dangerous. A man tells his children that their mother and her new husband are "liars and morally bankrupt" because they began dating before the divorce was final. The "holier than thou" attitude is expressed with comments such as "That's just what I would expect from her" or "I can't believe he did that!" Whatever "that" is, the child gets the idea that it is very bad.

TAKE ACTION

If your breakup is accompanied by your ex using self-righteous tones to denounce you to your children, take this as an early warning signal that your children may be pressured to turn against you. Children are easily impressed by self-righteousness. Therefore, as soon as possible arm your children with a defense by teaching them that a strident tone is no index of the reasonableness of an idea. Children should learn to judge ideas by their merit and not by the emotion surrounding their delivery. They need to learn to recognize a parent's strong denunciations of the other parent as expressions of hostility, not representations of truth.

WITH GOD ON OUR SIDE

Self-righteousness is most powerful when paired with religiosity. "Your mother," decries Dad, "is not just a bad parent. She's a sinner." Why? Usually one of three reasons. Most often because she slept with another man. In some cases just because she initiated the divorce. And in other cases merely because she has not embraced the father's new religious beliefs.

Children hear a bitter refrain that their mother is evil and worthy of contempt because she has violated God's law. She has Satan in her heart. She will be destroyed at Armageddon for her lack of love for God.

This strategy is particularly effective because it capitalizes on years of religious training. From the beginning children are taught to accept religious doctrines on faith. The Ten Commandments are—just that. Commandments. Not proposals to be carefully evaluated before accepting. Religion enjoys a mantle of legitimacy and absolute authority. So, when a father's denunciation of a mother is cloaked in religious dogma, the children are primed to accept it without question, as they would any other religious teaching. Even if it clashes with common sense.

When a wife—before, during, or after divorce—sleeps with another man, her ex-husband's religious indignation is almost always a coverup for more personal feelings. The real issue is not her fall from grace. It is his hurt, anger, jealousy, and humiliation. Certainly we can understand how he would feel this way. But if he acted on these feelings by lobbying his children to reject their mother, it would be obvious that he was sacrificing his children to pursue personal revenge. Instead the children get the message that Dad wants them to condemn Mom, not because she offended him, but because she offended God. The children are pressed into alienation as a demonstration of their faith. Many times the father is not fully aware that his pious stance is a front.

But make no mistake about it. The father is not simply expressing his religious beliefs. Nor is he sincerely attempting to give his children a moral education. This he could accomplish without mentioning the mother's behavior. The father is clearly trying to turn the children against their mother. And he is using selective attention and context dropping to do it. No matter how he rationalizes his behavior, he is brainwashing.

The strategy is to equate the mother's value as a person and as a parent with one moral transgression, and then to persuade the children to do the same. Ask these children to describe their mother and they say,

"She's a sinner," as though this were all one needed to know about her. It overshadows the entire history of their relationship with her. It obliterates everything she has done for them. They have been programmed to believe that their mother's sin defines her character and renders her unworthy of love.

Children are particularly vulnerable to thinking in global terms about a person's character. People are either good or bad. It requires a certain level of psychological maturity to maintain a balanced image of others, to feel positive about them while simultaneously recognizing their flaws. Some adults never reach this level of maturity. When a father encourages his children to hate their mother because she has done something wrong, he is fostering an attitude that will limit their capacity for healthy, rewarding interpersonal relations. By extension, he is also implying that he is free from any wrongdoing. Selective attention operates to magnify the mother's flaws while overlooking those of the father.

TAKE ACTION

Under the sway of guilt, a spouse who has had an affair may passively accept her children's total condemnation as punishment for her wrongdoing. To avoid this mistake, keep in mind that our souls are not defined merely by our worst sins. It is unfair for your ex and your children to select one aspect of you and respond to you as if that were all there is. Allowing your children to lose their relationship with you multiplies the harmful impact of your behavior on your children. A far better way to atone is to take whatever steps are necessary to heal the relationship.

Some fathers label the mother a sinner merely because she chose to divorce him. He maintains, and persuades the children, that the divorce is all her fault. In failing to take responsibility for his contributions to the failure of the marriage, he ignores the full context of the divorce. In almost every case the husband shares culpability for the marital problems. Indeed, what type of man rigidly espouses extreme religious views that require the children's total repudiation of their mother? Most likely one who has character traits that made him hard to live with in the first place.

The third category of "sinful" mothers are those who do not share the father's religious affiliation. In this situation either the father has converted to a religion or sect that preaches intolerance of outsiders. Or, less often, both spouses had observed this faith until the mother decided to leave the fold.

When a father embraces new religious practices after the breakup, his children are less likely to ally with him. In these cases the father is usually preoccupied with his new beliefs. In a heavy-handed way he tries to convert the children, but his proselytizing backfires. The pressure to adopt unfamiliar beliefs meets with contempt on the part of older children and confusion and fear on the part of their younger siblings. Their father is different, and they do not like the change.

When the father undergoes a religious conversion before the breakup, which is often the case, the children are usually more susceptible to his influence. In a typical scenario, the father joins a fanatic sect or cult that devalues outsiders. He feels that he has finally found meaning in life and wants to share this with his family. His wife resists indoctrination;

his children may not.

The father zealously devotes himself to the new cause, learning its teachings and becoming, himself, brainwashed. Then the father-brainwash-victim becomes the father-brainwash-perpetrator. He begins taking his children to services and they are gradually brought into the fold. They get a weekly dose of doctrine that is antagonistic toward established churches and synagogues, including the one their mother still attends.

By the time the mother realizes the seriousness of this, the children may be beyond her reach. They have been taught that nonbelievers are their "spiritual enemies." That people who try to dissuade them from "the truth" are pawns of the devil. They may also have been taught that the father is the spiritual head of the household; such a belief reinforces the pressure to accept his pronouncements. If the mother had once shared the same religious affiliation, but then defected, she is regarded as a heretic who merits scorn.

When divorce occurs in these families, religious conflict is very often the trigger. The wife cannot tolerate the personality change in her husband. He becomes emotionally withdrawn from her. And in some cases, bolstered by a newfound sense of self-righteousness, he becomes abusive. Certainly she does not want her children influenced by his beliefs.

Under these circumstances it is easy to see how a custody battle would erupt. In fact, it is so predictable that cults develop well-organized

approaches to help their members prevail in custody litigation. They produce and distribute booklets that instruct followers on how to respond to questions from psychologists and lawyers. Parents are taught to coach their children to give misleading testimony in court. When the children are asked about their religion, they give answers that conceal the radical and intolerant nature of the cult.

You may have noticed that I have repeatedly referred to the behavior of men in my discussion of religious-based attacks. Women also use this maneuver, but in my consultations and studies I have encountered far more men who justify their brainwashing on religious grounds. Brainwashing mothers, in my experience, are more likely to express moral indignation without religious rhetoric. For example, a mother may rationalize her attempt to keep the children from their father by objecting to their exposure to his girlfriend. But she does not label the father and his girlfriend "pawns of Satan." Instead she expresses concern over the impact of the father-girlfriend relationship on the children's moral or emotional development.

It is possible that the differences I have observed between men and women in this regard are not representative of brainwashing parents in general. Perhaps religiosity is equally prevalent among brainwashing mothers. If so, I hope readers will set me straight.

Parents of many different faiths draw on religion to foster alienation. But regardless of their sex or their particular religion, every parent who resorts to this tactic to promote parental alienation is caught in a curious contradiction. While ostensibly upholding religious ideals, they are coercing their children to violate one of the most sacred religious tenets, the Fifth Commandment: "Honor thy father and thy mother."

TAKE ACTION

Meet with your minister, rabbi, or priest, explain your situation, and ask about your religion's position on the sanctity of parent-child relationships. If he supports the importance of your children's contact with you, ask him to intervene with your ex and with your children. This can be especially helpful if you choose a religious leader with training in family therapy. Despite moral

transgressions of parents, noncult religions usually encourage children to honor their parents. If your ex is using religion to turn the children against you, the children are more likely to accept contrary advice from a respected religious leader than from you.

"THE TRUTH"

Members of religious cults always feel that they possess the truth. The truth, of course, is defined as their particular set of beliefs. Dr. Gardner discovered that when children suffer from parental alienation syndrome, the phrase *the truth* takes on special significance.

During indoctrination, programmers repeatedly label their distorted version of reality as "the truth." Over time, "the truth" becomes associated with the programmer's implanted scenarios. "The truth," instructs the father, "is that Mamma's boyfriend showed you his pee-pee, right? That's the truth." After several repetitions, "the truth" becomes a shorthand code term for the father's program. When he wants his daughter to repeat the false allegations, he merely needs to ask her to tell the truth.

This pays dividends during subsequent investigations by courts and mental health professionals. When asked if she has been coached by her parent to say anything in particular, the child responds that she was only told to tell the truth. In her mind the truth has come to mean "all the bad things I have been told about the target." But the unwary examiner may believe the child is giving an accurate account of the target's behavior.

TAKE ACTION

Make sure that your attorney and any mental health professionals involved with your children understand that "the truth" has become associated with your ex's programming. When questioning your children, professionals will want to ask, "How did you come to learn that this was the truth?" Or "Is that what really happened?" When examiners probe for the meaning of "the truth," they may learn that it stands for the misrepresentations of the alienating parent, not for reality.

Alienating parents also use "the truth" as an excuse for divorce poison. They defend their bad-mouthing and bashing with the claim that they are only being honest with the child and that it is always better to be honest. Of course, their commitment to honesty does not extend to letting the child know about their own flaws or about your virtues.

Jerome insisted that he was right to tell his son the truth about his mother and stepfather. Jerome suspected that they began their affair prior to the divorce, and he repeatedly told his son that his mother and stepfather were morally bankrupt because they lied about their relationship. When the boy asked his stepfather if he thought his daddy was a good father, the stepfather said, "Yes, and he loves you very much." Jerome then accused the stepfather of lying to the boy. The stepfather didn't really like the father, therefore he was obviously showing what a pathological liar he was. According to Jerome, a person who was committed to the truth would have told the boy honestly that he thought he had a bad father. Jerome failed to understand how a commitment to a child's emotional welfare and need to hold a positive image of his parent could take precedence over an opportunity to express negative feelings. Parents who bad-mouth often assume that everyone else operates as they do. If they freely vent destructive criticism without regard for the impact on their child, they believe their ex does the same.

TAKE ACTION

Never get in a battle with your children about what "really" happened. Accusing your children of lying will only drive them further away. Instead, when an impasse is reached, bypass the controversy by "agreeing to disagree." Your children's agreement that their rejection of you is irrational is not a precondition of healing your relationship. It is more effective to focus on creating a rewarding, affectionate relationship in the present.

OVERINDULGENCE

Earlier I discussed the target parent's indulgence of the children as a means of avoiding their rejection and counteracting the malevolent associations built up by the programmer. Alienating parents also indulge children. Their goal is to cement the children's alliance to them while furthering their alienation from the target.

One form of indulgence is to seduce the children with age-inappropriate privileges and material things. A parent allows her adolescent to have parties in the home without supervision. By comparison the other parent appears overly restrictive. Another parent offers extravagant gifts, such as a new sports car and season tickets to pro-football games, if his teenage son will move in with him. The parent with fewer resources is unable to compete. To her children she appears less gener-

ous and less gratifying.

Indulgence can take the form of having lower expectations for responsible behavior. A lax attitude is taken toward chores, homework, and junk-food snacks. When a homework assignment is challenging, or requires a lot of time and effort, the parent does it for the child. If your ex caters to your children's wishes for immediate gratification and avoidance of frustration, the children may regard your demands for more mature behavior and frustration tolerance as overly strict and odious. You make them brush their teeth and do their homework; their other parent lets them avoid these chores. Your ex may exploit the situation by being very receptive to your children's complaints about you. Instead of reinforcing the need for good nutrition, for example, your ex sides with the children and agrees that you are being unfair to insist that they eat their vegetables. By suspending ordinary expectations of the children, your ex panders to their immaturity and encourages them to reject you as unreasonably demanding.

Children who have reached a certain level of development will sense that the permissive parent is shirking the responsibility to provide more structure and authoritative guidance. But their wish for freedom and possessions can undermine their better judgment. The pleasure of immediate gratification can seduce them into an unhealthy alliance with

the programming parent.

Overindulgence can backfire. When children learn that their allegiance is being bought, the price may rise. They may threaten to defect to the enemy (i.e., move in with the other parent) if their increasing demands are not met. In this way the victims of manipulation become the manipulators. The exploited become the exploiters.

TAKE ACTION

Confront overindulgence directly by reminding your children that a parent's job is to set and enforce limits, and that this is one way to show love and caring. Explain that even though you and your ex do things differently, you both love the children and they need to have a good relationship with both of you. Children understand that responsible adults set limits. It is relatively easy for them to understand that it is unfair to reject you merely because you do not indulge them as much as their other parent.

Look for ways in which you could "lighten up" or compromise with the children without excessively indulging them. Alienated children need to have enjoyable times with the rejected parent to rebuild bonds of affection and respect and offset divorce poison. Parental authority is best exercised when it is grounded in a loving relationship. You may have to temporarily relax some of your expectations while you concentrate on reestablishing affectionate bonds.

ENCROACHMENT

Overindulgence works as an alienating tactic only if the child is kept from enjoying time with the target. When efforts to eliminate contact between the target and child are unsuccessful, one option remains. The parent tries to sabotage the child's enjoyment of the contact. There are many ways to accomplish this goal. All involve some form of encroachment on the child's time with the target or on their relationship.

A common ploy is to involve the child in frequent and lengthy telephone calls while the child is in the target parent's home. This serves several purposes. It reduces the time the target parent and child can interact; it keeps the child focused on the brainwashing parent; and it provides an opportunity to reinforce the programming.

When parents call they will ask, regardless of how happy the children sound, "What's wrong? Are you okay?" This reminds the children that the parent fostering the alienation expects them to have problems when in the company of the enemy. Children who have not fully succumbed to

the brainwashing may regard such inquiries as a nuisance; they will answer in an annoyed tone, "Nothing." Often, however, the children will oblige the parent by thinking of some complaint about the target. "Mommy is making me eat food I don't like." "Daddy won't let me watch TV." This is music to the brainwasher's ears. He or she is very receptive to such complaints and commiserates with the children's terrible fate of having to be with the target. When the children get off the phone, their mood has soured. The brainwashing parent has successfully diminished their enjoyment of the target.

Often the purpose of the phone call is to generate homesickness or guilt. The parent tells the child how much she misses him. She cannot wait until he returns home. One mother carried this ploy to extremes. She told her son, Ward, not only that she missed him, but his dog, guinea pig, plants, teddy bear, goldfish, grandparents, the house, and the swing set missed him. At the end of the conversation Ward felt that somehow it was wrong for him to be enjoying himself with his father.

His proper place was with his mother.

Like many parents who promote alienation, Ward's mother worried when her son was out of her orbit of influence for very long. Her frequent calls to Ward when he was with his father carried the underlying messages, "You must think about me at all times. If you spend time away from me you might forget me. I can't bear the thought of being without you."

Another ploy to detract from the child's enjoyment of the target is to manipulate the child with the promise of rewards for returning home soon. One father called his son at the mother's home to tell him that there was a great surprise waiting for him when he returned. Naturally, the boy could not wait. What parent could possibly compete with such an enticement?

Even without phone calls parents can intrude into the time children spend with the target. One mother devised a creative strategy for monopolizing her son's attention during his one-week vacation with his father. She sent seven gift-wrapped packages in his suitcase. The boy was instructed to open one package a day. Each package contained one module of a toy; when the modules were joined they formed a whole. The catch was that each module took hours to assemble. And the one condition of the gift was that the boy assemble it himself without any outside help. Thus the mother gave her son a vehicle for avoiding meaningful contact with his father throughout the week. I have seen several variations of this maneuver. All serve the purpose of keeping the child focused

on the brainwashing parent while encroaching on the relationship with the target.

A common strategy for undercutting children's pleasure with a parent is to refuse to let the children take important possessions with them when they spend time with their other parent. A father would not allow his son to take his baseball glove with him when he returned to his mother's home. This was a problem for the mother because sometimes she had to take her son to his practices. For those readers who never played baseball, let me tell you what a problem this is for the boy. Over time, with proper preparation and care, a baseball glove conforms to its owner's hand. It becomes indispensable to the enjoyment of the game. To a child who loves baseball, his own glove is as important as the teddy bear was in earlier years.

What does it mean when a child cannot bring his glove, or other important possessions, with him to the other parent's home? If he is allowed to bring it anywhere else, such as friends' homes and to school, the message conveyed is that either the object will become tainted at Mom's home, or not returned, or that Dad is so angry with Mom that he does not want her to benefit from anything he bought his son. As with all such vindictive behavior, the child suffers.

The other message to the child is that he does not really own the glove. Ownership means the right to use and dispose of the possession. If he can't decide where he takes it, is it really his? Or is it Dad's? Of course parents place restrictions on children's use of their toys. Sometimes children are not permitted to bring a toy in the car. But the only reason for not allowing the boy to take his baseball glove to Mom's is to gratify Dad's own wish to hurt his ex. Many parents who apply such restrictions rationalize their behavior by expressing concern that the object would not be returned. The child is old enough, though, to take responsibility for his possessions. And if he forgets it, his mother can always return it for him. Without divorce poison in operation, the situation could be handled the same way it would if the child left the glove at school or on the baseball field.

One of the ways children experience a bond with a parent or other relative is by sharing special interests and activities. Parents who wish to break such a tie, or prevent its development, must find a way to dilute the significance of the shared pursuits. They can do so by duplicating the activities in their own home. In this way they undermine the child's asso-

ciation of the pleasurable activity exclusively with the target.

For example, Sammy's grandparents introduced him to the hobby of collecting seashells. They kept the shells for Sammy in a shoe box in their home and the boy looked forward to handling the shells every time he visited them. Sammy's dad, intent on promoting his son's alienation from the grandparents, began buying bigger and better shells for Sammy and a beautiful glass case in which to store and display them.

Another time the grandparents discovered a television comedy that appealed equally to children and adults. Because the shows aired way past their grandson's bedtime, they videotaped the shows. Each time Sammy visited, they played the episode from the previous week. Watching these shows and laughing out loud together became a highlight of the visits and a potent antidote to the father's negative programming. When Sammy's dad learned about this, he simply allowed Sammy to stay up late and watch the shows when they originally aired. This effectively extinguished Sammy's excitement at viewing the programs with his grandparents.

When confronted with his obstructive behavior the father pleaded innocent: "What is wrong with supporting my son's interests?" What's wrong is that his selection of which particular interests to support was dictated by what he feared would foster a unique bond between Sammy

and his grandparents.

A common maneuver is to arrange a very enjoyable activity for the children that encroaches on the time they are scheduled to be with the target. The target must then choose between forgoing the time with the children or interrupting their fun. The children come to associate contact with the target with disappointments such as prematurely ending a game, leaving in the middle of a movie, or missing the chance to go ice-skating. The effectiveness of this tactic is enhanced when the programming parent expresses indignation, as in "I can't believe your mother insists that you go home right now when we are in the middle of this great video!" The self-righteous tone makes it difficult for the child to see through the father's manipulation.

Dr. Clawar and Dr. Rivlin described a mother who upstaged a father's birthday celebration plans for their ten-year-old son. She hosted a lavish party for the boy's entire class and then told him that it was silly to have two parties and that the father would never provide the big celebration that he deserved. Initially the boy was unenthusiastic and withdrawn at his father's small gathering with relatives and a few neighborhood

friends. Later, though, he recognized that his mother attempted to sabotage his enjoyment of his father's party.

A mother who sought my assistance with her custody case was excited about taking her young children to an afternoon Christmas show at Radio City Music Hall. She told her husband about the show weeks in advance in order to make sure that he would return the children in time. Her husband upstaged her by taking the children to the midmorning performance of the same show on the same day they were scheduled to see it with their mother. As if that were not spiteful enough, the children arrived at their mother's apartment late and in inappropriately casual clothing, which meant that the father first took them home to change out of their good clothes. The mother and children were unavoidably late to the performance. Fortunately, despite the father's attempts to ruin the mother's good time with the children, they were excited about seeing the show again and enjoyed being able to predict what would happen next.

Although encroachment, by itself, is probably not enough to induce alienation, it does contribute to an ongoing process of estrangement by reducing the child's enjoyment of the relationship with the target parent or grandparent.

TAKE ACTION

If your ex attempts to sabotage your child's enjoyment of time spent with you, and is to some extent successful, you should try to help your child understand what has happened rather than remain silent. If you remain passive in the face of encroachments, you give your child no help in resisting divorce poison. Children are more likely to resist alienation if they perceive the target parent as willing to confront and expose the manipulations of the other parent. First, ask your child for his ideas. If he is unable to identify how his negative behavior was influenced by your ex, give your explanation. For example, "Mommy wanted you to think your party couldn't be much fun if we only had eight guests." Reminder: Most discussions of divorce poison are best conducted at a time when you and your child are relating well.

CLOAK AND DAGGER

As alienation becomes more entrenched, some parents enlist their children as accomplices in clandestine operations against the enemy target. They instruct the children to keep secrets, to spy, and to report back to the other parent. Often they require the children to tell lies. An element of excitement accompanies such collusion and appeals to children of all ages.

Children are told to hide the fact that Daddy had his girlfriend spend the night at the house. They keep secret Mommy's plans to baptize them without the father's knowledge or attendance. They tell the other parent that they had a baby-sitter when in fact they were left in the home alone. When in the target's home the children call the other parent and in hushed tones report on the alleged misdeeds occurring in the home. When a boy told his father, "Mommy's being mean," the father replied, "Don't let Mom hear you. When you get home you can tell me all about it." In essence the father told his son to hide his feelings from his mother, with the innuendo that she was so irrational that it would be dangerous to discuss grievances with her.

During custody battles these parents give their children assignments to steal documents from the other parent's home. A man told his daughter to rifle through her mother's desk and take her check register, a diary, and letters. One mother, whose divorcing husband had not yet moved out of the home, asked her adolescent daughter to intercept the mail to keep the father from seeing the mother's exorbitant credit card bill. Some of the purchases were for the girl, and she willingly colluded with her mother. Two years later she still regarded her father as the enemy and refused to have any contact with him. She even refused to invite him to her high school graduation despite the fact that he had been the parent most involved in helping her with homework.

Parents will even coach their children to lie in court under oath. An alienated father accused his wife of fostering an unhealthy dependent relationship with their twelve-year-old son. One of his examples was that she slept regularly with the boy. To counter this accusation, the mother had her son testify on the witness stand that he had never slept with her. Eventually the truth came out during a psychological evaluation in which the younger siblings all confirmed the father's allegations. After being confronted with this evidence the boy admitted that he lied in court. He said that his mother told him that if he did not lie he would have to go live with his father.

It is easy to see how covert operations corrupt children's characters. The alienating parent encourages and sanctions dishonest and even cruel behavior. Also, as we see next, the more children behave in this manner, the more alienated they become. Their role as pawns for the brainwashing parent further entrenches their estrangement.

TAKE ACTION

Set a firm limit on dishonest behavior. Try to arouse your children's underlying guilt and discomfort with covert operations by telling them that it must not feel very good being dishonest. Remind them that they were always taught not to keep secrets from their parents, and that this rule doesn't change just because parents don't get along with each other. Children know that dishonesty is wrong. Despite their overt behavior, they often welcome external control when their behavior is out of bounds. Particularly when an authority figure sanctions immoral behavior, children need someone to uphold proper standards and provide a moral compass.

Explain that experts on divorce tell parents not to put their children in the middle, and that you follow that advice. Help them decide how to assert themselves appropriately with your ex in order to resist colluding. For example, "Tell Mom that you love both parents and don't want to take sides." Or "Tell Dad that you don't want to keep secrets from either of your parents." Children need permission to stand up to a parent when that parent is asking them to do something wrong. If your ex persists in involving the children in covert operations, legal intervention may be necessary.

COGNITIVE DISSONANCE

Think back to the last time you purchased a car. If you are like most people, chances are you were even more convinced that your choice was correct after the purchase than before. Psychologists explain this process as reducing "cognitive dissonance." It is the tendency to bring our beliefs in

line with our behavior. This helps reduce uncertainty, inconsistency, and conflict. Thus, if we act in a manner inconsistent with our beliefs, we may change what we believe.

This is one reason it is so important to interrupt your children's hateful behavior toward you as soon as possible. The more they mistreat you, the more they must convince themselves that you deserve to be mistreated. The more they reject you, the more they convince themselves that you are bad and worthy of rejection. This reduces the dissonance caused by acting so hateful to a person who was loved for so long. It spares children inner turmoil about their behavior. In this manner, alienation feeds on itself and becomes entrenched.

TAKE ACTION

If your children's alienation is not too severe, and your ex plans to call them as witnesses in a custody trial, consider asking your attorney if there is a way to prevent their participation. *Why*? After publicly denouncing a parent, a child may intensify negative feelings in order to reconcile his beliefs with his disloyal behavior.

CONSPIRACY

Parents intent on promoting alienation often get assistance from others who serve as co-programmers. For example, a father's extended family might join in the denigration of the mother and her family. This increases the pressure on the children to conform or else risk being rejected by grandparents, aunts, and uncles. Bad-mouthing the target becomes the family pastime, uniting them with a common enemy.

Sometimes the co-programmer is an older sibling who has already been brainwashed. This is particularly effective when the children visit the target away from the alienating parent. The older sibling carries on the brainwashing campaign by proxy, making sure that the younger ones remain loyal to the brainwashing parent.

One boy had been abducted by his father and brainwashed against his mother. The court reunited the mother and son and eventually the boy began calling her Mom again. However, when his severely alienated sister had to spend the day in the mother's home, he reverted to calling his mother Sharon. Although he had recovered his good feelings for his mom, he felt that he could not afford to show this to his sister or he would appear disloyal to her and the father. Victims who are rescued from cults also feel such disloyalty when they turn their backs on the cult. It is as if there is an aspect of themselves that continues to think and feel as they did in the cult, although this is kept apart from their usual functioning.

TAKE ACTION

It is often best to arrange to spend time alone with each child, rather than have siblings together as a group. This "divide and conquer" approach is discussed in the next chapter. There is strength in numbers. It is easier for a child to act hateful toward a parent when his siblings are doing the same. Even a mildly alienated child may succumb to peer pressure. By contrast, it is more difficult for a child to sustain a rejecting attitude when no one is supporting him. Also, separating a child from his siblings makes him more dependent on you, and thus increases your influence over his behavior.

TAMPER-RESISTANT PACKAGING

Brainwashing is not complete until the children are programmed to resist any attempts to undo their indoctrination. This is accomplished by implanting messages similar to posthypnotic suggestions. For example, a father teaches his children that people who ask you what Daddy has said about Mommy are themselves trying to brainwash you. He instructs the children to refuse to participate in any such discussions, even when initiated by relatives or court-appointed evaluators. Dr. Clawar and Dr. Rivlin call these "shutdown" messages because, when they are triggered, the children shut down communication.

Do you recall the couple Kent and Judy from our discussion of context dropping? Kent had convinced their three children that Judy had abandoned them, when in fact she relocated to pursue graduate education, with every intention of having the children join her. One reason that Judy's efforts to defend herself fell on deaf ears was that Kent had anticipated Judy's efforts to set the record straight. So he told his children that their mother would probably come up with some lame excuses for her behavior. She might tell them that she thought they were all going to move with her. Or that Daddy had done some things wrong. "If she does try to tell you this, you'll know I'm right about things and you should just tell her that you don't want to hear her excuses." Of course, when their mother responded exactly as their father predicted, the children discounted her version of events and took her defense as proof of her guilt.

TAKE ACTION

Shutdown messages are effective in keeping a child's mind closed to evidence that would assist in rebuilding bonds. It is easier to reverse alienation if tamper-resistant packaging is exposed and neutralized. If you detect the presence of shutdown messages, tell your child that you think you touched on something that she is not supposed to talk about. Ask her if she has decided she can't talk about something or if someone has told her not to talk about it. If the answer is yes, remind her that children are not supposed to keep secrets from their parents. Explain that you think she is not supposed to talk about certain things because her other parent is afraid that when she hears your side of the story, she will start liking you again.

The presence of shutdown messages usually signals the need for professional intervention to reverse brainwashing.

CORRUPTING REALITY

To intervene effectively in a campaign of denigration, we must understand exactly how the child's view of reality is being manipulated. Following is a summary of some of the most common strategies for distorting the child's perceptions, beliefs, and memories of the target.

- Manipulating names to disrupt children's identification with the target
- Repeating false ideas until they are assumed to be true and are embedded in memory
- Selectively directing the children's attention to negative aspects of the target while ignoring positive aspects
- Dropping the context of a target's behavior
- Exaggerating the target's negative behavior
- Telling lies about the target
- Revising history to erase positive memories of the target
- Claiming that the target has totally changed
- Suggestions that convey in a covert manner negative messages about the target
- Encouraging the children to exploit the target
- Projection of the brainwasher's own thoughts, feelings, or behavior onto the target
- Rationalizations that hide the perpetrator's real motives and make the target look bad
- Self-righteous tones intended to ward off careful scrutiny of the programmer's reality distortions
- Denunciations cloaked in religious dogma
- Associating the label "the truth" with the programmer's implanted scenarios
- Overindulging the children with excessive privileges, material possessions, and low expectations for responsible behavior to buy their allegiance
- Encroaching on the children's time with the target and sabotaging their enjoyment of special activities
- Instructing children to keep secrets from, spy on, and lie to the target
- Conspiring with others to reinforce the programming
- Programming the children to resist attempts to undo their indoctrination

CHAPTER 7

POISON CONTROL

Love must be supplemented by deliberate efforts on the part of the parent.

—Bruno Bettelheim

Love is not enough. It is not enough to protect children from divorce poison. And it is not enough to reverse its pernicious effects.

Every brainwashed child once expressed love for the now rejected parent. Given the conditions and treatment discussed in the preceding chapters, most children will succumb to divorce poison. They may escape the complete rupture of their relationship with the target, but they will suffer in other ways.

One of the emerging and disturbing conclusions from recent divorce research, documented by experts such as Dr. Robert Emery, Dr. Joan Kelly, and Dr. Judith Wallerstein, is that children who receive clean bills of health when examined by gross measures, such as behavior checklists and report cards, may be suffering great emotional distress that goes undetected. Sometimes a parent uses a child's apparent good adjustment to keep the other parent at arm's length. The argument goes like this: If the child gets along well with teachers, friends, and one parent; earns good grades; stays out of major trouble; and claims to be happy, why rock the boat? Why require the child to relate to the other parent? This is often

punctuated with a warning that this "well-behaved" child has threatened to run away if forced to have contact with the hated parent.

Too many therapists endorse this misguided thinking. They fail to recognize the devaluation of the parent-child relationship that is inherent in ranking school and friends above family. They take an astonishingly casual attitude toward the child's loss of a parent, and the parent's loss of a child. These therapists advise courts to allow children to suspend contact with alienated parents, essentially to disown their parents. And they admonish alienated parents to cease and desist efforts to reconnect with their offspring. By now I am sure it is clear that I oppose such a hands-off policy.

This book grew out of the conviction that children deserve protection from divorce poison. It won't help merely to blame your ex, bemoan your sorry situation, and sink slowly into the passivity of victimhood.

If you fail to take responsibility for responding effectively, how can you expect your children to do otherwise? If you fail to take a firm stand in support of your relationship with them, how can you expect them to withstand your ex's manipulations? If you fail to uphold the reality of your value to them, how can you expect them to remain in touch with this reality when assaulted with a campaign to corrupt their positive vision and memories? By your actions, you must demonstrate your conviction that your relationship with your children is worth fighting for, is worth preserving.

Taking responsibility does not mean that you should blame yourself for the problem. And it does not mean that your efforts will always pay off. At some point the sensible thing to do may be to back off and postpone the project. Chapter 9, "Letting Go," can help you with this tormenting decision. If you decide to let go, at least let it be with pride in the knowledge that you did everything in your power to help your children, rather than with regret that you passively allowed your children to slip away.

In this chapter I revisit and expand on the coping tips found throughout the book and give additional antidotes to divorce poison. Before doing so, I want to suggest some general guidelines for increasing your child's receptivity to your communications.

EMPATHY

The late great child psychologist Dr. Haim Ginott taught parents how to speak to their children's hearts. To connect emotionally, he advised, par-

ents must learn to communicate genuine empathy. Dr. Ginott's seminal books are filled with practical suggestions and examples of how to do this. Though he wrote the books many years ago, his advice is timeless. And if ever a parent needed good communication skills, it is a parent whose children's hearts are determinedly and tightly shut. See the Resources section for books by Dr. Ginott and others that will help you improve your parenting skills.

When your children express contempt or fear of you, regardless of whether these feelings were implanted by your ex, the feelings are real for your children at that moment. If you too quickly attempt to dispute their words, or defend your view of reality, the result is likely to be a communications impasse. Your children will feel that you have not taken them seriously, that you fail to recognize the extent of their unhappiness. Instead of dismissing your children's negative feelings, identify them with words and let your children know that you understand exactly how they are feeling. Dr. Ginott showed how strong feelings can "lose their sharp edges when a sympathetic listener accepts them with understanding." It may seem a paradox, but the way to get rid of your children's hatred is first to show them that you acknowledge the reality of their feelings and that you treat their feelings with respect. This does not mean that you approve of your children's rudeness or misbehavior. Nor does it mean that you tolerate repetitive expressions of hatred. But it does mean that you face the reality of the negative feelings before attempting to change them.

THE POWER OF INDIRECT COMMUNICATION

Children know how to frustrate adults. When we want to help them, they make it difficult. They clam up. They evade communication. They erect a simple three-word barricade that many parents find impenetrable. In response to questions about feelings, they shrug their shoulders and say, in an innocent voice, "I don't know." And they keep repeating it until we give up. Breaking through this requires special techniques that child psychotherapists have developed to communicate with reluctant children.

First, we must appreciate that children do not necessarily want to foil our efforts at communication. Most younger children are simply not able to identify and put into words their exact feelings. Even if they could, children and teenagers (and most adults) find it difficult to discuss their worries and fears openly. And they resist lectures and advice. When we talk about their feelings, children feel as though they are under a bright spotlight and they want only to escape the glare. So we have to find ways to make the process more comfortable.

We have all heard of the patient who brings up an embarrassing concern by talking about his "friend's" problem. When a child does this, a sensitive therapist does not rush to expose the ruse. He knows that confronting the child too soon may abruptly end the dialogue. Under the guise of talking about the "friend," the therapist is able to get more details about the child's deepest concerns and then commu-

nicate therapeutic messages.

I often advise parents to read a book with their child, such as Dr. Richard Gardner's *The Boys and Girls Book About Divorce*. When you do this you will come across many passages that seem to have been written especially with your child in mind. Your child can profit from these passages even without acknowledging that they apply to her. Sometimes this activity does lead to a more direct discussion of the child's feelings. After reading each section of the book, ask your child if she ever feels the way the child in the book feels. A book can often serve as a spring-board for heartfelt discussions. Children will more readily acknowledge uncomfortable feelings when they know they are not the only ones who feel that way. By the way, if your child has older siblings who might not be too receptive to the idea of reading a book on divorce, it is a good idea to read the book within their earshot. Though they may pretend a casual indifference, parents report that the older children stay in the room and, after a while, may even join in the discussions.

With older children and teenagers you can talk about other boys or girls "their age" or about what you "heard somewhere" or "read somewhere" about how children their age feel about things. It is also helpful to begin conversations by talking about your own thoughts and

feelings.

One mother began a conversation with her fourteen-year-old daughter like this: "I've been thinking about how I've been yelling at you for the bad grades you've been making lately. I know it doesn't help for me to lose my temper. You always used to care about your grades, so something must be bothering you." The girl remained silent. Her mother continued: "I read an article that said when girls your age start making bad grades it often means that some things about their parents' divorce really bug them. The article also said that most girls feel bad that they aren't doing

as well as they used to." With older children such indirect communication may result in more candid discussions. But this girl said, "Yeah, well, I don't really care." Her mother responded, "Well, I can understand if you did feel that way," and then dropped the conversation.

The next day the mother took the conversation one step further by identifying the feeling she thought was tied to her child's problem behavior. She said, "I've been thinking about what we talked about yesterday. Many girls feel really mad at their parents for getting a divorce." This time the girl said, "What difference does it make? You're not going to get back together." Her mother said, "I know that sometimes girls will try to get back at their parents by doing poorly in school, especially when they know that good grades are important to the parents. I've been thinking that maybe you are angry with me. I don't blame you if you are. I know you didn't want this divorce. But it would be better if we could talk about your feelings, or maybe you could write me a letter about how angry you really feel. Why should you take your anger out on yourself and have to feel bad about screwing up in school when it's really your father and me that you're angry at?" In this way, the mother was suggesting a healthier way for her child to cope with angry feelings. The girl did not acknowledge that her mom was correct, but later that night the mother saw the girl in her room doing schoolwork.

An excellent book for learning more about effective communication is *Growing Up with Divorce* by Dr. Neil Kalter. He describes a six-step strategy for using indirect communication and illustrates it with numerous examples. If you are tempted to dismiss indirect communication as ineffective, or only second-best, consider this: Throughout the ages fables have been used to teach moral principles. If you want your child to appreciate the value of persistence, you'll get much further with Aesop's "The Tortoise and the Hare" than with a lecture.

FLY ON THE WALL

Another way to get a message across is to let the children "accidentally" overhear you speaking to someone else. All children eavesdrop on private conversations, and alienated children are no exception. In fact, children in advanced stages of alienation may try to monitor everything the target says in order to report back to the favored parent. Take advantage of this

to say to someone else what you want your children to hear. As flies on the wall they will get the message.

An alienated parent who tries to correct her children's distortions directly will find them resisting the conversation. Many children cover their ears as soon as the hated parent begins talking to them. But these same children will listen intently as the object of their scorn speaks openly with a friend or relative over the phone. This is a good opportunity to give your version of what is happening between you and the children.

In these conversations, it is best to emphasize what you and the children have lost, how sad you feel for the children, and how different things used to be. Talk about all the past signs of the loving relationship. Speak of your confusion and puzzlement about the dramatic change in attitudes. Tie the alienation to the divorce and to your ex's anger at you. But be careful not to focus on your anger at your ex for maligning you. The children are primed to believe bad things about you. If they overhear you discussing your anger at their other parent, they will interpret this as an act of bad-mouthing and will use it to justify their criticisms of you.

Repeated conversations that the children overhear lay a foundation for a more explicit and direct discussion at some later point in time. By then, the children have heard your side of the story expressed in a manner that might garner their sympathy for you and their willingness to begin healing the ruptured relationship.

TWO STEPS REMOVED

Even when using the fly-on-the-wall technique, it is usually more effective to introduce emotionally laden topics by discussing a situation two steps removed from the children's personal experience. Alienated children, like brainwashed cult members, are unaware that their feelings are the result of manipulation. If you try to explain that they have been brainwashed by their other parent, they will probably resist listening to anything you have to say about it. Instead, approach the topic by first talking about another means of manipulation, and one not involving the children. For example, you can discuss how advertisements induce people to focus selectively on certain attributes and overlook others. This introduces the general idea of mental influence. Then move one step closer by talking about someone else you know using mental influence to persuade someone to dislike

another person. Or you might discuss how politicians smear opponents. Finally, when you think your children will be receptive, you can relate these ideas to your family situation by introducing the topic of your children's negative feelings resulting from manipulation.

An advantage of discussing a topic, like brainwashing, two steps removed from your children's situation is that they will be less likely to resist the communication. They will be more likely to consider that they have been programmed when they have already accepted the idea that people, in general, are susceptible to such influence. If you were to begin by confronting them with the idea that they have been brainwashed, without laying the groundwork, they would experience this as an assault on their view of reality and would be more likely to dismiss what you say without any consideration.

The two-steps-removed technique can be used when speaking directly with your children, as well as when communicating indirectly.

USING THIRD PARTIES

Several times throughout this book I mentioned the desirability of having someone else implement the coping tips with your children. If you have no contact with your children, this will be your only way of reaching them. Even if you do have contact with your children, you should consider enlisting help from other people. If your children are alienated from you, they will dismiss anything you have to say as worthless. It helps to designate others who do enjoy your children's respect to intervene on your behalf. These can be trusted relatives, members of the clergy, teachers, coaches, scoutmasters, anyone respected by your children.

Third parties can use any of the principles and techniques discussed in this chapter to try to open your children's closed minds. Because they may be pivotal in reversing alienation, it is best to give them plenty of preparation before they begin. You may want to have them read portions of this book. They need to have a clear understanding of how children can be programmed to turn against a parent. They also need to have a clear sense that a parent's minor flaws and errors do not justify losing contact with her children. Without this sense, they may inadvertently be taken in by your children's complaints and become one more person

supporting the alienation. If you are working with a therapist who understands these situations, the therapist may want to meet with the third party to offer guidance and support.

The third party has a difficult assignment. He or she must maintain your children's respect and affection while attempting to engage them in reconsidering their negative attitudes toward you. The role calls for someone who can maintain a curious yet concerned posture, showing patience, warmth, and caring. The more important this person becomes

to your children, the less dependent they will be on your ex.

I must emphasize the importance of patience. The third party must be willing and able to listen to the children's complaints, however trivial or false, without prematurely confronting or criticizing the children. Moving too quickly to confront alienation can end all hope that this person will be able to reach your children. This is particularly true if the children are wrapped in the tamper-resistant programming described at the end of chapter 6. This will lead them to clam up as soon as their alienation is mentioned. With sensitivity and finesse, though, the third party may help rescue your children from divorce poison and heal family relationships, thereby earning your eternal gratitude.

STRIKE WHILE THE IRON IS COLD

Experienced psychotherapists know that the best intervention can fall flat if not timed properly. The film *Analyze This* portrayed this with humor. Mobster Paul Vitti (Robert De Niro) consults with psychiatrist Dr. Ben Sobol (Billy Crystal). Vitti disguises his need for help by describing a problem suffered by a "friend." He takes offense when Dr. Sobol too quickly assumes that the "friend" is himself. Yet less than a minute later the same assumption earns high praise from Vitti, who concludes that since this shrink is clever enough to see through the ruse, he is the best therapist for the job.

The same principle applies to conversations with your children. In chapter 3 I described the technique of striking while the iron is cold. If you have something to say that your children are going to argue with, or at least resist hearing, it is often best to wait until the children are in a receptive mood. If you and the children are enjoying yourselves, they will be less likely to automatically reject what you say. Striking while the iron is cold

means avoiding "hot" topics when the children are already upset. If your children are acting disrespectfully toward you, they are probably not going to place any value on what you say about their situation. And the more they ignore or disparage what you say, the more they will feel that you are worthy of such mistreatment. When things are going well between you and them, they will be more likely to value you and what you have to say.

"Strike while the iron is cold" is a good principle to keep in mind, especially when you feel like lashing out in anger after being provoked by your child's hostility. But it is not always the best course. Sometimes it is best to do the opposite. Sometimes it is best to initiate a difficult conversation at the time of your child's emotional outburst.

Earlier in my career I worked as a counselor in a residential treatment center for children with severe emotional disturbances. Many of these children had frequent emotional storms in which they abandoned self-control. Sometimes the counselors could best help a child by calming him down and postponing any discussion of the event that triggered the rage. Other times we learned that we could use the crisis of the moment to help a child gain insight into his behavior and find better ways to cope. Psychoanalyst Dr. Fritz Redl called this technique a "life space interview." He believed that a child is most receptive to change when in a crisis.

Using this approach, an alienated mother might respond to her child's belligerence by first acknowledging how upset her child is and pointing out that it must not feel very good to be that angry with your own mother. The mother might then assert her belief that the child's rejection is unreasonable. She may even mention some of the factors that could be influencing the child, such as fear of the father, or feeling sorry for the father. The mother's communications have a greater chance of being effective if she remains calm and concerned. Sometimes emotional breakthroughs occur during a heated conversation. But this approach is risky. It could result in the child's feeling that his view of reality has been dismissed. The result would be an increase in alienation. For this reason, it may be best to allow a third party to conduct the life space interview.

CREATING BRIDGES

Third parties can help in two very important additional ways. I have already covered their role in trying to persuade your children to reach a

more realistic view of their parents. Third parties can also serve as a bridge between you and your children. And by their positive treatment of you, they set a good example that will help offset the exclusively negative image held by your children.

The sister of an alienated father invited his children (her niece and nephew) to her home for Thanksgiving. When she told them that their father would be present, they said they did not want to come. She was not dissuaded. She exploited her status as their favorite aunt to convince them to come.

No pressure was placed on the children to interact directly with their father. But their aunt provided a relaxed setting that reduced the intensity of the children's first contact with their father in over two years. Over the course of the afternoon, they did respond to their father's efforts at casual conversation. They talked about the food, the football games, the usual sort of banter that goes on at holiday gatherings. No one spoke of the prolonged absence of contact. But the ice had been broken. The aunt bridged the gap between the children and their father. It took a few more events like that to bring them closer together.

In addition to serving as a bridge, the aunt provided another corrective experience. The children had been brainwashed to regard their dad as an angry, rigid man with no redeeming features. Yet here they saw other people they respected treating their father with value. This clashed with their perception of reality. Perhaps this introduced a small measure of doubt about their judgment. The other relatives' treatment of the father also introduced an element of social pressure. If the children wanted to "fit in" they would have to be cordial. Such positive behavior, in turn, can awaken positive attitudes. Certainly it would have been more difficult for the children to be rude to their dad in this setting. At home, people fit in by bad-mouthing the father. Here, such behavior would be seen as odd.

As much as possible, arrange for your children to see other people treating you with high regard. Let them see that their opinion of you, and the opinion of their other parent, is not shared by the rest of the world. This type of experience will leave a stronger impression than anything you can say on your own behalf.

Several years ago a judge appointed me to try to help an eleven-yearold alienated girl and her mother reconnect. They had not seen each other for four years, and Amanda had been programmed to believe that her mother was a violent and disturbed woman. In an early session with the mother I learned that she was an avid collector of antique lace. She even knew how to make lace. Now, my wife loves lace and has her own collection. Despite years of being around the stuff, though, I have a hard time distinguishing one pattern from the other. To tell the truth, I was never very much interested. It would have been better for me if the woman collected old jazz records. But it was lace.

I knew that the mother and her daughter would be very anxious during their first session together. My job was to make the experience tolerable for both. At the same time, I wanted to begin the project of correcting Amanda's distorted perception of her mother. I asked the mother to bring in some of her lace pieces and her lace-making equipment. We were going to have show-and-tell.

During the joint session I asked the mother many questions about lace. I gave her an opportunity to show her knowledge and her competence. She herself did not seem to appreciate the range of talent that went into her creations, and the qualities of personality that it took to persevere from start to finish. Amanda sat stone-faced and mute.

The mother offered to demonstrate how to make bobbin lace. This seemed to stir Amanda's interest. I drew Amanda into the conversation by asking about her own hobbies and interests. When she answered that she likes to draw, I knew her angry veil was lifting. Her mother asked about Amanda's artwork. Amanda gave brief, terse answers.

I asked the mother if I could hold a delicate antique baby bonnet. I cradled it in my hands and then asked if Amanda could hold it. The mother said, "Of course," and, without giving Amanda a chance to refuse, I passed it to her. She acted uninterested, but she held the bonnet. A fragile tie between mother and child.

I wove in questions that gently alluded to the unique bond between them. "Did you make any lace when you were getting ready to give birth to Amanda?" The mother answered and then added casually, "You know, Amanda, that used to be your bonnet. I'm saving it for your children, my grandchildren." The underlying message was that Amanda's relationship with her mother had significance beyond the present.

I turned to Amanda. "Can you believe your head was ever that small?" The bonnet provided an easy segue to questions about their early relationship. "What did you do to prepare for Amanda's birth?" "What was she like as a baby?" "What was her first day in kindergarten like?" "What were her favorite things to do when she was six years old?"

Again, I drew Amanda into the conversation. "Is your memory good enough to recall any of the things Mom is talking about?" "Do your remember Mom taking you to kindergarten?" Throughout the session I referred to the mother as "Mom." I wanted Amanda to hear it enough that it would become natural to a girl who currently referred to her mother only by her first name or as "that woman."

As the session drew to a close, the mother said that next time she could bring some lace she made when Amanda was a baby. I asked Amanda if she would like to see it and she said, without much enthusiasm, "Sure." For a girl who didn't want to see her mother, this was

progress.

The session went better than expected. It would have been valuable even if Amanda did and said nothing. It had to make an impression that her mother was the learned authority teaching the doctor, and that the doctor treated her mother with obvious great respect and dignity. Her mother could not be as worthless as she had been programmed to believe.

The lesson was not about lace. It was about a mother's value. And about her place in her child's life. The session was a bridge, a bridge made of fragile lace strong enough to support an estranged mother and daughter as they took their first steps back toward one another.

HEALING EXPERIENCES

Your goals are to regain an affectionate relationship with your children and help them have a more realistic and balanced view of you and your ex. If they are severely alienated, and the alienation has been entrenched over a long time, it is not likely that you will be able to accomplish your goals without educating the children about brainwashing and probably seeking professionl help. In many cases, though, alienation can be reversed merely by allowing your children to experience you as you really are and to have some warm, relaxed times together.

In 2000, in the aftermath of his mother's drowning, a young Cuban boy named Elián Gonzáles was isolated from his father by relatives in Miami, Florida. The relatives wanted to give Elián the chance to grow up in a free country. In the service of this goal, the relatives released a videotape showing the boy pointing his finger at the camera and insisting that he did not want to return home. Despite the strength of the

negative feel-

ings, and the prolonged separation from his father, after only a brief

time in his father's presence Elián's loving feelings returned.

Before addressing the issue of divorce poison with your child, either indirectly or directly, concentrate on creating pleasant experiences together. Many parents find that their alienated child's hostility or fear recedes as the child becomes involved in activities with the parent. Choose activities that are inherently fun for both of you and require direct interaction. Cooking is one.

If your child is withdrawn, don't ask if she would enjoy helping you. The answer is likely to be no. You should not expect an alienated child to volunteer to do anything with you. Merely state that you need her help or participation. Your tone should be warm and matter-of-fact, suggesting that, despite your child's negative attitude, you expect her cooperation. Do what you can to coax her. During the activity, focus on having a good time. Neatness, precision, and final product don't count. Allow the child to make many decisions. Encourage her spontaneity and creativity. Remember, the object of the project is to have fun. Do your best to lighten up. If your child follows suit, if she allows herself to relax and have a good time in your presence, you have accomplished your goal, whether or not the cake rises or the cookies burn.

Playing in a swimming pool together is another great healing activity. There is something about being in the water that encourages children to seek physical contact, even with a parent who is otherwise shunned.

Humor is a powerful antidote to hostility, as long as it is not at the expense of the child. One little boy had been kept apart from his father for more than two months. The boy refused to speak with his dad on the phone, and said he never wanted to see him again. When the father arrived to pick up his son for a scheduled day together, the boy cried and screamed for a half hour, insisting on returning to his mother. The fit ended when the father accidentally dropped his keys in the swimming pool. The boy laughed involuntarily, and so did the father. Sharing this humorous moment was enough to break the ice. The boy dropped his angry facade. The rest of the day, father and son played together normally. Watching them together, no one would ever have guessed at the prior problems in their relationship.

I have seen this type of rapid transformation repeatedly in my practice. Generally speaking, the younger the child, the more easily the alienation will dissipate with benevolent experiences. Divorce experts Dr. Joan Kelly and Dr. Janet Johnston attribute this to a young child's important of the charge of the contract of the contract

maturity.

Caught up in the moment, the child forgets that she is supposed to reject the parent.

Rapid transformations can also occur with older children. I consulted to a distraught mother whose ex refused to return their nine-year-old daughter at the end of a weekend and would not return the woman's phone calls. After three weeks of isolation, the girl said that she did not want to see her mother or her older sister. The court ordered the father to return the girl. The mother contacted me because she was concerned that her daughter was programmed by the father and would be alienated upon her return. I thought that there was a strong enough bond between mother and child that most likely, by bedtime, the girl would warm up to her mother. As it turned out, I was right in principle but wrong with my time estimation. The mother reported that, after the daughter's initial discomfort in the car, she was fine and literally within minutes was back to normal. To assist the girl with any future such episodes, I suggested some mild debriefing about how her dad tried to trick her into not liking her mom and sister.

The lesson to be taken from this is that, rather than try to correct your child's distortions by addressing them directly, show them by your actions that you are not the bad person they have been led to believe. If this works, then discussions about the alienation should follow the "strike while the iron is cold" principle. Wait until you have built a reservoir of good feeling between you and your child. Then you can provide age-appropriate education about bad-mouthing, bashing, and brainwashing in order to inoculate your child against future exposure to divorce poison.

Children who are more severely alienated may stubbornly refuse to allow themselves to enjoy any time spent with the hated parent. In that case, you may have no choice but to confront, either directly or indirectly, the programming to which the children have been exposed. The principles and strategies presented in this chapter will help. But you should consider enlisting the aid of a therapist experienced in helping alienated children.

MEMORIALIZING THE POSITIVE

If you are effective in breaking through your child's animosity, if you able to create good times together, capitalize on this success. You want to use this experience to heal your positive bond. But it can also help inoculate your child against future efforts to turn her against you.

The way to do this is to make sure that the experience becomes embedded in your child's memory. Begin by directing her attention to the fun you are having together. Say something simple, such as, "Isn't this fun?" In a casual way try to get your child to elaborate on how she is feeling. "What do you like best about what we are doing?" Repeatedly call attention to, and label, the emotions that each of you are experiencing. "Isn't it nice how much we are laughing together?" "It feels so good to see you having fun over here." "You've really got the giggles now." By repeatedly focusing attention on the positive interaction, you are strengthening the reality of the moment. This helps offset the idea that being with you is a negative experience. Even more important, though, is that it makes it less likely that your ex will be able to eradicate the memory.

A very common frustration for rejected parents and grandparents is the retrenchment of alienation that follows early signs of progress. During the prior contact, Timmy shed his cold demeanor and allowed himself to have a good time with his mother. Her hopes were raised that they could return to a normal relationship. But the hopes were dashed. To the mother's dismay, the next time Timmy was scheduled to be with her he protested going. Once with her, he acted as if the prior good experience never occurred.

There is a way to decrease the likelihood of such setbacks. After directing your child's attention to the good time you are having, focus more directly on strengthening the memory. Then, help your child anticipate the possibility of the return of alienated feelings, and arm him

with a way to cope.

Timmy's mother could have said in a low-key, gentle manner, "I want you to remember how good you feel right now, and how much we love each other. If you start thinking that you don't want to see me again, remember the good time we had today. Will you do that?" Asking the child to respond verbally (not just with a nod of the head) ensures that the message was received and helps to further embed it in memory. To motivate your child to retain and acknowledge the memory, you can issue a mild challenge, such as, "I think you have a strong memory. Strong memories make people smarter and do well in school. Do you think your memory is good enough to remember what we did today, and how much fun we had?" It is a rare child who will deny recalling the experience when his intellectual competence is at issue.

Other effective ways to memorialize a good experience with your

child are to take pictures and videos of both of you during the activity. Let the child snap a few of the photos or hold the video camera for a while. Keep a journal together that records the date, the activity, and each person's thoughts and feelings about the activity. Young children can draw a picture of the activity in the journal. The very act of recording in the journal will help embed the experiences in memory. The journal will also serve as objective proof of better times, in the event that history is rewritten.

A few caveats. If your child seems uncomfortable reflecting on the experience, don't insist on it. Just concentrate on creating the experience. Later, you can use the fly-on-the-wall maneuver to get the point across. Perhaps you will arrange for her to overhear you talking to someone on the phone about how much fun you had together.

Also, you must be careful not to be too heavy-handed or insistent with your communications. Your tone should be casual and conversational, not preachy. Don't exaggerate. Your goal is to foster an accurate perception of reality, not to fool your child. And don't repeat yourself too much. Remember, the primary achievement is the experience. Don't let your talking about it detract from the positive atmosphere. If your child becomes exasperated when you talk about the good time you are having, then you will know that you are overdoing it.

The advice I am giving may seem unduly manipulative, perhaps even reminiscent of some of the strategies described in the previous chapter that parents use to alienate children. After all, I am advocating that you actively direct your child's attention in a certain direction, and work to entrench the memories of your positive interactions. Is this merely brainwashing in reverse? Definitely not. There are three crucial differences. (1) You are trying to correct distortions of reality rather than induce them. (2) Your goal is to foster your child's positive relationship with you, not a negative relationship with your ex. (3) If successful, these techniques will result in your child having a balanced, realistic view of you and your ex, rather than polarized views in which one parent is hero and the other villain.

THE WAY WE WERE

While you are in the process of memorializing the good times in the present, remember that you probably have many reminders of good times in the past. In fact, one of the best activities in which to engage your child is

looking at visual evidence of your past positive relationship. Photographs, videotapes, souvenirs, gifts, favorite storybooks all serve this purpose. Reminiscing not only counteracts the distortions of revisionist history. Enjoying memories of old times together is a powerful bonding

experience.

If you can successfully coax your children to enjoy watching videotapes of "the good old days," you will have gone a long way toward repairing your relationship. This is such a valuable resource that you must be careful not to squander it by introducing it prematurely, or in a way that arouses your children's resistance. Remember, alienated children resist obvious efforts to change their feelings. If you have to force them to look through photos, you have lost the benefits of the experience. Instead, you should initiate the activity in a casual manner, and at a time when you sense that they might be receptive. You want to pique their interest. In this sense, coping with alienated children is like playing poker. For the sake of your ultimate goal, you must learn to conceal the strength of your hand. Otherwise the children may just walk away.

A third party can be useful here. Bring out the photos or videos to show to another person while your children are in the room. Arrange for the third party to engage the children in looking at the pictures. The conversation should feature recollections about the activity captured in the mementos, emphasizing the close parent-child bond that existed in the past. "We had a great time on that vacation. Do you remember when we were so proud of ourselves for reaching the top of the trail? You were so tired that I carried you half the way down." If you think your child will listen, you might add, "Love like that doesn't disappear. I'll be glad when you are able to show it to me again and let me show it to you."

Children younger than about ten years old usually enjoy hearing about the day of their birth, or the day of their adoption. The story of the blessed event, and the preparations for and reactions to it, can captivate children, and remind them of your lifelong investment in their welfare. Tell them about your excitement that day. Discuss all the preparations you made at home and for the hospital. The childbirth classes; the baby-furniture purchases; all your thoughts and worries about the birth; your initial reactions; your recollections of the day they first said Mama and Dada.

One very creative grandmother was the target of a vicious alienation campaign to which her two grandchildren were beginning to succumb. For Valentine's Day she painted a two-foot-high valentine and wrote an original poem on it. In evocative language the poem poignantly recalled the attachment and love of the past, expressed empathy for the blow dealt by their parents' divorce, reassured them of their grandparents' love, and inspired them to surmount the crisis and live life to the fullest.

Here is an excerpt from the poem:

We care and we want you and want you to know
We see, know and feel for the really hard blow
Torn between parent and grandparents, your backs to the wall
With all of life's challenges, this may be the hardest of all
Torn from your friends, neighborhood, routines all the rest
It takes courage to stand tall and still do your best.

All around the valentine, in small letters and at different angles, she wrote every special activity, unique game, and bonding experience between the grandparents and the children that she could remember—about a hundred. This generated the most interest from her grandchildren. They read each of these and then enjoyed thinking of those she had omitted, which is

perience was enormously healing.

If your children are severely alienated, be prepared for the type of dismissals discussed in the section on revisionist history in chapter 6. The children may resent your efforts to "prove" that they loved you in the past. They will claim that you made them smile in the photograph. Or that the only reason they were having a good time on the videotape is because their other parent was present. Don't let this deter you. Although the children may not acknowledge the reality of the past at this moment, you are planting seeds that remind them of what they have lost and of how much of the past is not what they have come to believe. Ultimately, such seeds may bear fruit. Certainly if the children remain in the room while you are showing the videotapes, they are giving at least some attention to them.

SOWING SEEDS IN THE PSYCHE

In his book for psychotherapists on treating parental alienation syndrome, Dr. Gardner underscores the importance of planting seeds in the

minds of these children. It is often difficult to know whether or not our messages are getting through to our children. The lack of immediate results does not necessarily mean that the effort has been wasted. You should not expect to dissolve alienation overnight. The process may take many weeks or months. And you may have to settle for a relationship that is somewhat less than you previously enjoyed.

Even when neutralized, divorce poison can leave traces. It is often difficult to know how much of the residual reduction in affection is due to divorce poison, how much is due to the divorce in general, and how much is due to your child's natural development. Keep in mind that many children, as they enter their teen years, naturally reduce the intensity of their affection and respect for their parents. They tend to be moody, and they certainly want to spend less time with parents. It is important not to mistake normal adolescent behavior for alienation.

VACATIONS

If you can afford the time and expense, consider taking your alienated child on a nice vacation. There is a risk that the child's negative attitudes will spoil the trip. But there is a greater possibility that the circumstances of the trip will contribute positively to your relationship.

I can think of three reasons why vacations work in this way. First, there is the element of fun and relaxation that contributes to a better mood. People on vacation are more predisposed to treat others with benevolence. Second, there is the separation from the other parent, a separation magnified by geographical distance. Being apart from the alienating parent and being in a novel environment increase your children's dependency on you. It gives you a chance to be experienced as someone who is gratifying their needs. There is no one else who will do it. Third, it is easier to change attitudes when people are cut off from their usual circumstances. Recall the discussion in chapter 5 about how isolation makes a child more susceptible to the alienating parent's manipulations. Well, it works for the target parent as well.

A twelve-year-old boy refused to come to his father's home on weekends because he did not want to be around his new stepmother. The boy identified with his mother's resentment of the remarriage. She made it clear to him that she would regard it as an act of disloyalty to her if he accepted his father's wife. Though the boy was not alienated from his father, he was moving in that direction.

In the summer, the father announced his plans to take his wife and his son to Hawaii. The boy protested. The father was firm. The boy was going with them. (Having to be *forced* to go to Hawaii is just about the clearest indication of how irrational these children can be.)

While packing, on the way to the airport, and while waiting in the airport lounge, the boy was grumpy and noncommunicative. Once on the plane, though, the excitement of the trip overcame his resolve to be unhappy. As his mood improved, he began to take part in planning activities for the vacation. He wanted to rent a jet-ski. His dad said it was too dangerous. His stepmom came to his defense, "Let him try it. I'm sure he will be careful on it. He doesn't want to ruin his vacation." It became increasingly clear to the boy that he had a lot to gain by abandoning his angry facade. When they were laughing at a joke his dad told, the stepmother decided to strike while the iron was cold. She told her stepson, "I know it is not easy getting used to having me around. But I love your dad very much and that's how it is. I'd like us to be friends. At least let's do our best to have a great time on this trip."

Being forced to live with his dad and stepmom, in a setting where it was difficult to withdraw from them, was just what this child needed. Discovering new things together, making decisions together, having his stepmother attend to a cut he received on the beach—these types of experiences cemented their comfort with each other. The vacation proved to be a great way to begin their relationship. Following the Hawaii trip, the boy had no objection to being around his stepmother. In fact, she became very important to him and he was as likely as not to be disappointed when she was not around.

DIVIDE AND CONQUER: THE VALUE OF SEPARATING SIBLINGS

There is strength in numbers. It is easier for a child to act hateful toward a parent when his siblings are doing the same. Even a mildly alienated child may succumb to peer pressure. By contrast, it is more difficult for a child to sustain a rejecting attitude when no one is supporting him.

Very often, reversing alienation is easier when you spend time alone

with each child, rather than have siblings together as a group. As mentioned in the preceding chapter, an older child sometimes serves as a stand-in for your ex, reinforcing the negative attitudes about you. One teenager told me directly that he would not allow his younger sister to develop loving feelings toward her mother. If he saw this happening, the boy said, he would tell his sister she was stupid and tell her that she had to choose between Dad and Mom.

I recommend focusing first on rekindling your bond with the child who is least alienated. Success with this child will give you more confidence and hope in repairing the other relationships. Also, when your other children see their brother or sister enjoying the benefits of a happy relationship with you, it may remind them of what they are missing and motivate them to reconnect with you.

The drawback of the divide-and-conquer approach is that it may create conflict among your siblings. When the child returns to your ex's home, she will probably be subjected to a great deal of pressure to renew negative feelings toward you. She may be teased or rejected when she reveals any positive feelings toward you. Ironically, her other parent or siblings may accuse her of being brainwashed.

If your bond is strong with your child, you can help her prepare for the return to her other home. Discuss the possibility of her other parent and siblings disapproving of her love for you. Help your child think of alternative ways of dealing with such pressure. You can teach her to stand up for her right to love whomever she wants. You can teach her to assert her desire to have her own opinions about her parents.

One child asked his father, "Are you going to stop loving me if I love Mommy?"

The father had to say no.

"Well, then I'm going to love both of you, and that's that," said the child.

Not only did the father back off, but the child's older brother was impressed with this assertiveness and asked to go with his brother the next time they were scheduled to see their mother.

The divide-and-conquer approach can also be effective with the child who is more alienated. When a child is separated from his siblings, he is more dependent on you. This increases your influence and makes it harder for the child to sustain the alienation. Even if this approach is not successful with all your children, it may at least help you open the heart of one child. Sometimes we have to settle for what we can get.

CONTAGION CONTROL: HELPING CHILDREN STAY NEUTRAL

Divorce poison engenders a sort of tribal warfare in which each family member is expected to takes sides. When you use the divide-and-conquer method, make sure that you do not contribute to this warfare. The goal of divide and conquer is to overcome alienation. It is not to promote conflict among siblings, or turn your children against your ex. But you do want to give nonalienated children the support they need to resist pressure to turn against you.

Children who refuse to join in a campaign of denigration risk disapproval. The alienating parent and alienated siblings expect them to be loyal to the cause. Your job is to teach your children how to disappoint this expectation while continuing to treat their other parent with love and respect. In doing so, you may find it useful to compare your family situation to a war. Countries form alliances with one side or the other. But some countries stay neutral throughout the conflict. They continue friendly relations with both sides, without participating in the hostilities. Depending on the circumstances, this may or may not be the best or most moral foreign policy. But it is the best way for a child of divorce to retain a relationship with both parents.

Stress the values that your children were taught during the marriage. Reinforce the obvious position that it is healthier to maintain love and respect for all their parents rather than participate in a campaign of hatred. Emphasize the virtue of showing courage in the face of group pressure.

Children need to learn to tell both their parents that they do not want to be placed in the middle of conflicts. They do not want to hear each parent say bad things about the other. They do not want to spy on a parent. They do not want to carry messages back and forth.

When a child learns to assert himself in this manner, it has been my experience that the alienating parent and alienated siblings eventually accept the child's neutrality. They continue to bad-mouth the target. But they exhibit a curious contradictory stance. On the one hand, they think the target is despicable and unworthy of respect. On the other hand, they tolerate the child who holds a different opinion and maintains a positive relationship with the target. Harmony exists as long as the target is not the topic of conversation. I have wondered whether this tolerance allows

alienated siblings to gratify vicariously the aspect of themselves that longs for a reunion with the formerly loved parent.

I must add that, although children should attempt to maintain cordial relations with both parents, this does not mean that they must refrain from expressing their opinion about what each parent says about the other. Children who express their true thoughts and feelings, however unpopular, will reap the benefits of higher self-esteem.

A parent who has been successful in preventing or reversing alienation in one child may expect help from this child in persuading the others to follow suit. In general, I think this is a mistake. It is a major achievement for a child to resist divorce poison, particularly when her siblings have succumbed. This should be enough. I do not recommend burdening a child with the additional assignment of converting siblings to her way of thinking. The effort is likely to meet with failure, and the result may well be a rupture of the sibling relationship. This serves no one any good. Exceptions might be made in the case of older adolescents or young adults who might have more influence over younger siblings.

WITH GOD ON OUR SIDE—REVISITED

In the preceding chapter, I showed how appeals to religious authority can be used in the service of brainwashing. Religion can also be used to undo brainwashing.

If you have taught your children a set of religious beliefs, and the children recognize this belief system as a valid guide to moral conduct, you should not hesitate to use the teachings of your religion to counteract alienation. The religious precept most obviously relevant to alienated children is the Fifth Commandment, "Honor thy father and thy mother." The major Western religions teach other practices that may prove useful.

Judaism has specific and strong prohibitions against disparaging speech, known as *Lashon Hara* (literally "the evil tongue"). Jewish law regards the harm done by malicious speech as worse than the harm done by stealing. Stolen objects can be returned. But words, once said, cannot be unspoken. There is a Hasidic tale of a man who told malicious lies about the rabbi. Feeling remorse, he went to the rabbi and asked how he could make amends. The rabbi told him to cut open a pillow and scatter the feathers to the wind. The man followed the rabbi's unusual instruc-

tion and then returned. The rabbi told him, "Now, go and gather the feathers. Because you can no more make amends for the damage your words have done than you can re-collect the feathers."

Christianity repeatedly emphasizes the virtue of forgiveness. And dishonesty is prohibited by most, if not all, major religions. Confronting your children with the discrepancy between their religious values and their treatment of you may help open them up to the desirability of reconciliation.

Consider asking the clergy in your place of worship to assist you. If they support the sanctity of parent-child relationships, and believe that your children should be loyal to both parents, perhaps they can assist by talking with your children.

Dr. Gardner wrote about a case in which the religious beliefs of an alienated child played a pivotal role in keeping her father from being unjustly imprisoned. The girl had falsely accused her father of re-

peatedly fondling her genitals.

Before his daughter testified in his criminal trial, the father helped the attorney prepare a series of questions designed to remind the girl of the religious implications of her behavior. When she was on the witness stand, the attorney elicited from the girl her beliefs that lying is a sin, that one should honor thy father and thy mother, that God punishes people who violate these precepts, and that God sees and knows everything that happens in the universe, including the courtroom. With this preparation, the lawyer asked her to tell, while God watched and listened, the truth about whether her father touched her private places. After a long pause, the girl recanted her previous allegations. She admitted that she had been lying. She felt that God would be happy with her now.

When asked why she told the lie, she said that when her mother first asked her whether her dad ever touched her private place, she said no. But when her mother kept repeating the question, she finally said yes just to put an end to the questions. After she said yes, her mother was happy and kept asking her to repeat it. After a while she thought maybe

it really happened. But she knew it really didn't.

Some people might object to this lawyer's tactic because it relies on inducing guilt. My response: A child who makes false abuse accusations needs to feel more guilt. The alternative is to live for the rest of her life with the knowledge that she is responsible for sending her father to prison. Eventually she would feel much greater remorse or, worse, she

could have such a corrupted character that she would be apathetic about causing this much damage to her father and the people who love him.

AGREE TO DISAGREE

Craig had not seen his son and daughter for four years. The court awarded him custody at the time of the divorce, but his ex abducted the two children and fled the country. By the time the children returned, they were programmed to believe that Craig was a child molester and a wife beater.

For the time being, the court left the children with their mother and appointed a therapist to work with the family. Craig eagerly awaited his first joint session with the children. This would be his first face-to-face contact with them in four years.

The therapist warned Craig that the children were angry with him. He advised Craig not to argue with the children. Craig was optimistic. He assumed that his bond with the children would overcome any initial problems. Craig sat on the couch. The therapist brought in the two children. Craig could barely restrain himself from hugging the children and crying. Instead, he asked, voice choked with suppressed tears, "How are you two doing?"

The older child said, "Horrible. Why do we have to be here? You sexually abused us and we don't want to have anything to do with you. We despise you. You're a dirty child molester, a pervert, and you belong in jail." The words fail to capture the venomous tone in which they were delivered.

Craig's lower jaw dropped. He was unprepared for the rage directed at him from his own children. Without thinking, Craig blurted out, "That's a dirty lie. I never did anything like that. You've been brainwashed."

The older child screamed, "You're calling me a liar. I don't have to stand for that. I'm out of here." Whereupon both children fled from the office. They never returned.

Five months following this aborted treatment effort, another therapist was brought in to assist. This therapist spent several sessions with Craig before scheduling a joint session with the children. Craig explained that he felt compelled to defend himself against the horrible, gross distortions of his character. The new therapist understood Craig's sense of

outrage and injustice. But she told him that it was best to wait before trying to respond to the accusations. This was excellent advice. She helped him rehearse how to bypass a confrontation over the abuse allegations. The therapist then proceeded to use the divide-and-conquer approach combined with other techniques to successfully facilitate the reunion.

One of the biggest impediments to reconciliation occurs when a child is convinced that a parent is guilty of a major transgression, such as child abuse, domestic violence, or alcoholism, and the parent adamantly denies guilt. Both sides insist that they are telling the truth. And each expects the other's agreement before they can have a relationship.

Professional negotiators table the most difficult issues until the end of the negotiations. The idea is achieve success with more modest goals, and then build on those successes. The same goes for reconciling with

your children.

As much as possible, avoid arguments about whether or not you did the horrible things you are being accused of. Do not demand a resolution of this dispute when you are first trying to reunite with your child. I am not suggesting that you capitulate to your child's version of reality. Just table the discussion. Agree to disagree.

I cannot emphasize this enough. A premature attempt to resolve an explosive issue, particularly without the assistance of an experienced therapist, will not only meet with failure, it will blow up in your face, leaving a trail of destruction that makes the prospect of reconciliation even more remote.

I suggest telling your child something like this: "I know you and I have a big disagreement about what really happened. We both know we are not going to settle that today, so let's not even talk about it. Let's just try to have the best time we can. This is called 'agreeing to disagree.' It means that we are not going to waste our time trying to convince each other of who's right. Sometimes in life you have a disagreement that you can't settle right away. It doesn't mean we can't enjoy each other's company. Now, what would you like to do today?"

You will find it a lot easier to address the major allegations after you have built other bridges to your child's heart. In fact, you may find that the allegations need hardly be addressed once a reconciliation has been achieved. Naturally, none of this applies to parents who actually are guilty of the misdeeds attributed to them. In such case, you and your children will probably need professional guidance to build a healthy

rela-

tionship. Part of the work will involve facing up to what you have done, understanding its impact on your children, preventing any recurrence, and finding a way to atone.

NO ONE'S PERFECT

One of the hallmarks of children whose alienation is irrational is that they come to see one parent as a villain and the other as a hero. They need to be helped to appreciate that both parents have their good qualities and their bad qualities. Even the most virtuous parent falls short of perfection. Your children will be less likely to see you as all bad if they grasp this concept and if they learn that it is normal to have mixed feelings about people you love.

Review the section on selective attention in the preceding chapter. Show the children how easy it would be to form a negative opinion of anyone based only on their mistakes and worst performances. Remind them of a past time when they misbehaved. Point out that neither parent stopped loving them just because they did something bad, mean, or cruel. Explain your concern that if they only hear and think bad things about you, they will forget all the good things. Tell them that their other parent, like every parent, also makes mistakes, but that this does not and should not keep them from seeing the good in him or her.

A father taught this lesson using the indirect technique described earlier. He told his son, "I read in a book about this boy whose mom was very angry with his dad. Every time this mother talked about his dad, all she could think of were bad things to say. She was constantly criticizing him. Pretty soon this boy forgot that his dad, like everyone, was a mixture of good things and bad things. He forgot how his dad used to throw him up in the air and catch him. He forgot how his dad used to coach his baseball team. He was too young to remember how excited his dad was when the boy was born. But this boy's father loved him very much."

THINK FOR YOURSELF

"Mommy says all you care about is your girlfriend, that we're not important to you anymore, and that's why you left us."

The best response to this sort of comment is not, "She's wrong." It is "What do you think?"

The problem with the first approach is that it assumes that the children will accept your assertion, uncritically, in place of their mother's assertion. It teaches them to accept what you say because you said it. It does not teach them to think critically, to judge the facts for themselves. It leaves them in no better position to deal with all the other al-

legations about you that they might hear.

If the children are not taken in by the allegation, you can simply say something like, "I can see that you are too smart to be fooled into thinking I don't love you." But you should say something. Many wellmeaning parents work so hard to keep children out of the middle of divorce conflict that they say nothing. They may act as if they didn't hear the children, or they may change the subject. But they fail to help their children cope with bad-mouthing. Think about it this way: The children would not have mentioned the bad-mouthing to you in the first place if they weren't looking for a response.

"Daddy says you don't feed us healthy food." (Differences in attitudes about nutrition are a familiar battleground for divorced parents in conflict.) Instead of saying "That's nonsense," or something worse, ask the children what they think about it. "What have you learned in school about nutrition? Do you get sick a lot? Did the doctor ever say you weren't eating right? Did Daddy ever complain about this when we were married? Am I feeding you any differently now than I used to?"

After helping them think through the issue, you may want to help the children understand why their father would say something like this.

"I know Daddy and I don't make the same kind of meals. When you are older, you can decide for yourself what kind of food you think is best to eat. But why do you think Daddy says these things about me? Do you think he is really worried about your health, or do you think

maybe he says these things because he is still mad at Mom?"

When your children repeat something critical about you that they heard from your ex, resist the temptation to immediately correct the distortion. Instead, invite the children to judge for themselves. If necessary, help them consider the evidence for and against the statement. And then help them figure out what might have motivated their other parent to say these things about you. By engaging your children in this way, you encourage the virtue of rationality and strengthen their ability to resist mental manipulation.

BRAINWASHING 101

Whether or not the procedures presented above are successful in preventing or reversing alienation, an important aspect of helping children caught in the middle of their parents' battles is to educate them about divorce poison. This can help children who have already recovered their affectionate feelings cope with future exposures to divorce poison. And it can help open the minds and hearts of children who are still alienated.

A reminder: Any of the following strategies for educating children about brainwashing may be more effectively introduced through third parties and through the indirect means described earlier. Also, it is best to implement these strategies under the guidance of a therapist.

Victims of brainwashing—whether prisoners of war, members of cults, or alienated children—do not recognize that they are brainwashed. If you tell an alienated child that he is brainwashed, he will resent the implication that his attitudes are not his own. He does not recognize that he is a puppet controlled by the alienating parent. Indeed, a common feature of these children is their insistence that they have arrived at their negative attitudes about the target solely through their own independent judgment.

The process of helping children recover loving feelings for a parent has a lot in common with deprogramming cult victims. The key to recovering from divorce poison is to gain the insight that one has been influenced by it. It will be easier to demonstrate to a child that he has been brainwashed if he at least accepts the possibility of such an occurrence.

The first step, therefore, is to provide general information about how people can influence our thoughts and feelings. I recommend doing this in a graduated fashion. Begin with situations that are most removed from divorce poison. Choose something familiar to your children, such as television commercials and sales tactics. Show how these try to convince you that a product is worth buying. You will be more effective if you can coax the children to take an active part in the conversation. For example, challenge them to identify the particular strategies a commercial uses to influence consumers.

One day I took my two youngest grandchildren to a discount department store. A manufacturer's representative had set up a demonstration booth to pitch sales of a new type of sponge. He promised free gifts to people in the audience. My grandchildren begged me to stop shopping so

that we could attend the demonstration. Instead of telling them why I thought this was a bad idea, I decided to let experience be their teacher.

So we stayed. And stayed. And stayed. The sales pitch and demonstration were well crafted. The longer it went on, the more it seemed it was just about to end. With all the time we had already invested, why leave just before the free gifts were distributed? The audience was captivated.

Finally, the eagerly anticipated end came, and the gifts were given out. Each person received a five-by-seven-inch blue synthetic cloth, reputed to have near magic absorbency. Naturally the children were disappointed. They desperately wanted me to buy the sponge mop that was the ultimate subject of the demonstration. They were convinced that it was the greatest thing since sliced bread. But I wasn't buying it.

I patiently explained why.

Afterward, when the glow of the sales pitch wore off, we discussed the experience. The children were shocked to learn how much time they had given up to watch the show. I called their attention to some of the gimmicks used to maintain our attention: the promise of a gift; involving the audience by challenging them to guess the outcome of a particular part of the demonstration; not allowing questions until the very end; avoiding any mention of the product's drawbacks; keeping the price a secret until the end; claiming an artificially high list price in order to make the actual purchase price look like an incredible bargain. Typical sales tactics.

I was even able to get in a discussion of cognitive dissonance. After spending so much time watching the demonstration, I explained, people wanted to believe that it was a worthwhile venture. Instead of telling themselves that they wasted their time, they preferred to tell themselves that they were lucky to get such a wonderful bargain. What really convinced my grandchildren was when I asked them, "If the salesman told you at the beginning how long the demonstration would last, and he showed you the gift you were going to get, would you have watched the show?" The little blue rag is a constant reminder of a lesson learned. To assuage their regret, I reassured them that, in a way, their time was well spent. They learned something that would probably save them a lot of time and money in the future.

Once the principle of persuasion has been established, work your way closer to direct discussions of the situation in your family. This should be done over time, and spread out over several discussions. Introduce the idea of people trying to convince others to think about another person in

a certain way. Politician's speeches, propaganda, and ads are good examples. Before discussing your ex's behavior, try talking about divorce poison in general. Talk about something you read in a book, perhaps about how divorced parents sometimes bad-mouth each other. Better still, involve your children in reading a book that discusses such problems. Dr. Gardner's *The Boys and Girls Book About Divorce* has advice for children "when your mother talks about your father" and "when your father talks about your mother." Reading these sections together can provide a point of departure for conversations about the children's own family situation.

It is important to tailor the conversations to your children's age and maturity. Young children understand the concept of people "tricking" others. Eventually they can understand that sometimes one parent can trick them into being angry with the other parent in order to punish the target parent.

A mother told her son, "Sometimes children get mad at a mother because their father is angry and tricks the children into thinking that the mother is a bad person. Sometimes a child will forget all the fun things his mom did with him. After all, if the mom was so bad, why did the daddy marry her in the first place? She must have had many nice things about her for the father to fall in love with her and have children with her. But once parents get divorced, they may start thinking mainly about the bad things about each other. If the children keep hearing only about the bad things, they may forget about all the good things."

If the children are old enough, try discussing mind control that occurs in other contexts. Hypnosis is a good vehicle for such discussions. People are always fascinated with this topic. Since children like to show how smart they are, invite them to tell you what they know about hypnosis. Where have they seen it demonstrated? Do they think it is really possible to hypnotize someone into doing something without the person being aware of the external influence? It is very important that the children understand that a hypnosis subject will follow the hypnotist's suggestions while denying the hypnotist's influence. If your children can accept this idea—that people under the influence of posthypnotic suggestions act without awareness that they are hypnotized—it will be easier to convince them that they could be rejecting you because of your ex's influence.

Older children can also take part in discussions about brainwashing of prisoners of war, and enticement of people into religious cults. Such discussions are far enough removed from their own situation that they are less likely to shut you out.

Of all the advice in this book, the one that may be the most controversial is the recommendation to teach your children about how they are being manipulated by your ex. I can understand people's concern. In many divorces, parents mutually bad-mouth each other. Some of these parents will misuse my advice to avoid taking responsibility for their own behavior. They will use it as a license to continue bad-mouthing their ex. This is why I began the book with an entire chapter defining the delicate balance between constructive and destructive criticism.

Helping children understand how a parent has tried to poison their relationships is no more an example of bad-mouthing than is helping children understand a parent's physically or sexually abusive behavior. Authorities may disagree about what term best describes children who irrationally reject a parent. But most agree that these children have suffered a type of emotional abuse at the hands of the other parent.

Do alienated parents contribute to the problem? In many cases they certainly do. But this fact does not absolve the perpetrator from primary responsibility. The analogy with other forms of abuse holds. A mother may fail to prevent her husband from physically brutalizing their child. Any treatment program will certainly need to address her passivity. But we would never hold her equally responsible for the abuse.

Psychotherapists do not like to place blame. Effective treatment usually rests on the therapist's ability to accept a client's problems in a nonjudgmental manner. But therapists who are unaware of the dynamics of brainwashing will fail to recognize the importance of educating children about it. They may be too quick to advise alienated parents to wait passively, hoping that someday the children will change their minds.

Chapter 3 described the most common errors that alienated parents commit. I will remind you of them shortly. A key mistake is being too passive about responding to divorce poison. In recommending that you teach your children about what is being done to them, I am advocating an active approach. This is consistent with my conviction that children deserve help in navigating the difficult terrain of a high-conflict divorce.

FILMS AND TELEVISION

One of the best projective forms of communication with alienated children is the type that comes out of a movie projector. Stories, fairy tales,

and fables are the age-old ways of communicating life's important lessons to children. Movies and television shows are two modern ways. Fortunately, both the big screen and the little screen have produced shows that relate directly to many of the ideas that alienated children need to learn. Watching such shows with your children is an entertaining, low-anxiety strategy for introducing important themes. Certain shows will allow you to introduce the topics of mind control, hypnosis, brainwashing, parent-child relationships, even difficult divorces, in a relaxed atmosphere. The same children who would immediately shut down if you attempted to discuss their alienation will actively take part in a conversation about a hypnotized child or a brainwashed assassin.

I will present a brief list of shows to give some idea of the wide range of possibilities, and the potential of this strategy to help open communication between you and your children. I encourage you to be alert for others. In fact, I maintain a list of such "alienation busters" at the Divorce Poison Control Center on my website, www.warshak.com. I welcome additional suggestions from my readers. These shows can have value merely if your children watch them. (If you watch them together, at least you and they are sharing an enjoyable activity.) But the shows will have their biggest payoff if you can initiate a conversation about them and successfully engage your children in the discussion. The principles of indirect communication and graduated exposure are applicable here. Don't be too quick to relate the movie to your child's own situation. You do not want to arouse your child's resistance. Learning about related situations lays a foundation that you can draw on in future conversations. The temptation will be to move too quickly. Given the frustration of rejected parents, this is understandable. Try to resist the temptation. Opening a closed mind is a delicate operation. Take your time and you will more likely meet with success.

Here are some shows to get you started:

- Hook—for its clear portrayal of Captain Hook enticing a boy to renounce his father
- The Manchurian Candidate—for older children, a gripping film illustrating the frightening extent to which a person can be brainwashed
- The Wave—this hard-to-find video depicts a teacher's experiment to demonstrate how easily people can be manipulated to hate

- The Stepford Wives—a classic portrayal of women whose husbands have stripped them of their own will
- The Invasion of the Body Snatchers—can stimulate a discussion of people acting without volitional control
- Jack Frost—a movie about a boy whose father dies and comes back to life as
 a snowman. The film speaks volumes about the importance of a father to a
 child.
- Terms of Endearment—shows the importance of a mother to her daughter despite conflicts in their relationship
- Mrs. Doubtfire—portrays the pain of a parent being kept apart from his children
- Table for Five—shows that even a parent with many flaws occupies a unique space in the hearts of his children
- *The Honeymooners*—"The Hypnotist" and "The Sleepwalker," episodes in which Ralph Kramden and Ed Norton are hypnotized

I hope you get the idea. Now, bring out the popcorn, pop in a video, and begin your journey back to your child's heart.

BECOME A BETTER PARENT

Some of the parents reading this book will be too quick to blame their ex-spouses for their children's alienation rather than take responsibility for their own substantial contributions.

An eleven-year-old girl hated going to her father's house every other weekend. Every weekend was the same. The father stayed at his computer the entire time, while the girl watched television. The father was extremely isolated socially and had no contact with friends or family. The girl was not allowed to attend parties on these weekends, nor participate in soccer games, because the father was afraid that the girl would see her mother at these events. The father was adamant that the mother not have any more time with their daughter than she was entitled to by the terms of their divorce decree.

The girl did not complain to her father because when she did, the father called the mother, and the parents got in terrible arguments.

Month after month the girl complied with the schedule. She grew increasingly estranged from her father. When the mother learned of her daughter's unhappiness, she tried to modify the custody arrangements. She did not want to eliminate the father-daughter contact, but she did want to give her daughter more control over when it would occur. In response, the father accused the mother of brainwashing the daughter. By blaming her for the problem, he was missing the chance to learn what he could do to improve the situation.

Parents who are excessively self-centered or rigid may have a hard time creating an environment in which their children feel comfortable and welcome. These parents need to learn more about their children's needs and interests and about how to build a closer relationship. Blaming the ex-spouse, without doing anything to improve themselves,

will merely drive their children farther away.

If you have been accused of poor parenting, instead of automatically defending yourself, consider the possibility that there is some basis for the accusations. Get an objective appraisal of your parenting practices. If trusted friends and relatives tell you that you are too harsh with your children, or too lenient, or expect too much, or give too little attention, or show too little patience, it is likely that you have a blind spot when it comes to evaluating yourself as a parent. If a psychotherapist tries to explain how you have contributed to the problems in your relationship with your children, pay careful attention. Demonstrate the intelligence and the courage to admit when you are at fault. Read books on parenting. (I list my favorites in the Resources section.) Attend parenting classes. Learn more about your child's unique interests and personality. Build bridges with your child by engaging in activities that are mutually enjoyable.

One father whose son was beginning to turn against him exploited their common interest in collecting stamps. This gave them a comfortable way to relate without having to focus on their problems. Rather than tell his son that he was a rewarding parent to be with, he showed him. They went to stamp shows together, looked up stamps in a catalog, and compared collections. This was enough to reinforce their bond.

The days and weeks surrounding a marital breakup are a particularly volatile time in a family's life. Parents often say and do things they later regret. If you haven't already done so, apologize to the children for mistakes such as things said in anger about the other parent, revelations that

would have been better left unsaid, acts of violence, intimidation, harshness, or rejection.

Even if your ex-spouse takes your parenting deficiencies out of context, exaggerates them, and ignores your parenting strengths, it still makes sense to make yourself the best parent you can be. The more your behavior differs from what the children have been programmed to expect, the easier it will be for them to recognize that they have judged you wrongly. By using your ex-spouse's criticisms as a stimulus to self-improvement, you are acting more responsibly and removing yourself from the passive victim role. The result will be greater self-respect and confidence as a parent.

Being a good parent doesn't guarantee your children's love, respect, and trust. But it certainly doesn't hurt.

AVOID COMMON ERRORS

The suggestions in this chapter focus on what to do to protect your bond with your child. But there are also things you should try to avoid doing.

Targets of divorce poison usually respond in ways that make the problem worse. I have already emphasized the mistake of being too passive. You cannot watch idly as your children drift away from you. You cannot wait until they feel ready to see you. You may be waiting the rest of your life.

However, being with your children is not enough. How you treat them is what has the most impact. While you work to implement the strategies already discussed, do your best to follow the rules below. I am aware that these rules set a high standard that parents with the best intentions cannot always meet, but the more closely you follow them, the greater your chance of successfully helping your children cope with divorce poison.

Don't Lose Your Temper

Alienated children can be rude, obnoxious, hateful. They express, and provoke, great hostility. No one would blame the target of mistreatment for responding in kind. But it just makes things worse.

If your children are succumbing to divorce poison, they will be unfazed by your criticisms. They act with the blessings and encouragement of your ex, and they no longer respect you enough to want your approval. Besides, you won't win your children's affection by fighting with them or frightening them. Any aggression that you show, either verbal or physical, will merely play into the hands of your ex. It will be taken out of context and blown out of proportion and used to justify the children's rejection.

Don't Reject Your Children

In the early stages of alienation some target parents counterreject their children. They rebuke the children for their negative attitudes, and tell them, in effect, "Shape up or ship out." They expect, of course, the children to shape up. This might have worked prior to the onset of the alienation. But it no longer works when the children have lost respect for the parent or lost sight of their need for the parent.

Parents use this ploy before they appreciate the nature and seriousness of the problem. They never consider the possibility that the children will choose to sever contact permanently. By the time they realize their mistake, it is often too late.

Counterrejecting your children is the wrong move for several reasons:

- It breaks contact with your children, which is so crucial to resisting and reversing alienation. If the children become solely dependent on your ex, they may not be able to resist divorce poison on their own. Losing contact with them means losing the opportunity to help them escape or withstand the noxious environment.
- It stings the children who, despite their overt belligerence, at some level continue to need your love and acceptance. They will feel hurt and abandoned and express their pain with more anger and alienation.
- It sets you up to be seen by the children, and possibly by the court, as the bad guy who caused the alienation.

Pushing the children away will not bring them closer. Even if your push seems gentle to you, it could strike the mortal blow to your relationship.

Don't Try to End Alienation with Lectures

Lectures are rarely a useful response to negative feelings even with nonalienated children. Not only is your attempt likely to fall on deaf ears, it detracts from the quality of your time together. Instead, concentrate on creating conflict-free, pleasurable experiences. Good times together will do more to promote your bond than the most carefully crafted words.

Don't Dismiss the Children's Feelings

"You don't really hate Daddy." As with lectures, denying the reality of children's feelings won't make them go away. Even though you know their newly developed anger or fear are products of divorce poison, the feelings are real. Dismissing them will further entrench your children's estrangement. They will take this as evidence that you are not listening to them, or that you don't understand them, or that you don't care about their feelings. For the same reason, it is best to avoid arguing with your children about the origin of their negative attitudes. They may be using the exact same words as your ex, but if you deny the autonomy of their feelings, whether or not they realize what they are doing (and many times they do not), they will feel dismissed and insist that no one told them what to say.

This does not mean you have to dwell on negative feelings. In fact, other than acknowledging the feelings when first expressed, it is best not to become preoccupied with them. "I can see that you don't want to be here, but what can we do today that will be fun for both of us?"

Don't Overreact

If your children repeat a bad thing your ex has said about you, don't automatically conclude that the children are on their way to becoming

alienated. They may be repeating the comment because they are troubled by it. They may be wanting help from you. As calmly as possible, ask them how they feel about what your ex said. Express empathy for how uncomfortable it must be for them to have to hear such things. You want to make sure that your response to their revelation is not so angry that they will regret having told you.

Don't Bad-mouth Your Ex

You will accomplish nothing by bad-mouthing your ex except to give your children a genuine reason to feel uncomfortable around you. Before criticizing your ex to your children, review the test in chapter 1. This will help ensure that what you are about to say is truly for the children's benefit, and not merely to indulge your wish to retaliate. If your ex is trying to poison the children against you, find a constructive way to address the problem. Gratuitous insults will only make it harder for your children to benefit from your legitimate criticisms.

If your children are victims of divorce poison, they already have one home in which they have to listen to a parent being run down. Let them experience your home as a demilitarized zone, a respite from the hostilities. In time they may notice the difference and appreciate your stance. In fact, at an appropriate moment, you can draw their attention to the contrast: "Have you ever noticed how, when you are here, you don't hear me bad-mouthing your dad? This is how it should be for children whose parents are divorced. I read somewhere that children really wish their parents would stop putting each other down."

A grandfather was taken aback when his granddaughter asked him if he loved her mother, his former daughter-in-law. The girl's mother had been extremely destructive during the divorce. She threatened to kidnap her children, and she had attempted, with only partial success, to poison her children's relationship with her ex and his entire family. The grandfather wanted to answer honestly. But he also sensed that his grandchild was looking for reassurance, and for a way out of the tribal warfare to which she had been subjected. After a few seconds, he gathered his thoughts and responded: "You know that your mother says some very mean things about me, Nanna, and your daddy. She is still very angry with us. I'm sorry she feels that way. I

know it is hard for you and your sister when you hear Mommy talk like that. It makes it harder for me to feel friendly toward her when she acts that way. But I do love her. I love her because she and your daddy had you. There will always be a special place in my heart for the mother of my grandchild. I hope Mommy will get over her anger so that you can enjoy seeing us be friendly with each other. But even if she doesn't, you can love all the grown-ups who love you. And they will always love you."

DAMAGE CONTROL

Up to this point I have described how to deal with alienated children. But there may also be things you can do to encourage your ex to reduce the hostilities, which, in turn, will remove some of the impetus for divorce poison.

Right the Wrong

To whatever extent your ex's anger at you is partially a reaction to your misdeeds or mistreatment, you must face up to your responsibility and do what you can to set things right. If you were dishonest in your financial settlement, have your attorney propose a modification of the divorce decree. If your affair triggered the end of the marriage, apologize. It is important to show regret not just for your behavior but for the entire chain of events that resulted from the deed. Psychologist-attorney Dr. John Zervopoulos uses the analogy of a pebble dropped into a pond. The affair is the pebble. The concentric rings that emanate from the pebble in the water are the after-effects of the affair—the sense of betrayal, the breakup of the family, your spouse's depression, your children's embarrassment, the financial cost of the divorce, your children's anxiety. Your apology will have more meaning if you show that you understand the full ramifications of your actions.

Be More Cooperative

In general, think about what changes you can make to lessen the hostilities. Perhaps there is something you do that is particularly troublesome

to your ex. You may be too rigid when it comes to last-minute changes in the residential schedule of the children. Try to accommodate your ex when this would benefit the children. Avoid unnecessary harsh words. If you want the tone of your coparenting relationship to improve, take responsibility for initiating the improvement.

Reassure

A personal problem, such as alcoholism, substance abuse, depression, or impulsivity may have contributed to the failure of the marriage and your children's discomfort around you. Even if your ex exploits the situation to turn the children against you, provide the level of reassurance that your ex and the children have the right to expect regarding your state of recovery. Let them know that you recognize that you have a problem and that you are getting help for it. This will set a good example for your children about how to handle a difficult personal problem with honesty and dignity. Devise an explicit relapse prevention program and share this with your ex and with your children if appropriate. Because your communications may someday have legal ramifications, you may want to have your attorney review these before delivering them. You should be honestly apologetic, but you should not admit to things you didn't do merely to try to make peace.

Reassurance is particularly important if you are planning to remarry. As I discussed in chapter 4, remarriage, and the anxiety it stirs, often serves as a trigger for divorce poison. If you remarry, reaffirm to your ex-spouse your awareness of his or her central importance to your child. Emphasize your wish to cooperate in bringing up the children. If your ex remarries, communicate your intention to actively promote the children's relationship with their stepparent.

Send a Letter of Peace

In her excellent book *Between Love and Hate*, Lois Gold advises parents to write letters of goodwill to each other. The advantage of a letter is that it gives you a chance to organize your thoughts and express yourself with-

out getting drawn into a nonproductive argument. Ms. Gold believes, "If you are able to speak from the heart of your desire to move beyond the anger and destructiveness, you can often cut through your spouse's animosity and touch his or her deeper concerns also."

The letter should express your concern about how the children are being harmed by being caught in the middle of their parents' battles. It should affirm your desire to improve cooperation and shield the children from further damage. Your ex may dismiss your letter as self-serving and manipulative. But it won't hurt to go on record offering the olive branch.

Learn How to Negotiate

Unresolved conflicts between ex-spouses often sow the seeds for the discontent and animosity that drive divorce poison. The conflicts remain unresolved because one or both parents are poor negotiators. They may each take a firm stand using highly inflammatory, blaming language that sinks negotiations before they get under way. Neither one may understand the importance of recognizing the underlying needs and concerns that may be satisfied by positions other than the ones they rigidly advance and defend.

Good negotiation skills are indispensable if you continue to relate to a difficult ex. In the Resources section I list some books that can get you started on learning these skills.

ANN LANDERS'S RECONCILIATION DAY

Since 1989, Ann Landers has designated April 2 as Reconciliation Day. On this day, she urges everyone to make an effort to mend a strained or broken relationship. She also advises everyone to "accept the olive branch" extended to them. As Miss Landers explains, "Life is too short to hold grudges. To be able to forgive can be enormously healing and life-enhancing."

Each year the April 2 column includes letters from readers who took advantage of Reconciliation Day to reach out to someone with whom they had lost touch because of hurt feelings. Some letters describe success. Others describe failure.

I suggest sending this column to your children every year, and a copy to your ex. With it, send a note requesting contact, or better still, a follow-up phone call. It is a small effort that may yield a huge return. You never know when the words of Ann Landers and her readers will break through the wall of alienation. I would be very interested to hear from any readers who find success with this tactic.

With the exception of the Ann Landers column, all of the advice in this chapter assumes that you have some contact with your children. If you are denied any contact with them, then you must first work to reestablish this. If your ex will not cooperate with you, then it is time to get outside help.

CHAPTER 8

GETTING PROFESSIONAL HELP

Your best chance of helping children survive divorce poison is to work with a good psychotherapist and, if necessary, a good attorney. In some cases, professional assistance is essential. This chapter will help you decide when and how to seek professional help, and how to make the most of any help you receive.

WHEN TO CALL THE THERAPIST

Although technically "psychotherapy" is a different form of treatment from "counseling," in popular discussion the terms have come to be used synonymously. To avoid confusion I will use only the terms *psychotherapy* and *therapy and* not the term *counseling*. These terms refer to services provided by mental health professionals whose aim is to alleviate psychological disturbances.

In the immediate aftermath of their parents' separation, most children show some signs of distress. Don't overreact to these signs by rushing to the therapist. And don't assume that your children's difficult behavior means they are being poisoned against you. They may be just as difficult with their other parent. As long as you and the children have regular contact, and their attitude is not consistently negative over a long

period of time, the children may settle down after the divorce is final and everyone begins to feel more grounded.

If your children are brought into the middle of conflicts between you and your ex on a regular basis—if they are repeatedly exposed to badmouthing, or are asked to carry angry messages from one parent to the other, or are pressured or manipulated to devalue or distrust a parent—it is a good idea to consult a therapist. Even if the children show no out-ward signs of disturbance, the chances are that divorce poison is taking its toll or will do so in the future. A mental health checkup could not hurt. Children whose parents are locked in battle often hide their feelings from both parents. A therapist's office can be a safe harbor in which to express feelings and learn how to maintain love for both parents despite pressures to align with one against the other. If the therapist learns that your child is suffering as a result of the conflict between homes, the therapist may be able to use this information to motivate you and your ex to improve the situation.

Certainly if your child seems chronically disturbed, it is best to call a therapist. Symptoms of disturbance include excessive worries and fears, sadness, decline in school performance, irritability, sleep problems, behavior problems, and physical problems for which no medical basis is found, such as frequent aches and pains. Or your child may show the disrespect, rejection, and declining affection characteristic of children who are, or are becoming, alienated. If your best efforts to help the situation result in no improvement, it is time to call in the experts. When children consistently refuse to see you, you should not allow the situation to continue without getting help. The risk is too great that the lack of contact will entrench the alienation and make it all the more difficult to alleviate.

HOW THERAPY CAN HELP

When divorce poison reaches a moderate or severe level, family members see reality differently. Each parent blames the other for problems, while overlooking his or her own contributions. The children are pressured to take sides. Often the children see one parent as a saint and the other as a sinner.

A good therapist can bring a needed neutral perspective to the family conflicts. He or she challenges distortions of reality and encourages more realistic thinking. The therapist helps each member of the family under-

stand the needs and feelings being expressed through problematic behavior and find healthier ways to adapt. He or she teaches parents and children how to communicate clearly and directly. A breakdown in communication between parents allows the children to play one off against the other. Parents who are eager to hear bad things about the ex will uncritically believe their children's negative reports or be too quick to conclude that the ex is brainwashing the children. Sometimes, though, the children give each parent a different story. They may try to ingratiate themselves with the parents, get material advantages, or stir up conflict in order to release their own tension and anger. These types of manipulations are interrupted when the parents have reestablished effective lines of communication, and the therapist is the person who can facilitate this. The therapist also teaches everyone in the family how to negotiate with one another, rather than stubbornly hold to a single position that results in unresolvable conflicts.

A therapist's involvement with the child can assuage a parent's concern that the child is being abused in the home of the other parent; at the same time, therapeutic oversight protects a parent against false allegations of abuse. This type of oversight is usually preferable to onsite supervision of parent-child contacts; the supervisor's presence is apt to reinforce the child's sense that the rejected parent is dangerous

to be around.

Alienating Parents

Therapy with alienating parents helps identify the fears, hurt, and shame that often lie beneath the anger that drives divorce poison. It provides a forum for the safe release of hostilities. It helps parents resolve the anger rather than use the children to express it. It helps the parent who is holding on with hate to let go of the ex-spouse and move past the divorce. Therapy helps parents find other outlets for narcissism that do not involve putting down the ex-spouse. It provides the validation that a brainwashing parent often seeks for the disappointments and sense of betrayal he or she has endured, while restraining the expression of these disappointments through the children. It helps parents define clearer boundaries between their feelings and those of the children.

Therapy helps parents find more benign interpretations of the target parent's behavior. It provides a nonjudgmental atmosphere in which parents can safely admit that they have dispensed divorce poison; this is the first step toward resolving the problem. It helps parents find ways to apologize for their destructive behavior and to help mend the sabotaged relationships. When an alienating parent has decided to cease fire, the therapist will stress the importance of convincing the children of the change in attitude, of letting the children know that the parent now welcomes hearing good things about the other parent.

The therapist will educate alienating parents about the long-term damage caused by divorce poison. Parents will learn how their behavior undermines their children's self-esteem. (In *The Custody Revolution* I explain how and why a child's self-esteem suffers when the child turns against a parent.) They will also learn about how a child's problems in relating to a parent can generalize to other people and thus handicap the child's pursuit of gratifying relationships in the future. Even when an alienating parent continues to regard the ex as severely flawed, he or she may understand the need for children to learn how to deal with difficult people assertively, rather than passively avoid them.

Brainwashing parents will learn that continuing their destructive behavior may cost them custody of the children, and that ultimately it may cost them their children's affection. This may result from having taught their children to end relationships that become uncomfortable, rather than work on improving them. When conflict arises between the brainwashing parent and children, particularly when the children reach adolescence and young adulthood, the children may apply this lesson and end that relationship as well. Or the children may ultimately reject the brainwashing parent because they come to realize and resent their exploitation as soldiers in a war they had no business fighting.

Alienated Parents

Therapy with alienated parents helps them understand how and why divorce poison works, and what they need to do to counteract it. It provides needed validation of their worth as parents when they are under attack from the ex and the children. It supports their continued commitment to the children when they may be tempted to withdraw in defeat. It helps them avoid the common errors of target parents. It helps them strengthen their parenting skills. And it helps them exercise the damage control discussed in the preceding chapter.

In much of the work with alienated parents, the therapist offers specific guidance on how to relate to the children and deal with their hateful or fearful behavior. I think of this type of treatment more as coaching than therapy. Its aim is not to promote insight into personal motivations as much as it is to provide direct, concrete advice and strategies for managing a difficult situation.

In *very rare* cases a child's alienation is so severe that it resists all attempts to reverse it, and all possible remedies have been exhausted, including legal recourse. If the point of no return is reached, the therapist will assist the parent to prepare a letter or videotape formalizing the interruption of efforts to reunite, expressing the parent's lifelong love and commitment to the child, and leaving the welcome mat out for a future reconciliation. Because this communication is apt to be the child's only remaining tie to you, it is very important to have help in its preparation. See chapter 9, "Letting Go," for a detailed discussion.

Alienated Children

Therapy gives alienated children a neutral territory in which to air grievances. The therapist tries to help children extricate themselves from their parents' battles. Alienated children need to achieve a more balanced view of each parent rather than a polarized view of one parent as saint and the other as sinner.

The competent therapist is a voice of reason and balance. He listens carefully to the children and shows them that he understands. But he also gently confronts their corrupted view of reality. He encourages the children to judge for themselves the accuracy of each parent's allegations. Therapists are often in a better position to do this than target parents are. If your children are moderately to severely alienated from you, they may refuse to listen to what you say. Or, if you challenge them to think about whether they have been told the truth about you, they may feel that you are putting them in the middle. They may mistake your attempt to clarify reality as pressure to side with you against your ex.

In therapy alienated children learn how to stand up to parents who dispense divorce poison. They learn that they do not have to please one parent by hating the other. In some cases, they learn to recognize how they have been influenced and hurt by the battle between their parents.

In other cases, they reunite with a parent without ever explicitly acknow-

ledging the manipulations to which they have been exposed.

The therapist oversees reunions between children and their alienated parent and structures these in a manner that creates the least anxiety for all participants. He tries to help children regain their moral compass by pointing out the cruelty of their rejection of the target parent and reminding them that their abusive behavior would never have been tolerated when the parents were together. Even when children seem unreceptive to the therapist's words, the discussions plant seeds that may later bear the fruit of insight.

HOW YOU CAN HELP YOUR THERAPIST

The best patients take an active responsibility for their treatment. This is especially the case when it comes to psychotherapy. In addition to working hard to discover what you can do to contribute to the resolution of family problems, here are some things to do to make your therapist's job a little easier.

- Feel free to ask the therapist about his or her education, training, and thoughts about working with alienated children. A competent therapist will respond to such requests in a nondefensive manner, viewing them as an opportunity to build the trust that is a cornerstone of the therapeutic relationship.
- If you have read a book that you find helpful in understanding your situation, recommend it to your therapist, but don't insist that the therapist read it. And don't inundate the therapist with mountains of information downloaded from the Internet. Much of this is of limited value to therapists and they can get it themselves if they need it. A therapist's time is his livelihood. Unless he requests additional reading material, you should not impose on his time by providing it.
- Share with the therapist any reservations you have about the conduct of the treatment. Therapists welcome such discussions. Worries and criticisms that are expressed are less likely to sabotage treatment progress.

- Help the therapist understand the history of your relationship with your child. What special games and activities did you do together? (If you have trouble thinking of any special bonding activities, this might be a good clue about why your child has chosen to align herself with your ex.) If the therapist is unsure about the nature of your predivorce relationship with your child, offer to bring in greeting cards, photographs, videotapes, and other memorabilia that demonstrate the loving relationship that used to exist between you and your child.
- If your therapist criticizes your behavior, don't automatically dismiss him
 or her as biased against you. Take time to consider the feedback. If you don't
 agree with the therapist's appraisal, seek an opinion from someone else
 whom you can trust to be objective. It won't help to ask only the people who
 automatically take your side against your ex.
- In joint sessions with your ex or your children, be sensitive to the therapist's efforts to steer the conversation in the most productive direction. If you insist on "having your say," you may be trading long-term gains for short-term satisfaction.
- In joint sessions with your children, don't insist on analyzing the accuracy
 of every allegation made against you unless the therapist invites this. The
 time together is usually better spent working on the positive aspects of your
 relationship rather than rehashing old grievances.
- Keep all appointments promptly.
- Respect your therapist's personal life. Refrain from calling outside of normal business hours unless the matter truly cannot wait.
- Be patient. Therapy usually takes longer than you expect to produce solid gains.

It is important that you embark on a course of psychotherapy with hope but with reasonable expectations. Psychotherapy is not magic. Even the best therapists cannot help all families. All they can do is try to help you alleviate the problems. Their efforts may fail because you, or your ex, or your children, choose to ignore painful realities. The importance of people's choices is perhaps the most overlooked aspect of psychological

development. We are not merely products of our environment and our genes. For better or worse, each of us plays an active role in the development of our own personality.

SELECTING THERAPISTS

Locating the right therapist can be frustrating. Therapists come with different educational backgrounds and different training experiences. They come with different degrees and different certificates and licenses.

Psychotherapists can be clinical psychologists, psychiatrists, social workers, or counselors. Each discipline has its share of excellent, good, fair, and bad therapists. In the United States the use of the title psychologist is regulated by law. Most clinical psychologists have earned a doctoral degree (Ph.D. or Psy.D.) and completed an internship, although some may have a master's degree (M.A.), which takes fewer years in graduate school. Psychiatrists are medical doctors (M.D.), most of whom continued their training in a residency program following medical school. However, a physician may use the title psychiatrist without having completed a psychiatric residency. Most social workers and counselors have a master's degree, although some have a Ph.D. and others have only a bachelor's degree.

Look for a therapist with credentials and experience beyond the minimum required to hang a shingle. For a psychologist this could be a listing in the National Register of Health Service Providers in Psychology (see Resources at the end of this book). For a psychiatrist it could be the completion of a psychiatric residency. For a social worker it could be certification through the Academy of Certified Social Workers (ACSW) or status as an Advanced Clinical Practitioner (ACP). For counselors it could be a doctoral degree or status as a licensed professional counselor (LPC) in states where a license is not necessary to call oneself a counselor.

You should not choose a therapist, though, based solely on degrees, certifications, and licenses. Paper credentials are no guarantee of competence or expertise. Doing therapy with alienated children and their parents is a difficult professional challenge that requires specialized skills, knowledge, and experience. Select a therapist the way you would a surgeon. If you would not pick your surgeon from the telephone directory, don't choose a therapist this way. It is no exaggeration to say that your contact with your children may depend on getting the best help. Get rec-

ommendations from people you trust who are in a position to know which therapists work best with families such as yours.

Family law attorneys usually have enough experience with local professionals to make a referral. Your child's pediatrician may have some suggestions. Other parents who have been through similar situations may have located therapists with expertise in this area. Check with some of the organizations listed in the Resources section. If you have trouble locating a therapist in your geographical area, write to me

and I will do my best to help you find someone competent.

Working with people who intentionally or unintentionally poison their children's affections is one of the most difficult challenges for a therapist. It requires the willingness to temporarily suspend judgment while searching for the keys to understanding how parents could visit such abuse on their own offspring. This understanding must then be used to help parents channel their pain and personality deficits in another direction, one that protects their children. There are some truly gifted therapists—I'm married to one—who combine the exact amount of empathy and confrontation to promote understanding and change without chasing the patient away. They are able to gently yet firmly encourage better behavior. It is a delicate dance and as difficult to learn as it is to become a ballroom dancer by reading a book.

The right therapist may use terms such as parental alienation or PAS. Or the therapist may characterize her work as helping high-conflict families after divorce or alienated children. The term used is not important. What is important is that the therapist understand the roots of alienation and how to differentiate alienation that is primarily a result of divorce poison from other conditions. You also want a therapist who knows that children can be manipulated to hate a parent and that contact between the alienated children and rejected parent is usually essential to repairing the relationship. When allegations of abuse accompany the alienation, the therapist should have experience in working with children who have made such allegations.

It is very important to select a therapist who understands the unique importance of the parent-child bond. The therapist should regard the loss of this bond as tragic. Regardless of how well your child is functioning in other areas of life, the therapist should be extremely reluctant to throw in the towel and conclude that your child would be better off if you gave up your efforts to reunite.

If you live in an area where no therapist is known for expertise in working with alienated children, choose someone who has general experience in treating parent-child conflicts and who is willing to learn about effective interventions with victims of divorce poison. Show the therapist the list of resources at the end of this book.

Therapists to Avoid

It is well known in the professional community that some therapists do their clients more harm than good. When treating families in which divorce poison is rampant, too many therapists take sides in the tribal warfare and lose their objectivity. They meet with only one parent and the alienated child, conclude that the child's alienation is reasonable, and never speak with the rejected parent to get the other side of the story. Often these therapists have a poor understanding of the dynamics of brainwashing and thus have a hard time believing that a child's hatred could be the result of manipulation. They will recklessly offer opinions to the court about a parent they have never seen. They may write letters to the judge recommending that a parent have no contact or only supervised contact with the child. In some cases they go so far as to diagnose a parent they have never even met as a pedophile.

The best therapists judge their clients on the facts and not on preconceived biases. It is usually a mistake to choose a therapist who has worked extensively with your ex and your child without asking to meet with you. The very fact that you were excluded from the work must raise a suspicion of bias. How can a therapist expect to repair your child's relationship with you without seeing you or at least collaborating with your therapist?

Some therapists believe that children who reject a parent should be allowed to withdraw from contact until they change their attitude. These therapists hope that time and therapy alone will heal wounded relationships. In most cases they will be disappointed. And so will you if you put your hopes in such a therapist. Although research on treating alienated children is still at an early stage, every published study to date has reached the same conclusion: If a child's alienation is unjustified, the most reliable path to recovery is to get the child together with the target parent. Unless there are compelling circumstances that require postpon-

ing contact, one aspect of the treatment plan should be to have the child spend time with the rejected parent. If the therapist opposes this on principle, he or she is not the best therapist for the job.

Another type of therapist to avoid is one who is biased against either women or men. Even if the bias favors you, this type of bias compromises the quality of the treatment. But be aware that sometimes a therapist's reputation for bias is undeserved. It is important to investigate the source of the accusation, speak to the therapist about it, and give him or her a chance to explain. You may learn that the therapist has helped many mothers and many fathers. The allegations of bias may have originated from one disgruntled parent who blames his problems on the therapist's alleged prejudice rather than accepting personal responsibility.

If allegations of abuse accompany alienation, avoid therapists who believe that all such allegations must be true. You can recognize such therapists by their opinions that "children never lie" or "where there's smoke, there's fire." Either they are unaware of the professional literature in this area, or they have a personal ax to grind. Also, avoid any therapist who tends to deny the reality of child abuse and assumes that all such allegations are false.

The Selection Process

If you and your ex agree to seek professional help for the family, it is important that both of you have a say in choosing the therapist. Recommendations can come from your child's pediatrician, school, a former or current therapist, an attorney, friends, the local university or medical school, or a professional organization such as one listed in the Resources section at the end of this book.

When ex-spouses have a high level of mutual distrust, it is common for each to automatically reject any therapist proposed by the other. A good way around this problem is for both of you to write down the names of three to five therapists who have come recommended. Then agree to select the first therapist whose name appears on both lists. Another way to resolve disagreements is for each of you to designate one therapist and then have the designated therapists select a therapist they can both agree upon. If the animosity between you and your ex is too strong to allow even this level of cooperation, you can ask your attorneys

to select a therapist through the same processes. Attorneys who are oriented toward helping their clients resolve conflicts amicably will usually know several competent therapists whose work they respect.

If your ex will not agree to participate or allow your child to participate in receiving professional help, you may have no alternative but to ask your attorney for help. Your attorney may file a motion to ask the court to appoint a therapist and order both parents to cooperate with the treatment. A disadvantage of this approach is that it puts such an important decision in the hands of someone who knows little about your family. Often, the judge will ask the two attorneys to suggest a therapist they can agree upon, or to provide a list of therapists from which the judge will choose.

Even when both parents agree to consult a therapist, it is very often a good idea to secure a court order for treatment. This is particularly true when one parent actively opposes the child's having contact with the other. A court order at the outset ensures the continuity of treatment. Without such an order in place, as soon as the therapist expresses an unfavorable opinion or recommendation, a parent can drop out of treatment and prevent the child from getting help. Another advantage of a court order is that it can specify certain conditions of therapy that will maximize the chances of a successful outcome.

CONDITIONS OF TREATMENT

Suppose a ten-year-old child got fed up with writing book reports and decided to quit school. Let us further suppose that our fifth-grade dropout lives with her divorced father, a man who has never valued education and has often expressed this opinion to his impressionable daughter. The girl's mother seeks my help to get her child back in school. What can I accomplish?

If I have access only to the mother, I can coach her about how to speak with her daughter and ex-husband about the issue. I might also suggest that she enlist a third party to try to reason with the child, such as an older cousin whom the girl admires. But if the father does not respect the mother's opinion, and actively encourages his daughter to stay home from school, my coaching is not likely to be helpful.

Suppose this mother gets a court order that requires the father to see

me in therapy and bring his daughter as well. Even then, if the man steadfastly opposes education, continues to undermine his child's respect for school, and stubbornly refuses to make her attend, my efforts would most likely fail.

This situation is analogous to a pathologically alienated child, a child who irrationally rejects one parent primarily as a result of the other parent's influence. But there is one essential ingredient missing from our scenario of the fifth-grade dropout: the truant officer. In real life the mother and therapist would not have to change the father's attitude before getting the girl back to school. They would have the law on their side to enforce the child's attendance. The therapist could then work with the father and daughter to help them accept the circumstances imposed by the law. Over time, the therapist might help them appreciate the value of an education. (To home schoolers: I am not suggesting that a child's education must take place in a schoolhouse. In our scenario the father has no respect for any type of education.)

The point of this exercise is that a psychotherapist is relatively impotent to effect change in a child when the parent in authority adamantly refuses to recognize the problem or do anything about it. For therapy to have the best chance of success with alienated children, we must have the equivalent of a truant officer. The force of the law must make itself felt in the consultation room. This is usually accomplished with court orders.

The Role of the Court

Effective court orders do more than merely appoint a therapist and require the child and parents to participate in treatment. The best court orders establish:

- Prohibitions against either parent's taking the child to see a therapist not mutually agreed upon or appointed by the court
- An exact schedule of contact between the child and each parent that gives the child sufficient time with the alienated parent
- Prohibitions against encroaching on the child's time with the other parent by arranging special activities that conflict with this time

- Clear procedures for how and where the parent-child contacts will take place
- Neutral transfer sites, such as the school, when open hostility between the parents is expected
- Low-conflict methods, such as E-mail and faxes, for the exchange of important information about the children, such as report cards and schedules of athletic games and scout meetings
- Restrictions and regulations on the alienating parent's contact with the child when the child is with the other parent
- A procedure to change the schedule as needed
- A mechanism through which the court can get information about the progress of treatment and the therapist's recommendations
- Explicit, specific, and clear penalties for failure to comply with the court's directives

This last point is crucial. The orders are effective only if they are enforced. Violations of the orders that go unpunished generally encourage the violator to continue to flout the authority of the court. Very often, court orders do not specify the consequences for failure to comply. I think this is a mistake. In most cases, it is better if both parents know ahead of time how the court will respond to violations.

The orders should include a continuum of consequences from less to more severe, with stiffer penalties for each subsequent offense. If a parent is very late in bringing a child to a scheduled transfer, the parent may have to assume more of the responsibility for driving the child to and from the other parent's home. If the child misses scheduled time with a parent, the orders can provide for makeup time.

Financial penalties can include the requirement that a parent pay fines, post a bond, or pay court costs and all attorneys' fees for extra court hearings that are needed to rule on violation of the orders. Some states grant courts the power to suspend the driver's license of people who are found in contempt of court orders or order them to perform community service. Other penalties include imprisonment or being placed under house arrest. The use of such punishments may seem harsh or excessive, but actually they are not that different from those the court would use against a parent who failed to pay court-ordered alimony or child support. In some cases the judge makes the alienating parent apologize to

the children and the other parent in the courtroom and pledge not to interfere in their relationship again. Or the judge may have the parent write a letter of apology to other individuals who were involved in the campaign against the alienated parent, such as coaches and teachers who had been misled about the target.

When a parent repeatedly refuses to cooperate with the court orders and continues to obstruct the children's contact with the other parent, the court may transfer custody and severely restrict the children's contact with the alienating parent. Just the threat of this occurring may be enough to motivate the alienating parent and the children to change their behavior. The result may be the resumption of a positive relationship between the children and their other parent without a transfer of custody.

I worked with one family in which three girls refused to spend any time with their mother. After eighteen months of no contact, the mother filed a motion to obtain sole custody of the children. The judge gave her temporary custody of the children for the entire summer, ordered the family into therapy, and carefully regulated the children's access to their father. Over the next few months, as the children regained their affection for their mother, their contact with their father gradually increased until they were spending about equal amounts of time in each home. At this point, knowing that he could lose custody if the alienation returned, the father ceased his brainwashing.

Absence of Confidentiality

Usually when people consult a psychotherapist, they expect their communications to remain private. The rule of confidentiality is a cornerstone of doctor-patient trust. But therapy for divorce poison often requires a relaxation of this traditional rule. In order to effectively explore and resolve disagreements, the therapist must be free to bring up with one family member issues raised by the others. This does not mean that the therapist haphazardly reveals everything. One of the arts of conducting psychotherapy is deciding what, when, and how to reveal information. An experienced and good therapist (experience by itself is no guarantee of competence) uses discretion. Information is revealed when there is a good chance that the revelation will further the goals of therapy. Information is

withheld when it is likely that the repercussions of revelation will cause more harm than good and interfere with the progress of treatment.

Everyone in the family also needs to know that, depending on the conditions of treatment set up by the court and the laws of your state, what goes on in therapy may be revealed to the attorneys and the judge. If parents are not able to resolve their dispute outside of court, the therapist's records may be subpoenaed and the therapist may be compelled to testify.

Of course, knowing that their words and behavior may be subject to the scrutiny of the court, parents are apt to be selective in what they say. They will try to appear cooperative and reasonable. They will hide behavior that would cast them in a bad light. They will present them-

selves as "new and improved" parents.

This type of posturing may not be entirely bad. In the process of trying to look good, people often become better parents. Everything they do to make a good impression on the judge can simultaneously benefit the children. They may be more attentive to the children than usual. They may be more patient. They may become more involved in school activities. They may be more supportive of their children's relationship with the other parent. All of these improvements, even if calculated to impress the court and gain advantage in a custody battle, can help the children.

Communication Between the Therapist and the Judge

One issue that must be decided prior to beginning treatment is how involved the therapist will be in court proceedings. Sometimes the therapist reports directly to the court if there are problems in the treatment, if a parent does not cooperate with court orders, or if the schedule of contact needs to be adjusted.

In one case, a therapist was appointed by the court to facilitate a child's relationship with his father after the child was kept from his dad for three years. The mother used the father's first name when talking with the child about him and told her son that the man was dangerous and evil. The therapist attempted to use a gradual approach to reunite the child with his father, while allaying the mother's concerns about her son's safety. When the therapy reached the point of having the child meet in a joint session with his father, the mother refused to cooperate and claimed that she would

not force her son to be in the same room with such a horrible man.

The therapist informed the judge and the attorneys of the impasse. He suggested that the goal of healing the father-son relationship was feasible if the treatment plan included having the boy live with his father for a significant block of time and carefully regulating his contact with his mother. The judge went along with the therapist's recommendations. The mother, who was already upset with the therapist for even attempting to place the boy in the same room with his father, was now furious with the therapist. As a result, she did not benefit from subsequent therapeutic sessions. Her son was very upset with the judge's new order and initially withdrew from the therapist. After a very short time, though, the boy established a close bond with his dad and a warm relationship with the therapist. Eventually this boy was able to express love for both his father and his mother. And despite his mother's denigration of the therapist, the boy looked forward to his sessions and expressed regret when the treatment came to an end.

The obvious drawback to an arrangement where the therapist makes recommendations to the court is that as soon as the therapist does so she will be seen as taking sides in the dispute between the parents. If, for example, the therapist tells the court that the children are ready to spend more time with their maligned father, the children and their mother will see the therapist as an enemy. This will make it difficult for the therapist to keep them meaningfully involved in treatment. The father may also resent the therapist's testimony, believing that the therapist did not go far enough in supporting him or in criticizing the mother.

To circumvent this problem, some courts appoint another professional to oversee the progress of the case, talk with the therapist and other relevant people, such as the child's teacher, and make recommendations to the court when changes are needed. The therapist is explicitly shielded from participating directly in the litigation. Attorneys are not permitted to subpoena his records, and they cannot require him to testify in court. The "go-between" professional may be called a special master, a parenting plan coordinator, a case manager, or a guardian ad litem. Legal or mental health professionals can fill this role, depending on where the case takes place. When speaking to the court, in order to protect the therapist's relationship with the parents and children, this person attempts to conceal the exact source of information that led to the recommended

changes. The hope is that the parents will continue to see the therapist as neutral in their disputes, and that the alienated children will not hold it against the therapist if the court requires them to spend more time with the hated parent.

In some cases this approach has merit, but it has at least three significant problems. First, even though an attempt is made to conceal the therapist's true opinions, the parents can usually figure out that something the therapist told the go-between led to the new court orders. Second, the legal requirement of due process may conflict with this model. In our courts a person has the right to confront the evidence that is used in a trial. If a case manager bases a recommendation on something the therapist has reported, both parents may have the right to know what that information is, and to put the therapist on the witness stand in order to verify the therapist's report. Third, this approach is more expensive, because it requires parents to pay for the services of the additional professional and to pay two fees when the go-between meets with the therapist.

There is a third option for a therapist's involvement in court proceedings that is something of a compromise between making recommendations in court versus avoiding any participation in the litigation. Under this option, the therapist testifies strictly about the current and past status of treatment, without offering any recommendations regarding such matters as the child's schedule of contact with each parent. When asked for such a recommendation, the therapist responds that she does not have all the information she would need to make a recommendation. If the therapist has worked with only one member of the family, and has had no communication with therapists of the other family members, this is probably accurate. If the therapist does have knowledge of the entire family system, though, she may not be able to testify honestly that she has no recommendations regarding the schedule.

Let us suppose that the therapist has concluded that a father is actively brainwashing his child against the mother and that the child's only hope for forming a more realistic view of his mother is to have a longer block of time with her than the every-other-weekend schedule currently in place. If the therapist is asked in court what it would take for the child to make progress toward the treatment goals, an honest answer would be to recommend a change in schedule. The only alternative is for all the attorneys in the case to agree not to require the therapist to

offer a specific recom-

mendation. Instead, another professional is appointed to make recommendations. These recommendations are based on his own investigations of the family, the therapist's account of the treatment and her opinions about the reasons for the lack of progress, and his own knowledge about how to reverse alienation. Although this third option keeps the therapist from having to endorse recommendations that one parent sees as unfavorable, the parents still hear the therapist's opinions about why the child has not made more progress. This testimony itself is likely to anger whichever parent is seen as contributing most to the lack of progress.

Models for providing treatment to high-conflict divorced families are in a very early stage of development. Different approaches are used in different parts of the country. At present there is no research that allows us to conclude which approach is best. My best guess is that each approach will work well in some situations and not as well in others. Because therapy with these families is such a delicate process, a difficult professional challenge even for the most experienced therapists, I recommend providing the additional insulation for the therapist if the family can afford it and the laws allow it. There may be a psychological advantage to having this cushion between the therapist and the court. Even when the parents know where the recommendations originate, it may sting less to hear a case manager or guardian ad litem make them than to read them in the therapist's report or hear the therapist make them from the witness stand. But I am not convinced that this insulation is essential, or even superior to the approach where the therapist is allowed to testify in court or report to the judge and attorneys on the current status of treatment and on recommendations for accelerating the progress of treatment.

Single versus Multiple Therapists

Another decision that must be made before beginning treatment is whether to have one therapist for the entire family or one therapist for each member of the family. Each approach has advantages and disadvantages.

Having one therapist instead of several saves a lot of expense. Also, it avoids problems that arise when more than one therapist is involved with a family. Twenty-five years ago Dr. Gardner wrote about the drawbacks of each parent's consulting a separate therapist. In recent years,

other therapists have noted the same problems. Therapists who hear only one side of the story may lose their objectivity and adopt the distorted positions held by their patient. If they do so, they may contribute more to the problem of ruptured family relationships than to the solution. When a single therapist works with the entire family, there is less chance that the therapist will be taken in by each person's reality distortions. There is a greater chance that the therapist will have an active awareness of each person's contributions to the problems.

The major disadvantage of the single-therapist approach is that it is quite difficult to carry out successfully. The therapist must strive to understand each person's perspective, and communicate this understanding to each member of the family. At the same time, the therapist must promote changes in attitudes and healthier family functioning.

This role is familiar to family therapists.

The therapy may flounder when the therapist conducts joint sessions with various family members. At least one of the participants is likely to be disappointed that the therapist was not more of an advocate for his position. If the therapist's input is seen as playing a role in court decisions, whichever parent was most unsatisfied with the court's actions will probably hold it against the therapist. It is easy to appreciate the delicate balancing act that a therapist must perform in order to simultaneously maintain the positive regard of the children and both parents over the course of treatment. If the problems in the family are too severe, if a person is too rigid and unyielding in his distortions of reality, even the most skilled therapist is likely to meet with failure.

To avoid these pitfalls, sometimes a separate therapist works with each member of the family. This approach has its own problems. In order to avoid the problems discussed above when a therapist hears only one side of a story, the therapists must remain in close contact with each other. They must schedule periodic conferences to keep each other informed of their progress and insights and to coordinate their efforts. Naturally, such conferences, in which each therapist charges for his time, add to the expense of the treatment. The logistics of coordinating the schedules of four or more professionals to locate a time for conferences often results in less than optimal communication among therapists. Even with good communication, the more therapists there are, the greater the chance that one of them will lose objectivity and accept the distortions of his patient. If this problem is not resolved early enough, it could sabotage the entire team's efforts.

I consulted on one case in which a therapist was taken in by his thirteen-year-old patient's misrepresentations. The therapist became a strong and vociferous advocate for his patient. Despite the reservations expressed by the other therapists involved with the family, the therapist testified in court that his patient was afraid of his mother and should not be forced to spend time with her or even talk to her on the phone. The therapist recited a long list of alleged misbehavior by the mother that he thought justified his patient's alienation. In reality, the boy was extremely hostile toward his mother, openly denigrated her, and showed not the slightest fear in her presence. The allegations of her misconduct were typical distortions of an irrationally alienated child. In fact, the child was actually afraid of his father, whom he desperately tried to please by going along with the campaign of hatred against the mother. Not only did the therapist fail to help the boy repair his relationship with his mom, in his zeal to defend his patient's "right" not to see his mother, he overlooked the high price the boy was paying for his alienation. The longer the boy remained out of touch with his mom, the more his mental health deteriorated. Eventually, the boy became so depressed that he had to be hospitalized. Even then, the therapist insisted that the mother not be allowed to visit her son in the hospital. The boy did not begin to recover until he was assigned a new therapist, who worked toward reuniting mother and son.

If several therapists are going to be involved with the same family, it is easier if the therapists are all part of the same practice or close professional associates. Communication is less of a problem because the group practice may hold regularly scheduled conferences to review their cases. When therapists have worked together for a long time, they are more receptive to each other's feedback. They are less likely to disrupt the team effort by overidentifying with their patient's distortions and becoming adversarial toward other family members and their therapists.

In our work with alienated children and their parents, my wife and I have developed a model that capitalizes on the strengths of both the single therapist and multiple therapist approaches, while minimizing the drawbacks of each. Both of us meet initially with each member of the family. We then divide up the therapeutic work. Some members of the family see my wife in therapy; the others meet with me. Usually one of us sees one parent, while the other sees the other parent and the children. When the parents meet together in a joint therapy session, both therapists are present. Both parents find it reassuring that their therapist participates in

the joint session. Both parents feel that they have an ally. The odds that either one will walk away from a joint session feeling unsupported by his or her therapist are much less than with a single therapist. Yet the parents are unable to manipulate either of us to accept their distortions, because we have many opportunities to discuss between ourselves our impressions of the family. Thus, the treatment enjoys the benefits of the multiple-therapist approach, but does so without the great cost of having a separate therapist for each member of the family.

As with the issue of whether or not the therapist should have contact with the court, we don't yet have research studies that allow us to conclude whether it is better to have a single therapist, two therapists, or more. Some families will probably do best with one therapist. Other families will benefit from having the talent of several therapists at their disposal. The time to decide this issue is usually before treatment begins. The person who helps decide it is usually the mental health professional who first evaluates the entire family.

CHILD CUSTODY EVALUATIONS

If your family's problems with divorce poison reach the courthouse, the chances are that your first encounter with a court-appointed mental health professional will not be for therapy; it will be for a custody evaluation.

In order to sort out the cross-allegations that are common to disputes about child custody or child placement schedules, courts often appoint a mental health professional to conduct a thorough evaluation of the family. Depending on the provisions of the court order, the evaluator will send a report of the findings and recommendations to the judge, the attorneys, or both.

Court-ordered evaluations often play a pivotal role in the outcome of cases in which there is actual or alleged alienation. This is good if you have a competent and thorough evaluation. You can have confidence in an evaluator who

- treats you with respect and fairness
- · takes enough time to get to know your family
- carefully investigates the history of family relationships

- uses more than one procedure to learn about your family, such as interviews and direct observations of you and your ex with the children
- gives you enough time to say what you need to say
- interviews other people who know your family
- administers, scores, and interprets psychological tests accurately (if tests are given) (You would not know this unless another professional reviews the evaluator's work.)
- seriously considers the possibility that your children have been subjected to divorce poison
- uses special procedures to bypass the potential effects of programming on the attitudes expressed by your children during the evaluation
- carefully investigates allegations of abuse and domestic violence
- does not automatically assume that in high-conflict divorces both parents are equally at fault
- develops a comprehensive and detailed understanding of the factors that have resulted in your child's alienation
- develops a balanced view of each parent's strengths and limitations
- understands that personality weaknesses in parents and less-than-perfect parenting skills do not ordinarily justify a child's total rejection
- clearly recognizes the importance of children's relationships with both parents
- does not allow personal, cultural, and gender biases to influence the evaluation
- does not rely on unproven psychological theories or misapplication of accepted theories (Again, you would not know this unless another professional tells you.)
- considers alternative interpretations for the findings
- pays attention to information that does not support the conclusions of the evaluation

- provides a clear explanation of the basis for conclusions and recommendations
- draws conclusions that are consistent with the information gathered in the evaluation
- makes recommendations that flow logically from the conclusions

If your evaluation meets these criteria, whether or not the findings and recommendations are what you had hoped for, I advise you to seriously consider using the evaluation to guide your resolution of your dispute.

Ûnfortunately, many custody evaluators appointed by a judge fail to meet these high standards. Many so-called impartial court-ordered custody and sex abuse evaluations are incomplete, incompetent, and far from impartial. They suffer from numerous and critical flaws that don't merely detract from their value but also seriously undermine the court's search for the optimal custody disposition.

What should you do if you have good reason to believe your evaluation was not fair or competent? First, discuss your concerns with your attorney. Many parents automatically dismiss conclusions and recommendations that are disappointing. Yet we all have blind spots that keep us from seeing ourselves as others see us. A good attorney will try to help you see things more objectively. If your attorney recommends that you accept the evaluator's recommendations, give this advice from your ally your most careful consideration. Your attorney may not be right, but you should certainly entertain the possibility that you are wrong.

After you first hear the examiner's findings, allow yourself time to process the information. It may help to seek the counsel of someone you trust to be objective, such as a therapist, a religious leader, or a wise relative who has stayed out of your family's conflict. You don't want to ask the opinion of friends or relatives who have joined in the tribal warfare. You already know they will take your side, and that is not what you need at this time.

Ask yourself if the examiner took all the important information into account. Were her statements factually correct? Did she discover reasons for your child's negative feelings that you had not thought of? Or did the evaluator place too much emphasis on your child's trivial excuses for the alienation, or on your child's wildest allegations about your behavior? Did the examiner attribute your child's alienation to your behavior, even though similar behavior in other divorced parents does not generally cause a child to be so totally rejecting? Did the examiner fail to consider

that your child had a better relationship with you before your ex started bad-mouthing you, or before the divorce, even though you showed the same type of behavior and personality traits in the marriage that your child now sees as enough reason to reject you?

If after all this thinking and discussion you believe that your evaluator is mistaken, what should be your next step? Do what you would do in any other situation in which you were unsure of a doctor's recommendation. Get a second opinion. When I am asked for a second opinion, I will review as much information as possible to give parents, their attorneys, and the court a thorough analysis and critique of the evaluation.

As I wrote in *The Custody Revolution*, I am repeatedly chagrined at the incompetence that passes for professional work in this realm. Obvious biases are disguised as pronouncements of established scientific fact. Lawyers have a term for the serious-sounding deceptions of pseudo-science that trade on the respect accorded real science and masquerade as the real thing in court. The term is *junk science*. I am sorry to say that *junk science* is widespread in the work and testimony of court-appointed experts.

Inexperienced Evaluators

One reason it is so difficult to locate an excellent custody evaluator is that many of the professionals doing this work are inexperienced. Conducting a custody evaluation is a stimulating professional challenge. It is an opportunity for the professional to contribute meaningfully to the best interest of children caught in the crossfire of their parents' war. But the rewards of the challenge are soon outweighed by the mental anguish, the threats (of violence, malpractice suits, and complaints to licensing boards), the schedule disruptions necessitated by being on call to give testimony, and the unpaid bills that are part and parcel of this work. As a result, many seasoned veterans refuse court appointments for this work. Among those who remain in the field, a large percentage are handicapped by lack of experience.

The practice of managed care has driven many psychologists and psychiatrists into the courtroom. They are able to charge higher fees for their services, and they do not have to rely on third-party providers to approve their charges. Some of these evaluators have years of experience and finely honed skill in conducting evaluations and psychother-

apy with

their office patients. However, these skills do not automatically transfer to work that will influence custody dispositions.

An evaluation for court purposes requires different types of interview techniques and different approaches to interpreting the results of clinical examinations and psychological tests. One obvious difference: A psychotherapist must be concerned with building and maintaining a good relationship with the patient. This goal dictates the therapist's choices regarding the conduct of treatment, choices such as when to ask questions, when to probe for more details, when to challenge the patient, and when to allow contradictory statements to pass without comment. In gathering information for the court, however, the examiner is more concerned with getting specific details, resolving contradictions, and evaluating the credibility of the participants. The examiner can risk alienating a forensic client because the relationship will not continue past the litigation.

Another difference between purely psychotherapeutic work and work that involves legal decisions concerns the degree of confidence the expert must have in the opinions expressed. A therapist can afford to form a tentative hypothesis about a person's problems and share this with the patient. If the therapist is wrong, subsequent work will reveal this and allow the therapist to revise his or her interpretation. But when the interpretation influences a decision that will have a lifelong effect on the psychological welfare of all the participants, the expert had better have a higher degree of certainty before expressing an opinion. Usually

no opportunity exists to correct errors.

Even professionals who are experienced in conducting custody evaluations and enjoy excellent reputations in their community are often weak when it comes to identifying the process of parental alienation. Special interview techniques are necessary to unmask systematic programming. Detailed knowledge of brainwashing helps the examiner know where and how to look for evidence of indoctrination. Many examiners lack this knowledge.

I hasten to add that there are many hardworking exceptional professionals whose contributions to the resolution of difficult child custody disputes are nearly priceless. But, as in any profession, there are also those whose work falls far below acceptable standards. A second opinion can help you and your attorney understand where an evaluator went wrong, and whether the errors were substantial enough to change the basic conclusions and recommendations. If so, your attorney will need to

expose the flaws of the evaluation and ask for a new evaluation, or at least ask the court to give little if any weight to the evaluator's report and testimony.

But remember, don't be too quick to dismiss the evaluator's recommendations because they are not what you had hoped for. The evaluation report may be your last opportunity to avoid the spirit-sapping bitterness of a trial in the family law court, which one California judge described as "the place where they shoot the survivors." Don't let disappointment and anger lead you to irrationally cast aside the treasure of a good evaluation. In your quest for your children's love, it could be your biggest mistake.

PHASING IN VERSUS MOVING IN

Even among 91 mental health professionals who agree that an alienated child should be forced to spend time with the rejected parent, there is disagreement about how to bring this about. Some therapists recommend beginning with brief contacts and then gradually expanding these. When alienation is not too severe, this may work. In many cases, though, I have found this not to be the best way to repair relationships.

As I have discussed several times throughout the book, divorce poison is most potent when the child is isolated from the target parent. A daylong or even weekend contact may be an insufficient antidote. Many alienated children require more time to emerge from the shadow of the alienating parent and respond positively to the target. When these children first arrive at the home of the alienated parent, if they are not loudly and rudely expressing their hatred, they are acting sullen, withdrawn, and emotionally frozen. Over time the icy barrier of their negative attitudes melts under the warmth of the parent's love and attention. Generally, the older the children the longer they maintain their angry withdrawal and the more time is needed for the thawing process.

When children have been isolated for several months or more from a parent with whom they previously enjoyed a close relationship, and they are now severely alienated, I have seen the most success when they are placed with that parent for at least one month. Rather than gradually phase in contact with the formerly loved parent, we reverse the process. The children move in at once and then gradually phase back into the life of the alienating parent. This assumes, of course, that

the alienated parent

can manage the responsibilities of caring for the children on a daily basis and can provide a good environment for the children. Also, this usually works best with children younger than fifteen years old.

While the children live with the target parent, I recommend carefully restricting and regulating their contact with the alienating parent. We begin with a period of no contact, followed by phone contact, then brief in-person supervised contacts, and then more extended contact. Everyone in the family is made aware that I will be constantly evaluating the progress the children make with the rejected parent and the impact of contact with the other parent on this progress. This serves as an incentive for both parents to minimize divorce poison, and it motivates the children to treat the rejected parent with greater respect. At first this better treatment may not be heartfelt. Nicer behavior toward the target, though, can awaken dormant warm feelings. Also, when the children are not outwardly rebuffing overtures of love, it makes it easier for the alienated parent to keep making those overtures.

In some cases the alienating parent continues active efforts to program the child against the target. If these efforts are successful, and retard or reverse the recovery process, the contacts are supervised, reduced, or temporarily eliminated. If the child's renewed bond with the target is strong enough to withstand efforts to poison it, the contacts with the alienating parent continue and are increased when appropriate.

Also, as mentioned in the previous chapter, the recovery of loving relationships is often easier when siblings are separated. The child who is least alienated is the first to move in with the rejected parent. When that relationship is on a strong footing, the other children are introduced into the alienated parent's home. In some cases, the other children spontaneously ask to spend time with their rejected parent when they

see their sibling benefiting from the relationship.

Children who are poisoned against a formerly loved parent should not be confused with those who never had a relationship with a parent and whose other parent is not promulgating alienation. In cases, for example, when a parent who had previously abandoned an infant returns and claims the right to see the child, it is often best to expose the child to the parent in a gradual manner and allow the relationship to develop naturally. If the other parent supports the developing relationship, and the returning parent treats the child with sensitivity and understanding, this phasing-in approach will work best for everyone.

It is important to consider the individual circumstances of each case

and craft a plan that fits the circumstances, rather than squeeze every family into the same treatment. Also, I remind the reader of the many conditions discussed in chapter 3 that are either not alienation or are not alienation that results from a parent's malignant influence. These conditions require different treatments from the ones prescribed in this book for victims of divorce poison.

The importance of reuniting children with the alienated parent does not necessarily mean that the children should permanently spend more time with the target parent than with the alienating parent or that legal custody should necessarily change. If efforts to reduce divorce poison are unsuccessful, the alienating parent will continue to do a poor job of supporting the children's relationship with the target. In other respects, though, the alienating parent may be better situated to manage the children. For example, a mother who influences her children to turn against their father may be more available during the school week to supervise the children. Or the father may have limited skills in dealing with the routines of the school week and easily lose his patience. The custody decision must ultimately rest on a careful consideration of all the factors that influence children's welfare and of each parent's capacity to provide a healthy growth-promoting environment. Certainly the emotional abuse I call divorce poison should weigh heavily in the decision. But it should not be the sole criterion to the exclusion of all other factors.

MOVING OUT OF ONE HOME WITHOUT MOVING INTO THE OTHER

In some families moving in with the alienated parent cannot be accomplished without incurring too great a risk of harm to the child. Yet if the child remains in the alienating parent's home he stands little chance of escaping divorce poison and renewing a bond with the other parent. In such cases courts can consider placing the child in another environment that serves simultaneously as a bridge to facilitate contact with the target parent and as a barrier to restrict and monitor contact with the alienating parent. Depending on the child's behavior and emotional status, this environment can range from the home of a relative or friend to a foster home, community shelter, boarding school, residential treatment center, or psychiatric hospital. The situation is analogous to the treatment of a

truant child. If a parent is unsuccessful in getting a child to attend school on a regular basis, the child may eventually be removed from the home and placed in a foster home or more restrictive facility.

Candidates for a transitional placement are those children who threaten dire consequences if they are forced to see the alienated parent. They promise to defy the court order, run away, attempt suicide, or become violent. Some of these are idle threats, but they all must be taken seriously and properly evaluated. If the evaluator finds a substantial risk, or if a child has already successfully resisted court-ordered contact with the alienated parent, the child may be better off in a transitional facility. Also, a facility such as a hospital permits a more in-depth investigation of the risk of suicide. Other children are so filled with fear of the target parent that they are unable to subdue their panic long enough to experience the parent as benevolent. In this case, it helps them to be in the home of a relative who serves as a bridge to the irrationally feared parent. Again, let me stress that experienced mental health professionals should recommend and carry out treatment plans that are tailored to the circumstances of your family. Avoid one-sizefits-all solutions that end up fitting no one.

In his books for therapists, Dr. Gardner has described in detail how to use transitional sites to rebuild parent-child bonds. If your situation qualifies as high-risk, you will want the court to have this information. Ideally this knowledge will come to the court through the recommendations and testimony of a mental health professional.

When considering the option of a transitional site, it is important not to minimize the risks of harm to a child who is with the target parent. It is also important not to exaggerate the risks, however. Embittered parents who have lost custody often blame all their children's psychological problems on the court or the target parent. While we would expect a child caught in the maelstrom of divorce poison to carry the scars of battle, we have no reason to assume that the potential harm caused by reuniting with a parent is greater than the harm caused by losing that parent. In a study published by the American Bar Association, Dr. Stanley Clawar and Dr. Brynne Rivlin reached the same conclusion: "There are risks incumbent in any process; however, a decision has to be made as to what is the greater risk. It is usually more damaging socially, psychologically, educationally, and/or physically for children to maintain beliefs, values, thoughts, and behaviors that disconnect them from one of their parents...compared to getting rid of the distortions or false statements."

HIRING AN ATTORNEY

In most cases of severe alienation, working through the legal system is indispensable. It is equally indispensable to hire a good attorney to help you navigate the rough waters of this system. In fact, selecting the right attorney is at least as important as selecting the right therapist. It can mean the difference between success and failure in maintaining or reclaiming your bond with your child.

To save money, or simply because they do not have enough funds, some parents choose to represent themselves in custody litigation. I think this is a big mistake. Any case involving allegations of divorce poison, whether you are the accused, the accuser, or both, is not one in which to indulge Perry Mason fantasies. The difference between self-representation and attorney representation is like the difference between treating your own superficial cut and having major surgery. You can put a Band-Aid on a cut, but you do not perform surgery on yourself. Trying an alienation case is not a do-it-yourself operation.

I have sympathy for those who want to save themselves the expense of hiring a lawyer, but I much prefer to work with families in which each parent is represented by counsel. I will usually turn down a parent's request for trial assistance when he or she has no attorney. I know I am not the only custody expert who feels this way. A lawyer can help get unreasonable clients to be more reasonable. A good attorney, despite zealous advocacy for the client's position, will be better able than the

client to maintain objectivity.

The best type of attorney to hire is one who believes in amicably settling family disputes. In chapter 4 I mentioned the model of practice known as "collaborative family law." Collaborative lawyers pledge to work exclusively for an out-of-court settlement. They have nothing financial to gain by going to court, because as soon as you decide to litigate rather than negotiate a settlement, collaborative lawyers by contract must withdraw from the case. The idea is to encourage an atmosphere of constructive and creative negotiations to help the family best weather the crisis of divorce. If you and your ex-partner choose at the outset to have a collaborative divorce, you will be taking a giant step in the direction of safeguarding the welfare of your children. The odds of your children's becoming alienated will be dramatically reduced.

Some lawyers who do not formally subscribe to the collaborative law

model nevertheless have reputations for encouraging and supporting efforts to settle conflicts in a peaceful fashion. Find one of these to represent you. Try to avoid lawyers who generate unnecessary conflict and hostility. Your family already has enough of that.

In choosing a lawyer, find one who specializes in child custody matters. Any such attorney will have had a lot of experience with divorce poison. They may not be familiar with the term *parental alienation*, but you can educate them by showing them this book and encouraging them to refer to the Resources section.

Let your attorney know from the outset that you prefer to resolve your dispute out of court. If your child appears to be losing respect or affection for you, don't make the mistake of rushing into a legal battle before exploring other options. What you are seeing may not be alienation, and it may not be a result of divorce poison. The best thing to do is for you and your ex-spouse to consult a therapist. This would be a natural adjunct to a collaborative divorce.

If you think your ex is not committed to your active participation in the lives of your children, or your ex will not voluntarily participate in therapy, then you may have no choice but to seek help through the court. Speak to your attorney about getting the court to order an evaluation and treatment. The attorney can also help ensure the best conditions for treatment in line with the guidelines discussed earlier in this chapter. This may be your attorney's most important contribution toward resolving your child's alienation.

Psychotherapists, divorce attorneys, and family court judges agree that families with children who refuse to spend time with a parent present tough challenges. First we must determine if the child is truly alienated and, if so, why? Who is contributing to the alienation and how they are doing it? In some cases one parent is primarily responsible for the child's alienation. It may be the favored parent, who poisons the children's affections. Or it may be the rejected parent, whose treatment of the children is bad enough to push the children away. In other cases both parents, the children, and perhaps an earlier therapist have made substantial contributions to the rupture of the relationship. Either way, parents who are responsible for alienation almost always deny their role and blame the other parent. As we have seen, even if you are a relatively innocent victim of divorce poison, your mistakes can make things worse. I hope this book will help you take an active role in correcting the problem.

Even with full knowledge of the causes of alienation, the problem is extremely difficult to overcome. Some parents are so rigidly stuck on the notion that the other parent is worthless and that the children are better off without a parent, no therapist will be able to make a dent in their position. At the first sign that the therapist is not in perfect agreement with everything they say, they dismiss the therapist as biased or in collusion with the other parent. Some of these parents even accuse the judge of being in collusion with the therapist, the opposing attorney, and the target parent, or accuse the entire judicial system of being corrupt. If your ex-spouse exhibits signs of being this rigid and is unable to establish a trusting relationship with any competent therapist, you will most likely end up in court.

Make sure your attorney is experienced in trying these types of cases. If you have the misfortune to get a severely flawed custody evaluation, your attorney may want to hire a trial consultant to assist in the cross-examination of the evaluator. Also, the attorney may want to secure the services of an expert who can testify on general issues related to your case, such as the diagnosis and treatment of alienated children.

It is my hope that the advice in this book will help you maintain or reclaim your child's love and respect without the expense of professional assistance. But if your situation warrants it, you should not hesitate to avail yourself of the help good mental health professionals and good attorneys can provide. Years from now your children will thank you for your efforts.

CHAPTER 9

LETTING GO

For of all sad words of tongue and pen, The saddest are these: "It might have been!" —IOHN GREENLEAF WHITTIER, "MAUD MULLER"

This last chapter, the saddest in the book, is one I wish I did not have to write. If it applies to you it means that my advice has been insufficient in helping your children recover from alienation. It means that you have exhausted all efforts to reclaim your children's love. Perhaps we were too late. Their alienation is too severe and entrenched. Your ex is unable or unwilling to stop the bashing and brainwashing. Your attempts to get the court to intervene effectively have met with failure. Your ex has abducted the children and you can't locate them. Or some combination of the above. As a result, you may find yourself considering the option of giving up. And you may be encouraged in this direction by the mental health professionals who evaluate or treat your family.

I am sure it is clear by now that I am very conservative in recommending that parents throw in the towel and accept defeat. As I see it, some therapists have an astonishingly casual attitude about leaving children in the home of a brainwashing parent and terminating their contact with the other parent. These same therapists agree that the brainwashing is a form of emotional abuse. What puzzles me is why they are so willing to leave children in what is clearly an abusive environment when they would be the first to

want to remove a child from a parent who is physically or sexually abusive.

I recognize that there are some families in which the children, particularly older adolescents, are thoroughly brainwashed, and all avenues of help are exhausted, so that a parent has no choice but to give up. I just urge all alienated parents and relatives, and all therapists who work with these families, not to wave the white flag of surrender too soon. Again I draw on the work of Dr. Clawar and Dr. Rivlin and their study published by the American Bar Association: "Caution must be exercised in judging that the point of no return has been reached. We have seen numerous cases where children have been successfully deprogrammed by making radical changes in their living arrangements—often with appropriate legal interventions."

WHEN TO LET GO

At some point, though, the sensible thing to do may be to withdraw your efforts, or at least postpone your efforts, to reunite with your children. Here are seven reasons why a loving parent would reach such a difficult and painful decision:

- 1. Your children are too alienated or emotionally unstable to return directly to your home, and a suitable transitional site is not available or affordable.
- 2. You have exhausted all legal channels to improve the situation.
- 3. The court recognizes that your children are unreasonably alienated but will not place them in your home long enough to allow them to emerge from the shadow of your ex's negative influence.
- 4. You have other children in your home who will suffer if you continue to expend emotional and financial resources on a battle that has little chance of success.
- Your ex is so disturbed that a continuing battle could provoke him or her to violent action against the children or against you or other members of your family.
- 6. You have tried the advice given in this book and have met with repeated failure.
- 7. You are working with a therapist who clearly understands pathological alienation (regardless of what term is used to designate

it) and is dedicated to helping you repair your relationship with your children, but who has finally reached the point of advising you to consider letting go.

No one can make this decision for you. I have seen parents who were ready to quit when I thought they should continue to pursue reconciliation. And I have seen parents who persisted in their quest when I thought they were being unreasonably optimistic. They are your children. You must reach a decision that you can live with.

HOW TO LET GO

If you do decide to let go, here is some final advice to increase the odds that your decision will pay off in the long run. You should announce your decision in the most constructive manner possible. You want to leave the door wide open for your children's future return. If and when they eventually change their minds, you want to make sure that it is as easy as possible for them to act on the change. You don't want their anxiety or uncertainty to keep them from reaching out to you. The best way to do this is to let them know clearly and definitely that when the time comes for them to reunite, you will welcome them with open arms. You will celebrate their return, not castigate them for their absence. The reunion will be a joyous occasion, not a time for recrimination.

The announcement of your decision is best made in person. Although you may have no contact with your children, if you let them and your ex know that you want to meet just one more time in order to properly say good-bye, they may agree to the meeting. Some children will agree to attend a last meeting if it takes place in the presence of the therapist. As a last resort you can request a meeting in the attorney's office, in the judge's chambers, or in open court. If feasible, videotape the meeting and make a copy of the videotape for the children.

No template exists for the perfect parting session. But your good-bye to your children should include the following:

- Review your relationship, from conception to the present.
- Emphasize the pleasure you have received from your role as a parent.

- Describe some fond memories of the bond you used to enjoy.
- Emphasize your ongoing love for them despite their rejection of you.
- Let them know that you could continue to fight to see them, but that you think it is better for everyone if you admit defeat.
- Announce that you have decided to stop pressuring them for contact.
- Express your grief at the way things turned out (expect to cry; don't hold back your tears).
- Invite them to contact you by any means in the future when they are ready.
- Make it clear that you have not given up hope of a relationship.
- Tell them that you will keep them posted with changes in your home and E-mail addresses and phone numbers in the hope that they will some day reach out to you.
- Designate a third party, usually a relative, through whom you will communicate messages if you are unsure your communications are getting through to them.
- Let them know that you will never stop loving them and that you will be sending birthday cards every year to let them know that you are thinking of them.

Whether or not you have the opportunity to say good-bye in person, it is important to say good-bye in writing as well. Your children should have something to hold on to, to look at from time to time, rather than have to rely solely on memory. Your letter should be handwritten to emphasize its personal nature. And it should be on nice stationery, in accordance with its importance. This is a document you hope your children will retain. Be sure to save a copy of your letter. In the future your children may deny ever having received it. In fact, there is a good chance that your note will be demeaned and ridiculed by your ex. If so, the children may feel obligated to demonstrate their loyalty by similarly dismissing the letter, and even destroying it. Because of this possibility, you might want to mail a copy of the letter each year along with a card wishing your child a happy birthday.

If you do not get the chance to say good-bye in person, consider preparing a farewell video on tape or CD-ROM. In addition to including

the points from your letter, the video can show photographs of better times and objects that have special significance for your bond with your children. The video can also include messages from other relatives who have been rejected.

Pay careful attention to the nuances of your communications. Sometimes words convey an impression different from the one intended. Have someone review the letter and video and make suggestions for improvement. If you or your children have been working with a therapist, ask the therapist to read the letter and make suggestions for improvement. One father wrote a letter with the phrase, "You know my number if you want to get in touch." The words suggested an indifference that was light-years apart from the father's intense pain and longing for his child. After our discussion he changed it to, "My heart aches for the day when you decide to call me."

Every year on April 2, Ann Landers's Reconciliation Day, clip her newspaper column and send it to your children with a note. The note should say that you want to follow Ann's advice and make contact, but you do not want to be seen as applying pressure. So you are sending the note with a reminder that you would be thrilled to hear from them.

The Question of Gifts

Alienated parents ask whether they should give expensive gifts to their children in an effort to maintain some tie. This is an individual matter. There is no clear-cut right or wrong answer. I generally recommend giving small thoughtful presents and greeting cards to mark an occasion and to let the children know you are thinking of them. Such signs of your ongoing love may be reassuring to the children, notwithstanding their overt rejection. It certainly reminds them that you are still waiting in the wings for their return and have not counterrejected them.

The problem with expensive gifts is that it gives the children an opportunity to exploit you. They usually will not even acknowledge receipt of the gifts and certainly will not express appreciation. By continuing to give presents to children who show no gratitude, and in fact cruelly reject you, you may be encouraging and supporting an unhealthy sense of entitlement.

Should You Pay for College?

This is another difficult question. If your children want to forgo a relationship, they ought to be prepared to forgo the financial benefits of the relationship. What does it mean if they want to have nothing to do with you, except to have their hands in your wallet? What lesson do you teach if you fund their college education, knowing that you will not even be welcome at the graduation ceremonies? On the other hand, if a child regards a college education as a necessity of life, like food on the table, withholding the funds, if you can readily afford it, may create so much more animosity that it dashes any hope of a future reconciliation. If there is a renewal of bonds in the future, it may be too late for them to attend college. So you might want to fund the college education, hoping that your children eventually will understand this as an act of love and caring. There is really no one right course of action. You will have to do what seems right. I do recommend that if you contribute to college expenses, it should be for the barest essentials—tuition, books, and lodging—and not extra frills and luxuries. After all, by this time your children will be adults and should expect to experience the reasonable consequences of unreasonably rejecting you.

STAYING IN TOUCH AFTER LETTING GO

Severely alienated children usually resent any attempt by the rejected parent to have contact with them. They regard phone calls as "harassment" and claim to be very upset if they spy their parent in the stands at a high school football game or in the audience during graduation.

Sometimes, though, after their parent has agreed to cease efforts to see them in person, the children will agree to take phone calls and read rather than tear up letters. Whether or not the children agree, I encourage parents to make periodic attempts to reach out to their children with phone calls, cards, and letters, unless the court has prohibited such contact. How often you do this depends on the response you get. If the calls are tolerated, keep them up. If you attend your child's special events, such as athletic games and school performances, send a note of congratulations with attention to specific aspects about your child's performance.

When you acknowledge specific details, this lets your child know that you really paid attention and that you are not just going through the motions of offering praise.

Also, I suggest reaching out to your children during significant milestones in their lives, such as birthdays, graduations, weddings, and the birth of their own children, your grandchildren. There is a good possibility that you won't even know when such events take place. But with luck, the benevolent emotion surrounding such events may leave your child receptive to "burying the hatchet" and renewing ties. The downside of this recommendation is that severely alienated children will resent such attempts and feel that the rejected parent is intruding and spoiling their happy occasion. If the alienation is irrational, I regard this as one price the children pay for their cruel and unreasonable rejection of their mother or father.

Consider maintaining a website on which you post photos from your current life, along with old photos of the family together. Send the address of your website to your children. They could then "visit" you without the discomfort of having direct contact. Eventually these visits may chip away at their armor.

NEW BRIDGES

In chapter 7 I discussed using another person as a bridge between alienated children and parents. If you have decided to let go, I assume your attempts to use such bridges have proved unsuccessful. I urge you to encourage any friends and relatives who still have relationships with your children to maintain them. They may be your only link to the children, keeping you informed about them and delivering your messages and gifts to them.

As your children grow up they will form new attachments. The new people in their lives may have more success facilitating a renewal of bonds. This is especially true of your adult child's new spouse and inlaws. You may find that these people have sympathy for your loss and will become your ally. They may hold the key to healing the relationship between you and your children. Certainly you should appeal to them for help.

In most cases your children have either not spoken much about you or have presented a horribly distorted image of you. Even without that image the in-laws might assume that you must be a very bad parent to

have alienated your children. So your first step after making contact with them is to disabuse them of this false idea. Open their minds by educating them about the impact of divorce poison. Share this book with them to help them understand how children could come to so totally reject a parent without good reason.

Ask them to tell you what they have heard about why, for example, you were not invited to the wedding of a child. If the reasons are the trivial ones usually given by alienated children, emphasize the irrationality of disowning a parent over such trivial matters. If they have heard that you were abusive or violent, offer to provide evidence disproving the accusations. Point out that such accusations and innuendos are common weapons in a custody battle. Most important, show them how it furthers their own interests if your child overcomes the alienation.

ALIENATED CHILDREN AS ADULTS

Irrationally alienated children harbor hatred for a parent that is dissociated from their earlier love for that parent. Their internal mental state has a rift that cannot heal until it is acknowledged. Psychologists call such rifts *unresolved feelings* or *unresolved relationships* to signify their unprocessed state. Most alienated children have not come to terms with their feelings for their parents; they have merely parked their feelings on a mental shelf and tried to ignore them. Their lack of ambivalence toward the target is the tip-off.

Adults who have truly suffered at the hands of inadequate parents and subsequently resolved their feelings are able to express a wide range of feelings about their parents: love, sympathy for the parents' own early deprivation that contributed to their deficits as parents, regret for what was missed, anger for the mistreatment they suffered. This is something a pathologically alienated person is unable to do, and it handicaps them in their most important personal relationships.

Psychotherapists know that, in general, adults who are more aware of their loving feelings for their parents have more love to give their spouses and families. They make better husbands and fathers and sons-in-law, or mothers and wives and daughters-in-law.

Let me use the example of a son alienated from his father, with the understanding that the same principles apply to daughters of fathers and to sons and daughters of mothers. A man who is out of touch with his loving feelings for his father has more difficulty promoting the highest-quality loving relationship with his own children.

- A man who cannot appreciate the importance of his father in his life, and of
 what he loses by not having a father, has more difficulty appreciating his
 own importance in his children's lives.
- A man who cuts himself off from his own feelings is less sensitive to the feelings of his wife and his children.
- A man who has no contact with his father and extended family deprives his own children of a grandparent and his wife of the support available through the extended family.

The saddest consequence of divorce poison occurs when a rejected parent or grandparent dies before the child has come to his senses, given his love, apologized for his mistreatment, and expressed regret for the lost years. It is at this point that a child is most apt to resent the brainwashing parent whose efforts deprived the child of a relationship that cannot be recaptured.

When alienated children, as adults, eventually realize what they have missed out on and the immense magnitude of the hurt their behavior has caused their loved ones, they suffer an unbearable guilt and sadness. This suffering has a direct effect on their marriage and on their children. This is one more reason why the new spouse and in-laws have a personal stake in fostering a rapid reconciliation.

One of the unfortunate legacies of divorce is that the children of divorced parents are more likely to have their own marriages end in divorce. No one knows for sure why this is so, but one factor may be the example set by walking away from a problematic relationship rather than living with conflicts or resolving them.

If children of divorce are more likely to end a marriage rather than work out conflicts, this risk is multiplied for children who have totally rejected a parent. They already have experience treating someone they used to love as dispensable. Their spouses have a personal interest in impressing upon them the importance of maintaining important relationships. Adults who overcome their alienation from a parent and who learn that obstacles in a relationship are to be surmounted and not avoided will have a greater commitment to the sanctity of family and are

more likely to maintain their wedding vows despite the inevitable hassles, upsets, and hurts that all couples experience.

COPING WITH THE LOSS

The death of one's child is said to be the most difficult loss to accept. Eventually, though, most bereaved parents do accept their loss and complete a healthy process of mourning. Their pain, though still present, exists in muted form. Some people believe that the bereavement of alienated parents is more complicated and drawn out and difficult to resolve. Their child is gone, but they cannot be sure the child is gone forever. Not having directly experienced either tragedy, I won't attempt to say which hurts more. But I can say that therapists who work with parents who have lost children to divorce poison note the tremendous grief they encounter in trying to help these parents accept their loss.

In his book *Father and Child Reunion*, Dr. Warren Farrell writes about the grief suffered by divorced fathers whose children reject them. He compares their situation to that of grief-stricken relatives who cannot begin their mourning process until the body of the deceased is located. The lack of finality keeps them in limbo—heartbroken yet unable to complete a mourning process. My work with alienated mothers has taught me that the pain is no less intense for them. In addition to the loss of contact with the children is the agony that comes from knowing that your children could be living three minutes away yet be no more available to you than if they lived on Mars.

Parents in this situation must grieve their loss as they would the death of their child. The parting communication—whether in person, by letter, or by video—helps in the mourning process because it forces parents to publicly acknowledge that their children are, at least for now, gone. Like a memorial service, this formal ending unleashes the expression of grief and the acceptance of loss.

Healthy mourning requires sympathetic listeners to whom the bereaved can express their pain. As a rejected parent, though, you may have trouble getting this sympathy. You are in such a unique position that those around you may not fully comprehend what you are going through. They may lose patience with your grief and urge you to get on with life. Of course they are right that you should not wallow in your pain, but the timetable of when to move on, and the manner in which you do it, is yours to determine.

Many parents ask me about support groups for people in their situation. Check with the organizations listed in the Resources section at the end of this book to locate such a group in your area. People who have traveled the same painful path will be most sympathetic to your loss and most understanding of what you are going through.

It is important that you do not let yourself become mired in anger and bitterness. Indeed, such bitterness will be mistaken by others as the reason your children avoid you. Instead find a productive outlet for your anger. Perhaps in concert with other parents you can work to get laws passed that provide sanctions to discourage parents from violating custody orders, just as there are punishments for parents who avoid child support obligations. Or you may help set up local facilities that offer transitional sites for the reunification of alienated parents and children. Or perhaps you can raise funds to provide educational, therapeutic, and legal services to needy families in these situations.

Do not let the trauma of your loss keep you from achieving gratification in other areas of life. Do not let your awareness of the fragility of relationships create barriers to close emotional investment in others. If you have a spouse, other children, or stepchildren, bask in their love as you allow them to reap the benefits of yours.

HOPE FOR THE FUTURE

Therapists who encourage alienated parents to acquiesce to their children's demands for an end to the relationship usually attempt to console parents by raising their hopes for a future reconciliation. Many, many alienated parents receive advice to back off and give their children time, with the Pollyannaish prediction that eventually the children will drop their angry stance and renew their ties. The problem is that we really don't know if this is true. No one knows the prevalence of such changes of heart. What we can say for certain is that even if a child eventually reconciles with a parent, nothing can make up for the lost years. Nothing can make up for what both parent and child missed: hugs and kisses, shared laughter and shared tears, pride and poignance of special occasions—communion, bar mitzvah, graduation—all the everyday interactions and all the milestones that form the fabric of a relationship.

Therapists are not completely wrong, though, in holding out hope to victims of divorce poison. Some children do change their minds. Some children do come to a realization that they have been brainwashed. Some children do come back. We have yet to identify the factors that can help us predict which children will eventually return and which will stay lost forever. But we can take some comfort in knowing that there is some reason for hope.

To prepare for the possibility of their children's return, some parents keep a diary or scrapbook filled with thoughts about the children and clippings of things that would interest the children. Such a project brings your absent children into your daily life. The hope is that someday when your children return and see the scrapbook, they will know that they have never been out of your heart, never been absent from your thoughts. The drawback to this project is that it could keep you focused on your loss and steal your attention from the many positive things life has to offer. If so, this exercise is not for you. But if it allows you to integrate the tragedy in your life while freeing you to affirm life's value, it could be a most elegant solution to your grief.

Victims of divorce poison who await the return of their beloved children might take comfort in the words of Rudyard Kipling from his great poem, "If":

If you can keep your head when all about you
Are losing theirs and blaming it on you,
If you can trust yourself when all men doubt you,
But make allowance for their doubting too;
If you can wait and not be tired by waiting,
Or being lied about, don't deal in lies,
Or being hated, don't give way to hating...

If you can bear to hear the truth you've spoken
Twisted by knaves to make a trap for fools,
Or watch the things you gave your life to, broken,
And stoop and build 'em up with worn-out tools...

If you can force your heart and nerve and sinew
To serve your turn long after they are gone,
And so hold on when there is nothing in you
Except the Will which says to them: "Hold on!"

Finally, I hope that any alienated children old enough to read this book will recognize themselves in it and exercise the wisdom and courage to reach out to the hearts that yearn for them. Nothing could be more important. Nothing could make me more thankful for the years I invested in writing this book.

RESOURCES

ORGANIZATIONS

American Academy of Matrimonial Lawyers 50 N. Michigan Avenue, Suite 2040 Chicago, IL 60601 Phone: 312-263-6477 www.aaml.org

Association of Family and Conciliation Courts 6515 Grand Teton Plaza, Suite 210 Madison, WI 53719-1048 Phone: 608-664-3750 www.afccnet.org

Bonus Families www.bonusfamilies.com A Web site for stepfamilies.

Children's Rights Council 300 "I" Street NE, Suite 401 Washington, DC 20002 Phone: 202-547-6227 www.gocrc.com Creative Therapeutics www.rgardner.com

The website is that of Richard A. Gardner, M.D., and includes a frequently updated bibliography and list of legal citations on parental alienation syndrome.

International Academy of Collaborative Professionals 163 Miller Avenue, Suite 4 Mill Valley, CA 94941 Phone: 415-383-5600 www.collabgroup.com National Association of Non Custodial Moms, Inc. www.noncustodialmoms.com/PAS%20Page.htm

National Center for Missing and Exploited Children Charles B. Wang International Children's Building 699 Prince Street Alexandria, VA 22314-3175

Phone: 703-274-3900; 800-THE-LOST (843-5678)

www.missingkids.com

A national clearinghouse of information and assistance on missing, abducted, and exploited children.

National Register of Health Service Providers in Psychology 1120 G Street NW, Suite 330 Washington, DC 20005 Phone: 202-783-7663 www.nationalregister.org

Shared Parenting Information Group home.clara.net/spig

Stepfamily Association of America 650 J Street, Suite 205 Lincoln, NE 68508 Phone: 800-735-0329 www.stepfam.org

U.S. Department of State, Office of Passport Services Office of Children's Issues 2401 E Street NW, Room L127 Washington, DC 20037 Phone: 202-736-7000

http://travel.state.gov/passport_assistance.html http://travel.state.gov/int'lchildabduction.html

If you fear that your child might be abducted and taken abroad, you can place your child's name in the name-check system. If an application is received, you will be informed before the passport is issued. If you have provided a court order that forbids your child's travel without the consent of both parents or the court, the passport office may deny issuance of the passport. The second URL offers a free

pamphlet for parents whose children have been internationally abducted.

RECOMMENDED READING FOR CHILDREN

- Brown, Laurene Krasny, and Brown, Marc. *Dinosaurs Divorce*. Boston: Little, Brown and Company, 1986.
- Gardner, Richard A. *The Boys and Girls Book About Divorce*. New York: Bantam Books, 1970.

RECOMMENDED READING FOR PARENTS

Abduction

Greif, Goeffrey, and Hegar, Rebecca L. When Parents Kidnap. New York: Free Press, 1993.

Custody and Divorce

- Ahrons, Constance R. *The Good Divorce*. New York: HarperCollins, 1994. Sets the standard for loving parents who want to move from a failed marriage to a successful divorce.
- Biller, Henry B., and Trotter, Robert J. *The Father Factor*. New York: Pocket Books, 1994.
- Blau, Melinda. *Families Apart: Ten Keys to Successful Co-Parenting*. New York: Perigee, 1995.
- Farrell, Warren. Father and Child Reunion: How to Bring the Dads We Need to the Children We Love. New York: Tarcher/Putnam, 2001.
- Gold, Lois. *Between Love and Hate: A Guide to Civilized Divorce*. New York: Plenum Press, 1992.
 - True to its subtitle, this practical and powerful guide helps parents communicate, cooperate, negotiate, and resolve conflicts.
- Kalter, Neil. Growing Up with Divorce: Helping Your Child Avoid Immediate and Later Emotional Problems. New York: Free Press, 1990.
- Lyster, Mimi. *Child Custody: Building Agreements that Work*. Berkeley, Calif.: Nolo Press, 1995.
- Stahl, Philip M. *Parenting After Divorce*. Atascadero, Calif.: Impact Publishers, 2000.
- Teyber, Edward. *Helping Your Children with Divorce*. New York: John Wiley & Sons, 2001.

- Visher, Emily, and Visher, John. *How to Win as a Stepfamily*. New York: Brunner/Mazel, 1991.
- Warshak, Richard A. *The Custody Revolution*. New York: Simon & Schuster, 1992.

Parenting

- Faber, Adele, and Mazlish, Elaine. *How to Talk So Kids Will Listen and Listen So Kids Will Talk*. New York: Avon Books, 1999.
- Ginott, Haim G. Between Parent and Child. New York: Macmillan, 1965.
- —Between Parent and Teenager. New York: Macmillan, 1972.
- Gordon, Thomas. *Parent Effectiveness Training*. New York: Three Rivers Press, 2000.
- Gurian, Michael. *The Good Son: Shaping the Moral Development of Our Boys and Young Men.* New York: Tarcher/Putnam, 2000.
- Pruett, Kyle D. Fatherneed: Why Father Care Is as Essential as Mother Care for Your Child. New York: Free Press, 2000.
- Turecki, Stanley. The Difficult Child. New York: Bantam Books, 1989.

Negotiation

- Stone, Douglas; Patton, Bruce; Heen, Sheila; and Fisher, Roger. *Difficult Conversations: How to Discuss What Matters Most*. New York: Penguin Press, 2000.
- Uri, William. *Getting Past No: Negotiating Your Way from Confrontation to Cooperation*. New York: Bantam, 1993.

Relocation

- Cohen, Miriam Galper. *Long-Distance Parenting: A Guide for Divorced Parents*. New York: Signet, 1991.
- Newman, George. 101 Ways to Be a Long-Distance Super-Dad. Mountain View, Calif.: Blossom Valley Press, 1984.
 - (To order, write Blossom Valley Press, PO Box 4044, Blossom Valley Station, Mountain View, CA 94040.)
- Wasserman, Selma. *The Long-Distance Grandmother: How to Stay Close to Distant Grandchildren*. Point Roberts, Wash.: Hartley & Marks, 1990.

RECOMMENDED READING FOR MENTAL HEALTH PROFESSIONALS AND ATTORNEYS

- Ceci, Stephen J., and Bruck, Maggie, *Jeopardy in the Courtroom: A Scientific Analysis of Children's Testimony*. Washington, D.C.: American Psychological Association, 1995.
- Clawar, Stanley S., and Rivlin, Brynne V. Children Held Hostage: Dealing with Programmed and Brainwashed Children. Chicago: American Bar Association, 1991.
- Gardner, Richard A. Family Evaluations in Child Custody, Mediation, Arbitration, and Litigation. Cresskill, N.J.: Creative Therapeutics, 1989.
- —The Parental Alienation Syndrome: A Guide for Mental Health and Legal Professionals (2nd ed.). Cresskill, N.J.: Creative Therapeutics, 1998.
- —Therapeutic Interventions for Children with Parental Alienation Syndrome. Cresskill, N.J.: Creative Therapeutics, 2001.
- Garrity, Carla B., and Baris, Mitchell A. *Caught in the Middle: Protecting the Children of High-Conflict Divorce*. New York: Lexington Books, 1994.
- Gould, Jonathan W. Conducting Scientifically Crafted Child Custody Evaluations. Thousand Oaks, Calif.: Sage Publications, 1998.
- Johnston, Janet R., and Kelly, Joan B. (Eds.) "Alienated Children in Divorce." *Family Court Review*, 2001, 39 (3).
- Poole, Debra A., and Lamb, Michael E. *Investigative Interviews of Children*. Washington, D.C.: American Psychological Association, 1998.
- Rand, Deidre C. "The Spectrum of Parental Alienation Syndrome" (parts I and II). *American Journal of Forensic Psychology*, 15, no. 3 (1997):23—51 and no. 4 (1997):39—92.
- Warshak, Richard A. "Social Science and Children's Best Interests in Relocation Cases: *Burgess* Revisited." *Family Law Quarterly*, 2000, 34(1), 83—113.
- Warshak, Richard A. "Blanket Restrictions: Overnight Contact Between Parents and Young Children." *Family and Conciliation Courts Review*, 2000, 34, 396—409.
- Warshak, Richard A. "Current Controversies Regarding Parental Alienation Syndrome." *American Journal of Forensic Psychology*, 2001, 19, 1—31.
- Warshak, Richard A. "Misdiagnosis of Parental Alienation Syndrome." American Journal of Forensic Psychology, 2002, 34, 396—409.

INDEX

```
abuse, 102, 103, 139, 142, 162, 228—30, 235, 249
 emotional, 14, 104, 110, 235, 280—81
 exploitation of, 48—49
 genuine, 50, 51, 55, 61—62, 66, 82
 responding to reports of, 50—51
abuse, false accusations of, 45—51, 110, 112, 228—29, 249, 257, 287
 agreeing to disagree about, 228—29
 genesis of, 46—48
 implanted false memories in, 9—10, 37, 103
 lying in, 45, 227—28
 misunderstandings in, 45
 by paranoid parent, 100
 suggestive questions and, 46, 47, 51
Academy of Certified Social Workers (ACSW), 254
adult children, 286—89
 alienated parent's death and, 288
 in-laws of, 286—87, 288
 unresolved relationship's effect on, 287—89
Advanced Clinical Practitioner (ACP), 254
agreeing to disagree, 228—30
aliases, child, 151—54
alienating environment, 34—35, 68, 129—46
 countermeasures for, 132, 133, 137, 138, 139, 144, 146
 fear in, 35, 68, 92—93, 129, 144—46, 176
 kidnapping in, 139—42
 physical isolation in, 34—35, 129—32, 217, 222, 273
 psychological dependence created by, 35, 37, 129, 130, 144
 relocation in, 9, 42, 132—38
 stripping in, 143—44
alienating parent, reducing hostility of, 243—45
 increasing cooperation in, 243—44
 letters of goodwill in, 244—45
 negotiation skills in, 245
```

300 / Divorce Poison

```
reassurance in, 244
 righting wrongs in, 88-89, 243
 therapy for, 89, 249—50
alienation, 31—38, 39—83, 249—52, 255, 267
 absence of guilt in, 40, 60
 adult language parroted in, 52, 60
 avoiding parental hostilities vs., 75—76
 caretaking of parent vs., 76
 child-driven, 63—65, 66, 68
 chronic hatred expressed in, 39, 40—42, 60, 70
 consistent vs. inconsistent negativity and, 69, 83
 countermeasures for, 42—44, 51—52, 53, 63, 65, 69, 71—72, 73, 76, 77, 78,
   80
 difficult temperaments vs., 74—75
 domestic violence and, 49, 50, 62
 extended family rejected in, 39, 53, 59, 60, 62, 63
 forced visitations alleged in, 42, 43, 51, 122
 greater parent-child compatibility vs., 77—78
 grossly disrespectful behavior in, 38, 40—42, 44, 56—57, 212, 239—240,
   273
 identification of, 69—81, 247—48, 275, 278
 independent thinking asserted in, 52-53, 60, 183-84, 232, 241
 irrational, 33, 45, 60, 153, 230, 286
 identifying roots of, 66—69
 justified, 49, 50, 55, 61—63, 66, 68, 82
 normal reactions to divorce vs., 70—72
 parent-child alignments vs., 79—80, 86
 parents polarized in, 51—52, 60, 159, 219, 230, 248, 251
 pets rejectd in, 54—55
 prealienation relationship and, 34, 35—36, 66—68
 predisposing characteristics in, 36—37
 prevention of, 58—59, 114—16
 rapid onset of, 39, 56
 refusals of contact vs., 70-72
 rejected parent's reactions to, 34, 37—38, 162—63
 resistance to, 34—38
 separation anxiety vs., 72—74, 79
 situation-specific reactions vs., 77, 83
 trivial complaints offered in, 40—42, 44, 45, 56, 60, 111, 287
 see also parental alienation syndrome
alienation, creation of, see reality, corruption of
```

```
alienation, reversal of, 53, 59, 66, 68, 81, 204—46
 agreeing to disagree in, 228—30
 Ann Landers's Reconciliation Day and, 245—46
 avoiding common errors in, 38, 235
 bad-mouthing avoided in, 38, 242—43
 counterrejection avoided in, 38, 240—41
 critical thinking encouraged in, 230—31
 depolarizing parents in, 230
 dismissal of children's feelings avoided in, 38, 241
 education about brainwashing in, 232—35
 films and television in, 235—37
 fly-on-the-wall technique in, 208—9, 219
 improved parenting skills in, 237—39
 indirect communication in, 206—8, 210, 230, 236
 keeping one's temper in, 38, 42—43, 239—40
 lecturing avoided in, 241
 neutrality encouraged in, 225—26
 overreaction avoided in, 241—42
 religious values in, 226—28
 separating siblings in, 201, 223—24, 225, 274
 third parties in, see third parties
 timing of, 211—12, 217, 220, 223
 two-steps-removed technique in, 209—10
 vacations in, 222—23
 see also healing experiences; living arrangements; maintaining contact
alignment, parent-child, 78—80, 86
ambivalence, 155, 159, 160, 287
American Bar Association, 131—32, 276, 281
Analyze This, 211
animosity, spread of, 14, 54—59, 62, 63
Art of Living Consciously, The (Branden), 36
attorneys, 8—9, 13—14, 81—82, 89, 110, 114, 131, 133, 153, 156, 185, 247,
  257—58, 270
 as collaborative family law advocates, 115—16, 277—78
 family law, 255
 as guardian ad litem (G.A.L.), 112—13
 selection of, 115—16, 277—79
 self-representation vs., 277
bad-mouthing, 7, 12, 24—27, 47, 52, 56, 82, 85, 88, 115, 116, 121, 209, 235
```

avoidance of, 38, 242—43

302 / Divorce Poison

```
retaliation for, 26—27
bashing, 7—9, 28—30, 52, 106
Between Love and Hate (Gold), 244—45
bipolar disorder, 74—75
birthday cards, 283
boundaries, parent-child, 85—88, 127, 249
Boys and Girls Book About Divorce, The (Gardner), 31, 59, 207, 234
brainwashing, 9—10, 13—14, 24, 30—31, 35, 44, 51, 61, 66, 103, 106, 107,
  111, 138, 139, 188, 189, 213
 education about, 232—35
 as emotional abuse, 14, 110, 235, 280—81
 false accusations of, 31, 33, 81—82, 94, 100, 179, 238
 indirect approach to discussion of, 209—10
 object's unawareness of, 209, 232, 234
 as ultimately disadvantageous, 114, 250
 see also alienating environment; reality, corruption of
Branden, Nathaniel, 36, 170
Bruck, Maggie, 46
```

Campbell, Linda, 34 Ceci, Stephen, 46 child aliases, 151—54 child protection agencies, 62 Christianity, 227 Clawar, Stanley, 131, 171, 196, 201, 276, 281 clinical psychologists, 254 cognitive dissonance, 199—200, 223 Cohen, Miriam Galper, 137 collaborative family law, 115—16, 277—78 college education, funding of, 285 computer communication, 71, 138 conspiring with others, 200—201, 203 context dropping, 160—66, 167, 186, 201—2, 203 counselors, 254 counterrejection, avoidance of, 38, 240—41 critical thinking, encouragement of, 230—31 criticism, constructive vs. destructive, 11, 13—14, 15—23, 235 motives for, 15—16, 17 rationalized, 15, 22 test for, 16—20, 242 custody consultants, 115

```
custody evaluators, 10, 48, 53, 103, 107, 109, 163, 268—73, 279
 criteria for, 268—70
 incompetent, 160, 270—71
 inexperienced, 271—73
 junk science of, 271
 second opinion of, 160, 271, 272—73
 selective attention of, 160
custody litigation, 13—14, 31, 33, 41, 44, 45, 94, 103, 106—16, 128, 139, 156,
  250, 275, 287, 296—97
 brainwashing parent's disadvantage in, 114, 250
 child preference factor in, 10, 110—13
 countermeasures for, 109, 110, 111, 116
 court-ordered therapy and, 261, 262
 creating false impressions in, 107—10
 cults and, 188—89
 dishonest behavior encouraged in, 198—99
 expert witnesses in, 104—5, 134, 279
 out-of-context behavior in, 161—65
 out-of-court settlement vs., 277—78
 preventing alienation during, 114—16
 projections in, 178, 179—81
 trial consultants in, 279
 wearing down the opposition in, 113—14
 see also attorneys
Custody Revolution, The (Warshak), 2, 54, 90, 115, 119, 140, 271
dependence, psychological, 35, 37, 129, 130, 144, 198, 224
depositions, in litigation, 97—98
depression, 74, 76
discovery, in litigation, 97
dishonest behavior, encouragement of, 198—99, 203, 227
divide-and-conquer technique, 201, 223—24, 225, 229
divorce, 187—88, 204—5, 288, 296—97
 explaining reasons for, 18, 20—22
 normal reactions to, 70—72
domestic violence, 49, 50, 62, 103, 148-49, 162, 181, 229
eavesdropping opportunities, "accidental," 208-9, 219
Education Department, U.S., 137—38
Emery, Robert, 204
empathy, 90, 93
```

304 / Divorce Poison

```
with children's feelings, 26, 27, 38, 105, 205—6, 242
encroachment, 193—97, 203, 259
entitlement, sense of, 177-78, 284
exaggeration, 166—67, 203
exploitation:
 of abuse, 48—49
 of target parent, 177—78, 192, 203, 284
extended families, 27, 31—32, 39, 53—59, 75, 200, 288
 responses of, 56—59
 spread of animosity to, 14, 54—59, 62, 63
 see also grandparents
false memories, implanted, 9—10, 37, 103, 154—55
Farrell, Warren, 289
Father and Child Reunion (Farrell), 289
fear, 35, 68, 92—93, 129, 144—46, 176
films, 156, 235—37
fly-on-the-wall technique, 208—9, 219
forced visitations, 14, 42, 43, 51, 122, 205
Freud, Sigmund, 102, 160
Gardner, Richard A., 14, 31—32, 33, 39—40, 54, 59, 67, 82, 126, 131, 161, 190,
  207, 221—22, 234, 265, 276
gifts, 284
Ginott, Haim, 205—6
Girdner, Linda, 140
Gold, Lois, 244—45
Gonzáles, Elián, 215—16
graduated exposure, 236, 262, 273—75
grandparents, 39, 53—54, 56—57, 130, 145, 148, 154, 158—59, 196, 220,
  242—43, 288
group pressure, 125—26, 200—201, 203
 divide-and-conquer technique for, 201, 223-24, 225, 229
Growing Up with Divorce (Kalter), 208
guardian ad litem (G.A.L.), 112—13, 263, 265
guilt, 40, 60, 94, 127, 187, 194, 227—28
healing experiences, 215—19
 reminiscence of past good times as, 58, 219—21
 strengthening memories of, 58, 217—19
Hearst, Patty, 130
```

Honeymooners, The, 237 Hook, 156, 236 hostility toward children, 104—6, 128 humor, 216 hypnosis, 234, 236, 237

identification with the aggressor, 125 "If" (Kipling), 291 indirect communication, 206—8, 210, 230, 236 indoctrination, 114, 129, 130, 154, 184, 188, 190, 201, 203, 272 infants, 135—36, 176, 274 interrogatories, in litigation, 97 Invasion of the Body Snatchers, The, 237 isolation, physical, 34—35, 129—32, 217, 222, 273

Jack Frost, 237
jealousy, 104, 117—18
Jeopardy in the Courtroom (Ceci and Bruck), 46
Johnston, Janet, 34, 140, 216
joint custody, 93, 133
Judaism, 226—27
junk science, 271

Kalter, Neil, 208 Kelly, Joan, 37, 204, 216 kidnapping, 139—42, 152, 228, 296 risk factors for, 140—41 King, Stephen, 11 Kipling, Rudyard, 291

Landers, Ann, Reconciliation Day of, 245—46, 284

Lashon Hara ("the evil tongue"), 226—27

last meeting, 282—83

lecturing, avoidance of, 241

letters, 89

of formal farewell, 251, 283, 284, 289

of goodwill, 244—45

letting go, 113—14, 205, 251, 280—92

anger produced by, 290

college education funding and, 285

formal announcement of, 251, 282—84, 289

306 / Divorce Poison

```
gifts and, 284
 hopes of reconciliation in, 290—92
 indications for, 281—82
 keeping diary or scrapbook after, 291
 maintaining contact after, 283, 285—86
 mourning the loss in, 289—90
 special occasions and, 285—86, 290
 support groups for, 290
 third parties and, 286—87, 288
licensed professional counselor (LPC), 254
life space interview, 212
litigation, 68, 93, 101
 court orders in, 131—32, 138, 141, 142, 217, 258
 depositions in, 97—98
 discovery in, 97
 interrogatories in, 97
 see also attorneys; custody litigation
living arrangements, 68, 273—76, 281
 graduated exposure in, 236, 262, 273—75
 long-term placement in, 273—75
 transitional placement in, 275—76, 290
Long-Distance Parenting (Cohen), 137
Lund, Mary, 131
lying, 52—53, 191, 198
 in false accusations of abuse, 45, 227—28
 in reality corruption, 167—69, 203
maintaining contact, 42, 43—44, 49, 75, 122, 130—32, 205, 248, 255, 256—57
 with computer communication, 71, 138
 after letting go, 283, 285—86
 passive withdrawal vs., 38, 75, 131, 205, 235, 255, 256, 290
 through personal website, 286
Manchurian Candidate, The, 236
Martin, Steve, 73
mediation, 93, 116
motives, malignant, 15—16, 84—128
 checklist of, 127—28
 continuing emotional relationship in, 96—99, 127, 249
 countermeasures for, 87, 89, 92, 93, 94, 95, 101, 104, 105—6
 in custody litigation, 106—16, 128
 guilt in, 94, 127
```

```
hostility toward children in, 104-6, 128
 insecurity in, 94—95, 127
 narcissism in, 90—93, 127, 249
 paranoia in, 99—101, 127
 poor parent-child boundaries in, 85—88, 127, 249
 reenactments in, 102—4, 127
 remarriage and, 117—26
 revenge in, 23, 48, 88—89, 127
 seeking validation in, 95-96, 127, 249
Mrs. Doubtfire, 237
names, manipulation of, 147—54, 182, 183, 203
 child aliases and, 151—54
 first-naming of target parent, 149—51, 215
 pejorative labeling, 148—49
narcissism, 90—93, 127, 249
National Center for Missing and Exploited Children, 139, 294
National Register of Health Service Providers in Psychology, 254, 294
negotiation skills, 245
neutrality, encouragement of, 225—26
overindulgence, 35
 as out-of-context behavior, 165—66
 in reality corruption, 191—93, 203
overreaction, avoidance of, 241-42
paranoia, 99—101, 127
parental alienation syndrome (PAS), 31—34, 126, 190, 221, 255
 alleged abuse in, see abuse, false accusations of
 false accusations of, 31, 33
 misdiagnosis of, 33—34, 82
 see also alienation; brainwashing
parenting skills, improvement of, 237—39
pejorative labeling, 48—49
Pine, Fred, 58
polarization of parents, 51—52, 60, 159, 219, 230, 248, 251
projections, 178—81, 203
protectiveness, as hostility, 104—5
psychiatrists, 254
```

Psychology of Self-Esteem, The (Branden), 170

```
Rand, Ayn, 170
rationalization, 181—84, 186, 189, 195, 203
 of constructive criticism, 15, 22
reading together, 207
reality, corruption of, 14, 147—203, 251
 cognitive dissonance and, 199—200, 233
 conspiring with others in, 200—201, 203
 countermeasures for, 149, 151, 153, 154—55, 157—58, 160, 163, 167, 169,
   172, 177, 189—90, 199, 201
 dishonest behavior encouraged in, 198—99, 203
 encroachment in, 193—97, 203, 259
 exaggeration in, 166—67, 203
 exploitation encouraged in, 177—78, 192, 203
 judging behavior out of context in, 160—66, 167, 186, 201—2, 203
 lying in, 167—69, 203
 overindulgence in, 121, 191-93, 203
 projections in, 178—81, 203
 rationalization in, 181—84, 186, 189, 195, 203
 religiosity in, 186—90, 203
 repetition in, 154—55, 166, 203
 revisionist history in, 169—72, 203, 219, 221
 selective attention in, 155—60, 166, 186, 203, 209, 230
 self-righteousness in, 184—85, 188, 196, 203
 suggestions and innuendos in, 173—77, 185, 198, 203
 tamper-resistant programming in, 201—2, 203, 211
 total change theory in, 172—73, 203
 "the truth" in, 190—91, 203
 see also names, manipulation of
reconciliation, hopes of, 290—92
Redl, Fritz, 212
reenactments, 102—4, 127
Reich, Wilhelm, 117
religiosity, 186—90, 203
religious values, 226-28
relocation, 9, 42, 121—22, 132—38, 298
remarriage, 27, 77, 100, 117—26, 128, 133, 137, 151, 152, 222—23
 child-driven alienation at, 63—64
 competitiveness and, 120—24
 failure of, 119—20
 jealousy and, 117—18
```

```
uniting against common enemy in, 125—26
 see also stepparents
repetition, 154—55, 166, 203
revenge, 23, 48, 88—89, 127, 186
revisionist history, 58, 169—72, 203, 219, 221
Rivlin, Brynne, 131, 171, 196, 201, 276, 281
selective attention, 155—60, 166, 186, 203, 209, 230
self-esteem, of children, 36, 119, 226, 250
self-righteousness, 184—85, 188, 196, 203
separation anxiety, 72—74, 79
shutdown messages (tamper-resistant programming), 201—2, 203, 211
siblings, separation of, 201, 223—24, 225, 274
Simple Twist of Fate, A, 73
social pressure, 213
social workers, 254
spread of animosity, 14, 54—59, 62, 63
Stanford University, 136
State Department, U.S., Office of Passport Services, 142, 296
Stepford Wives, The, 237
stepparents, 27, 77, 100, 117—26, 152, 176, 182—83, 222—23
 competitive feelings in, 120-23
 replacement of parent by, 118—20
Stossel, John, 46
striking while the iron is cold, technique of, 57—59, 211—12, 217, 223
stripping, 143—44, 153
suggestions and innuendos, 173—77, 185, 198, 203, 234
support groups, 290
Table for Five, 237
tamper-resistant programming (shutdown messages), 201—2, 203, 211
television, 235—37
Terms of Endearment, 237
therapists, 32, 33, 58, 59, 68, 69, 123, 132, 211, 217, 228—29, 247—76, 278,
  279
 abuse and, 50, 249, 257
 court-appointed, 258, 262—65; see also custody evaluators
 farewell letters reviewed by, 284
 function of, 248—49
 letting go advised by, 281—82
 manipulative behavior interrupted by, 249
```

310 / Divorce Poison

```
misguided opinions of, 75, 131, 153, 162, 205, 235, 255, 256
 selection of, 89, 254—59
 single vs. multiple, 265—68
 sources for, 254—55
 special skills needed by, 254, 255, 272
 trivial complaints accepted by, 41—42
 undesirable biases in, 256—57, 267
therapy, 132, 247—73
 absence of confidentiality in, 261—62
 alienated children in, 251—52
 alienated parent in, 250—51
 alienating parent in, 89, 249—50
 indications for, 247—48
 joint, 89, 228—29, 253, 262—63, 266, 267—68
 patient's role in, 252—54
therapy, court-ordered, 258—68, 278
 absence of confidentiality in, 262
 communication between judge and therapist in, 262—65, 266, 268
 custody litigation and, 261, 262
 failure to comply with, 260—61
 go-between professional appointed for, 263—64, 265
 provisions of, 259—61
third parties, 210—11, 227, 283
 adult child's in-laws as, 286—87, 288
 custody evaluators and, 270
 as exemplars of positive treatment, 51—52, 213, 215
 improved parenting recommended by, 238
 reconnection aided by, 212—15, 276
 reminiscence of past good times with, 220
 transitional placement with, 275—76
total change theory, 172—73, 203
transitional placement, 275—76, 290
"truth, the," 190—91, 203
two-steps-removed technique, 209—10
united front, parental, 10—14
 constructive criticism vs., 11, 13—14, 15—16
unresolved relationships, 287—89
vacations, 222—23
videotapes, 220—21
```

Dr. Richard A. Warshak / 311

of abuse evaluations, 50—51 of formal expression of farewell, 251, 283—84, 289 of last meeting, 282 Visher, Emily, 121 Visher, John, 121

Wallerstein, Judith, 37, 204 Wave, The, 236—37 websites, 286 of author, 32, 236

Zervopoulos, John, 243

ABOUT THE AUTHOR

Dr. Richard A. Warshak is a clinical, consulting, and research psychologist in private practice in Dallas, Texas, clinical full professor of psychology at the University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center, and past president of the Dallas Society for Psychoanalytic Psychology. He earned his B.S. from Cornell University and his Ph.D. from the University of Texas Health Science Center in 1978.

Since 1976, Dr. Warshak has studied the impact of divorce and remarriage. His work has been published in numerous scientific and legal books and journals and he is frequently invited to lecture to professional groups. His studies, landmark work in child custody research, are cited often in courtrooms and legislatures throughout the world, and he was invited to the White House to discuss custody reform.

Dr. Warshak evaluates and treats children, adults, and families, and consults in custody disputes. In addition to his office practice, Dr. Warshak consults with attorneys, mental health professionals, and parents around the world on child custody matters and he serves as an expert witness in selected cases.

His 1992 book *The Custody Revolution* advocates fundamental reform of our custody policies and offers practical advice to parents and professionals dealing with custody decisions.

He has appeared on *Today*, *Weekend Today*, *CNN*, and the *Home Show*, and his work has been covered in *Time*, *Parade*, *Psychology Today*, *Parents*, *The London Sunday Telegraph*, the Los Angeles Times, Washington Post, USA Today, Chicago Tribune, Boston Herald, Boston Sunday Globe, Dallas Morning News, Red-book, Men's Health, Parenting, and Working Mother.

His website, www.warshak.com, offers reprints of his articles, chapters, essays, and lectures on various aspects of child custody and divorce; the Divorce Poison Control Center, which contains frequently updated suggestions for helping alienated children and their parents; announcements of upcoming appearances and articles by Dr. Warshak; instructions for arranging office and telephone consultations with Dr. Warshak; and resources for parents and legal and mental health professionals.

Dr. Warshak lives and works with his wife in Dallas, Texas. He can be reached at:

Richard A. Warshak, Ph.D.

16970 Dallas Parkway, Suite 202

Dallas, TX 75248

www.warshak.com

Visit www.AuthorTracker.com for exclusive information on your favorite HarperCollins author.

ADVANCE PRAISE FOR DIVORCE POISON

"This book deals with the deep and disturbing issues of divorce: bad-mouthing, bashing, and brainwashing, violence and vengeance, retaliation and revenge, parental alienation, false allegations of abuse. Easy to read and understand cases reveal the seamy side of post-divorce relations and amply illustrate the damage parents can inflict on their children. Specific rules and recommendations, based on the author's extensive clinical experience and warm wisdom, provide guidance for how parents can avoid such divorce poison. This book should be required reading for every parent, the week after they leave divorce court. It will help them protect their children's interests from their own retaliatory impulses or their ex-spouse's vengeful behavior."

—Alison Clarke-Stewart, Ph.D., associate dean for research, School of Social Ecology, University of California, Irvine, and author of Daycare

"In this engaging book, Richard Warshak skillfully draws attention to the devastating consequences of a poorly recognized form of child abuse: parental alienation. He has filled *Divorce Poison* with clear, poignant, concrete, and well-reasoned advice for parents who must confront the malignant effects of parental alienation on relationships with their children and on the children themselves. Every divorcing parent should read *Divorce Poison* closely, examine their own behavior critically, and take steps to minimize alienation and its effects."

—Michael E. Lamb, Ph.D., National Institute of Child Health and Human Development

"Family courts struggle daily to address the needs of children who reject a parent after divorce or separation, but there are few resources to help parents deal with day-to-day situations. Dr. Warshak provides skillful coaching to parents who are the targets of divorce poison on how to protect their relationships with their children. His book will prove equally valuable to those who advise parents, including family lawyers, therapists, mediators, and parent educators. Dr. Warshak also helps parents distinguish divorce poison from other relationship difficulties and advises parents who are falsely accused of alienating their children from the other parent."

—Leslie Ellen Shear, J.D., certified family law specialist, State Bar of California Board of Legal Specialization

"A great book for both parents and professionals on a previously neglected topic by an outstanding clinician/researcher."

—Henry Biller, Ph.D., professor of psychology, University of Rhode Island, and author of The Father Factor

"Always painful, divorce can turn lethal when one parent attempts to poison the children against an ex-spouse. In this balanced, compassionate book, Richard Warshak offers vital advice to those caught in the emotional maelstrom of a bitter divorce."

-Mark Pendergrast, author of Victims of Memory

"Divorce Poison is long overdue. The mere fact of a divorce does not have to damage children; however, an all-out war between the parents has a very good chance of wreaking havoc. This book recognizes the critical importance of every child's having a relationship with both parents."

—Karen DeCrow, attorney and past president, National Organization for Women

"This incredible book extends our understanding of parental alienation in a meaningful way. Every parent—even if not separated or divorced—will see himself or herself in this book and learn from it. This powerful book will influence parents, professionals, courts, and legislatures for years to come."

—David L. Levy, J.D., president, Children's Rights Council

"Just about every parent who's been through a divorce knows how tempting it is to say something nasty to the kids about the other parent. But blinded by their anger, too few of these parents realize the damage they're doing to their children. *Divorce Poison* is an absolute must-read for any parent going through a divorce. In it, Warshak lays bare the evils of parental alienation and gives readers the knowledge they need to defend themselves—and their children—against it."

—Armin Brott, author of The Expectant Father and The Single Father

"This book is a testament to Dr. Warshak's vast experience, erudition, and deep commitment to the prevention, diagnosis, and treatment of the various categories of alienated children."

—Richard A. Gardner, M.D., clinical professor of child psychiatry, Columbia University College of Physicians and Surgeons

"This book fills a need for those concerned with divorce in our culture, particularly divorces that have resulted in extreme hostility, which is so harmful to children and others involved. It is a much-needed wake-up call

for neglectful parents and a supportive resource for parents who are striving to meet their children's needs."

—Emily B. Visher, Ph.D., and John S. Visher, M.D., cofounders of Stepfamily Association of America and authors of How to Win as a Stepfamily

"Richard Warshak's *Divorce Poison* is a must-read for every parent involved in a hostile divorce. He clearly spells out the problems and the devastating effects vindictiveness can have on the child, then provides a wealth of information to help parents change for the better."

—Dr. John W. Santrock, professor of psychology, University of Texas at Dallas

"Divorce can be ugly, and in the ugliest divorces, one parent destroys children's relationships with their mother or father. *Divorce Poison* offers clear, practical, and even-handed advice on this incredibly difficult problem. The first step? Look inward. Protect your children by finding an antidote for your own poison and by swallowing a little more from your ex."

—Robert E. Emery, Ph.D., Director of the Center for Children, Families, and the Law, University of Virginia, and author of Renegotiating Family Relationships

Also by Dr. Richard A. Warshak

The Custody Revolution

Copyright

DIVORCE POISON. Copyright © 2001 by Richard A. Warshak. All rights reserved under International and Pan-American Copyright Conventions. By payment of the required fees, you have been granted the non-exclusive, non-transferable right to access and read the text of this e-book on-screen. No part of this text may be reproduced, transmitted, down-loaded, decompiled, reverse engineered, or stored in or introduced into any information storage and retrieval system, in any form or by any means, whether electronic or mechanical, now known or hereinafter invented, without the express written permission of HarperCollins e-books.

Adobe Acrobat eBook Reader December 2008 ISBN 978-0-06-178828-4

10987654321



About the Publisher

Australia

HarperCollins Publishers (Australia) Pty. Ltd. 25 Ryde Road (PO Box 321) Pymble, NSW 2073, Australia http://www.harpercollinsebooks.com.au

Canada

HarperCollins Publishers Ltd. 55 Avenue Road, Suite 2900 Toronto, ON, M5R, 3L2, Canada http://www.harpercollinsebooks.ca

New Zealand

HarperCollinsPublishers (New Zealand) Limited P.O. Box 1 Auckland, New Zealand http://www.harpercollins.co.nz

United Kingdom

HarperCollins Publishers Ltd.
77-85 Fulham Palace Road
London, W6 8JB, UK
http://www.harpercollinsebooks.co.uk

United States

HarperCollins Publishers Inc. 10 East 53rd Street New York, NY 10022 http://www.harpercollinsebooks.com